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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  WHY CDI’S ACTION MUST FAIL. 

This case does not involve deception, fraud, or the rescission of policies.  It’s not about 

refusal to pay claims, misleading sales or marketing materials, denial of benefits, or the failure to 

meet industry standards.  There is not a shred of evidence that PacifiCare acted in bad faith.  Perhaps 

most importantly, the vast majority of alleged violations caused absolutely no harm whatsoever.  To 

the contrary, this action involves routine audit issues that were remediated years ago – the type of 

issues that regulators would typically not treat as unfair claims settlement practices and which would 

never warrant the unprecedented penalty CDI has proposed.  (Tr. 24412:3-23 [Stead].)  Former 

regulator Susan Stead testified that she had never, as a regulator, treated these kind of issues as unfair 

practices nor had she seen another regulator do so during the twenty-two years of her career.  (Id.) 

Nonetheless, trumpeting “[n]early 1 million violations of law,” the California Department of 

Insurance (“CDI”) requests an unprecedented $325 million in penalties – over half of PacifiCare’s net 

income from a PPO business that operated at a net loss during the period 2006 to 2008 – for the 

express purpose of teaching PacifiCare’s ultimate parent, UnitedHealth Group (“United”), and other 

licensees a “lesson.”  (CDI Brief, pp. 1, 5, 311-312.)1   

In fact, CDI’s proposed penalty represents a radical departure from CDI’s historical approach, 

reflecting a number that is more than 40 times larger than the largest penalty assessed against any 

insurer and 10 times larger than the total penalties assessed against all licensed entities over the past 

seven years! 

Significantly, the violations alleged in this enforcement action are based upon a market 

conduct examination report which alleged only 90 violations of Insurance Code section 790.03,2 

                                                 

 1 References to CDI’s brief will hereinafter cite “CDI Br.” followed by the page 
number. 

 2 Unless specified otherwise, all further statutory references are to the Insurance 
Code.  For convenience, section 790.03, subdivision (h), will be referred to as “section 
790.03(h).” 
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which was later amended to 92 violations, and which expressly concluded that the charges at issue 

were largely “something other than violations of Section 790.03.”  (Exhs. 1, 116.)  However, CDI 

began wildly inflating the number of violations on the eve of the Republican gubernatorial primary – 

in which the Insurance Commissioner was running – with the filing of a second supplemental 

complaint, which added over 850,000 new violations.  Tellingly, 94% of the resulting 908,654 

alleged violations in this action are premised upon 2 allegedly deficient forms (Explanation of 

Benefits [“EOBs”] and Explanation of Payments [“EOPs”]) and the alleged failure to send letters 

acknowledging receipt of properly processed claims, none of which can possibly constitute an unfair 

claims settlement practice under section 790.03. 

As described in more detail in the accompanying brief, the alleged violations and the $325 

million in penalties sought in this action are unsupportable for the following reasons:  (a) any penalty 

cannot be disproportionate to the amount of harm, and here, most of the purported harm is 

speculative; (b) any penalty cannot exceed the penalties historically imposed by CDI for similar 

conduct as a matter of due process, which requires a penalty range of $0 to $655,000 in this case 

(even assuming that all of the violations could be proven); (c) PacifiCare remediated all of the issues 

related to the charged violations even before this administrative hearing began, which supports 

mitigation of any penalty; (d) PacifiCare cooperated throughout the examination process, which also 

argues for mitigation; (e) CDI has had to stretch the text of section 790.03 beyond its plain meaning 

in order to transform its allegations of technical violations of non-penal statutes into section 790.03 

violations, in contravention of the rules of statutory construction and due process; (f) the alleged 

violations do not and cannot constitute unfair claims settlement practices under section 790.03(h), as 

evidenced by the fact that CDI itself only identified 92 of the 908,654 charges as violations of section 

790.03 in its MCE reports; and (g) CDI has no evidence to link any of the alleged violations with 

United’s acquisition of PacifiCare, upon which basis CDI seeks to justify the “lesson” it seek to 
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“teach.”  A summary of PacifiCare’s principal points as to why this action is doomed to fail and 

constitutes an abuse of discretion follows. 

A. Regardless of Whether CDI Could Prove The Violations, The Minimal 
Harm Here Precludes Any Substantial Penalty.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, 
Section IV.B.2.) 

The due process and excessive fines clauses of the United States and California Constitutions 

constrain the total amount of any penalty that can be imposed in this case.  Under those clauses, any 

penalty must be “both reasonable and proportionate to the amount of harm” and to the 

reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct.  (State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Campbell (2003) 538 

U.S. 408, 426 (State Farm); BMW Of North America, Inc. v. Gore (1996) 517 U.S. 559 (Gore); 

People v. ex rel Lockyer v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. (2005) 37 Cal.4th 707, 728 (R.J. Reynolds).) 

Based on the facts here, a penalty, if any, must be at the low end of the spectrum.  As an 

initial matter, there was less than $1 million in revised claim payments at issue in this case.  (Exhs. 1, 

5252, pp. 6929; P.P.F.  88, 89, 90, 450, 598.)  The largest component of that amount – $765,157 – 

was paid to remedy the mistaken 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions, which 

CDI itself had approved as part of a certificate of insurance submitted by PacifiCare.  (Tr. 250:3-11 

[Smith]; Tr. 4734:8-20 [Dixon]; exhs. 601, 5016, 5165.)  The balance of the revised claim payments 

consisted of $156,455 in recoveries under the 2007 MCE and $89,161 in reworked claims associated 

with late-loaded contracts.  (Exhs. 1, 5252, p. 6929.)  The payments for all of these reworked claims 

ultimately included 10% statutory interest, mitigating any financial harm to claimants and providers. 

Significantly, the remaining “harm” alleged by CDI in this action lacks any evidentiary basis 

and is speculative:  For instance, CDI argues that the omission of a statutory notice of the right to an 

independent medical review (“IMR”) in PacifiCare’s EOBs caused harm because “[c]onsumers are 

typically unaware of their legal rights to appeal health care determinations” (CDI Br. 164), but CDI 

admits that PacifiCare includes a notice of the right to an IMR in its certificates of coverage, appeal 

resolution letters, and denial letters, among other documents.  (Id. at p. 158.)  Thus, members were 
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informed.  Moreover, a member does not even have a right to an IMR at the time he or she receives 

an EOB, and PacifiCare does give notice at the time the member’s right to an IMR arises.  (§10169, 

subd. (d), (j), (k); Tr. 8859:24-8861:13, 8865:9-17 [Monk]; Tr. 24346:9-19 [Stead]; exhs. 5300, 5301, 

5302, 5305.)  Likewise, CDI speculates that “[m]any consumers who petition for an IMR review and 

are found to be ineligible . . . may nonetheless have meritorious complaints of other kinds.”  (CDI Br. 

164.)  But it is purely speculative to argue that an ineligible petition for IMR review would lead to 

review of an unspecified meritorious claim. 

Similarly, CDI claims that the failure of a provider to receive a letter acknowledging receipt 

of its claim causes an administrative burden in the form of having to send a duplicate claim to the 

insurer.  (CDI Br. 233:17-22, 238:21-26.)  This “burden” does not qualify as harm.  Indeed, the 

burden of picking up the phone and calling to confirm receipt is less than the process advocated by 

CDI:  opening a letter of acknowledgement, reviewing it, and filing it.  (Tr. 14953:14-14954:12 

[Bigam]; Tr. 23235:4-12 [Cignarale].) 

With respect to PacifiCare’s denial of claims based on the erroneous 12-month exclusionary 

period for pre-existing conditions – a denial that CDI characterizes as “very serious” (CDI Br. 129:1-

2) – CDI argues that it “present[s] a risk of bodily injury or degradation of health” because patients 

“may be denied medical care by providers who are frustrated with the insurer’s denial . . . or delay or 

forgo needed care out of fear of being required to pay for the treatment.”  (Id. at p. 129:8-12.)  But 

CDI has presented no evidence that any member affected by the erroneous exclusionary period was 

dissuaded from seeking medical care or that the member’s medical condition suffered.  To the 

contrary, PacifiCare modified the policy, re-worked the claims, and notified members and brokers of 

the error and changes.  (Tr. 8910:4-20 [Monk]; Tr. 7512:12-7513:22, 7575:4-7576:2, 10224:17-

10225:19 [Berkel].)   

CDI also contends that claim denials based on a missing Certificate of Credible Coverage 

(“COCC”) are “very serious” (CDI Br. 120:21) and may result in the denial of medical care “by 
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providers who are frustrated with the insurer’s denial,” or “may delay . . . needed care because of 

fears of being required to pay for the treatment.”  (Id. at p. 115-116.)  But the “burden” of submitting 

another copy of a COCC is hardly a significant barrier to medical care, and CDI does not identify one 

instance where someone was denied medical care because of a missing COCC.   

In short, as will be demonstrated in the accompanying brief, the minimal financial impact of 

the reworked claims (which were paid with 10% interest) and the absence of evidence of other harm, 

precludes any significant penalty. 

B. Further, Any Penalty Cannot Be Disproportionate To The Historic Penalties 
For Similar Conduct.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section IV.D.) 

Due process also requires that in determining the constitutional limit for any penalty, courts 

must consider the relationship between the penalty and “the civil penalties authorized or imposed in 

comparable cases.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at pp. 574-575; Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker (2008) 554 

U.S. 471, 511-514.) 

However, CDI’s recommended penalty of $325 million here is almost ten times higher than 

all the penalties previously assessed by CDI in the eight years preceding this action.  (Exhs. 5569, 

5570, 5571, 5622, 5632, 5708.)  A comparison of this action and the penalties assessed by CDI in 

other cases shows that even if CDI could prove all of the alleged violations, the penalty sought here – 

and indeed even a penalty of $1 million – would be disproportionate to those imposed in comparable 

cases: 
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As shown on the chart, the largest penalty that CDI has imposed against any insurer was $8 

million against Unum, but it was based on far more serious allegations and a significantly greater 

claims impact:  Unum improperly denied disability benefits to 26,000 California residents, resulting 

in a $50 million claims impact.  (Exhs. 5697, 5718; Tr. 24314:13-24315:21 [Stead].) 

Second, in addition to its action against PacifiCare, CDI also initiated enforcement actions in 

2008 against Blue Shield, Blue Cross, and Health Net, designating them as high profile actions and 

characterizing the underlying conduct as severe.  Yet, those actions resulted in minor penalties in 

comparison to those sought here:  CDI assessed no penalty against Blue Shield, despite millions of 

dollars in claims from an alleged practice of illegal rescissions and claims-handling issues similar to 

those here.  (Tr. 13246:12-13250:2, 13231:24-13232:20, 13238:2-13239:3, 13275:20-13279:25 

[Laucher]; exh. 5419.)  It imposed only a penalty of $1 million against Blue Cross (with a back-end 

penalty of $2 million in the event of a failure to substantially remedy the issues), but the action 

involved over $14 million in claims impact from illegal rescissions and claims-handling practices 

which affected 7.6 million claims.  (Exhs. 547, 5633; Tr. 13258:5-13260:15, 13309:20-13312:4 
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[Laucher]; Tr. 14742:2-8 [Washington].)  And CDI assessed a penalty of $3.6 million against Health 

Net for alleged illegal rescissions and claims-handling practices, which had a claims impact of over 

$22 million and which affected 2.4 million claims.  (Exhs. 5423, 5366, 5573.) 

In contrast, this action resulted in less than $1 million in reworked claims – most of which 

were paid before PacifiCare received notice of CDI’s intent to conduct a targeted examination of 

PacifiCare – and did not involve illegal rescissions of the type which could be expected to cause 

“severe harm to consumers.”  (Tr. 24314:9-24320:23 [Stead].) 

Third, although CDI purports to justify the dramatically higher penalty against PacifiCare 

based on the greater number of violations alleged here (despite the significantly lower claims impact 

and lack of any other harm), this case’s higher number of alleged violations is based on the fact that 

CDI (i) has mischaracterized alleged violations of non-penal statutes as unfair claims settlement 

practices and (ii) reviewed PacifiCare’s entire claims population here, citing every purported 

violation in the population, rather than only ones found in a sample, as it has done in other actions.  

(See Tr. 23372:7-23380:16 [Cignarale]; Tr. 20921:24-20922:15 [Kessler]; Exhs. 5540, 5661, 5662, 

547, 5480.) 

Finally, although CDI and the Department of Managed Health Care (“DMHC”) conducted a 

joint investigation of PacifiCare, DMHC assessed a penalty of only $2 million against PacifiCare for 

the same period of time and the same issues, based on roughly ten times more volume of business than 

the business regulated by CDI here.  (Exhs. 5320, 5620.) 

Based on the prior penalties assessed by CDI, Dr. Kessler determined that the range for a 

penalty in this case, which would be consistent with CDI’s historical penalties, would be between $0 

and $655,000.  (Tr. 20925:3-20935:7; exhs. 5621, 5622.)  Both Ms. Stead and Dr. Kessler confirmed 

that a regulator should be consistent in assessing penalties against the entities that it regulates.  (Exh. 

5411; Tr. 20908:7-20911:1 [Kessler]; Tr. 24239:8-24240:11 [Stead].) 
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Accordingly, based on principles of due process, even if CDI could prove all of its violations, 

any penalty cannot exceed $655,000. 

C. PacifiCare’s Remediation Further Mitigates The Amount Of Any Penalty.  
(See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section I.D.3.) 

Under CDI’s regulations, “[i]n determining whether to assess penalties and if so the 

appropriate amount . . . the Commissioner shall consider” “whether the licensee has taken remedial 

measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. 

(a)(8).) 

PacifiCare remediated all of the issues related to the charged violations “well before this 

administrative hearing began,” a fact that CDI concedes.  (Tr. 23093:10-14, 23470:21-23471:5 

[Cignarale]; see exhs. 736, 750, 5707, 5015, 5016, 5165, 5264.)  Further, PacifiCare also remediated 

issues with its constituencies, including providers.  In November 2006 – before the MCE – PacifiCare 

established a process to expedite complaints by members of the California Medical Association 

(“CMA”) where appropriate.  CMA conceded that this process “addressed any concerns that were 

raised,” resulting in only two complaints between 2007 and 2010.  (Tr. 16827:24-16828:14, 16646:2-

21 [Wetzel]; Tr. 1340:3-10 [Black]; Tr. 10717:10-10718:7 [McFann]; Tr. 11671:17-24 [Lewan]; Tr. 

10214:16-20 [Berkel]; exhs. 5353, 5503, 5504.) 

By 2010, physicians selected PacifiCare as the “plan providing the best level of service” by a 

write-in vote in a “Physicians Advocate Survey.”  (Tr. 11792:20-11794:6 [Harvey].) 

D. PacifiCare’s Cooperation During The MCE Also Mitigates Any Penalty.  
(See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section I.D.4.) 

Notwithstanding CDI’s claims that PacifiCare was not cooperative during the MCE process, 

internal CDI staff communications referred to PacifiCare employees as being “very accommodating” 

and if anything, too eager to please.  (Exhs. 5030, 5031, 5310; Tr. 490:25-491:10, 492:11-493:6 

[Masters].)  At this hearing, CDI staff testified that PacifiCare was cooperative.  (Tr. 11595:7-

11596:6 [David]; Tr. 4717:6-13 [Dixon]; Tr. 5600:15-19 [Roy].) 
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Indeed, in CDI’s draft report to PacifiCare, Supervising Compliance Officer Towanda David 

thanked PacifiCare for “[i]ts cooperation during the examination process.”  (Exh. 5184, p. 6298.)  

And DMHC, as part of its joint investigation with CDI of PacifiCare, made the express finding in 

January 2008 that “at all times . . . PacifiCare worked collaboratively with the DMHC to resolve all 

issues that were identified.”  (Exh. 5290 at exh. E, p. 4653.)   

These internal and public admissions and testimony by CDI demonstrate that PacifiCare was 

not the recalcitrant insurer that CDI’s counsel seeks to paint and also serve to mitigate the amount of 

any penalty. 

E. CDI Has Stretched The Text Of Section 790.03 Beyond Its Plain Meaning.  
(PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VI.) 

The only way that CDI has been able to claim nearly 1 million violations of section 790.03 

has been by stretching the text of section 790.03 beyond its plain meaning in violation of the rules of 

statutory construction and due process. 

The due process clause of the United States and California Constitutions “dictate[s] that a 

person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject him to punishment, but also of the 

severity of the penalty that a State may impose.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574.)  As will be 

explained in more detail in the accompanying brief, neither the text of section 790.03 nor any CDI 

regulations or bulletins gave fair notice that the vast majority of PacifiCare’s conduct at issue could 

form the basis for an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03.   

Indeed, rather than resting on the text of section 790.03, many of CDI’s section 790.03 claims 

are premised on specific timelines found in non-penal statutes that are not a part of the unfair 

practices article in the Insurance Code, and cannot be transformed into an unfair claims settlement 

practice.  Thus, for instance, CDI relies on a failure to meet the 30-working day period for paying 

uncontested claims under section 10123.13, subdivision (a) – which statute provides for its own 

remedy of 10% interest for late payments – as the basis for penalties under section 790.03.   
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Moreover, in a number of instances, CDI has interpreted these non-penal statutes contrary to 

their plain meaning, without ever providing advance written notice to the industry regarding its 

interpretation.  Thus, for instance, as explained more fully later, CDI construes section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c), which provides for an array of alternatives for acknowledging receipt of a claim, as 

instead requiring the mailing of letters to acknowledge their receipt.  Such unwritten interpretations 

are illegal underground regulations (Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw (1996) 14 Cal.4th 

557, 571), which violate due process by failing to give advance notice of the conduct that is allegedly 

required. 

CDI’s utter disregard for the fair notice demanded by the due process clause is also illustrated 

in Deputy Commissioner Cignarale’s testimony that PacifiCare was “on notice in general that any 

claims standard that the Department feels violates [section] 790.03, which might not specifically be 

enumerated in either [section] 790.03 or in [regulation] 2695 [of the] California Code of Regulations, 

could be considered violations of [section] 790.03.”  (Tr. 23016:1-11 [Cignarale].)  The prosecution 

of a claim not enumerated under section 790.03, as if it were a violation of section 790.03, is 

precisely what the United States Supreme Court’s cases on fair notice prohibit. 

Significantly, CDI itself did not consider most of its charged violations to constitute unfair 

claims settlement practices, as evidenced by the fact that CDI only charged PacifiCare with 90 

violations of section 790.03 in its MCE reports (later amended to only 92) and treated the remaining 

charges “as something other than violations of Section 790.03.”  (Exhs. 1, 123, italics added.)  

Indeed, when the report’s primary author, Towanda David, was asked at trial whether this meant that 

she “did not view” these other allegations “to be violations of 790.03,” this Court instantly 

recognized “the answer needs to logically be yes,” and Ms. David confirmed that the Court was 

“[c]orrect.”  (Tr. 11583:22-11584:5 [David].) 

CDI’s complete reversal in position – nearly 2½ years after it filed its original accusation – 

that PacifiCare engaged in 908,654 violations, rather than 92 violations (for which CDI sought leave 
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to charge as late as December 2009), demonstrates that section 790.03 did not even give fair notice to 

CDI of the alleged section 790.03 violations! 

F. There Is No Basis For The Alleged Violations Of Section 790.03(h). 

The plain language of section 790.03(h) does not support CDI’s claimed violations of that 

statute.  The following summary highlights the principal (but not the only) flaws in CDI’s major 

categories of violations, which are treated in greater detail in the cross-referenced sections of the 

accompanying brief.  We also address the other categories of damage in detail in the accompanying 

brief. 

1. EOBs.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.A.) 

CDI alleges that between March 24, 2007 and June 14, 2007, PacifiCare issued 322,423 

EOBs for group PPO claims that failed to include language regarding the right to request an IMR in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(1) and (h)(3).   

However, CDI’s claim of an unfair claims settlement practice rests on a non-penal statute, 

section 10169, subdivision (i), which does not identify EOBs as one of the documents that must 

provide notice regarding the right to an IMR.  Nor had CDI previously raised the issue that IMR 

language should be included in EOBs or previously cited PacifiCare for failing to include it, despite 

its review of PacifiCare’s EOBs.  (Tr. 8865:18-8866:8 [Monk].)  Indeed, major health insurers doing 

business in California have not included IMR language in their EOBs during the relevant period, but 

CDI has not sought to penalize them.  (Exhs. 5540, 5561; Tr. 23363:9-23371:15, 23376:5-23378:11 

[Cignarale].) 

However, even if section 10169, subdivision (i) did require IMR language in EOBs, the 

omission of a statutory notice in EOBs does not constitute a violation of section 790.03(h)(1) or 

(h)(3).  

First, the omission of a statutory notice does not constitute a misrepresentation of fact or of an 

insurance policy provision under section 790.03(h)(1):  A purported statutory notice is not a fact or a 

Dennis
Text Box
5661
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policy provision.  Thus, the omission of a statutory notice cannot be a misrepresentation of fact or of 

a policy provision.  That this omission is not a misrepresentation is even clearer given that a member 

who receives an EOB is not eligible to request an IMR at that time.  (Tr. 8860:24-8861:13, 8865:9-17 

[Monk]; exh. 5305; Tr. 24346:9-19 [Stead].) 

Likewise, the omission of a statutory notice in EOBs is not a failure “to adopt and implement 

reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims” under section 

790.03(h)(3).  The omission of a statutory notice of IMR rights in EOBs cannot, in and of itself, mean 

that the insurer failed to adopt reasonable processing standards, particularly since PacifiCare gave 

notice of the right to an IMR at numerous points in the process. 

CDI’s violations are based solely on the fact that it took PacifiCare almost three months to 

incorporate the requested statutory notice into its EOBs.  However, during the charged period of time, 

PacifiCare was awaiting CDI’s approval of the specific language to be used, CDI was aware that 

PacifiCare was awaiting its approval, and there was absolutely no notice to PacifiCare that it had to 

incorporate the new language within a specified date or be subject to penalties.  (E.g., Tr. 173:14-23, 

273:21-277:16, 11077:6-16 [Smith]; exhs. 14-16.)  The lack of any notice that PacifiCare’s purported 

delay would subject it to penalties means that any penalty would violate due process, even if the 

failure to include IMR language was an unfair claims settlement practice.  Alternatively, any failure 

to incorporate the language was inadvertent, and thus only a single penalty is authorized under 

section 790.035.  In short, CDI seeks to penalize PacifiCare for cooperating with it to assure that the 

language that it was incorporating into its EOBs was acceptable to its regulator. 

2. EOPs.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.B.) 

CDI claims that between February 22 and June 14, 2007, PacifiCare issued 443,055 EOPs that 

failed to advise providers of their right to have contested or denied claims reviewed by CDI, in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(1) and (h)(3).  (OSC, ¶¶ 126-133.) 
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Again, CDI premises this unfair claims settlement practice upon the violation of non-penal 

statutes, in this case, sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a).  And again, 

the violation of a non-penal statute does not, in and of itself, support a violation of section 790.03, 

which in no way incorporated such non-penal statutes by reference or gave fair notice that such non-

penal statutory violations could subject the insurer to penalties under section 790.03(h). 

In any event, the omission of a statutory notice in a form does not rise to the level of an unfair 

claims settlement practice here. 

First, the omission of a statutory notice of a provider’s right to CDI review in EOPs does not 

constitute a misrepresentation “to claimants [of] pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions” 

within the meaning of section 790.03(h)(1) because a “claimant” is not a “provider.”  (See Cal. Code, 

Regs., tit. 10,§ 2695.2, subds. (c), (f), (x) [defining “claimant” to mean “a first or third party 

claimant” which is the insured or a person asserting a claim against an insured]; Tr. 25313:6-

25318:16 [Stead agreeing].)  This position also is supported by CDI’s own manual that provides 

“claimants” are not providers within the meaning of that term.  (See Exhibit 1197 at pp. 6-7.)  This 

alone precludes any violation of section 790.03(h)(1). 

Second, even if a “provider” was a “claimant” under section 790.03(h)(1), the omission of a 

statutory notice of the right to CDI review does not constitute a misrepresentation “[of] pertinent 

facts or insurance policy provisions” under section 790.03(h)(1).  A statutory notice is not a fact or a 

policy provision.  Thus, the omission of a statutory notice cannot be a misrepresentation of a fact or 

of a policy provision.  Indeed, the omission of a notice in a form does not misrepresent any fact or 

policy provision identified in the form. 

Likewise, the omission of a statutory notice in an EOP does not, in and of itself, mean that 

PacifiCare failed to adopt reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims 

under section 790.03(h)(3).  Indeed, providers were undoubtedly aware of their right to CDI review:  

Providers had lobbied for the right of review; CDI had publicized the right on its website; and the 
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CMA had educated its member providers about the right.  In short, it is hard to understand how the 

omission of a notice of a right to CDI review in a single form, without more, could evidence a failure 

to adopt reasonable standards for the prompt processing of claims under section 790.03(h)(3).  This is 

just another example of CDI’s stretching the text of section 790.03 beyond recognition, and in a way 

that affords no fair notice that the omission of a notice specified in a non-penal statute could subject 

the insurer to penalties. 

Further, CDI’s effort to impose penalties upon PacifiCare during the very period that it was 

cooperating with CDI to incorporate the requested notice violates due process.  CDI seeks penalties 

for every EOP issued between February 22 and June 14, 2007.  But PacifiCare was awaiting CDI’s 

approval of the revisions to its EOBs during this period so that it could implement the required 

changes for both its EOPs and EOBs as one corrective action so as to minimize the number of times 

that its RIMS system needed to be re-programmed.  (Tr. 8872:13-8873:17, 8901:24-8902:7, 9305:1-

9306:9 [Monk].)  There was absolutely no notice to PacifiCare that it had to incorporate the new 

language by a specified date or be subject to penalties.  Nor was there any evidence regarding what 

constituted a reasonable period of time to implement such a change.  Yet, CDI now seeks to penalize 

PacifiCare as if it should have incorporated the changes the very next day following CDI’s request to 

add right-to-review language.  The lack of any notice that PacifiCare’s purported delay of less than 

three months would subject it to penalties means that any penalty would violate due process, 

particularly since CDI has accepted significantly longer time periods by other insurers to modify 

allegedly non-compliant EOBs and EOPs without assessing any penalty.  (Tr. 26127:20-26128:18 

[Stead].) 

At a minimum, the failure to include IMR language unquestionably was inadvertent, and thus 

only a single penalty could ever be authorized under section 790.035 because PacifiCare’s purported 

delay was the result of its unawareness that each day that it awaited CDI’s approval of both the newly 

revised EOBs and EOPs, it would be subject to penalties. 



 

15 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

Finally, CDI has chosen to charge every EOP issued between February 22 and June 14, 2007 

as a separate violation, even though sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision 

(a) only require notice of CDI review rights for a claim that is “contested or denied.”  CDI never 

established the actual number of EOPs for contested/denied claims upon which to premise this 

alleged violation. 

3. Acknowledgement Letters.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.C.) 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to send at least 55,475 letters acknowledging receipt of 

claims from providers (and at least 988 letters acknowledging receipt of claims from members) in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(2) and (h)(3).  (OSC, ¶¶ 109, 111.) 

This claim is primarily premised on the purported violation of another non-penal statute, 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c), which addresses the acknowledgement of receipt of providers’ 

claims.  However, the text of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) does not require that claims be 

acknowledged by a letter.  To the contrary, the statute’s express language provides that the “recorded 

date of receipt shall be disclosed in the same manner as the claim was submitted or provided through 

an electronic means, by telephone, Web site, or another mutually agreeable accessible method of 

notification . . . .”  (§10133.66, subd. (c).)  The availability of options for acknowledgement under 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c), is confirmed by the fact that the statute was enacted to mirror a 

regulation that the DMHC had adopted in 2003 for HMOs, which regulation has been interpreted to 

not require an insurer to send out acknowledgement letters. 

The failure of the plain language of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) to make clear that 

acknowledgement letters are required precludes any penalty because due process requires fair notice 

of the prohibited conduct before penalties can be assessed. 

The lack of fair notice is highlighted by the fact that even CDI’s own staff gave conflicting 

testimony whether acknowledgement letters were required by section 10133.66, subdivision (c).  (Tr. 
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1000:25-1002:4 [Vandepas]; Tr. 5318:25-5320:15 [Dixon]; Tr. 11564:10-11569:20, 11612:5-11613:7 

[David].)   

Accordingly, either the statutory text does not require acknowledgement letters, in which case 

CDI’s claim fails, or PacifiCare did not have fair notice of the requirement, in which case CDI’s 

claim fails as a matter of due process.3 

Moreover, even if section 10133.66, subdivision (c) could somehow be interpreted to require 

snail-mail acknowledgements in a paperless age, the violation of that non-penal statute cannot 

constitute a violation of section 790.03: 

First, the failure to send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim is not a failure to 

“acknowledge and act upon communications with respect to claims . . .” under section 790.03(h)(2).  

(Italics added.)  The receipt of a claim does not constitute a “communication[] with respect to a 

claim,” for which section 790.03(h)(2) requires an acknowledgement.   

Likewise, the failure to send an acknowledgement letter in today’s paperless age cannot 

possibly evidence a failure to “adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt 

investigation and processing of claims” under section 790.03(h)(3).  The failure to acknowledge the 

receipt of claims by a letter does not affect their processing, particularly since PacifiCare provided 

various alternatives for acknowledging claims.  Among other things, PacifiCare had a telephone 

system during the relevant period that allowed a provider to confirm the date on which PacifiCare 

received the claim.  (E.g., Tr. 7171:10-7186:16, 9332:14-9389:25 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7690:9, 

8015:17-8030:9 [Berkel].)  PacifiCare also had a system that automatically acknowledged any claims 

submitted electronically. (Tr. 7680:14-7687:14 [Berkel]; exh. 5147, p. 9369.) 

                                                 

 3 CDI also premises the obligation to send letters of acknowledgement on regulation 
2695.5, subdivision (e)(1), but that regulation makes clear that the acknowledgement need not 
be in writing, in which case “a notation of acknowledgement shall be made in the insurer’s claim 
file and dated.” 
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Finally and alternatively, even if section 10133.66, subdivision (c) required PacifiCare to mail 

acknowledgements of receipt, PacifiCare provided a written acknowledgement within the 15 working 

days provided by section 10133.66, subdivision (c) for approximately 95% of the claims during the 

2007 MCE period.  (Tr. 5281:3-5282:11 [Dixon]; Tr. 7692:24-7697:2 [Berkel]; exhs. 5057, 5243.)  

This compliance rate falls within the acceptable tolerance level set forth in the NAIC Handbook (exh. 

876) and separately prevents any violation of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) from constituting an 

unfair claims settlement “practice.” 

4. The Failure To Pay Uncontested Claims Within 30 Working Days.  
(See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.D.) 

CDI alleges that during the MCE review period, PacifiCare failed to reimburse 34,997 claims 

within 30 working days after receipt in violation of section 790.03(h)(2), (h)(3), (h)(4), and (h)(5). 

Once again, the purported violation of section 790.03 is premised upon the purported 

violation of a separate, non-penal statute – section 10123.13, subdivision (a) – which provides for its 

own remedy in the event of late payment: the payment of 10% interest.  Thus, by the statute’s own 

terms, the failure to pay a claim within 30 working days is not an unfair claims settlement practice, 

but simply subjects the insurer to an interest payment (which has a punitive quality given that 10% 

interest greatly exceeds the market rate of interest during the relevant time period).   

CDI’s claims fail for at least three separate and independent reasons: 

First, it is not disputed that PacifiCare paid uncontested claims within 30 working days 97% 

of the time, which exceeded the tolerance rate provided in the Undertakings accepted by CDI.  (Tr. 

22787:14-18 [Cignarale]; Tr. 8767:9-12 [Monk].)  CDI cannot claim that a timeliness rate that 

exceeded what CDI demanded in order to approve United’s acquisition of PacifiCare was nonetheless 

an unfair claims settlement practice under the doctrine of estoppel.  Estoppel is based on one party 

(including a governmental entity) intentionally inducing action by another party to the latter’s 

detriment.  (City of Goleta v. Superior Court (2006) 40 Cal.4th 270, 279.)  Here, CDI approved a 
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performance metric for timely payments, the compliance with which it now claims constitutes an 

unfair claims settlement practice.  This it cannot do. 

Second, even if CDI is not estopped from charging that PacifiCare’s compliance with the 

Undertaking was an unfair claims settlement practice, there was absolutely no notice, as required for 

due process, that PacifiCare could be subject to penalties if it met the Undertaking performance 

standards.  Section 10123.13 provides no such notice since it recognizes that some percentage of 

claims will not be paid within 30 working days, providing for the payment of 10% interest in those 

cases, without any reference to a penalty.  And CDI itself treated the limited percentage of late 

payments as “something other than a violation of Section 790.03” in its final 2007 MCE reports, 

demonstrating that it, too, did not view such conduct as an unfair claims settlement practice.  (Tr. 

13284:12-25 [Laucher]; Tr. 24415:25-24417:8 [Stead].)  Further, historically, CDI has only assessed 

penalties against an insurer for untimely payments when the insurer was untimely in over 20% of its 

claims (compared with PacifiCare’s 3% rate).  (MEGA (Midwest) Insurance, Order Adopting 

Settlement Agreement, Req. Off. Not., Tab 007.)  For instance, untimely rates as high as 17.85% 

(Time Insurance) did not warrant any penalties. (Time Insurance Company Public Report, April 30, 

2012, Req. Off. Not.,Tab 012.) 

Third and in any event, the failure to pay 3% of uncontested claims within 30 working days 

cannot possibly constitute an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h): 

With respect to section 790.03(h)(2), the failure to pay uncontested claims within 30 working 

days cannot be a failure to “acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with 

respect to claims.”  The express language of subdivision (h)(2) concerns the acknowledgement of 

communications with respect to claims, not paying claims. 

Likewise, the failure to pay a mere 3% of uncontested claims within 30 working days does not 

itself evidence a failure “to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation 

and processing of claims” under section 790.03(h)(3).  Subdivision (h)(3) concerns the adoption of 
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reasonable processing standards, and PacifiCare adopted and implemented reasonable standards for 

the prompt investigation and processing of claims.  For example, after the merger, PacifiCare adopted 

United’s internal timeliness standards, which were stricter than those required by law, setting a 

standard of payment of 96.5% of the claims within 10 working days and 98% of them within 20 

working days.  (Tr. 3525:5-3528:8 [Norket]; Tr. 6798:8-6800:24 [Vondehaar]; Tr. 7435:16-7436:12 

[Berkel].)  In order to argue that the failure to timely pay only 3% of claims could possibly evidence 

a failure to implement “reasonable” processing standards, there would have to be evidence of 

aggravating circumstances, including excessive delays in those payments and the absence of any 

reasonable explanation for those delays, in order to show that such a small percentage of late 

payments evidenced a failure to implement reasonable standards.  CDI has presented no evidence on 

these points.   

Similarly, the failure to pay only 3% of uncontested claims within 30 working days is 

different from, and cannot constitute, a failure to “affirm or deny coverage of claims within a 

reasonable time” under section 790.03(h)(4).  (Italics added.)  CDI provides no evidence regarding 

PacifiCare’s time periods and standards for affirming coverage. 

Finally, the failure to pay uncontested claims within 30 working days does not mean that there 

was any failure to “attempt” in “good faith” to effectuate the prompt, fair, and equitable settlements 

of claims under section 790.03(h)(5).  To the contrary, payment of 97% of uncontested claims within 

30 working days exceeds the thresholds in the Undertakings and in the NAIC Manual for timely 

payments.  At a minimum, this shows good faith in prompt claims processing. 

5. The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest On Late-Paid Claims.  (See 
PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.E.) 

CDI seeks to penalize 5,195 failures to pay 10% statutory interest on late-paid claims in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(2), (h)(3), (h)(4), and (h)(5). 

This failure to pay statutory interest was largely a result of the fact that the “RIMS system 

does not automatically calculate interest when a claim is being readjusted.”  (Tr. 7649:1-8 [Berkel].)  
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However, the inadvertent failure to pay statutory interest when a claim is readjusted is not the basis 

for an unfair claims settlement practice for the following reasons: 

First and once again, CDI’s purported violation of section 790.03 is premised on the violation 

of a provision in a non-penal statute – section 10123.13, subdivision (b) – which is neither referenced 

in, nor a part of the unfair practices article.  The payment of 10% statutory interest was enacted as a 

remedy for claimants whose claims were not paid within 30 working days under section 10123.13, 

subdivision (a).  The inadvertent omission of a remedy for late payments cannot itself be the basis for 

a separate unfair claims settlement practice.   

Second, no insurer was on notice that the inadvertent failure to pay 10% interest would 

subject the insurer to an unfair claims settlement practice.  To the contrary, the MCE reports did not 

treat this as a violation of section 790.03 (exh. 1), and in another case as well CDI did not treat it as a 

section 790.03 violation.  (Life Insurance of North America Order to Show Cause, exh. 5669.)  

Instead, CDI sought an administrative determination under section 790.06 that the failure to pay 

interest on a late payment should be treated as an unfair claims settlement practice.  (Ibid.)  Section 

790.06 is reserved for any act or practice “that is not defined in Section 790.03.”  (§ 790.06, subd. 

(a).)  Accordingly, the lack of fair notice that the inadvertent failure to pay statutory interest is a 

violation of section 790.03(h) requires this claim’s dismissal as a matter of due process. 

Third and in any event, the failure to pay statutory interest cannot constitute a violation of 

section 790.03.  None of CDI’s claimed violations of section 790.03(h) are supported by its text: 

The failure to pay statutory interest cannot be a misrepresentation of pertinent facts or 

insurance policy provisions under section 790.03(h)(1).  The failure to pay statutory interest makes 

no representation of fact or of a policy provision.  Indeed, the omission of statutory interest is not a 

representation of any sort. 
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Even more absurd is CDI’s claim that the failure to pay 10% statutory interest is a failure “to 

acknowledge or act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims” under section 

790.03(h)(2).  The omission of interest has nothing to do with acknowledging a communication. 

Likewise, the failure to pay 10% statutory interest cannot, in and of itself, constitute a failure 

to adopt reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims under section 

790.03(h)(3).  Indeed, the evidence is that PacifiCare did adopt and implemented reasonable 

standards for the prompt payment of claims, including the payment of interest due.  PacifiCare even 

had a policy of paying interest when in doubt.  (Tr. 7653:18-7654:5, 7773:15-7774:21 [Berkel]; exh. 

5252.)  The failure to pay interest on reworked claims resulted from human error because the RIMS 

system did not automatically calculate interest.  This was a glitch in the system, not a failure to have 

reasonable standards.   

Similarly, the failure to pay statutory interest on late-paid claims has little to do with the 

failure “to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time” under section 790.03(h)(4). 

Finally, the failure to pay statutory interest does not constitute a failure to “attempt” in “good 

faith” to effectuate the prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims under section 790.03(h)(5).  

The inadvertent failure to pay statutory interest when readjusting a claim to make certain that the 

payment is correct cannot possibly evidence bad faith. 

6. The Denial Of Claims Based On A 12-Month Exclusionary Period 
For Pre-Existing Conditions.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.F) 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare incorrectly denied of 3,862 claims due to its application of an 

erroneous 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions constitutes an unfair claims 

settlement practice in violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), and (h)(5). 

However, the undisputed facts underlying this claim preclude the establishment of an unfair 

claims settlement practice for numerous reasons:  In January 2004, a long-time PacifiCare employee 

inadvertently submitted a certificate of insurance to CDI for a group plan that contained a 12-month 

exclusionary period, and CDI approved and authorized the certificate.  CDI also approved multiple 
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amendments to that certificate over the next two years.  CDI never previously raised any concern 

about the length of the exclusionary period, even in a prior market conduct examination.  (Tr. 

8908:12-8909:22 [Monk], exhs. 5317, 5318.)  Instead, it was PacifiCare that raised with CDI in 2006 

concerns about whether PacifiCare was using the proper exclusionary period.  (Tr. 221:7-222:4 

[Smith]; Tr. 7511:19-7512:11, 9979:8-9980:23 [Berkel]; exh. 559.)  Once CDI confirmed that the 

period was incorrect, PacifiCare modified the policy to reflect the correct exclusionary period and 

notified its members and brokers of the error and changes.  (Tr. 8910:4-15 [Monk]; 245:11-246:20, 

265:17-267:3 [Smith]; Tr. 7575:4-7576:2, 10224:17-10225:19 [Berkel]; exhs. 740, 5018, 5260.) 

PacifiCare’s enforcement of an erroneous exclusionary period in a policy approved by CDI 

cannot give rise to an unfair claims settlement practice because such conduct does not fall within any 

of the prohibited practices alleged by CDI. 

First, PacifiCare’s enforcement of an exclusionary period in a policy approved by CDI does 

not constitute a misrepresentation of a fact or of a policy provision under section 790.03(h)(1).  After 

all, enforcement of the policy’s exclusionary period does not misrepresent the policy provision; it 

enforces it.  Likewise, enforcement of the policy’s exclusionary period cannot be a misrepresentation 

of a fact.  The enforcement of the policy provision – albeit a policy provision inconsistent with a 

statutory requirement – is not a misrepresentation of a fact. 

Likewise, PacifiCare’s adoption of an unlawful policy provision, following its approval by 

CDI, cannot constitute a failure to adopt reasonable standards for the investigation and processing of 

claims under section 790.03(h)(3).  Filing a certificate of insurance with an erroneous exclusionary 

period is not even directly related to the standards for investigating and processing of claims. 

Third, PacifiCare’s error in enforcing a policy provision, approved by CDI, cannot possibly 

suggest that PacifiCare failed to “attempt” to act in “good faith” to effectuate the prompt, fair, and 

equitable settlements of claims under section 790.03(h)(5).  Indeed, CDI’s Cignarale even “credited 
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PacifiCare for making a good faith attempt to comply with the law.”  (CDI Br. 132.)  Thus, CDI’s 

own testimony negates any violation of section 790.03(h)(5). 

Finally, not only is CDI unable to transform this inadvertent error into an unfair claims 

settlement practice, but CDI’s decision to bring a charge based on conduct ratified by CDI 

contravenes a Best Practices guide to which CDI’s own Craig Dixon significantly contributed.  (Tr. 

5775:24-5776:25 [Dixon].) 

7. Denial Of Claims Due To Failure To Maintain COCCs.  (See 
PacifiCare’s Brief, Section VII.G.) 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare incorrectly denied 1,799 insurance claims based on the member’s 

failure to provide PacifiCare with a COCC form, even after the member had submitted the COCC 

form to PacifiCare, in violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), and (h)(5).  (OSC, ¶¶ 119-122.) 

There is a wholesale failure of proof with respect to this claim. 

First, notwithstanding CDI’s allegation that its “investigation revealed a general and 

widespread practice of continuing to request COCCs after they had already been received” (CDI Br. 

108:6-7), only 9 of the 130 CDI closure letters regarding complaints from March 2006 to January 

2009 involved the alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (Exhs. 22, 29, 40, 41, 76, 79, 166, 182, 209.)  

And these closure letters constitute administrative hearsay, which cannot form the basis for a factual 

finding without other competent evidence.  (Gov. Code, § 11513, subd. (d).)  After all, “[t]he general 

rule is that in the absence of a special statute an administrative agency cannot over objection make 

findings of fact supported solely by hearsay evidence.”  (Steen v. Bd. of Civil Service Comr. (1945) 

26 Cal.2d 716, 726-727.) 

Second, CDI cites to exhibit 5016 in support of its assertion that 1,799 claims were impacted 

by the alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (CDI Br. 109.)  But that exhibit relates to the reprocessing of 

claims that applied the incorrect 12-month exclusionary period.  Thus, CDI has no evidence to 

support its allegation that 1,799 claims involved requests for COCCs that had already been received. 
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Third, CDI failed to present the other evidence necessary to support any unfair claims 

settlement practices in violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), or (h)(5).  First, CDI fails to identify 

any language in a claim denial upon which it bases its contention that PacifiCare misrepresented 

“pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue” under section 

790.03(h)(1).  In fact, where PacifiCare has no evidence of its receipt of a COCC, its EOB typically 

states, “This claim is being denied due to lack of required information.  Please forward the Certificate 

of Creditable Coverage from your prior carrier.”  This is not a misrepresentation of fact.  After all, the 

assertion that the claim is being denied due to a lack of required information is the true reason for the 

denial of the claim; PacifiCare does not represent why it lacks the required information, merely that it 

lacks it, which is true.  And the request to a member to forward a COCC is a request, not a fact. 

Similarly, since CDI has failed to prove that any of the 1,799 claims were denied on the basis 

of missing COCCs, it is unable to prove that these denials reflect a failure to adopt and implement 

reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims under section 

790.03(h)(3).  To the contrary, the evidence demonstrates that PacifiCare improved its processes for 

handling correspondence, including COCCs, prior to CDI even raising the issue of COCCs.  (Tr. 

3164:20-3166:13, 13682:3-13683:13, 13712:14-13714:20 [Murray]; Tr. 13886:3-25 [Vavra].) 

Likewise, CDI cannot prove that any claims denial due to a missing COCC constitutes a 

failure to “attempt” in “good faith” to effectuate the prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims 

under section 790.03(h)(5).  There is no evidence of bad faith in any case where a claim was denied 

because of a failure to locate a COCC. 

Finally, CDI has not identified even one person whose medical condition suffered as a result 

of any alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (Tr. 23490:2-11, 23492:15-23493:12 [Cignarale].) 

8. Failure To Correctly Pay Claims.  (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section 
VII.H.) 

CDI alleges that 3,700 claims were incorrectly paid (and subsequently reworked) based on 

“PacifiCare’s contract loading delays” with providers, which resulted in claims being processed 
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pursuant to an outdated contract or non-contracted rates, in violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), 

and (h)(5).  (CDI Br. 203:8-10.) 

However, the evidence shows only 2,662 claims (not the 3,700 claims alleged by CDI) which 

were reworked due to late-loaded provider contracts.  (Exh. 5252, p. 6929.) 

Moreover and in any event, the incorrect payment of 2,662 claims, due to late-loaded 

contracts, cannot possibly constitute a misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision under section 

790.03(h)(1) because an inadvertent error in payment is neither a representation of a fact nor of a 

policy provision.  Further, the law is clear that “implied misrepresentations” are not 

misrepresentations.  (See Williams v. United States (1982) 458 U.S. 279, 284 [deposit of a bad check 

“is not a factual assertion at all”].) 

Nor can incorrect payments of claims based on late-loaded contracts evidence, in and of 

themselves, a failure to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and 

processing of claims under section 790.03(h)(3):  Not only were the amounts ultimately paid (exh. 

5252, p. 6929; Tr. 7394:25-7397:24 [Berkel]), but the evidence showed that providers (and not 

deficient standards) are often to blame for incorrect payments which result from the late loading of 

contracts.  Contracts can be late-loaded because the providers transmit contracts with incomplete 

information, and because providers can fail to honor commitments to hold their claims until 

PacifiCare has had a reasonable time to load the contract.  (Tr. 10672:8-18, 10673:5-10674:12, 

10675:22-10677:15 [McFann].)  Furthermore, in many cases, providers insisted that PacifiCare apply 

their contracts retroactively and re-work claims that were submitted prior to execution of the contract.  

Accordingly, given that providers are often responsible for late-loaded contracts, CDI fails to show 

how the late-loaded contracts evidenced a failure on PacifiCare’s part to adopt or implement 

reasonable standards for processing claims. 
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Finally, CDI fails to show that any incorrect payments based on late-loaded contracts were the 

result of a failure to “attempt” in “good faith” to effectuate the prompt, fair, and equitable settlement 

of claims under section 790.03(h)(5).  Among other things, CDI has no evidence of bad faith. 

9. Summary Of Nine Largest Categories Of Violations. 
The foregoing nine categories, which have no merit, represent 99.6% of CDI’s alleged acts in 

violation of section 790.03(h).  A fuller discussion of the flaws in each of these categories, and the 

lack of merit of the remaining 0.4% of claimed violations is fully addressed in the accompanying 

brief.  (See post, Section VII.). 

G. The Integration Process Following The Merger Is Not Responsible For The 
Charged Violations. (See PacifiCare’s Brief, Section I.A.4.) 

Acknowledging that the inadvertent failure to include form language in over 765,000 EOBs 

and EOPs, for example, could never justify a six-figure penalty – let alone, the nine-figure penalty 

sought here – and faced with a paucity of evidence that PacifiCare is a bad actor, CDI has spent the 

vast majority of this hearing developing a theory that United’s “relentless pursuit of ‘synergies,’ 

demanding cost-cutting measures,” such as alleged downsizing and outsourcing, led “to the violations 

that followed . . . .”  (CDI Br. 1, accord id. at 2-4, 7-57.)  Notwithstanding these dramatic assertions, 

CDI has failed to present any competent evidence linking any specific integration-related issues to 

the alleged violations in this case. 

Notably, CDI’s integration expert Ronald Boeving did not even “take an opportunity to 

familiarize [himself] with the nature of the [the] alleged violations” at issue in this proceeding, and 

admitted that he did not “link a mistake in the integration with” any specific violations of an 

Insurance Code provision or regulation alleged in this proceeding.  (See, e.g., Tr. 19143:13-19145:14 

[Boeving].)  Similarly, Deputy Commissioner Cignarale admitted that he did not examine the record 

in this proceeding in order to assess whether any integration issues contributed to the alleged 

violations.  (Tr. 23261:14-21, 23294:5-23304:5, 23266:7-23269:23 [Cignarale].)  He also admitted he 

did not “know whether the Department has ever looked at the operations of other health insurance 
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companies in connection with integration practices,” and that he had “no basis to compare this 

particular integration and what happened as compared to any of the other health insurers that have 

been the subject of a merger in California.”  (Tr. 23748:12-16, 23750:20-23751:5 [Cignarale].)   

In the end, CDI’s arguments about United’s “downsizing,” “outsourcing,” and “cost cutting” 

are nothing but red herrings, as explained in further depth in the accompanying brief.  Many of the 

staff changes and reductions at issue in this case had been planned by PacifiCare and were underway 

before the merger had been announced, such as PacifiCare’s transitioning of its PPO customer service 

operations to its San Antonio facility and to its pre-existing vendor, West, in Huntsville, Alabama.  

Likewise, the majority of layoffs in 2006 were for employees in PacifiCare’s HMO business, which 

is outside CDI’s jurisdiction and for which PacifiCare sought and obtained DMHC approval.  

Further, in connection with the integration, PacifiCare hired almost as many new PPO claims 

handlers as it had laid off.  Thus, the number of claims handlers remained roughly the same because 

PacifiCare added claims examiners in San Antonio and MedPlans to perform the work of the 

departing PacifiCare claims examiners (who were given an opportunity to move to San Antonio). 

CDI also complains about PacifiCare’s outsourcing to Lason, alleging that it was the cause, 

for instance, of the missing COCCs.  But the decision to outsource mailroom and document routing 

was made months before the merger, and Lason was chosen based on its superior performance, and 

only after comparing different vendors.  Further, PacifiCare transferred these functions to Lason only 

after PacifiCare had spent several months working with Lason to design and test a new system.  And 

when it began service in April 2006, Lason accurately routed over 98% of PacifiCare’s Regional 

Mail Office correspondence.   

CDI also alleges that PacifiCare failed to adequately invest in the PPO platform named RIMS.  

(CDI Br. 38.)  But the evidence demonstrates that PacifiCare did undertake costly upgrades to the 

RIMS system, both prior to and immediately after the merger. 
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In fact, PacifiCare and United applied substantial resources to their integration efforts, 

involved management at the highest levels of both PacifiCare and United, and legacy PacifiCare staff 

had important involvement in the design of those systems.  (Tr. 6766:12-24 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 

7714:4-7718:21 [Berkel]; Tr. 15911:7-15913:4 [Wichmann]; Tr. 11985:18-24, 11986:19-24 

[Greenberg]; exh. 5398.)  The integration efforts included significant improvements in claims 

handling processes for PacifiCare, including standardized mail room operations, document imaging, 

routing and tracking, more robust quality controls, and standardized processes around eligibility that 

reduced the risk of error. 

In hindsight, whether or not these improvements resulted in some level of disruption is 

irrelevant, given CDI’s failure to present evidence that actually showed a causal link between any 

failing and any alleged violation.  However, what is relevant is the fact that at all times following the 

merger, PacifiCare met industry standards and its performance obligations under the Undertakings 

required by CDI:  It exceeded the claims payment timeliness standard in Undertaking 19, which was 

specifically designed to reflect PacifiCare’s historical performance; and its performance with respect 

to Underpayment Claim Payment Accuracy (“UCPA”) and Dollar Accuracy Rate (“DAR”) was also 

consistent with industry standards.  (Exhs. 609, 5226, pp. 5-6, 5252, p. 9, 5262, 5615, pp. 4-5; Tr. 

7664:12-21, 7666:10-20 [Berkel]; Tr. 7272:7-7273:11, 7275:17-20 [Goossens]; Tr. 19799:25-

19800:25, 21568:24-21569:5, 21572:6-25, 22357:20-22358:7 [McNabb].) 

H. Conclusion. 

As summarized above and demonstrated fully in the accompanying brief, CDI’s position is a 

radical departure from its past practice (including its assessment of penalties for similar conduct), a 

serious distortion of legal principles, and an abandonment of government’s obligation to avoid unjust 

results (People ex rel. Clancy v. Superior Court (1985) 39 Cal.3d 740, 746). 
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Indeed, CDI approved some of the very conduct for which it now seeks to penalize PacifiCare 

(like the 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions and the tolerance threshold for late 

claim payments). 

And in many cases, CDI failed to give PacifiCare any fair notice that it would penalize 

PacifiCare for its actions.  For instance, CDI seeks to penalize PacifiCare for the very period during 

which PacifiCare was seeking department approval of its revisions to the EOB and EOP forms.  

Likewise, CDI’s own staff could not even agree on whether the non-penal statute that governs the 

acknowledgement of receipt of claims – section 10133.66, subdivision (c) – requires 

acknowledgement by mail. 

Significantly, this radical departure from past practice, the penalization of conduct approved 

by CDI itself, and the wholesale distortion of legal principles have been inflicted by an agency that 

has admittedly destroyed relevant evidence, failed to implement a litigation hold on documents, 

improperly encouraged providers to “rack up” complaints against PacifiCare, and has been rated as 

possessing “the most politicized insurance environment in the country.”  (See R Street Institute, 

Insurance Regulation Report Card (2012).)  Something is terribly wrong with an agency that has 

consumed over two years in an administrative adjudication to pursue hundreds of  millions of dollars 

in penalties for missing notices in forms, for failing to send snail-mail acknowledgements of receipt 

in a paperless age, and for paying 97% of its claims within 30 working days!  Yes, this litigation 

should send a message – to CDI to start exercising its power fairly and judiciously.  As Sue Stead 

observed, regulators “have a good deal of power and authority under statutes that they’ve been 

charged with enforcing” and “need to exercise that discretion fairly.”  (Tr. 24366:1-21)  “That 

discretion can be abused,” she added (Tr. 24366:18), and where “the destruction of records . . . 

affected the integrity of [the] whole process” “I wouldn’t feel that you could proceed with anything.”  

(Tr. 24380:2-24381:19.) 
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The accompanying brief will fully address all of the logical and legal flaws and failures in 

CDI’s enforcement action.  The brief will provide a factual and procedural background, which shows 

the irrelevance of CDI’s post-acquisition integration presentation and the arbitrary and standardless 

manner by which it has unlawfully pursued this action, followed by (1) the law regarding the burden 

of proof (post, Section II), (2) the lack of deference owed to CDI’s legal interpretations (post, Section 

III), (3) the due process constraints upon the size of any penalty (post, Section IV), (3) CDI’s 

arbitrary treatment of PacifiCare in this action in violation of PacifiCare’s due process and equal 

protection rights (post, Section V), (4) the proper interpretation of sections 790.03 and 790.035 (post, 

Section VI), and (5) an analysis of each of CDI’s claims, demonstrating the multiple flaws in each 

theory and the maximum penalty for any violations that are established (post, Section VII).
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I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND. 

A. CDI’s Version Of The Origins Of Its Enforcement Action Distorts The 
Evidence. 

As noted in the introduction, the theme of CDI’s brief is that United’s “relentless pursuit of 

‘synergies,’ [and] cost-cutting measures,” such as alleged downsizing and outsourcing, led “to the 

violations that followed . . . .”  (CDI Br. 1.)  However, despite CDI’s expenditure of nearly 60 pages 

to this theme, CDI’s presentation distorts the evidence and is ultimately irrelevant to this action.  

PacifiCare sets forth the facts to set the record straight. 

1. PacifiCare’s Acquisition And The Merger Approval 
Process/Undertakings.  

In July 2005, PacifiCare Health Systems and UnitedHealthcare publicly announced their plans 

for an $8.2 billion merger, the third largest healthcare combination in history.  (Tr. 10593:20-22 

[McFann]; Tr. 7346:20-7347:2 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 1.)  In connection with approving the merger, then-

Commissioner Garamendi required PacifiCare to agree to written commitments in the form of certain 

formal “undertakings” (the “Undertakings”).  (Tr. 8742:24-8743:5 [Monk]; exhs. 5191, 5282, 5283, 

5289; P.P.F. 10.)  Those Undertakings represented the complete terms of any commitments required 

by the Commissioner and CDI for approval of the merger.  (Exh. 5191, p. 9395, ¶ 20(h) [“[The] 

Undertakings embody the entire agreement and undertakings of the parties…and supersede all prior 

agreements and undertakings, both written and oral….”], italics added; P.P.F. 11.)4   

                                                 

 4 This superseding language is significant because CDI has claimed that earlier statements of 
PacifiCare and United executives at a November 2005 hearing were also binding commitments.  
(CDI. Br. 6-7.)  But even if the Undertakings did not supersede these statements – which they 
expressly did – PacifiCare and United executives did not make any specific commitments or 
promises to the Commissioner at that earlier hearing.  (Tr. 9037:20-9038:7, 9039:11-20, 9045:20-
9047:7, 9062:11-17 [Monk]; Exh. 625; P.P.F. 518.)  In fact, PacifiCare and United could not fully 
evaluate post-merger plans because of restrictions imposed by the Department of Justice on the 
ability to engage in detailed due diligence or exchange data prior to closing the merger.  (Tr. 
7359:5-7360:4 [Berkel]; Tr. 15910:18-15912:9 [Wichmann]; P.P.F. 6, 7.)   PacifiCare disclosed this 
fact to CDI.  (See, e.g., exh. 625, pp. 7139-7140; see also PacifiCare’s Form A filing with CDI, 
Req. Off. Notice, Tab 35, pp. CDI00043785 [“We would note that for reasons of confidentiality and 
antitrust regulations, due diligence procedures were often limited to non-sensitive information 
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In connection with the Undertakings, PacifiCare agreed to performance requirements 

designed to be “reflective of [PacifiCare’s] historic performance.”  (Tr. 8755:2-8756:4 [Monk]; Exh. 

5191, ¶ 19; P.P.F. 12.)  With respect to the timeliness of claim payments, the Undertakings required 

PacifiCare to process at least 92% of its claims within thirty (30) calendar days from receipt of the 

claims—a stricter standard than required by California law.  (Tr. 12 [Monk]; Exh. 5191, p. 15; P.P.F. 

13.)  Indeed, CDI admits that PacifiCare met this requirement for the four-year duration of the 

Undertakings’ effect.  (Tr. 22787:14-18 [Cignarale]; Tr. 8767:9-12 [Monk]; P.P.F. 14.)  CDI also 

appointed an outside auditor, at PacifiCare’s expense, to examine PacifiCare’s compliance with the 

Undertakings.  The auditor found that PacifiCare had met all of the requirements that it examined and 

concluded that “UnitedHealth and PacifiCare [] made a good faith effort to comply with the 

Undertakings.”  (Tr. 8924:7-23, 18065:5-18069:5 [Monk]; Exhs. 5548, 5321; P.P.F. 32.) 

On December 19, 2005, CDI approved the merger in a letter to PacifiCare which stated that 

“approval is hereby granted . . . based on the information, commitments, and documentation filed 

with the above-captioned matter, including specifically the Undertakings to the California 

Department of Insurance. . . .”  (Exh. 5282; P.P.F. 17.)  The merger closed on December 20, 2005.  

(Tr. 10593:23-24 [McFann]; P.P.F.18.)   

2. The Critical Importance Of Cost Saving Measures. 

The rising cost of health care and health insurance adversely affects millions of Americans 

and has developed into a national crisis.  (Exh. 5621, p. 18.)  In order to lower health insurance 

premiums for consumers, it is critical that health insurers manage their own costs.  Mergers represent 

a unique and powerful opportunity to reduce certain costs associated with combining operations and 

achieving economies of scale, which generate savings that offset the ever-rising health care costs for 

                                                                                                                                                             

provided to [United] by PacifiCare and, as such, synergy estimates are preliminary and cannot be 
fully assessed until the Merger is completed.”].) 
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consumers.  (Tr. 8922:8-19 [Monk]; Tr. 7360:5-7361:4 [Berkel]; Tr. 17747:3-9 [Watson]; Tr. 

15423:17-15424:5 [Ho]; Exh. 5615, pp. 1-2; P.P.F. 52.) 

In fact, as part of approving the merger, Commissioner Garamendi and his staff negotiated 

“specific recognition that synergy savings would occur and be captured as part of the undertakings,” 

resulting in Undertaking 14, which required “synergy savings that have been realized from the 

merger” to be “passed through to California consumers” in the form of “mitigating premium 

increases.”  (Tr. 8919:1-8923:5 [Monk]; Exh. 5191; P.P.F.54.)   

3. CDI’s Misleading Allegations Regarding Diminished Staff, 
Outsourcing, And Mismanagement Of Internal Systems And 
Processes. 

CDI’s criticism of PacifiCare for allegedly downsizing and outsourcing its workforce 

completely misses the mark and are irrelevant in any event.  (CDI Br. 9-11.)   

As an initial matter, many of the staffing changes and reductions criticized by CDI had 

already been planned and/or in large part executed by PacifiCare before the merger had even been 

announced.  (Tr. 13884:22-13885:2 [Vavra]; 13886:03-13887:04; Tr. 2500:24-2501:13, 3340:2-

3341:14, 3344:23-3345:25 [Sing]; Tr. 6163:13-21, 6173:14-20, 6175:9-6177:7, 6956:5-12 

[Vondehaar]; Tr. 17739:1-8 [Watson]; Tr. 3165:13-3166:13 [Murray]; P.P.F.70.)  For example, in 

2004, PacifiCare had already transitioned its PPO customer service operations to its San Antonio 

facility and to its pre-existing vendor, West, in Huntsville, Alabama.  (Tr. 2500:24-2501:13, 3340:2-

3341:14, 3344:23-3345:25 [Sing]; P.P.F.71.)   

Second, the Undertakings included no commitments around staffing in California.  (Exh. 

5191; P.P.F.15.)  In fact, CDI expressly told PacifiCare that it would not require a staffing 

undertaking because “[t]hat’s not the way we conduct our oversight,” and that it was not CDI’s 

practice to approve or require staffing changes or decisions.  (Tr. 8833:8–8834:18 [Monk]; P.P.F.16.)   

Nonetheless, in connection with the integration, PacifiCare eventually hired almost as many 

new PPO claims handlers as it laid off.  (Tr. 7361:10-21, 11244:9-11244:22 [Berkel]; P.P.F.60.)  At 
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the end of the day, the number of employees handling PacifiCare claims stayed roughly the same 

after the merger because the company was able to add claims examiners in San Antonio and at 

MedPlans to perform the work of the approximately twenty departing PacifiCare PPO claims 

examiners, who were also given an opportunity to move to San Antonio.  (Tr. 7361:10-21, 8478:6-12 

[Berkel]; Tr. 6163:13-21 [Vonderhaar], 6956:5-12; Tr. 2330:7-2331:19 [Norket]; P.P.F.74.) 

Third, CDI is completely incorrect that PacifiCare’s claims processing was “hastily 

outsourced to ill-prepared, inadequately supervised vendors,” including Accenture, Lason, and 

MedPlans.  (CDI Br. 2, 12-33.)  In fact, in most cases the decision to outsource had been made before 

the merger, and in all cases the decision was deliberate and carefully considered:   

• Accenture:  PacifiCare had planned, pre-merger, to automate and outsource the data entry of 
member enrollment information, and for that task it choose Accenture, one of the world’s 
most well-known and respected consulting companies.  (Tr. 17739:1-8 [Watson ]; Tr. 
13885:13-13887:4 [Vavra]; Tr. 20795:6-20796:11 [McNabb]; P.P.F.134, 135.)  Accenture 
had a track record of successfully handling this data entry function for United at a lower cost.  
(Tr. 5569:14-5571:23, 5493:19-5494:2 [Labuhn]; Tr. 7818:1-6 [Berkel]; Tr. 19833:22-
19834:4 [McNabb]; exh. 540; Tr. 17739:13-20 [Watson ]; Tr. 18457:13-19 [Wichmann]; 
P.P.F.135.)  The outsourcing of data entry functions to an experienced vendor such as 
Accenture was not only reasonable at the time, but an industry standard method for improving 
quality, standardizing procedures that in the past had been subject to undocumented and 
special handling rules, and reducing health care costs.  (Exh. 5615, pp. 6-7; Tr. 20794:24-
20795:13, 19833:6-19834:4 [McNabb]; P.P.F.136.) 

• Lason:  PacifiCare had already decided to outsource its mailroom and document routing 
functions months before the merger.  (Tr. 13884:22-13885:2, 13886:03-13887:04 [Vavra]; 
exh. 5443; P.P.F.70, 114.)  Outsourcing mailroom operations to a vendor like Lason was 
consistent with industry standards.  (Tr. 19771:16-19772:15 [McNabb]; Tr. 13881:7-16 
[Vavra]; P.P.F.115.)  Based on comparisons of historical performance and experience with 
different vendors, PacifiCare decided to proceed with Lason because of its superior 
performance.  (Exhs. 5454, 5455, 5615; Tr. 13887:22-13888:17, 13889:11-22, 13892:5-
13895:21, 13896:18-13897:12 [Vavra]; P.P.F.117.)  Moreover, PacifiCare did not hastily 
hand off these processes to Lason, but instead spent several months working with Lason to 
design and test a system tailored to PacifiCare’s needs.  (Tr. 13679:25-13680:23, 13712:25-
13715:25, 13770:17-13773:13, 14345:8-14347:10 [Murray]; Tr. 13900:4-13900:24 [Vavra]; 
P.P.F.119.) 

• MedPlans:  CDI’s bald allegation that “outsourcing to MedPlans caused serious claims-
processing errors, which resulted in many acts in violation being charged here” (CDI Br. 32), 
is irrelevant, as this Court has specifically excluded the allegations that CDI has made with 
respect to MedPlans’s processing of claims subject to exclusions for pre-existing conditions.  
(Tr. 25716:13-25719:3 [March 21, 2012 Hearing].)   
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Most importantly, despite CDI’s conclusory assertion that “[m]any of the violations at issue in 

this action were directly attributable…to implementing cost-cutting strategies” (CDI Br. 11), CDI 

fails to tether any decision to downsize or outsource a particular job function to any specific violation 

of the Insurance Code.  In fact, the vast majority of the layoffs in 2006 were for employees in 

PacifiCare’s HMO business (which is outside of CDI’s jurisdiction), and for which PacifiCare sought 

and obtained DMHC approval.  (Tr. 12360:24-12361:04, 12364:16-20 [Monk].) 

4. The Integration Issues Were Not The Cause Of CDI’s Claimed 
Violations. 

The heart of CDI’s brief is a biting condemnation of PacifiCare’s merger with United.  (CDI 

Br. 5-63.)  Yet, there is no evidence that any integration error caused a single violation at issue in this 

case.  

Significantly, CDI’s own integration expert, Ronald Boeving, admitted he made no effort to, 

and could not, “link a mistake in the integration” to any alleged violation of an Insurance Code 

statute or regulation alleged in this case.  (Tr. 19143:13-19145:14 [Boeving]; P.P.F.33.)  Further, 

CDI’s “penalty expert” Mr. Cignarale admitted he had no basis to compare the PacifiCare/United 

integration to other health care integrations, and notably, admitted that he did not and could not, 

conclude that the integration issues raised by CDI in this hearing resulted in a violation of an 

Insurance Code statute or regulation.  (Tr. 23261, 23294:5-23304:5, 23266:7-23269:23;23, 23748:12-

16, 23750:20-23751:5 [Cignarale].)  Indeed, the purported flaws in the integration process had no 

relationship whatsoever to the vast majority of the violations alleged by CDI.5  (Tr. 11245:23-

11253:19 [Berkel]; Tr. 17310:6-9 [Lippincott]; Tr. 21598:6-8 [McNabb]; Tr. 24867:11-24874:7; Tr. 

19143:3-19145:4 [Boeving]; Tr. 23304:15-19 [Cignarale]; Tr. 18891:3-7 [Zaretsky]; Exhs. 5370, 

5539; P.P.F.37.) 

                                                 

 5 And even when CDI suggests that problems occurred, it does not quantify the alleged impact 
in any meaningful way.  (Tr. 19143:13-19145:14, 19200:13-19201:10, 19403:3-14 [Boeving]; 
P.P.F.40.) 

Dennis
Text Box
5593
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The absence of any causal relationship does not appear to impede CDI from heaving 

uninformed, erroneous criticisms at the integration process.  For example, CDI recklessly alleges that 

PacifiCare failed to adequately invest in its PPO claims platform, RIMS.  (CDI Br. 38-40.)  First, the 

evidence showed that expenditures on the RIMS platform (both maintenance and capital 

improvements) remained constant both pre- and post-merger.  (Tr. 7856:11-7858:1, 8126:2-13, 

8286:13-8287:6, 8290:8-14, 11336:11-11338:19 [Berkel]; Tr. 6806:16-6807:4 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 

14187:19-14189:20, 14195:9-12 [Way]; Tr. 19803:25-19804:15, 21483:1-12 [McNabb]; Exhs. 5264, 

p.8, 5618; ; P.P.F.92.)  Second, CDI says that PacifiCare failed to upgrade the RIMS software.  (CDI 

Br. 38.)  But PacifiCare did undertake costly upgrades to the RIMS system, both prior to and 

immediately after the merger.  (Tr. 7856:11-7858:6 [Berkel]; Exh. 5264, p. 6962; Tr. 6808:22-

6809:16 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 14205:24-14207:7 [Way (explaining the upgrade from version 2.80 to 

3.10.50 in 2003, and the post-merger upgrade to version 3.10.70)]; P.P.F.93.) 

Third, CDI argues that PacifiCare should have upgraded RIMS to a version with a “relational 

database.”  (CDI Br. 38.)  However, a relational database was not available for RIMS until Version 

4.10 in 2008 well after the time when CDI claimed it was – meaning that it could not have impacted 

the issues in this proceeding.  (Exh. 5607.)  Moreover, even if such a database had been available 

earlier, it still would not have impacted any of the issues here because the relational database upgrade 

had virtually the same provider demographic data tables; therefore, the database would not have 

eliminated any of the challenges associated with maintaining provider data.  (Tr. 19817:19-19819:18 

[McNabb]; Tr. 19360:4-8, 19360:12-18, 19361:16-21, 19363:1-3, 19363:25-19364:13, 19365:11-15, 

19366:2-7, 19367:2-14, 19368:2-10, 19374:15-18, 19367:1-4 [Boeving]; Exhs. 5603, 5607; P.P.F. 

102.)  Indeed, the only difference that Mr. Boeving identified was that later versions of RIMS 

possessed a National Physician Indicator (“NPI”) data field.  (Tr. 19372:9-15 [Boeving].)  However, 

PacifiCare had instituted NPI functionality into the RIMS system by February 2007, well before the 

software developer had even added that functionality to RIMS.  (Exhs. 5069, 5603; P.P.F. 103.)   
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Fourth, CDI alleges that PacifiCare relied on software that was “no longer supported by the 

vendors.”  (CDI Br. 38.)  But at all times, vendors supported RIMS and other related software 

through extended maintenance agreements.  (Tr. 14212:3-14213-12 [Way]; Tr. 8431:15-8432:5 

[Berkel]; Exh. 5465; P.P.F. 96.) 

Finally, CDI alleges that PacifiCare had relegated RIMS to a “Tier 2” status, which according 

to CDI implies that PacifiCare “tolerated a higher level of malfunctions.”  (CDI Br. 39.)  But this 

allegation is also patently false.  The exhibit on which CDI relies for this finding proves otherwise 

(Exh. 1054), and in any event, the exhibit’s author did not have sufficient knowledge to opine as to 

the tier status of the RIMS claims system.  (Tr. 17985:6-17986:9, 18244:5-17 [Way].)  Significantly, 

even if CDI’s allegations regarding the RIMS system were correct – which they are not – they would 

still be irrelevant, because CDI did not present any credible evidence that PacifiCare’s decision not to 

upgrade to higher versions of the software resulted in any operational deficiencies, or in any of the 

specific violations alleged in this hearing.  (Tr. 14210:3-17 [Way]; Tr. 7436:22-7437:25 [Berkel]; Tr. 

12144:24-12145:3 [Greenberg]; Exh. 5252; P.P.F.97.)6 

CDI also criticizes PacifiCare for using a “data bridge,” called the Electronic Provider Data 

Exchange (“EPDE”), “to transfer provider demographic and contract data from a United database to 

RIMS.”  (CDI Br. 44-47.)  But CDI’s criticism is based on misunderstandings and gross 

mischaracterizations.  For one, contract data was not transmitted using the EPDE, which updates 

only demographic information.  (Tr. 16126:2-13 [Lippincott].)  Second, CDI is also wrong to charge 

PacifiCare with knowledge that the decision to use EPDE was “fraught with risk” (CDI Br. 44) when 

the exhibits which CDI cites characterize nothing as “fraught with risk” and assess no risk magnitude.  

To the contrary, creating a single source for provider data using EPDE posed less risk than attempting 

                                                 

 6 Further, any upgrade would have entailed significant risk and expense with no discernible 
benefit.  (Tr. 14206:5-14209:1, 14210:3-17 [Way]; Tr. 19808:1-19809:8 [McNabb]; Tr. 8419:7-
8420:1 [Berkel]; Exhs. 5481, 5482.) 
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to concurrently maintain separate data sets for the same set of doctors.  (Tr. 14996:17-14997:3, 

15086:2-10 [Lippincott]; Exh. 5486; Tr. 21360:24-21361:16 [McNabb]; P.P.F. 152, 155.)  CDI also 

shamelessly asserts that “PacifiCare did not analyze how the two companies’ divergent contracting 

practices and the many structural differences between RIMS and [United’s database] would affect the 

flow of data.”  (CDI Br. 45.)   But the truth is that PacifiCare extensively studied the data and systems 

architecture of the relevant systems.  (Tr. 15012:9-15013:2 [Lippincott]; Exh 5486.)  It then engaged 

in building and testing phases up until the launch date.  (Tr. 15013:3-23 [Lippincott]; Exh. 5486.)  

Over 100 employees were involved in these processes, including critical PacifiCare experts “in each 

and every one of these steps . . . who understood the data structures [and] the way the data would 

operate.”  (Tr. 15013:24-15014:21 [Lippincott]; Exh. 5486; P.P.F. 162.)  CDI’s accusation is not only 

egregiously false, but once again irrelevant, as CDI does not tether PacifiCare’s preparation for and 

deployment of the data bridge to any Insurance Code violations. 

5. The Benefits Achieved By The Integration. 

PacifiCare’s integration efforts resulted in significant improvements in claims-handling 

processes, including standardized mail room operations, document imaging, routing and tracking, 

more robust quality controls, and standardized processes around eligibility that reduced the risk of 

error.  (Tr. 19826:23-19829:4 [McNabb (mailroom)], 20067:25-20068:9 [McNabb (no obvious 

disruption to claims processing)], 20628:8-20630:17 [McNabb (quality of provider data)]; Tr. 

12354:5-12356:5 [McFann (migrating call centers)]; Tr. 13897:9-13899:2 [Vavra (mailroom)]; Tr. 

7818:1-15 [Berkel (eligibility)]; Tr. 5570:7-23 [Labuhn (paper eligibility)]; Exhs. 5296, 5264, p. 2; 

Tr. 6853:2-24 [Vonderhaar] (improved quality and auditing process using United’s model)]; P.P.F. 

21.) 

To provide one of many examples, PacifiCare’s pre-merger document routing system required 

mail handlers to manually review, sort, and route incoming claims and correspondences using 

interoffice envelopes.  (Tr. 13673:16-24 [Murray]; Tr. 13883:12-13884:7 [Vavra]; Tr. 6879:7-15 
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[Vonderhaar]; Tr. 8513:25-8514:6, 7450:2-13 [Berkel]; P.P.F.109.)  Because PacifiCare could not 

track where documents were being routed, it did not have any tools to monitor, oversee, or report on 

delivery status or accuracy.  (Tr. 13883:6-13884:16 [Vavra]; Tr. 13711:2-13712:3 [Murray]; Exh. 

5468; P.P.F. 112.)  This antiquated system also required personnel to manually search file cabinets or 

people’s desks for documents.  (Tr. 13883:6-13884:16 [Vavra]; Tr. 7452:6-11 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 112.) 

PacifiCare and United agreed that these antiquated processes created unacceptable business 

risk and would greatly benefit from automation and outsourcing.  (Tr. 6794:15-25 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 

13883:19-13884:16, 13898:14-13899:2 [Vavra]; Tr. 15661:13-20 [McMahon]; Tr. 19771:16-20, 

19827:4-19828:4, 20795:6-11 [McNabb]; Tr. 13679:10-13679:19 [Murray]; P.P.F.113.)  In fact, 

PacifiCare had already begun automating some parts of its incoming recovery mail routing before the 

merger, using a vendor, ACS.  It should also be noted that outsourcing mailroom operations to a 

specialized vendor was consistent with industry standards at the time.  (Tr. 19771:16-19772:15 

[McNabb]; Tr. 13881:7-16 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 115.)   

Accordingly, PacifiCare’s team of subject matter experts, led by a PacifiCare legacy 

employee, spent months designing and testing a system that was tailored to PacifiCare’s needs.  (Tr. 

13679:25-13680:23, 13712:25-13715:25, 13770:17-13773:13, 14345:8-14347:10 [Murray]; Tr. 

13900:4-13900:24 [Vavra]; P.P.F.119.)  The resulting design significantly simplified the company’s 

handling of documents and decision-making.  (Exhs. 5468, 5469; Tr. 14384:7-14388:5 [Murray]; 

P.P.F. 122.) 

Based on comparisons of historical performance and PacifiCare and United’s prior experience 

with both ACS and Lason, PacifiCare and United decided to outsource these processes to Lason 

because of its superior performance and capabilities.   (Exhs. 5454, 5455; 5615; Tr. 13887:22-

13888:17, 13889:11-22, 13892:5-13895:21, 13896:18-13897:12 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 117.) 

Prior to the official launch of Lason’s service in July 2006, PacifiCare began running 

correspondence through the Lason system in April 2006, at which time it accurately routed over 98% 
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of PacifiCare’s Regional Mail Office correspondence.  (Exh. 5457; Tr. 13927:6-21 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 

124.)  Equipped with Lason’s “DocDNA” system, PacifiCare management finally gained visibility 

into its correspondence routing in July 2006.  (Tr. 3200:03-3200:24, 13718:5-13719:5 [Murray]; 

P.P.F. 125.)  Later in 2006, Lason implemented a “work flow” system into DocDNA that permitted 

individual users to control the routing of documents and allowed PacifiCare to examine the 

processing history of every document, which further enhanced the company’s reporting capability.  

(Tr. 3200:3-3201:25 [Murray]; P.P.F. 126.)  Lason also made steady improvements in accuracy over 

the next two years, resulting in an accuracy rating of approximately 99.5% by 2009.  (Exh. 5457; 

P.P.F. 127.)  

CDI’s drawn-out criticism of these document routing integration efforts is baffling.  (CDI Br. 

12-30.)  For one thing, CDI does not link any Lason-related issue to a specific violation alleged in 

this hearing, and its witnesses admit they made no effort to do so.  (Tr. 22888:7-22892:10 

[Cignarale]; Tr. 19143:13-19145:14 [Boeving]; P.P.F. 128.)  Moreover, PacifiCare’s decision to 

automate and outsource eliminated significant and unacceptable risks associated with the manual 

routing of claims and correspondence.  Yet, CDI pines for the days when all correspondence was 

sorted by a single “experienced mail handler, who, after many years with the company, ‘was able to 

recognize a document and know where it needed to be delivered.’”  (CDI Br. 13, citation omitted.)  

CDI’s romantic vision of health insurance claims processing is simply not congruent with providing 

consistent, timely, and cost-effective service to a massive network of claimants and providers.  The 

Court itself reached this conclusion when taking testimony on the modernization of the document 

routing system.  (Tr. 14358:13-14359:10 [“I really liked our old calendar when it was in a book and I 

could go walk up to the book and go and look through the calendar.  But it’s on the computer now,” 

and “I had to move on with my practice manager.  People have to do that.  It’s just the way it is.”].) 
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6. A More Balanced Perspective On The Acquisition/Integration. 

The combination of PacifiCare and United was the third largest merger of health care 

companies in history, and, by definition, presented numerous challenges.  (Tr. 7346:20-7347:2, 

7462:15-7463:6 [Berkel]; Tr. 19835:24-19836:25 [McNabb]; exh. 5617, p. 20; P.P.F. 19.)  At the 

time of the merger, PacifiCare’s business was particularly complex, which made integration even 

more difficult.  Among other things, PacifiCare’s business included 6 different product types, 

including no less than 132 PPO plans, 8 different legacy operating platforms and business in 9 states 

and other territories – of which the line of business at issue here was but one small segment.   (Exh. 

5590; Tr. 19112:16-19113:2 [Boeving]; P.P.F. 20.)   

Even if the merger had not occurred, one would certainly expect to find various operational 

deficiencies in a business as complex as Pacificare’s.  In fact, many of the problems highlighted by 

CDI involve routine operational issues and challenges encountered by any large organization since 

computer programs do not work flawlessly and human errors occur, etc.  (Tr. 7476:10-19 [Berkel 

(human error affects cutting checks)]; Tr. 7491:22-25 [Berkel (provider terminations pre-dated 

merger)]; Tr. 7492:20-25 [Berkel (problems with correct fee schedules occur outside integration)]; 

Tr. 7648:9-7649:17 [Berkely (human error affects interest calculation)]; Tr. 8532:22-8533:3 [Berkel 

(department “siloing” a problem at PacifiCare even before the merger)]; Tr. 9965:4-6 [Berkel (retro 

contract loading was an issue at annual renewal regardless of CTN transition)]; Tr. 17306:18-17308:6 

[Lippincourt (demographic data)]; 19830:15-19832:2 [McNabb (non-keyable docs)]; Tr. 19834:5-

19835:5 [McNapp (undocumented business rules)]; P.P.F. 65.) 

The merger provided an excellent opportunity to cure some of these operational deficiencies.  

Of course, no significant growth is without some pain.  And where improvements involve 

transitioning from manual and non-standardized processes to automated ones, one would expect some 

level of disruption during the transition process.  (Tr. 19829:25-19833:5 [McNabb (Lason 

transition)]; Tr. 6324:13-6329:20, 6769:6-6771:6 [Vonderhaar (manual mailroom processes)]; Tr. 
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13896:18-13899:2 [Vavra (mailroom manual ops transition)]; Tr. 15227:7-15228:2 [Lippincott 

(EPDE transition)].; P.P.F. 22, 23.)   

Unable to tie any integration mistake with a violation of law, CDI is left to expound empty 

rhetoric about things that PacifiCare and United “should have done” differently to make the merger 

proceed more smoothly.  But this is not the proper role of a regulator like CDI, which lacks the 

requisite knowledge and expertise to micromanage a complicated merger between two large health 

insurers.  Moreover, it is highly irregular for a regulator such as CDI to be leveling criticisms 

concerning merger integration issues.  (Tr. 24332:25-24335:17 [Stead]; P.P.F.34.)  In fact, CDI’s 

“penalties expert,” Mr. Cignarale, concedes that CDI has never before made the integration of two 

companies the subject of review or criticism.  (Tr. 23748:12-16, 23750:20-23751:5 [Cignarale]; 

P.P.F. 35.)  Given the present, dire need to contain health care and insurance costs, this is not the time 

to start. 

7. CDI’s Jurisdiction Is Limited To A Small Part Of PacifiCare’s 
Business. 

In light of CDI’s sweeping but misguided criticism of PacifiCare’s integration efforts, it is 

significant that the Commissioner’s authority over PacifiCare’s insurance business is limited to 

PacifiCare’s preferred provider organization (“PPO”) business managed by PacifiCare Life and 

Health Insurance Company, the licensee and respondent in this proceeding.  However, the vast 

majority of PacifiCare’s California membership was in its health maintenance organization (“HMO”) 

business, managed by a separate licensee, PacifiCare of California, and regulated by the DMHC, not 

CDI.  (Tr. 7316:3-25 [Berkel]; Tr. 5859:24-5860:1 [Campbell]; P.P.F. 3.)  At the time of the merger, 

PacifiCare’s PPO business in California had 119,648 members, which represented only 3.5% out of 

the total “PacifiCare” membership of 3,343,322.  (Exh. 5590; P.P.F. 2.) 
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B. The Market Conduct Examination. 

1. CDI’s Investigation of PacifiCare. 

CDI claimed that it initiated an investigation of PacifiCare because of an “influx” of provider 

complaints in late 2006.   

However, the record shows that for the three months from October 1, 2006 to January 1, 

2007, only eight providers complained about PacifiCare, for which CDI cited PacifiCare with no 

violations.  (Exh. 5720; P.P.F. 192.)  Nevertheless, as described in more detail in Section V, a number 

of significant provider interests lobbied CDI to take action against PacifiCare and United during the 

period of re-contracting that followed the CTN termination – a time when these groups were 

presumably attempting to assert leverage over PacifiCare and United.  (Tr. 9160:15-9161:5 [Monk]; 

Tr. 16869:15-16872:10 [Wetzel]; Tr. 1212:3-17 [Black]; Tr. 24027:21-24034:22 [Cignarale], Tr. 

2634:4-10 [Griffin]; Exhs. 165, 5507, 5082, 5297, 5414, 5684, 5685; P.P.F. 188.) 

Throughout the spring of 2007 and before the 2007 MCE, CDI requested substantial data 

from PacifiCare.7   (P.P.F. 196.)   During this time and throughout the 2007 MCE, PacifiCare self-

disclosed a number of issues facing PacifiCare, including its incorrect application of a 12-month 

exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions.  (Exhs. 8, 163, 5169; Tr. 9778:25-9779:11, 7568:8-

15 [Berkel], Tr. 126:21-127:6, 160:10-22, 207:19-210:16, 221:7-222:7 [Smith]; Tr. 13062:4-8 

                                                 

 7 CDI’s requests included: claims reprocessed as a result of PacifiCare having applied a 12-
month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions (Exh. 5348); data for claims reprocessed 
because of provider demographic and fee schedule issues (ibid.); material describing PacifiCare’s 
provider outreach  and education initiatives (ibid.); PacifiCare’s handling of issues regarding 
creditable coverage (Tr. 58:1-10, 62:25-63:18 [Smith]); information concerning PacifiCare Life 
Assurance Company (a licensee for PacifiCare’s PPO business outside of California) (Exh. 9); 
training certification details (ibid.); details regarding staffing changes (Exh. 5); phone answering 
and voice mail policies (ibid.); contract loading processes (Exh. 5259); procedures related to 
PacifiCare’s maintenance of fee schedules (ibid.); contract negotiation processes (ibid.); the 
mechanics of provider demographic data handling (ibid.); details of the CTN network transition (Tr. 
10772:16-10773:4 [McFann]; Tr. 7549:18-7550:23, 7572:2-15 [Berkel]; Exh. 8); details regarding 
contracts executed with retroactive effective dates (Exh. 5372); and all aspects of contract data used 
by PacifiCare claims systems (ibid.). 
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[Laucher]; P.P.F. 195.)  By the end of April 2007, PacifiCare also agreed to remediate, or had 

completed remediating, all of the issues which CDI and PacifiCare had identified. 

2. The 2007 MCE. 

On May 14, 2007, CDI notified PacifiCare of its intention to commence a targeted market 

conduct examination of PacifiCare’s claims handling practices for the period June 22, 2006 through 

May 31, 2007 (the “2007 MCE Period”).  (Exh. 5372; P.P.F. 198.)  At the time, a routine, non-

targeted examination of PacifiCare was already in progress (the “2006 Routine Examination”).  (Exh. 

116, pp. 1375-1410; P.P.F. 202.)  

As noted, PacifiCare had self-disclosed a number of issues before being notified about the 

2007 MCE.  (Exhs. 8, 163, 5169; Tr. 9778:25-9779:11, 7568:1-5 [Berkel]; Tr. 126:21-127:6, 160:10-

22, 207:19-210:16, 221:7-222:7 [Smith]; Tr. 13062:4-8 [Laucher], Tr. 4769 [Dixon]; P.P.F. 195.) 

The 2007 MCE began on July 23, 2007 and concluded on November 8, 2007.  (Exhs. 115, 

5373, p. 6118; P.P.F. 204, 207.)  During this time, PacifiCare responded to an unprecedented 274 

referrals – several times more than CDI had ever previously propounded on the target of an MCE.  

(Valenzuela Tr. 1187:25-1188:6, Dixon Tr. 5272:12-5273:2; P.P.F. 205.)  Many of CDI’s referrals 

asked PacifiCare about matters that CDI knew had been remediated months earlier (e.g., the allegedly 

omitted language on EOPs and EOBs).  (Tr. 1190:14–1191:13 [Valenzuela]; Exh. 5065; P.P.F. 206.)  

PacifiCare responded to 261 of those 274 referrals before or on the requested date for completion.  

(Tr. 1186:20-1188:6, 1190:8-21, 1192:6-1194:4 [Valenzuela]; Exh. 5065; Tr. 7607:18-7609:3 

[Berkel]; P.P.F. 206.) 

Significantly, CDI focused on the same time period that had already been the subject of its 

spring 2007 investigation, where it knew it would find problems, instead of examining whether 

PacifiCare’s remediation was successful. 

Even more significantly, CDI’s approach during the 2007 MCE assured that it would find an 

unprecedented number of alleged violations:  Whereas it relied exclusively on sampling in prior 
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examinations of health insurers, it decided to look at PacifiCare’s entire paid claims population.  (Tr. 

5156:20-5157:22 [Dixon]; Exh. 5418, Tr. 20921:24-20922:15 [Kessler], Tr. 24369:10-25 [Stead]; 

P.P.F. 334.)   

Accordingly, in CDI’s three other key enforcement actions involving health insurers in 2008 – 

all of which were resolved – CDI examined only samples of claims and imposed penalties based only 

on the samples.  (Tr. 5156:20-5157:22 [Dixon]; Tr. 13047-48, 13050, 14089 [Laucher]; Exh. 5649; 

P.P.F. 383(b), (c).).  CDI also gave each of the other three insurers an opportunity to fix their 

problems before seeking any kind of significant penalty.  (Tr. 14101-14103 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 

383(d).).  But not so with PacifiCare. 

3. The MCE Reports. 

Following its rigorous examination of PacifiCare, CDI prepared public and confidential 

sections of its 2007 MCE report (the Public and Confidential Reports, respectively) and submitted 

them to the Commissioner in accordance with Insurance Code section 734.1, which the 

Commissioner adopted and issued on January 24, 2008.  (Exh. 5655; Tr. [Laucher] 14075:8-24; Tr. 

[Cignarale] at 23011:8-20.)   

The Public Report identified the alleged violations of section 790.03 that CDI claimed to have 

discovered and was published on CDI’s website as referenced by section 12938, subdivision (b)(1).  

(Ex. 1, p. 3535.)  Only 90 such violations were listed.  (Ibid.)  At the same time, CDI concluded that 

the following alleged violations – the vast majority of violations now alleged in this action – were 

“something other than violations of Section 790.03”:  (1) the failure to include certain language in 

PacifiCare’s EOBs and EOPs, (2) the failure to mail letters acknowledging receipt of claims, (3) the 

failure to pay some claims within 30 working days, (4) the failure to pay statutory interest on late 

paid-claims, and (5) the denial of claims based on a 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing 

conditions (hereinafter, the “Principal Alleged Violations”).  (Tr. 23011:1-7, 23013:25-23014:23, 

23020:23-23021:23, 23025:12-23028:18 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 219.) 
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When the report’s primary author, CDI’s Towanda David, was asked at trial whether this 

meant she “did not view” these other alleged violations “to be violations of [section] 790.03,” this 

Court instantly recognized that “the answer needs to logically be yes,” and Ms. David confirmed that 

the Court was “[c]orrect.”  (Tr. 11583:22-11584:5 [David].)  And CDI senior management agreed 

that the public report reflected that CDI staff had determined there were only 90 violations of section 

790.03.  (Tr. 13284:12-13285:7 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 326.) 

Furthermore, CDI senior management, including Mr. Laucher, then the head of the Market 

Conduct Exam division, and Deputy Commissioner Cignarale admitted they reviewed the final 2007 

MCE reports and had opportunities to change the number of section 790.03 violations cited therein, 

but they neither modified the reports nor re-opened the 2007 MCE.  (Tr. 23011:1-7, 23013:25-

23014:23, 23020:23-23021:23, 23025:12-23028:18 [[Cignarale]; Tr. 14075:8-24 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 

329.)  As PacifiCare’s regulatory expert, Sue Stead, explained, these facts leave no doubt that aside 

from the 90 violations identified in the public report, the other alleged violations “were not treated by 

the Department as violations of 790.03 when they issued their final report[.]”  (Tr. [Stead] at 

24414:11-24419:4.) 

Reinforcing the fact that CDI only viewed the section 790.03 violations to be approximately 

90, CDI sought leave to amend the Public Report during the course of this hearing on December 15, 

2009, but only to include two additional violations of section 790.03, for a total of 92 alleged 

violations of section 790.03.  (Exh. 123; P.P.F. 330.) 

C. CDI’s Enforcement Action Has Been Prosecuted In An Arbitrary 
Manner. 

 

In late January 2008, CDI initiated an enforcement action against PacifiCare, based on the 

Public Report. 

However, throughout this enforcement action, CDI has failed to demonstrate the ability or 

willingness to apply an established set of standards to PacifiCare’s conduct.  In many instances, CDI 
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simply had no written set of standards to begin with.  This permitted CDI to make up standards as it 

went along, which deprived PacifiCare of fair notice, allowed CDI staff to retroactively tailor the 

“rules” to the evidence, and treated PacifiCare differently from other insurers.  And even in those 

instances when CDI had historical norms or established standards already in place, CDI staff freely 

deviated from those norms or standards when they got in the way of the enforcement action.  The end 

result is that CDI arbitrarily created a unique set of rules for its investigation and prosecution of 

PacifiCare. 

CDI’s failure to abide by established standards and practices produced an arbitrary and unique 

enforcement action.  As a result, as shown in section V, the action violates PacifiCare’s equal 

protection and due process rights. 

1. Written Standards Are Necessary To Ensure Fairness And 
Objectivity, And CDI Failed To Have Written Standards. 

94% of CDI’s case is built upon three categories of alleged “form” violations for which CDI 

has taken novel, never-before-published interpretations.  Notably, CDI admits that it has no written 

standards for any of these interpretations.  For example: 

• CDI has no written standards for its interpretation that section 10133.66, subdivision (c), requires 
insurers to send hard copy letters in response to paper claims.  (Tr. 5621:17-5622:16 [Roy]; Tr. 
11391:16-11392:24 [David]; Tr. 985:3-13 [Vandepas]; Tr. 5761:7-11 [Dixon]; P.P.F. 229(a).)  

• CDI has no written standards for its interpretation that section 10169, subdivision (i), requires 
notice of IMR rights in EOBs, that EOBs are considered “letters of denial” as that term is used in 
section 10169, subdivision (i), that an EOB’s “Know Your Rights” page or anything similar is 
considered a “copy of the insurer’s procedures for resolving grievances,” or that even if such 
notice is required on EOBs, that it would be required on every EOB issued by PacifiCare as 
opposed to only when a claim has been “denied, modified, or delayed.”  (Tr. 5751:20-24 [Roy]; 
P.P.F. 229(b).) 

• CDI has no written standards for its interpretation that section 10123.13, subdivision (a), requires 
notice of CDI’s right of review on every EOP issued by PacifiCare, as opposed to only for claims 
that are “contested or denied.”  (Tr. 1805:14-24, 1806:14-18 [Masters]; Tr. 22942:4-12 
[Cignarale]; P.P.F. 229(c).)  
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Yet the lack of written standards has not deterred CDI from seeking unprecedented penalties 

based on these novel interpretations.8  But CDI does not stop there.  In one of the more candid and 

outrageous displays of hubris in these proceedings, Deputy Commissioner Cignarale claimed that 

insurers are “on notice in general that any claims standard that the Department feels violates 790.03, 

which might not specifically be enumerated in either 790.03 or in the 2695 California Code of 

Regulations, could be considered violations of 790.03.”  (Tr. 23016:7-11 [Cignarale], italics added.)  

Preventing this type of arbitrariness is exactly why agencies must adopt and follow written 

standards promulgated in regulations.  A written standard “induces agency action that is reasonable, 

rather than arbitrary, capricious, or lacking in evidentiary support,” “introduces an element of 

predictability into the administrative process,” and “stimulates public confidence in agency action by 

promoting both the reality and the appearance of rational decisionmaking in government.”  

(California Hotel & Motel Assn. v. Industrial Welfare Com. (1979) 25 Cal.3d 200, 211.)  As Ms. 

Stead testified, one of the ways an insurer can avoid being arbitrary “is to have policies, procedures, 

processes in place, standards in place for the Department’s own performance.”  (Tr. 24359:16-24 

[Stead].) 

By contrast, without objective rules or guidelines, the agency’s decisions can vary arbitrarily 

from case to case, without consistency or predictability, and hence fail to provide meaningful 

guidance to the regulated entities.  (See Guzzetta v. State Bar (1987) 43 Cal.3d 962, 967-968 [noting 

that the State Bar promulgated a “comprehensive set of written standards” to “achieve greater 

consistency in the imposition of sanctions” and “identify . . . the factors which may appropriately be 

considered for imposing discipline”].)  Allowing an agency to make decisions based on “vague and 

                                                 

 8 CDI’s out-of-the-blue interpretations, which conflict even with the plain language of the 
statutes, are entitled to no deference where, as here, the record reflects an absence of “careful 
consideration by senior agency officials” for the interpretations taken in this case, that “the agency 
‘has consistently maintained the interpretation in question,” or any “indications that the agency’s 
interpretation was contemporaneous with legislative enactment of the statute being interpreted.”  
(Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 7.) 
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ambiguous” considerations instead of objectively defined standards creates a “substantial danger of 

arbitrary discrimination,” as well as a “danger” that the agency’s decision will be a “subterfuge” for 

an ulterior purpose.  (Rosner v. Eden Township Hospital Dist. (1962) 58 Cal.2d 592, 598.) 

2. Where CDI Did Have Written Standards, It Failed To Comply 
With Those Standards. 

Even when CDI had formal standards or established practices, it materially deviated from 

them without any reasonable explanation for doing so.  In particular, CDI failed to follow its own 

rules with regard to (1) accepting a certain level of error in claims-handling, (2) processing provider 

and member complaints, and (3) document retention. 

a) Refusal To Accept Less Than Perfect Compliance From 
PacifiCare. 

CDI has refused to abide by two separate standards and practices that dictate that CDI accept 

less than perfect compliance for claims-handling performance, and instead CDI has arbitrarily 

imposed on PacifiCare an unrealistic “zero tolerance” standard of performance.   

(1) Failure to abide by the NAIC Examiner’s Handbook. 

CDI refuses to apply the guidelines in the NAIC Examiner’s Handbook, including the use of 

tolerance thresholds—freely admitting that “CDI does not, and is not required to, follow the NAIC 

Market Regulation Handbook.”  (Tr. 13431:9-13 [Laucher]; see also Tr. 5286:23-5287:13 [Dixon]; 

Tr. 22856:16-22858:19 [Cignarale]; Exh. 1184, p. 108:16-27; P.P.F. 232.).  Yet, the Insurance Code 

could not be clearer on this point:  The Commissioner “[s]hall, in conducting the examination, 

observe those guidelines and procedures set forth in the Examiner’s Handbook adopted by the 

National Association of Insurance Commissioners.”  (§ 733, subd. (f), italics added.)    

CDI illogically asserts that it is not required to follow the Handbook because section 733 

supposedly only applies to “financial examinations.”  (CDI Br. 183:15-21.)  But section 733 does not 

even mention the term “financial examination,” let alone distinguish a financial examination from a 

market conduct examination.  Indeed, at the time section 733 was enacted, the Handbook contained 
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guidelines for both financial and market conduct examinations.9  (Exh. 5707, p. 2; Tr. 24421:15-

24422:20 [Stead]; Tr. 14132:20-14134:19 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 234.)  But what puts the lie to CDI’s 

contention is the fact that it has utilized the NAIC standards in settlements with other insurers.  (Exh. 

5698 [Unum Life Ins. Co., applying 7% NAIC handbook standard]; exh. 5671, p. 42 [MEGA 

Settlement citing NAIC handbook]; Tr. 23795:9-23796:19 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 238.) 

Indeed, CDI has a well-documented history of accepting “substantial compliance” – or some 

level of tolerance less than perfection – from other insurers.  (See Exh. 5292, p. 7347-7350 [United 

MAWG agreement benchmarks)], Exh. 5670; Farmers Ins. Exchange, UPA 02-02-5694-AP, 

November 21, 2005 [requiring only “reduction of at least 32.5 % in number of violations issued” by 

CSB staff the next year], Mercury Ins. Co., Stip & Waiver, UPA 2007-00019, June 6, 2008 [requiring 

only “15% reduction in justified complaint ratio” in the next year’s Consumer Complaint Study]; 

P.P.F. 237.) 

Even CDI staff and management admit that they have never in their years of investigations, 

examinations and enforcement actions, seen an “error-free” operation (Tr. 23722:15-23724:4 

[Cignarale]; 23715:2-21; Tr. 14157:12-16 [Laucher]), and its integration expert, Ronald Boeving 

agreed that “holding PLHIC or United to a standard of perfection” simply “wouldn’t be fair.”  (Tr. 

19406:5-10 [Boeving]; P.P.F. 242.) 

(2) Total abdication of the Undertakings.   

CDI also ignores the standard of performance required by CDI in the Undertakings as a 

condition for approving the Merger – and instead imposes a 100% compliance threshold.  But the 

                                                 

 9 The parties disagree as to which version of the NAIC handbook should be used.  PacifiCare 
submits that it is more appropriate to use the 2011 version (Exh. 5648) to determine whether its 
performance established a general business practice with respect to those categories of violations 
amenable to such an analysis (e.g., claims payment timeliness, claims acknowledgment and 
incorrectly paid claims) because that version reflects the most up-to-date understanding and 
approach of NAIC and regulators around the country, and reflects what those regulators had been 
doing for many years prior.  (Tr. 25398:10-25401:13, 25401:24-25409:8 [Stead]; P.P.F. 236.) 
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Undertakings memorialize CDI’s expectation that PacifiCare would achieve a level of performance 

for a number of operational functions, including the timely payment of claims, at less than 100% 

compliance.  (Exh. 5191, Undertaking 19; P.P.F. 13.)  CDI admits that PacifiCare met Undertaking 

19 with respect to the timely payment of claims.  (Tr. 22787:14-18 [Cignarale].)  Nevertheless, CDI 

asserts that PacifiCare can still be subject “to a determination that [PacifiCare has] engaged in an 

unfair business practice.”  (Tr. 23436:21-23437:20 [Cignarale].)  In other words, CDI simply ignores 

standards that get in the way of this enforcement action. 

The prejudice in CDI’s refusal to follow the NAIC Handbook or the Undertakings is evident.  

If CDI applied to PacifiCare the tolerance thresholds it is required to apply, and has applied to other 

insurers, there would be no dispute that PacifiCare’s performance with respect to the timely payment 

of claims, acknowledgement of claims, and incorrect payment of claims would create a presumption 

that PacifiCare did not have a general business practice of violating those insurance laws.  As Ms. 

Stead testified, these provide “clear example[s]” of where “the company’s performance is well above 

the standards in the handbook and, under those standards, the performance would not be considered 

in violation.”  (Tr. 24357:25-24359:9 [Stead].) 

b) Failure To Follow CDI’s Own Procedures With Respect To 
Handling Complaints.   

CDI also failed to follow its own procedures and practices with respect to handling provider 

complaints about insurers.   

For example, CDI has a statutory mandate, and long-standing tradition, not to thrust itself into 

contractual disputes between insurers and providers, and certainly not to pick one side over the other.  

(See § 12921.4, subd. (a); see, e.g., exh. 5651 [containing standard language in closure letters 

informing provider that the “issues involved with your complaint indicate that there is a difference of 

opinion between you and the insurance company that this Department, as outlined in [section] 

12921.4(a) does not have authority to decide”]; P.P.F. 278(a).)   
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However both prior to and during this hearing, CDI has taken the position that PacifiCare 

acted improperly with respect to its contractual relationships with providers (e.g., Drs. Griffin and 

Mazer).  (Tr. 2738:14-2740:3; 2745:23-2746:3 [Griffin]; Tr. 3058:12-15, 3072:24-3074:3 [Mazer].)10   

CDI also has written standards mandating that it will not intercede in a provider’s complaint 

unless the provider has first proceeded through the insurer’s internal dispute resolution process.  

(Exh. 5086, pp. 28-29; Tr. 5609:4-5612:21 [Roy].)  This gate-keeping requirement is both mandated 

by law (Tr. 5613:6-15 [Roy]) and eminently reasonable, given that most provider issues are resolved 

when they are appealed directly to the insurer.11  But CDI departed from this well-established norm in 

this case for “special” or “VIP” complainants and those associated with CMA.  (Exhs. 5026, 5027, 

5028, 5029, 5197, 5198, 5707, p. 3, 5683, 5684, 5689; Tr. 322:15-22 [Smith], Tr. 20980:13-22 

[Kessler]; P.P.F. 269.)12  CDI did not present any reasonable explanation for this decision and never 

established that it had done this before.  The decision is even more peculiar given that PacifiCare and 

CMA already had in place an expedited process to resolve complaints and have been utilizing that 

process to successfully resolve whatever issues CMA providers had.  (Tr. 16827:24-16828:14, 

                                                 

 10 CDI also interjected itself into the UC hospitals negotiation with PacifiCare over new, 
dramatically increased rates.  CDI met with representatives of the UC hospitals during these 
negotiations – presumably a time when UC was looking to increase its leverage against PacifiCare.  
(Tr. 4190:10-4193:11 [Martin]; Exh. 5155; P.P.F. 280.)  In fact, CDI staff met with the same UC 
lawyer who was negotiating rates with PacifiCare, and that lawyer continued to serve as the 
principal contact for CDI.  (Tr. 16847:11-16848:7 [Wetzel]; P.P.F. 281(a).)  UC representatives 
filed a written complaint against PacifiCare just weeks later, even though a UC executive admitted 
that UCSF “hadn’t even discovered any issues with PacifiCare at the time [that] letter was sent.”  
(Tr. 4191:2-4194:6 [Martin]; Exh. 5155; P.P.F. 281(b).) 

 11 For example, during the 2007 MCE period, PacifiCare received 16,653 provider dispute 
resolution inquiries, yet CDI received only 77 provider complaints during that same time (of which 
only 17 were considered valid complaints by CDI), demonstrating that few providers felt compelled 
to seek CDI review of a matter already handled by the insurer’s appeals process.  (Exhs. 5046, p. 22 
[showing the 16,653], 5622, p. 39.)    

 12 CDI witnesses uniformly evidenced a lack of knowledge or inability to recall, even generally, 
why certain providers were identified as “special” or “VIP” complainants or why it was necessary 
or appropriate to waive established procedures for them vis-à-vis PacifiCare.  (Tr. 24031:21-
24033:16 [Cignarale]; Tr. 571:3-572:7 [Masters]; Tr. 5732:6-5733:1 [Roy]; P.P.F. 270.) 
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16646:15-21 [Wetzel]; Tr. 1340:3-10 [Black]; P.P.F. 273(c).)  CDI’s deviation from its normal 

procedures on behalf of a particular provider (Dr. Griffin) caused a CDI staff member Robert Masters 

to complain that CDI had gone “way above and beyond normal procedures in providing service.”  

(Exh. 5027.) 

c) CDI Willfully Destroyed Documents In Violation of Its Own 
Document Retention Policies. 

CDI jettisoned the integrity of this enforcement action when it negligently and willfully 

destroyed documents related to this case and helpful to PacifiCare.  CDI witnesses admitted that they 

did not comply with CDI’s own procedures for retaining relevant documents.  (Tr. 469:11 [Smith:  “I 

purged many documents.”]; Tr. 13114:6-12 [Laucher:  “I would have destroyed many emails, yes 

. . .”]); Tr. 13106:2-3 [Laucher:  “I likely would have deleted e-mail related to this examination.”]; 

see also Tr. 291:19-22, 297:15-298:10 [Smith]; Tr. 15758:24-15759:2 [Love]; Tr. 13114:4-13116:10, 

13118:19-13119:1 [Laucher]; Exh. 5368; P.P.F. 244.)  The testimony further demonstrates that files 

were purged without regard to their contents.  (Exhs. 5645 [hard drives “completely wipe[d]”], 5412, 

5413, 904 [Ms. Rosen’s hard drive not copied or saved when her computer was replaced]; Tr. 296:12-

298:7 [Smith]; P.P.F. 246.)   

Forensic examiner Samer Alami, a Director for Guidance Software, a computer forensics 

firm, testified that while CDI staff “ha[d] the ability to archive old emails,” CDI’s IT personnel told 

him that CDI “users do not take this step and they simply erase their old emails.”  Mr. Alami also 

concluded that CDI’s email backup was limited to a 90-day window for “disaster recovery purposes,” 

and that “no litigation and/or legal hold [was] put in place for the PacifiCare matter . . .”  (Exh. 5645, 

¶ 8; P.P.F. 247, 248.)13  Accordingly, CDI employees destroyed relevant documents despite the fact 

                                                 

 13 Mr. Cignarale testified that CDI staff member Nicoleta Smith’s data was lost because on “the 
first day of trial, Ms. Smith’s computer was wiped clean and used for some other purpose.”  (Tr. 
24095:4-7 [Cignarale], italics added; see also id. at 24095:20-23 [“[w]ith respect to the Smith 
computer, the computer was taken as a part of a department-wide or unit-wide recycling, and data 
was lost.”].) 
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(or perhaps because of the fact) that CDI was considering legal action against PacifiCare, and this 

data is now irretrievable.14  CDI’s willful – or at the very least negligent – destruction of evidence is 

“inconsistent with the practice of regulators in this kind of position” as testified to by Ms. Stead.  (Tr. 

24360:7-24361:10 [Stead].)   

While it is impossible to assess the precise impact from CDI’s destruction of documents, it is 

clear that many relevant documents were destroyed.  (Tr. 291:10-292:10 [Smith]; Tr. 13105:21-

13106:18, 13113:17-13114:14, 13118:19-19119:1 [Laucher]; Tr. 15758:24-15759:18 [Love]; P.P.F. 

249.)  Indeed, the CMA documents CDI destroyed turned out to be highly relevant and potentially 

exculpatory.  (See, e.g., Exhs. 5412-5415; P.P.F. 250.)  As Ms. Stead testified, the destruction of 

records “affected the integrity of th[e] whole process.”  (Tr. 24380:2-24381:19 [Stead].)  “Without 

knowing exactly what happened, I wouldn’t feel that [a regulator] could proceed with anything 

[against the insurer].”  (Ibid.) 

3. The Net Effect:  CDI’s Lack Of Standards, And Refusal To Adhere 
To The Ones It Has, Resulted In Inconsistent And Arbitrary 
Treatment Of PacifiCare. 

a) CDI Singled Out PacifiCare For Unequal Treatment. 

Around the same CDI was investigating PacifiCare, its Health Enforcement Bureau and 

Market Conduct Examination teams were also looking into the claims handling and illegal rescission 

practices of three other health insurers:  Blue Cross, Blue Shield and Health Net.  Those 

investigations and examinations led to widely-publicized enforcement actions against those insurers 

for conduct that was far more egregious and harmful than anything alleged against PacifiCare in this 

                                                 

 14 Tr. 290:13-294:4 [Smith:  confirming that she destroyed PacifiCare documents in “December 
of ’08” and in “July of ’08 when [she] changed offices”], 466:19-469:15 [Smith:  “saw a press 
release that something was done … related to PacifiCare]; see also 539:25-540:23 [Robert Masters 
testifying that in March 2007, Ms. Smith instructed him to develop records “to send to our legal 
department so they could take the next step to determine whether additional escalated enforcement 
action [against PacifiCare was appropriate or not]”]; P.P.F. 243.) 
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proceeding.  And yet, PacifiCare has been treated materially differently, and worse, than those 

insurers without any reasonable basis. 

It is evident that even before initiating the 2007 MCE, CDI was treating PacifiCare differently 

from other insurers.  CDI made unprecedented requests for information and data prior to and during 

the MCE, including information on issues over which CDI has no jurisdiction, such as provider 

contract negotiations.  (P.P.F. 203, 205, 206, 279(a).)  And during the 2007 MCE, CDI examined 

PacifiCare’s entire paid claims population as compared to other examinations that relied only on 

sampling.  Mr. Cignarale admitted that he knew of no instance where the department had ever even 

“looked at every paid claim for any given period of time,” much less sued an insurer for such.  (Tr. 

23180:22-23181:4 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 200, 363.)  In CDI’s three other key enforcement actions 

against Blue Shield, Blue Cross and Health Net, CDI examined only samples of claims.  (Exh. 5417, 

¶ 11(j) [Blue Shield]; exh. 5421, ¶ 4 [Blue Cross], exh. 5422, ¶ 23 [Health Net]; P.P.F. 383(b).)   

And even though CDI designated each of these three enforcement actions as high profile and 

severe in nature (Tr. 13047:4-13048:17, 13050:10-16, 14089:9-22 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 382), and they 

involved more egregious and harmful conduct (illegal rescission of policies), CDI gave each insurer 

the opportunity to fix its problems before seeking a significant penalty.  (Tr. 14100:17-14103:24 

[Laucher]; P.P.F. 383(d).)  In the end, CDI permitted those insurers to settle for little of no monetary 

penalty.  (Exhs. 5419, 5420, 5423.)  CDI nevertheless has subjected PacifiCare to greater scrutiny 

and has demanded a far more punitive penalty.  (Tr. 23087:8-23089:8; 23089:25-23090:7 

[Cignarale].) 

b) New Penalty Scheme Designed Solely For PacifiCare, 
Resulting In An Exorbitant Penalty Recommendation.   

CDI’s penchant for creating standards on the fly was at its worst when it rolled out a brand 

new method for calculating penalties against PacifiCare, specifically tailored for this enforcement 

action.  (Tr. 23180:22-23181:4, 22768:25-22769:3; 23230:1-17 [Cignarale]; Exh. 5707, p. 3; Tr. 

24279:15-24282:8, 24451:17-24452:7 [Stead]; P.P.F. 363.)  CDI’s novel penalty approach has never 
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been applied to another insurer besides PacifiCare.  (Tr. 23230:1-17 [Cignarale]; Exh. 5707, p. 3; Tr. 

24451:17-24452:7 [Stead]; P.P.F. 364.)  And only through such a sui generis approach could a 

staggering penalty of $325 million be sought for routine audit issues, 94% of which involve missing 

language on two forms and the failure to send letters acknowledging receipt of claims.  CDI’s 

decision to test drive a new penalties model on PacifiCare is grossly unfair, and inconsistent with 

fundamental principles of due process. 

c) “High” Number Of Alleged Violations Essentially 
Contrived. 

As justification for its conduct and request for an unprecedented penalty, CDI argues that 

PacifiCare is charged with more violations than CDI has ever charged any insurer.  Significantly, the 

number of violations alleged here is solely the product of how CDI chose to examine PacifiCare and 

count alleged violations (and its decision to charge the conduct as violations at all, given CDI has 

never before charged violations of some of the statutes at issue in this proceeding).  CDI is only able 

to tout a big number of alleged violations relative to other proceedings because here it examined 

PacifiCare’s entire claims population for the 2007 MCE, as compared to other proceedings where it 

only based violations on a sample of claims.  Had CDI applied the same approach to calculating 

alleged violations in other actions that it did here, the number of violations in other actions would be 

equal to or greater than those in this case .15 

                                                 

 15 For example, in CDI’s 2010 Report on Pan-American Life Insurance Company, CDI cited 
Pan-American for only the 19 violations observed in the 85 sampled claims (22.4% noncompliance) 
rather than across all 40,147 Group and Student Health claims in that period.  (Request for Official 
Notice, Tab. 023)  And in the 2003 Public Report on Humana Ins. Co, CDI cited Humana for only 
the 12 violations observed in 121 sampled (9.9% noncompliance) group health and dental claims 
rather than across the 236,025 group health and dental claims during that period.  (Request for 
Official Notice, Tab. 17.)   Clearly these insurers would have been subject to a greater number of 
alleged violations if CDI had extended its review to the entire population of claims, as it did with 
PacifiCare. 

  Similarly, PacifiCare presented evidence that in 2007, Blue Cross, which had close to a 
million members and was processing more than three and a half million claims a year, also did not 
put notice of IMR rights on its EOBs.  (Exhs. 5540, 5661, 5662, 5480.)  Using the same approach 
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CDI’s alleged violation total is also affected by how it counts violations when it finds them.  

In this proceeding, CDI cited every allegedly non-compliant form that PacifiCare issued for a 

particular time period.  However, in a number of other examinations and enforcement actions, CDI 

cited only one “in general” violation for having an incorrect form, even though CDI was aware that 

the form was duplicated and issued to countless members or providers.  (See, e.g., Standard Insurance 

Co. 2/29/09 MCE Report [citing on “in general” 10123.13(a) violation for failing to put CDI Review 

Right language in EOPs].) 

For example, in the Blue Shield and Blue Cross examinations, CDI only cited each non-

compliant form as one violation, even though it was aware that the insurers had many more violations 

across the overall claims population.  (Tr. 25255:1-25256:5 [Stead]; exhs. 5418, 5479; P.P.F. 434(b).)  

Even as to PacifiCare, in the 2007 MCE report CDI chose not to treat each issuance of an allegedly 

non-compliant EOP form as a separate violation.  (Tr. 11575:3-11577:22 [David]; Tr. 21303:15-

21306:21, 21313:1-21314:9 [Kessler]; P.P.F 435.) 

 CDI’s reliance on the sheer number of alleged violations to support this proceeding also fails 

to take into account the nature of the alleged violations.  Virtually all of the alleged violations in this 

case are for “form” and “letter” violations, with no evidence of any impact or harm on members or 

providers.  Considering that other insurers were cited for far more harmful and egregious violations, 

there is no way to justify CDI’s unique treatment of PacifiCare.  

d) Number Of Provider Complaints That Led To Enforcement 
Action Vastly Overstated.   

CDI also justifies this proceeding on the basis of the allegedly large number of provider 

complaints that had been lodged against PacifiCare.  But CDI greatly overstates the number of 

provider complaints it received.   

                                                                                                                                                             

that CDI has taken with respect to PacifiCare in this case, Blue Cross should have been charged 
with millions, if not tens of millions of violations of law. 
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During the MCE period, CDI only received 77 provider complaints.  (Exh. 5622, p. 39.)  And 

while CMA claimed that it was receiving thousands of provider complaints about PacifiCare, it only 

received 237 inquiries about PacifiCare from March 2005 to June 2009 – and only a quarter of those 

inquiries related to claims payment issues.  (Tr. 20967:9-20969:7 [Kessler]; Tr. 7377:17-7378:12 

[Berkel]; Tr. 10724:7-10725:14 [McFann]; Exhs. 5253, 5254; P.P.F. 273(a).)  Instead of attempting 

to substantiate CMA’s exaggerated claims – as one might expect an impartial regulator to do – CDI’s 

Andrea Rosen greased the wheels for CMA’s constituents to lodge complaints without having to first 

proceed through PacifiCare’s internal dispute process.  (Exh. 5413; Tr. 20975:16-20976:21 [Kessler]; 

see also Exh. 5622, p. 39 [showing that although provider complaints increased, CDI deemed most of 

them to be unjustified]; P.P.F. 274.)  She also encouraged CMA’s members to make more complaints 

to CDI on the theory that the more complaints “racked up” the better.  (Ibid.)  Against this backdrop, 

where both the number and legitimacy of provider complaints is highly suspect, CDI admits that the 

number of provider complaints served as the “main cause” for bringing this enforcement action.  

(Exh. 1184, p. 7:1-13; Tr. 13194:24-13195:9 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 276.) 

4. CDI’s Failure To Have, Or Adhere To, Standards Or Established 
Practices Created An Environment Where Subjectivity, Outside 
Influence And Pre-Judgment Affected The Process. 

a) The Commissioner’s Politicization Of The Enforcement 
Action.   

The lack of standards allowed political considerations to unfairly infiltrate the enforcement 

action against PacifiCare.  Notably, then-Commissioner Steve Poizner made public statements 

describing a “claims meltdown” at the company that “PacifiCare simply can not or will not fix.”  

(Exh. 5272)  Those statements, however, were not consistent with CDI’s own internal reports or 

PacifiCare’s behavior throughout the relevant time period.  (See exhs. 1, 5272; P.P.F. 197, 206, 310, 

314, 318, 425, 466, 562. [acknowledging PacifiCare met Undertaking 19, PacifiCare’s cooperation 

with CDI, and PacifiCare’s remediation efforts].)  But CDI ignored objective information 

demonstrating that PacifiCare’s issues were largely routine errors found in all health insurer exams, 
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and the Commissioner’s staff forged ahead and prepared “talking points” for the Commissioner that 

concluded PacifiCare had engaged in unfair practices and committed violations that CDI staff knew 

were not true, or had not yet been proven. (Exh. 5666; P.P.F. 263.)  Even if the Commissioner 

actually believed these statements, they were clearly inappropriate coming from the agency head who 

was to be the decision-maker in the case.  (Tr. 24390:18-24391:11 [Stead].)  And Deputy 

Commissioner Cignarale even agreed that he did not “consider the statements that were attributed to 

Commissioner Poizner to reflect the objectivity that is required of the Department of [I]nsurance.”  

(Tr. 23455:8-15 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 264.) 

Later, after the hearing was underway, and less than three weeks before the Republican 

gubernatorial primary involving then-Commissioner Steve Poizner, CDI for the first time contended 

in its Second Supplemental Accusation that the Principal Alleged Violations were violations of 

section 790.03.  (Exh. 597; P.P.F. 327.)  As a result, the number of alleged violations suddenly 

skyrocketed to over 850,000.  (Exh. 597, pp. 1-2; P.P.F. 328.)  Only a few months later, CDI 

continued to litigate its case in the press, with its General Counsel and spokesperson making incorrect 

statements about PacifiCare’s conduct in an article describing the potential penalty that could be 

sought against PacifiCare based on CDI’s exaggerated number of charged violations.  (Exh. 5391, pp. 

12, 16.) 

b) CDI’s Failure To Have Or Adhere To Its Standards And 
Practices Made It Susceptible To The Influence Of 
Providers And Provider Interest Groups, Such As CMA.   

A number of significant provider interests lobbied regulators to take action against PacifiCare 

and United.  CMA, an influential trade group representing California doctors, took an especially 

active role in lobbying CDI, with CMA’s Aileen Wetzel “cultivating” a relationship with Andrea 

Rosen and other key CDI staff in connection with PacifiCare.  (Tr. 16789:15-23, 16790:3-19, 

16790:23-16792:5, 16799:17-16800:4, 16801:1-16803:2, 16866:14-16868:4 [Wetzel]; Tr. 20960:6-

11 [Kessler]; Exh. 5622, p. 35; P.P.F. 189.)  CDI staff repeatedly met with CMA to discuss 
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PacifiCare in the early stages of CDI’s investigation—well before CMA had filed a complaint against 

PacifiCare—and continued to meet with CMA and provide updates throughout the investigation.  

(Exhs. 5507, 5508, 5509, 5511; Tr. 16800:1-16802:17, 16809:2-21, 16812:1-17, 16820:15-16824:13, 

16854:8-16857:22 [Wetzel]; P.P.F. 191.)  Ms. Rosen even acknowledged that “as a result of [CMA’s] 

teachings and influence, [she had] gotten the CDI to expand their scope” of the examination of 

PacifiCare to areas never “previously examined.”  (Exh. 5414; P.P.F. 271.)16 

Despite its successful and admitted influence on CDI, CMA officials were not going to be 

satisfied until CDI formally charged PacifiCare with violations, even if those unearthed by the 2007 

MCE were nothing more than routine errors found in all health insurer exams.  As a result, in October 

2007, CMA executives expressed their dissatisfaction with the status of the examination against 

PacifiCare and provided a “wish list” of actions including the filing of an enforcement action and the 

assessment of penalties.  (Exh. 5415; Tr. 16672:4-10 [Wetzel]; P.P.F. 281.)  Regulatory capture was 

on full display when, weeks later, CDI issued a draft report against PacifiCare citing over 1 million 

violations.  (Exh. 116; P.P.F. 282.)  Even after the OSC was filed, CDI continued to work with CMA 

representatives throughout this litigation, receiving praise at one point about the “gold mine” of 

additional violations pleaded during the enforcement proceeding, and at another point assisting CMA 

in “preparing a feature about the PacifiCare prosecution.”  (Exhs. 964, 5497, 5498, 5512; P.P.F. 285.)  

That feature misrepresented that “PacifiCare refused to settle and the DOI has been forced to take 

formal administrative action and seek the full extent of punishment allowable under the Insurance 

Code.”  (Exh. 5497; Tr. 23088:23-23090:7 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 284.)   

Both Dr. Kessler and Ms. Stead testified that the influence of providers on regulators has 

negative consequences for consumers, health insurers and the regulatory process as a whole. (Tr. 

                                                 

 16 As discussed above in Section I.C.3, CDI also accepted as true unsubstantiated provider 
complaints from CMA concerning PacifiCare, encouraged CMA members to “rack[] up” the 
number of complaints against PacifiCare and waived for CMA members established CDI rules for 
dealing with provider complaints. 
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20944:6-20945:23 [Kessler].)  Ms. Stead in particular found that CDI was “concerned about giving 

the providers what they want, not necessarily making sure that the company is complying with the 

insurance laws.”  (Tr.  24531:5-24532:6 [Stead].)  And, she found Ms. Rosen’s interactions with 

CMA to be contrary to how insurance regulators should act: 

If I found out that someone on my staff was making those kinds of communications that 
CMA staff person has made here, there would have been an investigation and very likely 
disciplinary action.  That conduct cannot be tolerated.  (Tr. 24379:22-24380:1 [Stead].) 
 

c) CDI’s Standardless Approach Caused It To Lose Its Way 
And Engage In A “Win At All Costs” Approach To This 
Proceeding.   

When an agency – especially one that has investigative and enforcement powers – lacks 

objective standards (or disregards them), its staff is permitted to prejudge a case and conform the 

evidence to the desired outcome.  Here, CDI staff was so intent on building a case against PacifiCare 

that it sought out witnesses whom CDI knew did not have any substantive complaints against 

PacifiCare.  For example, CDI offered the testimony of Mrs. W to suggest that PacifiCare’s conduct 

had resulted in a denial of care for her son, even though CDI executives and their counsel knew that 

Blue Cross, not PacifiCare, had caused that to happen and Mrs. W’s complaint against Blue Cross did 

not allege any wrongdoing by PacifiCare.  (Tr. 23313:23-23314:21, 23326:5-19, 23317:17-23338:12, 

23344:14-12248:18, 23351:14-23353:21 [Cignarale]; Exhs. 5660, 5086, 5273; P.P.F. 349.)  When 

CDI solicited Mrs. W to appear at the January 25, 2008 press conference, Deputy Commissioner of 

Communications Byron Tucker asked Deputy Commissioner Cignarale if he was “sure this is related 

to [the PacifiCare press conference]” after speaking with her, and Mr. Cignarale responded that 

“hopefully, she will stick to her PacifiCare case” and not mention any other insurer with whom she 

had disputes.  (Exh. 5273; P.P.F. 351.)17 

                                                 

 17 CDI also sponsored the testimony of Dr. and Mrs. Griffin in the hearing as proof that 
PacifiCare did not pay Dr. Griffin according to his correct fee schedule and that he did not appear in 
PacifiCare provider directories.  But, the Griffins were essentially forced to admit that Mrs. Griffin 
had created her own fee schedule, exaggerated reductions in Dr. Griffin’s rates of reimbursement to 
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As further evidence of its lack of objectivity, CDI staff cited PacifiCare for 32 alleged 

violations in connection with Mrs. W’s complaint against Blue Cross, but failed to cite Blue Cross for 

even one violation, even though Blue Cross’s conduct led to a denial of medical care for Mrs. W’s 

son.  (Exhs. 134, 5720; P.P.F. 352.)   

Other examples of CDI’s single-minded focus on winning this litigation, as opposed to 

reaching a correct result with a regulatee abound: 

• CDI destroyed documents and communications between its staff and CMA, and then 
hid that fact from PacifiCare and the Court for several months during the hearing, even 
in the face of requests for such materials.  It was not until PacifiCare served a subpoena 
on CMA that the existence of these materials was uncovered.  (Exh. 5441 [describing 
history of CDI’s representations regarding CMA communications]; Tr. 13191:2-8, 
13203:1-13205:17 [Velkei]; see, e.g., exhs. 5412-5415 [produced by CMA, but not 
CDI].) 

• CDI attempted to shield Andrea Rosen from testifying in this proceeding by submitting 
a demonstrably false declaration made under penalty of perjury stating that she had no 
involvement in PacifiCare’s compliance with Undertaking 19, when in fact she had 
written to PacifiCare’s Nancy Monk representing that she was responsible for such 
oversight.  (Exhs. 5287, 5427; Tr. 8766:18-8768:16 [Monk].) 

• CDI claimed to have also performed an electronic analysis of Blue Cross in order to 
throw off attention from the uniqueness of CDI’s methodology in the 2007 MCE, but 
later admitted this was not true.  (Exhs. 547, 877, at 1:6-12; Tr. 9622:7-9623:11, 
14726:14-14727:23 [Washington]; Tr. 5801:19-5802:5 [Dixon]; Tr. 13153:22-13154:6 
[Laucher].) 

• CDI asserted in a pleading signed by its trial counsel, including Andrea Rosen, that 
PacifiCare had not informed CDI of the specific dates PacifiCare sent written claims 
acknowledgement letters to providers until Ms. Berkel testified in this case in Summer 
2010.  In fact, Ms. Berkel and Ms. Monk made a presentation to Ms. Rosen on that 
very issue more than two years prior.  (Exhs. 664, 808, 817, p. 6520; Tr. 8993:11-
8996:7 [Monk].) 

• In the months leading up to commencement of the hearing in this matter, CDI staff 
reopened a number of previously closed complaint files (including some that had been 
closed for as long as two years), and cited PacifiCare for an additional 156 violations.  
CDI then relied on those unplead violations in the “violations per complaint” 
calculations that CDI used to compare PacifiCare with other insurers.  (Exhs. 5692, 

                                                                                                                                                             

the press, and that Dr. Griffin in fact appeared in every PacifiCare provider directory. (Tr. 2738:14-
2740:3, 2765:20-2766:13, 2787:14-17 [Griffin]; P.P.F. 292, 293, 294) All of these facts could have, 
and should have been vetted easily by CDI before offering them in this proceeding.   
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5693, 1184, p. 7:1-13.) 

D. CDI’s Enforcement Action Ignores PacifiCare’s Remediation And 
Cooperation And The Lack Of Harm. 

CDI’s multimillion-dollar penalties, based on the inadvertent, technical violations at issue in 

this case, ignore some critical underlying facts:  (1) the absence of any prior enforcement history 

against PacifiCare, (2) the absence of significant harm resulting from the alleged violations, (3) 

PacifiCare’s comprehensive and timely remediation of any harm, and (4) PacifiCare’s cooperation 

with CDI throughout the MCE investigation. 

1. Absence Of Prior Enforcement History.   

PacifiCare had not previously been the subject of an enforcement action by CDI, nor has 

PacifiCare previously been cited for any of the conduct at issue.  (Exh. 1184, p. 7:26-8:2; P.P.F. 299.) 

2. Absence Of Significant Harm. 

The alleged violations in this case did not result in serious harm.  CDI expended extraordinary 

efforts attempting to locate members and providers who could testify about any harm they may have 

suffered (Exhs. 5273, 5413), but after twenty-seven months of hearings, CDI presented limited 

testimony from a handful of witnesses (i.e., the Griffins, Dr. Mazer, Mrs. W and Mr. R) on this issue. 

In fact, CDI could not identify a single member whose medical condition suffered as a result 

of the issues in this case.  (P.P.F. 304.)  CDI also could not identify a single member or provider who 

failed to take some action as a result of language omitted from form EOBs and EOPs.  (P.P.F. 305.)   

Instead, the only quantifiable measures of harm in this case are (1) the $156,455 CDI 

recovered under the 2007 MCE (exh. 1; P.P.F. 300), (2) the $765,157 PacifiCare paid, prior to notice 

of the MCE, to correct problems associated with the incorrect 12-month exclusionary period for pre-

existing conditions (P.P.F. 301), and (3) the $89,181 PacifiCare paid to re-work claims associated 

with contracts loaded after their effective date (P.P.F. 302).  CDI did not offer any testimony to 

support a finding of quantifiable harm beyond these figures.   
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Moreover, the harm in this case is also substantially less than the harm in the other 

enforcement actions brought by CDI at the same time.  (See Specific Findings re Historical Penalties; 

exh. 5708, pp. 12-13; Tr. 24311:2-24320:13, 24321:14-24327:22 [Stead]; P.P.F. 309.)  Yet, CDI has 

never sought a penalty like the one it does here. 

3. Remediation.   

PacifiCare remediated all issues related to the charged violations “well before this 

administrative hearing began.”  (Tr. 23470:21-23471:5 [Cignarale]; see also exhs. 736, 750, 5707, 

5015, 5016, 5165, 5264; Tr. 24458:4-18 [Stead]; Tr. 7562:25-7563:11, 7745:9-7749:20, 7755:24-

7757:3, 7767:6-7768:8, 7769:14-7771:7, 7477:24-7478:8, 7480:7-20 [Berkel]; Tr. 6964:8-6965:19 

[Vonderhaar]; P.P.F. 310.)  

PacifiCare also remediated issues with its core constituencies, including providers.  In 

November 2006, PacifiCare established a process to expedite complaints by CMA members and 

CMA conceded that the process “addressed any concerns that were raised.”  (Tr. 16827:24-16828:14, 

16646:2-21 [Wetzel], Tr. 1340:3-10 [Black]; P.P.F. 311.)  By the end of 2007, PacifiCare and CMA 

had resolved the vast majority of issues between them, resulting in just two complaints in the three 

years from 2007 to 2010.  (Tr. 1340:3-10 [Black]; Tr. 12967:15-12968:16; Tr. 10717:10-10718:7 

[McFann]; Tr. 11671:17-24 [Lewan]; Tr. 10214:16-20 [Berkel]; exhs. 5353, 5503, 5504; P.P.F. 

[312].)   

Indeed, PacifiCare’s remedial efforts were so successful that in a 2010, physicians selected 

PacifiCare as the “plan providing the best level of service” in a “Physicians Advocate Survey” by a 

write-in vote.  (See Tr. 11792:20-11794:6 [Harvey]; P.P.F. 313.)  United has also received high 

rankings in recent provider surveys for its claims payment accuracy, including the 2011 AMA Health 

Insurer Report Card, with “UnitedHealthcare [coming] out on top of seven leading commercial health 

insurers.” (P.P.F. 168.)   
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4. Cooperation.   

CDI also cannot dispute that PacifiCare remained cooperative with its regulators during the 

2007 MCE and thereafter.  (Tr. 11595:7-11596:6 [David], Tr. 4717:6-13 [Dixon]; Tr. 5600:15-19 

[Roy]; Tr. 24469:19-24 [Stead], 24983:5-14; exh. 5184, p. 6298; P.P.F. 314.)     

CDI now suggests that PacifiCare was not cooperative during the exam process; however, 

internal CDI staff communications described a significant level of cooperation by PacifiCare, 

referring to PacifiCare employees as acting on their “best behavior,” as being “very accommodating,” 

and, if anything, being too eager to please.  (Exhs. 5030, 5031, 5310; Tr. 490:25-491:10, 492:11-

493:6 [Masters]; P.P.F. 318.)  In CDI’s draft report to PacifiCare, Ms. David thanked PacifiCare for 

“[its] cooperation during the examination process.”  (Exh. 5184, p. 6298; P.P.F. 319.) 

Consistent with this conclusion, the DMHC, as part of its joint investigation with CDI of 

PacifiCare, made an express finding in January 2008 that “at all times . . . PacifiCare worked 

collaboratively with the DMHC to resolve all issues that were identified.”  (Exh. 5290, at Exhibit E, 

p. 4653; P.P.F. 320.) 

5. Good Faith.   

PacifiCare acted in good faith in interpreting the laws at issue in this case, and there is no 

evidence to suggest that it knew that it was violating the law.  (P.P.F. 322.)    

In contrast, as shown more fully herein, CDI has articulated for the very first time in this 

hearing interpretations of key statutes and regulations underlying the Principal Alleged Violations 

which are not found in the plain language of their text, and which CDI is offering years after the 

conduct at issue.  (P.P.F. 323.)    

I I. THE BURDEN OF PROOF. 

CDI has the burden of proof in this proceeding.  Evidence Code section 500 provides: 

“Except as otherwise provided by law, a party has the burden of proof as to each fact the existence or 
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nonexistence of which is essential to the claim for relief or defense that he is asserting.”  (See Evid. 

Code, § 520.) 

This well-established standard applies to administrative proceedings.  (Rylander v. Karpe 

(1976) 60 Cal.App.3d 317, 322 [reversing the decision of the Real Estate Commissioner because “the 

evidence is lacking” and explaining that under Evidence Code section 520, “the accusation in the 

disciplinary proceedings ha[s] to be proved by the accuser”]; see Mann v. Dept. of Motor Vehicles 

(1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 312, 318 [except as otherwise provided by law, the Evidence Code governs 

the burden of proof to be applied in administrative proceedings].) 

Accordingly, CDI cannot prevail unless the record contains “sufficient evidence to support a 

finding in its favor on each and every element which the law requires to support recovery.”  (Beck 

Dev. Co. v. So. Pac. Transp. Co. (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1160, 1205, italics added.)  In contrast, 

PacifiCare, as a respondent, does “not have the burden of proof and hence [is] not obligated to prove” 

the absence of violations.  (Id. at p. 1206.)  

CDI also “bears the burden of proving each fact essential to an award of [penalties], including 

the amount [of penalties].”  (Lakin v. Watkins Associated Indus. (1993) 6 Cal.4th 644, 660, citing 

Evid. Code, § 500, italics added.)  Indeed “[i]t is not too much to ask” CDI to “introduce evidence 

that will allow a . . . court to determine whether the amount of the award is appropriate and, in 

particular, whether it is excessive in light of the central goal of deterrence.”  (Adams v. Murakami 

(1991) 54 Cal.3d 105, 120.)  

I I I. CDI’S INTERPRETATIONS OF THE RELEVANT STATUTES AND 
REGULATIONS AND ITS OPINIONS REGARDING THE AMOUNT OF 
PENALTIES ARE NOT ENTITLED TO ANY DEFERENCE. 

Throughout this trial and its closing brief, CDI relied on interpretations and applications of the 

relevant statutes and regulations proffered by its own witnesses.  Those interpretations and 

applications, where they are not in the form of regulations and not made available to licensees before 



 

37 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

the challenged conduct, are not entitled to any deference because they amount to nothing more than 

the Department’s litigation position in this case.  

A. CDI’s Interpretations Of Statutes And Regulations Are Not Entitled To 
Deference Unless Adopted As A Regulation Within The Scope Of Its 
Authority. 

Over the course of this enforcement action, CDI’s witnesses, and in particular Mr. Cignarale, 

have offered interpretations of the very statutes and regulations upon which CDI is prosecuting 

PacifiCare, including interpretations of the types of conduct that qualify as unfair claims settlement 

practices under section 790.03(h), and thus that warrant penalties.  (See, e.g., CDI Br. 68, 70, 86; see 

also exh. 1184 [Pre-Filed Direct Testimony of Tony Cignarale] at pp. 39, 51, 71, 79, 100, 108, 113, 

119, 131, 137-138, 143, 153, 158, 162, 167, 168-171.) 

Except for those interpretations that are embodied in regulations, these interpretations can be 

given little weight because they are essentially invalid “underground” regulations that CDI has 

“adopted” without complying with the Administrative Procedure Act’s rulemaking procedures:  “The 

APA . . . defines ‘regulation’ very broadly to include ‘every rule, regulation, order, or standard of 

general application . . . adopted by any state agency to implement, interpret, or make specific the law 

enforced or administered by it, . . . except one that relates only to the internal management of the state 

agency.’”  (Tidewater Marine Western, Inc. v. Bradshaw (1996) 14 Cal.4th 557, 571 (Tidewater 

Marine), quoting Gov. Code, § 11342, subd. (g).)  The “two principal identifying characteristics” of a 

regulation subject to the APA are:  (1) the agency intends the rule “to apply generally” – i.e., to 

declare “how a certain class of cases will be decided” – as opposed to “in a specific case”; and (2) 

“the rule must ‘implement, interpret, or make specific the law enforced or administered by [the 

agency], or . . . govern [the agency’s] procedure.’”  (Ibid.)  Under these standards, Tidewater Marine 

held that an agency’s internal policy for interpreting a law that it was charged with enforcing was a 

“regulation” within the meaning of the APA, and hence was “void because the [agency] failed to 

follow APA procedures.”  (Id. at p. 572.) 
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Here, as in Tidewater Marine, CDI presumably intends its various interpretations of the 

relevant statutes and regulations to apply generally.  Indeed, applying its interpretations of statutes 

and regulations only to PacifiCare would be arbitrary and a violation of the due process clause.  (See 

Tidewater Marine, supra, 14 Cal.4th at p. 572.)  Because CDI failed to comply with the APA’s 

rulemaking procedures – e.g., by adopting formal interpretive regulations after proper public notice 

and comment – for many of its interpretations, those proposed interpretations of statutes and 

regulations are not binding. 

Further, the interpretations offered by CDI witnesses cannot be afforded any deference.  As 

the California Supreme Court has held, “[b]ecause an [agency’s] interpretation [of a statute or 

regulation] is an agency’s legal opinion, however ‘expert,’ rather than the exercise of a delegated 

legislative power to make law, it commands a commensurably lesser degree of judicial deference.”  

(Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 11 (Yamaha).)  

That CDI’s interpretations deserve no deference flows from an application of the criteria the 

Yamaha Court set forth for courts to use in determining how much, if any, deference should be 

afforded to agency interpretations of statutes and regulations.  These include (1) whether an agency 

has a potential advantage over the courts in interpreting the relevant statute (where, for example, the 

legal text to be interpreted is highly technical or complex); and (2) whether the agency’s 

interpretation is “‘probably correct,’” which entails (i) evidence of “careful consideration by senior 

agency officials” (rather than a single staff member), (ii) “evidence that the agency ‘has consistently 

maintained the interpretation in question, especially if [it] is long-standing,’” and (iii) “indications 

that the agency’s interpretation was contemporaneous with legislative enactment of the statute being 

interpreted.”  (Yamaha, supra, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 12-13.) 

In Interinsurance Exchange of the Automobile Club v. Superior Court (2007) 148 

Cal.App.4th 1218, 1223, CDI’s own statutory interpretations were deemed unworthy of deference.  

There, the trial court referred to CDI the question of whether installment fees constitute a “premium” 
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under Insurance Code section 381, and then gave deference to CDI’s statutory interpretation.  But the 

Court of Appeal held that such deference was improper, because CDI’s opinion “was not based on 

any long-standing administrative construction” of the statute, and “[CDI] had never before expressly 

addressed the specific issue in this case.”  (Id. at pp. 1235-1236.)  The Court of Appeal also noted 

that CDI had not promulgated a formal regulation, and did not have “any special expertise that [the 

court] or other courts lack in construing the underlying legislative intent” of the Insurance Code 

provision at issue.  (Id. at p. 1237; cf. Diablo Valley College Faculty Senate v. Contra Costa Comm. 

College Dist. (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 1023, 1035-1037 [giving “some weight” to Chancellor’s legal 

opinion letters where Chancellor was “immersed in administering” the regulations, had issued 

advisory opinions on the relevant regulatory language prior to the commencement of this litigation, 

and had “maintained a consistent interpretation” of the regulations over time].) 

The application of the Yamaha and Interinsurance Exchange factors demonstrates that CDI’s 

witnesses’ interpretations of statutes and regulations at trial (where they are not quoting from 

regulations) cannot possibly command deference.  First, the statutes and regulations at issue do not 

address highly technical issues, giving CDI no interpretive advantage over this Court.  (See Yamaha, 

supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 12.)  Second, CDI has not promulgated any regulations regarding most of the 

interpretations which were presented during trial.  (See id. at p. 13.)18  Third, there was no evidence 

that a group of senior CDI officials gave careful consideration to the particular interpretations 

proffered.  (See ibid.)  Indeed, the absence of prior written interpretations for many of CDI’s 

interpretations supports this conclusion.  (See ibid.)  Fourth, there is no evidence that any of these 

interpretations are based on a long-standing administrative construction of the particular statute.  (See 

ibid.)  Finally, there was no evidence that CDI adopted these interpretations contemporaneously with 

                                                 

 18 The principal regulations raised in this proceeding are:  Regulations 2695.1, 2695.2, 2695.5, 
2695.7 and 2695.12. 
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the legislative enactment of these statutes.  (See ibid.)  Rather, they appear to have been invented 

exclusively for this enforcement proceeding. 

Thus, in Christopher v. Smithkline Beecham Corp. (June 18, 2012, No. 11-204) 567 U.S. __ 

[132 S.Ct. 2156] (Christopher), the United States Supreme Court held that to defer to the Department 

of Labor’s interpretation of its regulations put forth for the first time in an amicus brief “would 

seriously undermine the principle that agencies should provide regulated parties ‘fair warning of the 

conduct [a regulation] prohibits or requires.’”  (Id. at p. 2167, citation omitted.)  The Supreme Court 

admonished “it is one thing to expect regulated parties to conform their conduct to an agency’s 

interpretations once the agency announces them; it is quite another to require regulated parties to 

divine the agency’s interpretations in advance or else be held liable when the agency announces its 

interpretations for the first time in an enforcement proceeding and demands deference.”  (Id. at p. 

2168.) 

That, however, is the case with many of the statutory and regulatory interpretations of CDI’s 

witnesses, upon which CDI relies here, which were announced for the first time during the 

prosecution of PacifiCare, and reflect nothing more than CDI’s litigation position in this case.  (See, 

e.g., CDI Br. 68, 70, 86; see also Exh. 1184 at pp. 39, 51, 71, 79, 100, 108, 113, 119, 131, 137-138, 

143, 153, 158, 162, 167, 168-171.)  These included CDI’s interpretation of section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c) (the acknowledgement statute), the application of section 10169, subdivision (i) to 

EOBs, and CDI’s assessment of the seriousness of various types of violations.  They are entitled to no 

deference.  (See Harlick v. Blue Shield of Cal. (9th Cir. 2012) 686 F.3d 699, 717 [“Positions taken by 

an agency for purposes of litigation ordinarily receive little deference under California law”], citing 

Yamaha, supra, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 23-24.)   

B. Cignarale’s Opinions Are Inadmissible And Incompetent And Not Entitled To 
Any Deference. 

In addition to CDI’s interpretation of statutes and regulations – which is entitled to no 

deference as set forth above – Mr. Cignarale also applied the penalty factors in regulation 2695.12 to 
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determine the size of the penalty against PacifiCare.  (See, e.g., CDI Br. 120, 131, 150, 167, 188.)  

These “opinions” were inadmissible and incompetent because they (1) lack foundation for expert 

testimony, (2) are impermissible opinions of law, which is a matter within the exclusive province of 

this Court, and (3) are hearsay.  

First, Mr. Cignarale made penalty recommendations in this proceeding by purportedly 

applying the law to assumed facts.  This is nothing short of providing a legal conclusion.  Yet Mr. 

Cignarale acknowledged that he is “not a practicing attorney and . . . not . . . a lawyer for the 

Department” (Exh. 1184, p. 4) and that “[i]n my capacity with the Department, I’m not a lawyer.”  

(Tr. 22802:17-18.)  He also agreed that it was “correct” to state that he “never practiced law in the 

context of insurance.”  (Tr. 23803:19-21.)  Nonetheless, he acknowledged that he was “certainly 

interpreting and applying the laws that are being alleged here and analyzing them to the facts that I 

was presented.”  (Tr. 22806:14-17; 22807:1-12.)  Under these circumstances, the Court should 

disregard his testimony because the Court has an “obligation to ... require adequate foundation for 

[expert] opinion.”  (Korsak v. Atlas Hotels, Inc. (1992) 2 Cal.App.4th 1516, 1523-1526; Miranda v. 

Bomel Constr. Co. Inc. (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1326, 1342-1343.)  Under Government Code section 

11513, subdivision (c), relevant evidence shall be admitted only “if it is the sort of evidence on which 

responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs. . . .”  (Gov. Code. 

§ 11513, subd. (c).) 

Second, the California Supreme Court has ruled, “‘it is thoroughly established that experts 

may not give opinions on matters which are essentially within the province of the court to decide.’”  

(Sheldon Appel Co. v. Albert & Oliker (1989) 47 Cal.3d 863, 884, quoting Carter v. City of Los 

Angeles (1945) 67 Cal.App.2d 524, 528; Kotla v. Regents of Univ. of Cal. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 

283, 296 [allowing the expert to weigh the evidence for the fact finder was prejudicial error].)  As a 

result, “[t]here are limits to expert testimony, not the least of which is the prohibition against 

admission of an expert’s opinion on a question of law.”  (Summers v. A.L. Gilbert Co. (1999) 69 
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Cal.App.4th 1155, 1178.)  California administrative courts adhere to this principle.  (Dept. of Fair 

Employment & Housing v. Auburn Woods (May 7, 2002, No. H 9900-Q-0239-00-PH) 2002 

CAFEHC LEXIS 11, at *25-26 [rejection of expert testimony applying legal standard of “disabled” 

to the facts because this “is an issue of fact and law to be determined by the hearing officer”].)  

Accordingly, Mr. Cignarale’s opinions can be afforded no weight by the Court because they are little 

more than CDI’s counsel’s legal arguments dressed up as an expert opinion. 

Third, Mr. Cignarale conceded that he “rel[ied] on the Department’s lawyers for advice and 

representation, and it is they on whom the Department relies for legal opinions.”  (Exh. 1184, p. 4; 

Tr. 22804:11-22805:17; 23583:12-23584:16 [Cignarale].)  If Mr. Cignarale’s testimony is based on 

the advice of unidentified lawyers, such expert testimony is not admissible because “the opinion of an 

expert cannot be predicated on that of another.”  (Hope v. Arrowhead & Puritas Waters, Inc. (1959) 

174 Cal.App.2d 222, 230.)  Further, under Government Code section 11513, subdivision (d), hearsay 

evidence “shall not be sufficient in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over 

objection in civil actions.” 

In sum, much of CDI’s opening brief cites to the particular statutory or regulatory 

interpretations or the application of regulatory factors by a non-practicing attorney, whose opinions 

are either hearsay or lack foundation for an expert legal opinion.  In any event they are not 

permissible because they are opinions of law, which is a matter within the province of this Court.  

Accordingly, they can be afforded no weight by the ALJ. 

IV. DUE PROCESS CONSTRAINS THE AMOUNT OF ANY PENALTY 
AGAINST PACIFICARE. 

A. The Law On Due Process Restricts The Amount Of Penalties. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has held on multiple occasions that the federal Due Process Clause 

“dictate[s] that a person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject him to 

punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a State may impose.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. 

at p. 574, italics added; accord, State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 417.) 
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Fair notice of the severity of the penalty requires that the “measure of punishment [be] both 

reasonable and proportionate to the amount of harm to the plaintiff and to the general damages 

recovered.”  (State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 426, italics added; R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th 

707, 728; see also United States v. Bajakajian (1998) 524 U.S. 321, 339-340 (Bajakajian) [reversing 

penalty as unconstitutionally excessive, because the fine “bears no articulable correlation to any 

injury suffered by the Government”].) 

Further, “[i]t makes no difference whether we examine [an excessive fine] issue as an 

excessive fine or a violation of due process.”  (R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 728.)  “‘The Due 

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution . . . makes the Eighth 

Amendment’s prohibition against excessive fines and cruel and unusual punishments applicable to 

the States.  [Citation.]  The Due Process Clause of its own force also prohibits the States from 

imposing ‘grossly excessive’ punishments . . . .’”  (Id. at p. 727.)  In either case, the factors for 

determining whether a fine is excessive or a violation of due process are essentially the same. 

The leading U.S. Supreme Court case on the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against 

excessive fines is United States v Bajakajian, supra, 524 U.S. 321.  As explained by the California 

Supreme Court, in Bajakajian, “[t]he high court pointed out that ‘[t]he touchstone of the 

constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of proportionality.’  

[Citation.]  It then set out four considerations:  (1) the defendant’s culpability; (2) the relationship 

between the harm and the penalty; (3) the penalties imposed in similar statutes; and (4) the 

defendant’s ability to pay.”  (R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 728.) 

Likewise, under the due process clause, in the context of a punitive damages award, the 

United States Supreme Court has identified three “guideposts” for assessing the constitutional limit 

upon the amount of any penalty:  (1) “the degree of reprehensibility” of the misconduct; (2) “the 

disparity between the harm or potential harm” and the punitive damages award; and (3) the difference 
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between the punitive damages award and “the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable 

cases.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at pp. 574-575; see also State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 418.)   

Thus, although Gore was a punitive damages case, the Supreme Court has applied its 

“guideposts” whenever state law authorizes discretion in awarding a penalty, regardless of whether 

that penalty takes the form of punitive damages or statutory civil penalties.  (See, e.g., Exxon 

Shipping Co. v. Baker (2008) 128 S.Ct. 2605, 2622 [likening federal treble-damages statute and state 

penalty statutes to a punitive-damages award, and finding that such statutes have a “broadly 

analogous object”]; Tull v. United States (1987) 481 U.S. 412, 423 fn. 7 [“[T]he remedy of civil 

penalties is similar to the remedy of punitive damages”]; Gore, 517 U.S. at 574 & fn. 22 [holding that 

“the basic protection against ‘judgments without notice’ afforded by the Due Process Clause ... is 

implicated by civil penalties,” italics added]; see Murray v. GMAC Mortgage Corp. (7th Cir. 2006) 

434 F.3d 948, 954 [award of statutory damages that “would be unconstitutionally excessive may be 

reduced, see State Farm”].) 

In sum, the determination of the constitutional limit of a penalty or punitive damages raises 

the same factors:  the reprehensibility of the misconduct; the relationship between the harm or 

potential harm and the penalty; and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases, all 

subject to the defendant’s ability to pay. 

These constitutional limitations are properly raised in this administrative proceeding.  (J.R. 

Roman, Cal. Admin. Hearing Practice (2d ed. & 2009 supp.) The Hearing Process, ch. 7, § 7:14, p. 

356.)  Indeed, numerous administrative tribunals have rejected or limited proposed penalties as 

unconstitutional.  (See, e.g., In the Matter of the Appeal of Mammoth Prods., Inc. (Nov. 30, 2006, No. 

04-R3D1-1344) 2006 CA OSHA App. Bd. LEXIS 181, at *7-8 [holding that the $5,000 civil penalty 

proposed by the Division did not meet due process standards of reasonableness or proportionality to 

harm and reducing the penalty to $1000]; see also In the Matter of the Appeal of Safeway # 951 (Jan. 

5, 2007, No. 05-R1D4-1410) 2007 CA OSHA App. Bd. LEXIS 14, at *7-8 [“A viable argument can 
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be advanced in some cases that the full penalty of $5,000 is arbitrary, excessive and unreasonable, 

and therefore, violates an employer’s substantive due process rights”], citing Hale v. Morgan (1978) 

22 Cal.3d 388, 397.) 

B. Due Process Requires Penalties Be Proportionate To The Amount Of 
Harm Caused By The Conduct. 

The due process clause prohibits the Court from affording any deference to CDI’s 

recommended penalty because the size of that penalty is wholly disproportionate to the level of harm.  

Those proportionality principles set a maximum limit of $1 million in penalties, even if CDI could 

prove all of the alleged violations. 

1. Where The Defendant Has Made Substantial Restitution, A 
Penalty’s Constitutional Limit Is The Amount Of Restitution Or 
Some Small Multiple Thereof. 

Courts routinely deem a penalty excessive where its amount is substantially greater than the 

amount of harm caused by the penalized action(s).  (See, e.g., Bajakajian, supra, 524 U.S. at p. 339 

[finding forfeiture of $357,144 excessive where harm caused was “minimal”]; Gore, supra, 517 U.S. 

at p. 582 [finding a $2 million punitive damage award excessive where that amount was 500 times 

greater than the amount of actual harm determined by the jury].) 

Although State Farm stopped short of adopting a bright-line rule for determining when a ratio 

is excessive, it clarified “that, in practice, few awards exceeding a single-digit ratio between punitive 

and compensatory damages, to a significant degree, will satisfy due process.”  (State Farm, supra, 

538 U.S. at p. 425.)   

Post-State Farm jurisprudence confirms that in only “rare exceptions,” as when “a particularly 

egregious act has resulted in only a small amount of economic damages,” may a penalty-to-harm 

ratio exceed single digits.  (See Bains LLC v. ARCO Prods. Co. (9th Cir. 2005) 405 F.3d 764, 775-

777 [court imposed “a punitive damages ceiling” of “at most” a 9-to-1 ratio, despite evidence of 

“highly reprehensible” conduct directed at “vulnerable” target]; see also Planned Parenthood v. 
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American Coalition of Life Activists (9th Cir. 2005) 422 F.3d 949, 963 [9-to-1 ratio deemed 

appropriate for highly reprehensible threats of injury or death].) 

However, in State Farm, the Supreme Court held that “[w]hen compensatory damages are 

substantial, then a lesser ratio, perhaps only equal to compensatory damages, can reach the outermost 

limit of the due process guarantee.”  (State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 425.)  The Court held that the 

$1 million in compensatory damages awarded in State Farm was “substantial” and likely would 

justify a punitive damages award “at or near the amount of compensatory damages.”  (State Farm, 

supra, 538 U.S. at p. 429.)  The Supreme Court confirmed this in Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker, 

supra, 128 S.Ct. at p. 2634, fn. 28 [where damages are substantial, “the constitutional outer limit may 

well be 1:1.”].)  

The California Supreme Court has officially endorsed the one-to-one ratio for capping 

punitive damage awards:  “‘When compensatory damages are substantial, then a lesser ratio, perhaps 

only equal to compensatory damages, can reach the outermost limit of the due process guarantee.’”  

(Roby v. McKesson Corp. (2009) 47 Cal.4th 686, 718, quoting State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 425,  

original italics.) 

2. PacifiCare’s Conduct Caused Little Harm. 

In this case, the reworked claims amounts paid by PacifiCare as a result of its alleged 

violations were under $1 million.  The utter lack of proof with respect to any harm beyond the revised 

claim amounts militates against a penalty in excess of $1 million. 

Specifically, aside from the claims PacifiCare revised, CDI provided no evidence to support 

any of the four categories of harm that its recommended penalty purports to address – (1) “tangible 

harm such as quantifiable and identifiable physical harm or financial harm,” (2) “other harm caused 

by administrative costs, by patients, by providers,” (3) “harm to the regulatory scheme in terms of the 

regulatory process for the regulator,” and (4) “harm to the healthcare delivery system.”  (Tr. 

23230:20-23232:2 [Cignarale].) 
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With respect to category (1) above, CDI could not identify a single member whose medical 

condition suffered as a result of the issues in this case.  (P.P.F. 92.)  CDI also could not identify a 

single member or provider who failed to take some action as a result of language omitted from form 

EOPs and EOPs.  (P.P.F. 93.)  Mr. Cignarale could not provide any evidence supporting the 

“quantifiable and identifiable” physical or financial harms about which he testified.  (Tr. 23232:3-7, 

23481:11-14).  Although Mr. Cignarale later stated that the assumptions that he was provided in his 

written testimony described quantifiable harm (Tr. 23481:11-14), when asked to identify those 

assumptions, Mr. Cignarale could point only to descriptions of harm alleged by CDI that was already 

remediated (reworks or settlements) and totaled amounts under $1 million if the UCLA and UCSF 

claims, which the Court dismissed, are excluded.  (Tr. 23481:22-23482:2 [“$765,000” of Pre-Ex 

“COCC” reworks - Cignarale], 23482:3-7 [$1 million of Pre-Ex reworks (duplicate of the $765,000 

in Pre-Ex)], 23482:8-14 [“$100,000” settlement with UCSF], 23482:15-16 [$199,000 for UCLA 

claims], 23482:22-25 [$200-$250,000 for retro reworks], 23483:13-16 [“$138,000” in Interest 

Payment reworks].)  Mr. Cignarale further admitted that, for every instance cited, (1) he had no basis 

to believe that the amounts were not fully paid with interest, (2) CDI was not challenging the 

amounts of those payments, and (3) he knew of no quantifiable harm other that the specific 

assumption reworks and settlement he described.  (Tr. 23485:9-23486:5, 23487:21-23488:3.) 

Indeed, CDI’s description of the purported harm flowing from what it characterizes as “very 

serious” violations (CDI Br. 129:1-2) is solely based on speculation.  With respect to PacifiCare’s 

denial of claims based on the erroneous 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions, 

CDI argues that it “present[s] a risk of bodily injury or degradation of health” because patients “may 

be denied medical care by providers who are frustrated with the insurer’s denial . . . or delay or forgo 

needed care out of fear of being required to pay for the treatment.”  (CDI Br. 129:8-12.)  But CDI has 

presented no evidence that any member affected by the erroneous exclusionary period was 

“dissuaded” from seeking medical care or that the member’s medical condition suffered.  To the 
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contrary, PacifiCare modified the policy, re-worked the claims, and notified members and brokers of 

the error and changes.  (Tr. 8910:4-20 [Monk]; Tr. 7512:4-7513:22, 7575:4-7576:2, 10224:17-

10255:19 [Berkel].)  Nor did CDI undertake an investigation whether any such person even existed. 

Likewise, CDI contends that claim denials based on a missing COCC are “very serious” (CDI 

Br. 120:21) and may result in the denial of medical care “by providers who are frustrated with the 

insurer’s denial,” or “may delay . . . needed care because of fears of being required to pay for the 

treatment.”  (CDI Br. 115-116.)  But the “burden” of submitting another copy of a COCC is hardly a 

significant barrier to medical care, and CDI does not identify one instance where someone was 

denied medical care because of a missing COCC.   

With respect to the harm caused by supposed administrative burdens, Mr. Cignarale could 

provide neither a quantifiable figure nor even any “sense” of the magnitude of the supposed 

administrative harm experienced by patients and providers.  (Tr. 23235:4-12, 23237:19-23238:3 

[Cignarale].)  Mr. Cignarale was likewise unable to describe the magnitude of the alleged harms to 

the regulatory scheme or the healthcare delivery system; indeed, he was not even capable of 

comparing such harms in this case to those that occurred in other health insurance enforcement 

actions.  (Tr. 23976:2-23978:4 [Cignarale].) 

Despite offering no evidence of any quantifiable harm in this case beyond the less than $1 

million PacifiCare already paid in revised claims, CDI seeks to impose an unprecedented $325 

million penalty.  Based on the total claims impact of under $1 million and the lack of evidence of any 

other harm, the constitutional limit for any penalty cannot exceed $ 1 million (even assuming that 

CDI could prove all of the violations). 

C. The Reasonableness Of A Penalty Is Also Influenced By The 
Reprehensibility Of The Conduct. 

Both the U.S. and California Supreme Courts have ruled that under both the Excessive Fines 

and Due Process Clauses, the constitutional inquiry must consider, as one factor, the “defendant’s 

culpability” (R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 728), or the reprehensibility of the conduct (Gore, 
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supra, 517 U.S. at p. 575).  Indeed, this is “[p]erhaps the most important indicium of the 

reasonableness of a” penalty.  (Ibid.)   

The Supreme Court in State Farm set forth five factors that are to guide courts in determining 

whether a defendant’s conduct is reprehensible for purposes of due process analysis:  (1) whether the 

victim suffered physical or economic harm; (2) whether the defendant’s conduct exhibited 

indifference to or reckless disregard for the safety of others; (3) whether the victim was a financially 

vulnerable target; (4) whether the defendant’s actions involved repeated conduct or was an isolated 

incident; and (5) whether the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery or deceit, or was a 

mere accident.  (State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 419.) 

PacifiCare’s conduct in this case was not reprehensible, and as described above, any 

economic harm comprised less than $1 million in reworked claims.  The nature of the vast majority, 

if not all, of the alleged violations – e.g., omission of language in two forms, failing to send 

acknowledgement letters for properly processed claims, failing to pay claims within 30 working days, 

or untimely seeking reimbursement for overpayments – is hardly reprehensible:  There was no 

evidence of physical harm, no conscious disregard for safety, and no intentional malice, trickery, or 

deceit.  PacifiCare’s lack of culpability thus also counsels against the imposition of the exorbitant 

penalty CDI seeks here.  

D. Any Penalties Must Also Be Proportional To CDI’s Prior Penalties. 

1. The Requirement That A Penalty Be Consistent With Prior 
Penalties Assures Uniform Treatment And Is An Element Of Due 
Process. 

An additional consideration in setting any penalty is the difference between the penalty and 

“the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at pp. 574-

575; R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 728 [excessive fine analysis].)   

Because the Due Process Clause requires that a defendant have fair notice of “the severity of 

the penalty that a State may impose’” (State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 417, italics added), the U.S. 
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and California Supreme Courts have stressed that courts should not award penalties that vastly 

exceed what has been imposed in the past.  (See, e.g., Exxon Shipping Co., supra, 128 S.Ct. at pp. 

2632–2634 [reducing penalty award that greatly exceeded “what juries and judges have considered 

reasonable” in many other cases, and noting the need to “protect against the possibility . . . of awards 

that are unpredictable and unnecessary”]; Sands v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 919, 931 [“As a 

general rule . . . similar sanctions should be imposed on similar facts.”].) 

Moreover, the Gore Court explained that consistency not only assures fair notice of the 

severity of the penalty, but assures uniform treatment of similarly situated persons:   

Requiring the application of law, rather than a decisionmaker’s caprice, does 
more than simply provide citizens notice of what actions may subject them to 
punishment; it also helps to assure the uniform general treatment of similarly 
situated persons that is the essence of law itself.   

(Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 587, italics added.) 

Gore also makes clear that this factor applies to “civil penalties authorized or imposed in 

comparable cases.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 575, italics added]; see also Zimmerman v. Direct 

Fed. Credit Union (1st Cir. 2001) 262 F.3d 70, 83.)  Indeed, several courts have held that penalties 

“actually imposed” are the most relevant indicator of a penalty’s proportionality.  (See, e.g., Johansen 

v. Combustion Eng’g, Inc. (11th Cir. 1999) 170 F.3d 1320, 1337 [“the most relevant comparison 

under the third BMW guidepost is between the actual fine imposed and the punitive damage award”]; 

Action Marine, Inc. v. Cont’l Carbon, Inc. (11th Cir. 2007) 481 F.3d 1302, 1323.) 

Further, it makes no difference whether the prior penalties were awarded by a court or in a 

settlement approved as fair by the government agency.  First, the Commissioner has the same 

obligation to apply the laws fairly and impartially whether the matter is resolved short of hearing or 

not.  (Tr. 23210:14-23213:7 [Cignarale]; Tr. 24302:15-24303:12 [Stead].)  Settlements, moreover, are 

often an accurate assessment of the value of a lawsuit or enforcement action,19 and, if anything, 

                                                 

 19 See Hoffer, Decision Analysis as a Mediator’s Tool (1996) 1 Harv. Negot. L.Rev. 113, 115, 
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settlements in the regulatory context may actually be higher than what might occur in litigation since 

insurers are incentivized to resolve matters with a regulator quickly.  (Tr. at 22099:19-22101:22 

[Kessler]; P.P.F. 397.)  

Second, the regulation governing the assessment of penalties for cases resolved through 

settlement are substantially the same as those for enforcement actions.  (Compare Cal. Code Regs., 

tit. 10, § 2591.3 [resolution through settlement] with § 2695.12 [penalties].)  Both regulations focus 

on the extent of harm (§ 2695.12, subds. (a)(10), (a)(12); § 2591.3, subd. (b)(1)), the frequency of 

occurrences (§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(12); § 2591.3, subd. (c)), the insurer’s compliance record 

(§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(9); § 2591.3, subd. (f)), remedial actions (§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(8); § 2591.3, 

subd. (d)(1)(E)), and the existence of extraordinary circumstances (§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(1); § 2591.3, 

subd. (i)). 

Third, while CDI has suggested during this proceeding that a public settlement is not relevant 

because a settlement is not a precedential decision under Government Code section 11425.60, this 

argument is clearly wrong.  First, Insurance Code section 12938 actually requires that CDI publish 

any penalties assessed against a licensed entity, including those resolved by way of settlement as a 

means to provide notice to the industry. (Tr. 24260:25-24264:23 [Stead]).  The current Commissioner 

has explicitly acknowledged the use of those settlements for purposes of providing notice to the 

industry.  (See exh. 5711; Tr. 24264:24-24266:4 [Stead]; P.P.F. 396.)  Second, Government Code 

section 11425, invoked by CDI, speaks to a completely different issue.  Government Code section 

11425.60 provides in relevant part: 

(a)  A decision may not be expressly relied on as precedent unless it is designated 
as a precedent decision by the agency.  [¶] (b)  An agency may designate as a 

                                                                                                                                                             

fn. 9 [“probability and damage figures are implicitly estimated, roughly and in the aggregate, every 
time a lawyer makes a decision about whether or not to settle a case for a given dollar amount”]; 
Issacharoff & Klonoff, The Public Value of Settlement (2009) 78 Fordham L.Rev. 1177, 1198 [“a 
settlement . . . is more likely to be consistent across the claimants and not dependent on such 
fortuitous factors”]. 
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precedent a decision or part of a decision that contains a significant legal or policy 
determination of general application that is likely to recur. . . .   

Section 11452.60 only makes clear that use of a decision as precedent does not run afoul of the 

procedures for rulemaking.  (25 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1965) p. 55.)  The right to designate 

an agency decision as a precedent is intended to allow “agencies to be able to make law and policy 

through adjudication as well as through rulemaking.”   (Ibid.)  The due process guideline, which calls 

for a comparison of penalties in comparable cases because of the importance of fair notice regarding 

the magnitude of the penalties and consistency, does not implicate whether an agency adjudication 

can substitute for rulemaking. 

In any event, a penalty which violates PacifiCare’s due process rights is a question of 

constitutional law, which trumps any conflicting state law.  (See U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2.) 

2. CDI’s Prior Penalties Set A Maximum Of $655,000.  

CDI’s recommended $325 million penalty is exponentially higher than, and inconsistent with, 

historical penalties that CDI has assessed against other insurers.  (Exhs. 5706, 5708, 5712, 5622, 

5632; Tr. 20913:9-20935:7, 22106:2-22107:20 [Kessler]; Tr. 24262:1-24267:21, 24311:2-24326:22 

[Stead]; P.P.F. 380.)  Indeed, it is almost ten times higher than all the penalties assessed by CDI in 

the eight years preceding this enforcement action.  (Exhs. 5569, 5570, 5571, 5622, 5632, 5708.) 

Dr. Kessler reviewed CDI enforcement actions for all lines of business that resulted in 

penalties in excess of $1 million since the year 2000.  (Exh. 5621, p. 12.)  The average penalty for 

those enforcement actions was $2.4 million.  (Exh. 5622, p. 9.)  Only 3 of those 18 penalties were 

assessed against health insurers, with the highest penalty being $3.6 million against Health Net.  The 

highest penalty assessed since 2000 was $8 million against Unum, a disability insurer.  (Ibid.; Tr. 

20916:6-15 [Kessler].)  But the Unum matter involved far more serious allegations:  The insurer 

denied disability benefits to 26,000 California residents, totaling approximately $50 million in claims 

impact.  (Exhs. 5697, 5718; Tr. 24313:14-24314:21 [Stead]; P.P.F. 393.) 

Dennis
Text Box
11425.60
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An examination of the penalties imposed against health insurers Blue Shield, Blue Cross, and 

Health Net in enforcement actions that CDI initiated in 2008—all of which CDI designated, along 

with the PacifiCare matter, as high profile actions and severe in nature—demonstrates just how out of 

step the proposed penalty is with CDI’s historical penalties.  (Exh. 5649; Tr. 13047:4-13048:17, 

13050:10-16, 14089:9-22 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 385, 386, 387.) 

Blue Shield. 

The Blue Shield action involved millions of dollars in claims as a result of an alleged practice 

of illegal rescissions.  It also involved claims-handling issues similar to those alleged here, but its 

noncompliance was far more widespread.  (Exh. 5419; Tr. 13231:24-13232:20, 13238:2-13239:3, 

13275:20-13279:25 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 385(a).)  For example, Blue Shield failed to include IMR 

language not only in its EOBs, but in its denials, as well.  (Exh. 5418, p. 42.)  It also took Blue Shield 

longer to make its EOBs compliant; Blue Shield delayed over one year until “programming” could 

implement the EOB fixes.  (Ibid.)  Nonetheless, CDI assessed no penalty against Blue Shield as long 

as Blue Shield corrected its issues.  Even if it did not, the penalty would not exceed $5 million.  (Tr. 

13247:5-13250:2 [Laucher]; Exh. 5419; P.P.F. 385.) 

Blue Cross. 

The Blue Cross action involved over $14 million in claims impact from the alleged practice of 

illegal rescission and claims-handling issues that affected a population of 7.6 million claims.  (Exhs. 

547, 5633; Tr. 22107:19-22108:15 [Kessler]; Tr. 14740:3-14742:8 [Washington]; P.P.F. 386(a).) 

However, the penalty imposed against Blue Cross was miniscule in comparison to the one 

now threatened against PacifiCare.  CDI assessed a penalty of $1 million for the alleged practice of 

illegal rescissions and for alleged claims-handling issues over a two-year period, with a back-end 

penalty of $2 million if Blue Cross failed to “substantially correct” the issues.  (Tr. 13258:5-

13260:15, 13309:20-13312:4 [Laucher]; P.P.F. 386.)  Notably, CMA data showed a substantially 

higher percentage of claim payment issues based on total complaints following the Anthem/Blue 
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Cross merger than for PacifiCare.  (Tr. 20423:23-20425:23 [McNabb]; exh. 5615, p. 5; see also exh. 

5621, App. F; P.P.F. 386(c).) 

Health Net. 

The Health Net action involved over $22 million in claims impact from the alleged practice of 

illegal rescissions and claims-handling issues that affected 2,477,929 claims.  (Exhs. 5366, 5573; see 

also Public Report of the Market Conduct Examination of Health Net Life Insurance Co., January 27, 

2006, Request for Official Notice, Tab 015.)   Health Net admitted in its 2003 exam that its EOBs 

plainly lacked IMR language.  (See Health Net 2003 Public Report, Request for Official Notice, Tab  

014.)  Yet, CDI cited Health Net for only the 43 violations that it observed in 200 sample claims 

despite the fact that Health Net was still “in the process of updating” its EOBs at the time of its 2003 

Exam Report.  (Ibid.)  And after the 2003 Exam, Health Net also took over a year to fix its EOBs.  

(Id. at Tab0002.)   

Nonetheless, CDI assessed a penalty of just $3.6 million for the alleged practice of illegal 

rescissions and for alleged claims-handling issues.  (Exh. 5423; P.P.F. 387.)   
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As demonstrated above, the amount of harm to members and health care providers based on 

the allegations against PacifiCare is substantially less than the harm to members and providers in the 

other enforcement actions which CDI has brought during the relevant time frame involving health 

insurers or disability insurers.  (Tr. 22105:20-22107:23 [Kessler]; Exhs. 5573, 5579, 5621, 5632, 

5708; P.P.F. 380.)   

In order to calculate an appropriate penalty range that is consistent with prior penalties, one 

must account for differences in the amount of harm and impact by virtue of membership and the 

periods examined.  In that vein, Dr. Kessler developed a process that accounted for these differences, 

applied that process to PacifiCare’s facts, and came up with a high and low penalty range.  Notably, 

Ms. Stead confirmed that Dr. Kessler’s methodology comported with what regulators do when 

considering a penalty (although perhaps not to the level of mathematical precision employed by Dr. 

Kessler).   (Tr. 26143:23-26151:9 [Stead].)  Specifically, Ms. Stead confirmed that a regulator will 

examine historical penalties for similarly situated insurers (i.e., in this instance, health insurers) and 

establish a penalty range after accounting for differences in harm, including membership impact.  

(Ibid.) 

According to Dr. Kessler, “[b]ased on historical penalties involving health care companies, 

the penalty in this case should be between $0 and $655,289.”  (Exh. 5621, p. 11.)   He testified that in 

order to support a penalty in excess of $655,289 while remaining consistent with prior regulatory 

action, CDI would have to demonstrate that PacifiCare caused in excess of $4.1 million in harm (Tr. 

20935:3-7 [Kessler]), which as demonstrated above, CDI has utterly failed to do.  Dr. Kessler’s 

testimony remains unrebutted.  The testimony of CDI’s only economic expert was struck from the 

proceeding, and Mr. Cignarale did not offer any opinions on this method.   

Based on the size of CDI’s historical penalties, and the fact that the conduct at issue in the 

cases discussed above was far more egregious than in the PacifiCare matter, due process limits the 

amount of any penalty against PacifiCare. 
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E. The ALJ May Not Defer To CDI’s Positions Regarding The Size Of Penalties 
Because Of The Arbitrary Nature Of Its Expert’s Methodology. 

Due process prohibits this Court from giving any deference to Mr. Cignarale’s recommended 

penalties—upon which CDI relies in its closing brief—because they are purely arbitrary and the 

product of unprincipled methodologies.  (See CDI Br. 120, 131.) 

The penalty amounts recommended by Mr. Cignarale not only misapply the law (as will be 

shown later) but are arbitrarily based on a methodology admittedly developed for this case only – the 

very definition of arbitrary.   

Mr. Cignarale chiefly relied upon so-called “generic violation” penalty figures totaling $1,298 

for every “act” by PacifiCare “in violation” (Exhs. 5667, 5668), and proposed an aggregate penalty in 

excess of $1.2 billion (Exh. 1184, pp. 172-173).   

There are five principal problems with Mr. Cignarale’s approach to his recommended penalty 

in this case: 

First, Mr. Cignarale’s approach is inconsistent with prior regulatory practice.20  Mr. Cignarale 

admitted that his approach of assessing a dollar amount based on a generic violation, and then 

increasing or decreasing that amount based on aggravating or mitigating circumstances, “was 

designed by me for PacifiCare.”  (Tr. 23230:9-14.) 

Second, he acknowledged that he had not reviewed any standards prepared by CDI in 

rendering his opinions in this case.  (See Tr. 23282:15-24.) 

Third, he conceded that the penalty chosen as the starting point for each violation was 

divorced from any comparison of prior penalties or any methodology:  On cross-examination, he 

                                                 

 20 Both PacifiCare and CDI witnesses agree that consistent treatment of regulated entities is 
critically important.  (Tr. 24239:8-24240:11 [Stead]; Tr. 13186:9-13 [Laucher].)  And, in CDI’s 
own Market Conduct Division Manual and its Field Claims Bureau Manual, it defines its mission to 
include maintenance of an “equitable regulatory process” and to “fairly and impartially enforce the 
law” which refers, in part, to establishing consistency in enforcement and other regulatory 
endeavors.  (Tr. 20908:9-20911:1 [Kessler]; Exhs. 5407, p. 1, 5411, p. 1.) 
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acknowledged that he did not make any effort to compare prior penalties and just came up with an 

approach that he thought was “reasonable.”  (Tr. 23204:10-23205:1.) 

Fourth, Mr. Cignarale conceded that, apart from CDI’s counsel, he did not discuss this so-

called “reasonable” approach with anyone at CDI.  (Tr. 23205:2-8.) 

Fifth and finally, while Mr. Cignarale claimed in his Pre-Filed Written Testimony that he was 

qualified to offer a recommendation as to the amount of the penalty, he in fact lacked meaningful 

experience in assessing penalties, especially against health insurers for the specific types of violations 

charged in this proceeding.  Mr. Cignarale could not identify a single health insurer for which he was 

involved in assessing penalties in his 19-year career at CDI.  (Tr. 22923:16-22924:1, 22927:4-9; 

P.P.F. 367(a).)  Mr. Cignarale was also unfamiliar with the 23 legal matters handled by CDI’s Health 

Enforcement Bureau in 2008.  (Tr. 22914:1-22919:25; P.P.F. 367(b).)  Nor was he involved in 

assessing the penalties in CDI’s enforcement actions against Blue Cross, Blue Shield, or Health Net.  

And he knew nothing about the Mega multi-state settlement, even though it was the largest penalty at 

the time.  (Tr. 22923:13-15, 23791:1-23795:17 [Cignarale]; Exh. 5671; Tr. 24282:9-24285:25 

[Stead]; P.P.F. 267(c), 267(d).)  Indeed, Mr. Cignarale admitted that the highest penalty that he could 

recollect ever having recommended was in the range of “over a million dollars,” and he could not 

offer any additional specificity.  (Tr. 22928:15-22, 23622:11-19; P.P.F. 367(e).) 

An examination of CDI’s penalty per category of violation in this case highlights the arbitrary 

and inconsistent nature of Mr. Cignarale’s recommended penalty.  (CDI Br. 310.)  CDI seeks 

penalties for eight categories of violations here which would each exceed the highest CDI penalty 

assessed this century.  Indeed, the $333 million that CDI seeks to assess for the omission of a 

statutory notice in the EOPs is itself over seven times the size of the $43.08 million that it has 

assessed in all of the above actions since 2000. 
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Moreover, in the end, Mr. Cignarale abandoned this generic penalty approach and invented a 

wholly new arbitrary approach based on PacifiCare’s financial condition.  Without any precedent in 

law or literature, he conclusorily recommended that the aggregate penalty be pegged at $325 million, 

an amount which he claimed would achieve the objectives of deterrence and punishment, and which 

he acknowledged represents approximately half of PacifiCare’s excess surplus.  (CDI Br. 310-13; 

exh. 1184, pp. 172:10-178:11.)  Yet, Mr. Cignarale offered no analysis of how he determined the 

appropriate deterrent value of confiscating half of PacifiCare’s excess surplus.  (Tr. 23177:16-

23178:1.)  Furthermore, reliance on PacifiCare’s excess surplus is not even tied to PacifiCare’s 

financial operating performance.  Rather, the surplus is almost entirely derived from licensing fees 

paid by subsidiaries.  On cross-examination, he even conceded that he did not “have any background 

in deterrence theory.”  (Tr. 23641:16-23642:23.)   He further conceded that there was no formula by 

which he derived the $325 million.  Indeed, Mr. Cignarale testified that in developing his 

conclusions, he could not even be certain that he limited himself to the factors set forth in Regulation 

2695.12, which specifies the factors to consider in determining the amount of penalties.  (Tr. 
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23578:1-25.)  Reflecting the arbitrary nature of this new recommendation, Mr. Cignarale even took 

the position that if the number of violations were to change, and the Court were to dismiss over 

700,000 alleged charges, his recommended $325 penalty would remain the same.  (Tr. 23194:19-

23195:2.)  CDI has nonetheless embraced his opinions in recommending a total penalty of $325 

million.  (See CDI Br. 310-313.) 

An unprincipled methodology for calculating damages is not only unhelpful and inadmissible 

but unconstitutional, because defendants are entitled to due process in “the determination of 

damages.”  (Bell v. Farmers Ins. Exch. (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 715, 751-757, citing Connecticut v. 

Doehr (1991) 501 U.S. 1, 11.)  In Bell, the court concluded that because the expert there did not 

produce “anything that addresses the issues of reliability involved in the calculation of . . . damages  

. . . [or consider] possible alternatives or refinements to [his] statistical methodology,” that portion of 

the damages award could not withstand a due process challenge.  (Id. at p. 756.)  The underlying 

constitutional principle is that a procedural device for assessing damages that has a serious “‘risk of 

erroneous deprivation’” of a party’s property can violate its right to due process.  (Id. at p. 753, italics 

added.)  Under these circumstances, Mr. Cignarale’s arbitrary methodology does just that. 

F. Conclusion. 

CDI’s recommended penalty is wholly inconsistent with due process because (1) PacifiCare’s 

conduct is not reprehensible based on the factors specified by the Supreme Court, (2) the size of the 

penalty is utterly disproportionate to the minimal harm caused by PacifiCare’s conduct in this case, 

and (3) the amount of the penalty is disproportionate and thoroughly inconsistent with CDI’s 

historical penalties for far more egregious conduct.  For these reasons, any penalty in excess of 

$655,000, even assuming that CDI could prove all of the alleged violations, would violate the due 

process and excessive fines clauses. 
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V. THE ARBITRARY APPROACH TAKEN BY CDI IN THIS ENFORCEMENT 
ACTION DENIES PACIFICARE EQUAL PROTECTION AND VIOLATES 
ITS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS. 

CDI’s departure from its historical practices and standards and its unique treatment of 

PacifiCare in this enforcement action violates the Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution.  

(See U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.)  CDI’s arbitrary enforcement and lack of objectivity also violates 

PacifiCare’s right to due process of law.  (Ibid.)   

A. CDI Has Denied PacifiCare Equal Protection Under The Law. 

CDI’s departure from its past practices and its refusal to abide by its prior standards in its 

prosecution of PacifiCare in this enforcement action violates the Equal Protection Clause under the 

doctrine of a “class of one.” 

The United States Supreme Court has held that the “intentional and arbitrary discrimination” 

of a single person or entity is unconstitutional:  “Our cases have recognized successful equal 

protection claims brought by a ‘class of one,’ where the plaintiff alleges that she has been 

intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated and that there is no rational basis for 

the difference in treatment.”  (Village of Willowbrook v. Olech (2000) 528 U.S. 562, 564 (Olech).)  

Furthermore, in Olech, the Court recognized that arbitrary discrimination can arise from either (1) the 

express terms of a statute, or (2) the improper execution of a statute through duly constituted officials 

or agents.  (Ibid.)    

The shocking evidence in this case has established the three elements necessary to make out a 

“class of one” equal protection claim here:  (1) PacifiCare was treated differently from all other 

similarly situated insurance companies; (2) CDI’s differential treatment of PacifiCare was intentional; 

and (3) there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.  (See Gerhart v. Lake County 

Montana (9th Cir. 2010) 637 F.3d 1013, 1022; Genesis Envtl. Servs. v. San Joaquin Valley Unified 

Air Pollution Control Dist. (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 597, 605 (Genesis ).)   
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1. Disparate Treatment. 

CDI treated PacifiCare differently from other insurers in a surprising number of respects.  

First, CDI based its alleged violations on PacifiCare’s entire claims population as compared to every 

other case where it based the violations on a sample of claims.  (See Section I.C.3, ante.)  Mr. 

Cignarale admitted that he knew of no instance where CDI had ever even “looked at every paid claim 

for any given period of time,” much less brought an enforcement action against an insurer on that 

basis.  (Tr. 23180:22-23181:4; P.P.F. 363.) 

Second, CDI also counted violations differently in this proceeding compared to similar 

enforcement actions.  Whereas CDI historically cited a non-compliant form as one “in general” 

violation, or only cited the alleged non-compliant form in the sample (even when it was aware of 

widespread non-compliance in the claims population), CDI cited PacifiCare each and every time a 

copy of that form was issued.  (See Section I.C.3, ante)   

Third, CDI has a practice of not getting involved in a provider’s complaint, unless the 

provider had first proceeded through the insurer’s internal dispute resolution process.  But CDI 

deviated from this practice in PacifiCare’s case and encouraged provider interest groups to submit 

more complaints without having to meet CDI’s gate-keeping requirements. (See I.C.3, post.)   

Fourth, CDI departed from its well-documented history of requiring only “substantial 

compliance” from insurers (see Section I.C.2(a), ante; see also, e.g., Mercury Ins. Co., Stip & 

Waiver, UPA 2007-00019, June 6, 2008 [requiring only “15% reduction in justified complaint ratio” 

in the next year’s Consumer Complaint Study]), and instead required 100% compliance from 

PacifiCare. 

Finally, CDI created a brand new approach for calculating penalties against PacifiCare, 

specifically tailored for this enforcement action.  As noted in Section I.C.3, Mr. Cignarale admitted 

that this novel penalty approach has never been applied to another insurer besides PacifiCare.  (Tr. 

23230:1-17; Exh. 5707, p. 3; Tr. 24451:17-24452:7 [Stead]; P.P.F. 364.)   
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2. Intentional.   

There can be no question that CDI’s departure from its standard practice in PacifiCare’s case 

was intentional.  CDI cannot argue, for example, that it “mistakenly” based violations on PacifiCare’s 

entire claims population, rather than using a sample, or “unwittingly” created a brand new penalty 

structure for PacifiCare. 

Moreover, CDI’s deliberate, special treatment of PacifiCare is further evidenced by the great 

lengths that it took to build an unprecedented case again PacifiCare at any cost.  For one, former 

Insurance Commissioner Poizner made several inflammatory statements to the press to ensure that 

the enforcement action against PacifiCare would be unlike any other.  (See Section I.C.4(a), ante.)  

CDI also actively colluded with CMA and the UC hospitals to artificially inflate the number of 

complaints that providers had against PacifiCare.  (See Section I.C.4(b).) 

Finally, CDI staff was so intent on building a unique case against PacifiCare that it sought out 

witnesses whom CDI knew did not have any substantive complaints against PacifiCare, but rather, 

had issues with other insurers.  Further, the evidence shows that CDI’s staff secretly hoped that the 

witnesses would not mention this fact.  (See Section I.C.4(c), ante.)  Indeed, in one case CDI knew 

that Blue Cross had committed a violation that led to denial of care, but CDI charged PacifiCare with 

32 violations – and charged Blue Cross with not even one.  (Ibid.)   There can be no doubt that CDI 

intentionally treated PacifiCare differently. 

3. No Rational Basis. 

Finally, CDI has offered no rational basis for the difference in treatment.  As the court in 

Genesis explained, it is not enough for CDI to show that it has a rational basis for seeking penalties 

for PacifiCare’s alleged violations.  Instead, CDI must show that it has a rational basis for treating 

PacifiCare differently from similarly situated insurance companies.  (Genesis, supra, 113 Cal.App.4th 

597, 606-607.)  “In other words, if a rational classification is applied unevenly, the reason for 

singling out a particular person must be rational and not the product of intentional and arbitrary 
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discrimination.”  (Id. at p. 606.)  CDI has not made this showing.  It cannot show, for instance, why it 

has not imposed penalties against other insurers with allegedly non-compliant EOBs, why it sought 

witnesses whom CDI knew did not have substantive complaints against PacifiCare, or why it created 

a new approach toward penalties to be applied only against PacifiCare. 

B. CDI’s Arbitrary Enforcement Violated Due Process. 

CDI’s enforcement action also violated PacifiCare’s right to due process because it was 

arbitrary and lacked even a trace of objectivity. 

An agency’s actions cannot be “arbitrary, capricious, entirely lacking in evidentiary support 

or contrary to required legal procedures.”  (Marvin Lieblein, Inc. v. Shewry (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 

700, 713-714.)  When an agency seeks to deprive a party of property or liberty through arbitrary or 

irrational means, it violates that party’s right to due process.  (See, e.g., Schware v. Board of Bar 

Examiners (1957) 353 U.S. 232, 239-244, 247 [denying applicant permission to take bar examination 

on grounds of arrest record, use of aliases, and long-past membership in Communist Party, but 

without any evidence of bad moral character, is so arbitrary and irrational that it violates due 

process].)  In addition, an agency’s failure to follow its own rules – or any rules at all – “is a fatal 

flaw to the administrative action” and also violates due process.  (Kelly v. Railroad Retirement Bd. 

(3rd Cir. 1980) 625 F.2d 486, 491-492.)   

The record shows that arbitrariness and an unwillingness to abide by established rules has 

permeated CDI’s enforcement action at every stage, from retroactively applying new interpretations 

of the relevant statutes, to deviating from its historical practices, to undertaking a market conduct 

examination unlike any in its history, and finally to creating a new penalty methodology out of whole 

cloth just for PacifiCare.  (See Section I.C.3(b), ante.)  As Ms. Stead explained, “when an agency 

doesn’t follow its procedures, it creates the opportunity for bias.”  (Tr. 25941:10-20 [Stead].)  The 

extent of this arbitrariness is perhaps best captured by Deputy Commissioner Cignarale’s outrageous 

claim that insurers are “on notice in general that any claims standard that the Department feels 
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violates 790.03, which might not specifically be enumerated in either 790.03 or in the 2695 

California Code of Regulations, could be considered violations of 790.03.”  (Tr. 23016:7-11, italics 

added.)  Placing PacifiCare at the whim of whatever CDI “feels” is a section 790.03 violation is 

nothing less than arbitrary. 

The agency’s arbitrariness here is inculcated by CDI’s radical departure from its own findings 

of section 790.03 violations.  CDI completed, amended, finalized, and publicized a Public MCE 

Report which identified 90 alleged violations of section 790.03.  But this enforcement action, by its 

express terms, now alleges nearly one million violations “[a]s a result of [the same] examination” and 

based on the same facts as the MCE.  Section 734.1, subdivision (b), provides for a 30-day window 

for the Commissioner to adopt, modify, or reject the report.  That report, as adopted by the 

Commissioner here, identified the vast majority of violations now alleged in this action as 

“something other than violations of Section 790.03.”  And during the course of this action, CDI saw 

fit to seek leave to amend the Public Report to add only two violations.  There is simply no way, 

consistent with its “obligations to publicly report 790.03 violations fully” (Tr. 26028:19-26029:7 

[Stead]), that CDI can so wildly increase the number of alleged section 790.03 violations, which the 

Commissioner and CDI’s own staff determined to be 92.  As Sue Stead testified, “[T]hey’re either 

790.03 violations or they’re not.  You can’t report them one way in the report and charge them 

another way.”  (Tr. at 26140:6-16 [Stead].).    

Finally, an agency’s lack of objectivity – and even the appearance that it is biased – is 

inconsistent with due process.  CDI’s overly aggressive pursuit of this enforcement action – marked 

by former Commissioner Poizner using this action to promote his political campaign and CDI’s 

collusion with other regulated parties (such as CMA and the UC hospitals) to expand the scope of the 

investigation (see Section I.C.4(b), ante.) – is incongruent with CDI’s supposed role as an objective 

industry regulator and violates PacifiCare’s due process rights.  (See Nightlife Partners, Ltd. v. City 

of Beverly Hills (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 81, 90 [“[D]ue process in an administrative hearing also 
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demands an appearance of fairness and the absence of even a probability of outside influence on the 

adjudication.”]; Mennig v. City Council of the City of Culver (1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 341 [council had 

become so “personally embroiled in the controversy” as to create an unjustly high probability of 

bias]; State Board of Dry Cleaners v. Thrift-D-Lux Cleaners, Inc. (1953) 40 Cal.2d 436 [where board 

“is made up of six active members of the industry . . . [t]he delegation is so clearly arbitrary, and so 

clearly a denial of rights safeguarded by the due process clause . . . .”]; Chevrolet Mot. Div. v. New 

Mot. Vehicle Board (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 533 [striking down agency action because agency board 

included nonvoting members in a unique position to influence the agency decisions].) 

In summary, this enforcement action has failed to abide by one of the basic tenets of our 

judicial system:  the objective application of established standards to the evidence.  At times, CDI 

manipulated the evidence to conform to its preferred standards (e.g., the use of witnesses who did not 

have substantive complaints against PacifiCare and an examination of the entire claims population).  

And at other times, it produced new legal interpretations of statutes to increase the number of alleged 

violations.  And it destroyed evidence which would have further shown the intentional and deliberate 

effort to treat PacifiCare differently.  Fundamental notions of fairness demand a better fate for 

PacifiCare. 

VI. THE RELEVANT STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK. 

A. CDI Can Assess Penalties Only For Violations Of Section 790.03. 

1. Section 790.035 Authorizes Penalties Only For Violations Of 
Section 790.03. 

CDI expressly brings this proceeding “pursuant to the provisions of Section 790.05.”  (First 

Am. OSC, p. 1.)  Section 790.05 authorizes an enforcement action when “a person has been engaged 

or is engaging . . . in any unfair method of competition or any unfair or deceptive act or practice 

defined in Section 790.03”: 

Whenever the commissioner shall have reason to believe that a person 
has been engaged or is engaging in this state in any unfair method of 
competition or any unfair or deceptive act or practice defined in 
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Section 790.03, and that a proceeding by the commissioner in respect 
thereto would be to the interest of the public, he or she shall issue and 
serve . . .  an order to show cause containing a statement of the charges 
in that respect, . . .  and a notice of a hearing thereon . . .  for the 
purpose of determining whether the commissioner should issue an 
order to that person to, pay the penalty imposed by Section 790.035, 
and to cease and desist those methods, acts, or practices or any of them. 

(§ 790.05, italics added.) 

In turn, section 790.035 authorizes penalties only for violations of section 790.03.  It provides 

in relevant part:  “Any person who engages in any unfair method of competition or any unfair or 

deceptive act or practice defined in Section 790.03 is liable to the state for a civil penalty to be fixed 

by the commissioner . . . .” 

2. Section 790.03(h) Specifies The Specific Practices Subject To 
Penalties In This Case. 

The only subdivision that CDI contends that PacifiCare has violated is section 790.03(h).  As 

relevant here, section 790.03(h) provides as follows: 

The following are hereby defined as unfair methods of competition and 
unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance. 

  . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

(h)  Knowingly committing or performing with such frequency as to 
indicate a general business practice any of the following unfair claims 
settlement practices . . . . 

Subdivision (h) then enumerates 16 prohibited “unfair claims settlement practices.”  These 

“unfair claims settlement practices” include:  “(1) Misrepresenting to claimants pertinent facts or 

insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue;” “(2) Failing to acknowledge and act 

reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under insurance policies;” 

“(3) Failing to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing 

of claims arising under insurance policies;” “(4) Failing to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a 

reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been completed and submitted by the insured;” 

and “(5) Not attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in 
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which liability has become reasonably clear.”  (§ 790.03(h)(1), (2), (3), (4), (5).)  These subdivisions 

are discussed more fully at Section VI.C. 

3. CDI Erroneously Incorporates Other Laws Into Section 790.03. 

In interpreting section 790.03(h), CDI argues that “other Insurance Code provisions set 

standards for some aspects of claims settlement practices” and suggests that “[i]n some cases the 

subsequent statutes provide guidance on how a general term in section 790.03 should be interpreted.”  

(CDI Br. 79.) 

To the contrary, there are three reasons why the plain language of section 790.03(h) cannot be 

extended to authorize penalties based on the violation of other non-penal statutes – particularly, 

subsequently enacted statutes which do not reference section 790.03. 

a) The Distinction Between Sections 790.05 And 790.06. 

First, the statutory scheme makes clear that if the conduct at issue is not specifically “defined 

in” section 790.03, CDI cannot seek monetary penalties in this proceeding.   

Instead, the Commissioner must initiate a separate proceeding under section 790.06 to obtain 

an order declaring that the conduct at issue constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice within 

the meaning of section 790.03.  This includes conduct prohibited by a non-penal statute.  (Vikco Ins. 

Serv., Inc. v. Ohio Indem. Co. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 55, 65.) 

Section 790.06, subdivision (a) provides: 

Whenever the commissioner shall have reason to believe that any person engaged 
in the business of insurance is engaging in this state in any method of competition 
or in any act or practice in the conduct of the business that is not defined in 
Section 790.03, and that the method is unfair or that the act or practice is unfair or 
deceptive . . .  he or she may issue and serve upon that person an order to show 
cause containing a statement of the methods, acts or practices alleged to be unfair 
or deceptive and a notice of hearing thereon . . . for the purpose of determining 
whether the alleged methods, acts or practices or any of them should be declared 
to be unfair or deceptive within the meaning of this article . . . .  

(Italics added.) 
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And only if the conduct continues, despite being formally declared a violation under section 

790.06, may CDI seek an injunction from the superior court under section 790.06, subdivision (b).  

And only if the insurer then violates the injunction may CDI initiate a proceeding under section 

790.07 to seek monetary penalties of up to $5,000 for each violation, or up to $55,000 if the violation 

was “willful.”  (See § 790.07.) 

In Vikco Ins. Serv., Inc. v. Ohio Indem. Co., supra, 70 Cal.App.4th 55, 60, the Court of 

Appeal addressed whether a violation of section 769 – which governs the termination of insurance 

broker agreements – falls within the scope of section 790.03 and hence, within the enforcement 

mechanisms of section 790.05.  The court explained that while violations of other Insurance Code 

sections (such as section 769) are not enforceable under section 790.03, they may be enforced under 

the parallel, but distinct, proceedings authorized by section 790.06: 

Section 790.06 parallels section 790.05, the administrative enforcement 
provision giving the Insurance Commissioner the power to remedy acts 
specifically barred by section 790.03.  The difference is that 
section 790.06 is not limited to remedying acts in violation of any 
particular statute.  Instead, it provides an administrative means to 
remedy any acts by an insurer deemed “unfair or deceptive.”  Under 
section 790, the purpose of the entire article of which section 790.06 is 
a part (art. 6.5) is “to regulate trade practices in the business of 
insurance . . . by defining, or providing for the determination of, all 
such practices in this State which constitute unfair methods of 
competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices and by prohibiting 
the trade practices so defined or determined.”  [first italics in original, 
second italics added by Vikco Ins. Serv., Inc. v. Ohio Indem. Co., supra, 
70 Cal.App.4th at p. 65.] Section 790.06 provides the administrative 
means for defining and remedying such “unfair or deceptive” trade 
practices not otherwise defined or enumerated [in Section 790.03].  
Clearly, acts specifically barred elsewhere in the Insurance Code, such 
as those prohibited in section 769, are by virtue of that fact contrary to 
public policy.  It does not constitute an extraordinary leap of reason or 
logic to conclude that such specifically prohibited conduct, including 
violations of section 769, are within the “unfair or deceptive” acts for 
which section 790.06 provides an administrative remedy. 

(Id. at p. 65, italics added.) 

Thus, acts barred elsewhere in the Insurance Code must first be determined to be unfair and 

deceptive and an order so issued and violated before an insurer can be held liable for penalties for 

that statute’s violation.  The holding in Vikco follows from the general principle that an 
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administrative agency, such as CDI, has only the powers entrusted to it by the Legislature.  (Blood 

Service Plan Ins. Co. v. Roddis (1968) 259 Cal.App.2d 807, 811.)  “Absent express language 

dictating otherwise, it will not be presumed that the Legislature intended to authorize an 

administrative agency” to impose penalties not expressly permitted by statute.  (Dyna-Med, Inc. v. 

Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1392 (Dyna-Med).) 

b) The Legislature Has Specifically Referenced Section 790.03 
When It Intends To Make Section 790.03 Applicable. 

Although the Insurance Code provides a procedure by which violations of other statutory 

obligations can be penalized pursuant to the 790.06 procedure discussed above, CDI contends that 

this Court should nonetheless incorporate the standards of other statutes into the “unfair claims 

settlement practices” in section 790.03.  For example, CDI argues that “[w]hat constitutes ‘reasonable 

standards’ for processing a claim [under section 790.03(h)(3)] is made specific in various other 

statutes.  Again, for health insurance, section 10123.13 defines a reasonable standard for 

reimbursement of a claim as no later than 30 working days from receipt of the claim.”  (CDI Br. 72.)   

But section 10123.13 does not mention section 790.03(h)(3) or otherwise indicate that the 

standard of payment within “30 working days from receipt of the claim” is meant to apply in an 

enforcement proceeding seeking penalties under section 790.03(h)(3).  To the contrary, section 

10123.13 provides a different remedy – payment of 10% interest – for the failure to pay a claim 

within 30 working days.  (§ 10123.13, subd. (b).) 

CDI’s reference to statutes that are outside the unfair practices article in order to construe 

section 790.03(h) effectively seeks to amend section 790.03(h) by adding these other non-penal 

statutory obligations as a basis for penalties.  This would be contrary to well-settled rules of 

construction:  “It is a general rule of statutory construction that when one part of a statute contains a 

term or provision, the omission of that term or provision from another part of the statute indicates the 

Legislature intended to convey a different meaning.”  (Klein v. United States (2010) 50 Cal.4th 68, 
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80, quotation marks omitted.)  These non-penal statutes do not provide for penalties, and the 

Legislature fully knows how to authorize penalties for statutory violations when it wants to do so. 

CDI’s incorporation approach is also contrary to how the Legislature makes reference to 

790.03 in other statutes.  When the Legislature intends to reference section 790.03, it expressly 

references this provision.  (See, e.g., §§ 790.034, subd. (b), 790.034, 790.04, 790.05, 790.06; see also 

Brown v. Mortensen (2011) 51 Cal.4th 1052, 1067 [“[I]n construing statutes we will always prefer 

interpretations that harmonize them with other legislation.”].)  For example, section 790.04 expressly 

grants the Commissioner power to examine the affairs of every person engaged in the business of 

insurance in order to determine if the person has been engaged “in any unfair or deceptive act or 

practice prohibited by Section 790.03.”  By contrast, section 10123.13 makes no mention of 790.03 

and therefore it would be incorrect to assume that the claims processing standards set forth in section 

10123.13 apply to section 790.03(h).   

c) Due Process Constraints. 

Third, treating a violation of a non-penal statute as a violation of a penal statute would violate 

due process.  Indeed, the distinction between a section 790.05 and a section 790.06 proceeding is no 

mere technicality, but reflects fundamental notions of due process and fair notice.   

In a section 790.05 proceeding, an insurer has already been given notice of the conduct that is 

prohibited by section 790.03 and subject to penalties.  In contrast, where conduct not expressly 

specified in section 790.03 is at issue, section 790.06 affords a process by which the Commissioner 

can have a court first find that such conduct is an unfair practice and then subject the conduct to 

penalties if repeated thereafter. 

“A fundamental principle in our legal system is that laws which regulate persons or entities 

must give fair notice of conduct that is forbidden or required.”  (F.C.C. v. Fox Television Stations Inc. 

(2012) __ U.S. __ [132 S. Ct. 2307, 2317] (Fox).)  “[R]egulated parties should know what is required 

of them so they may act accordingly; [and] precision and guidance are necessary so that those 
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enforcing the law do not act in an arbitrary or discriminatory way.”  (Ibid.)  In Fox, the U.S. Supreme 

Court vacated sanctions imposed by the FCC against Fox Television and ABC because the FCC’s 

written guidelines gave no notice that a fleeting expletive or a brief shot of nudity could be actionably 

indecent under 18 U.S.C. section 1464, which prohibits “any obscene, indecent, or profane language” 

by radio or television.  In response to the FCC’s defense that it had given notice that the “‘televising 

of nudes might well raise a serious question of programming contrary to 18 U.S. C. § 1464,’” the 

Court ruled, “An isolated and ambiguous statement from a 1960 Commission decision does not 

suffice for the fair notice required when the Government intends to impose over a $1 million fine for 

allegedly impermissible speech.”  (Id. at pp. 2312, 2319.) 

Here, there was no notice that the failure to meet fixed time periods in various non-penal 

statutes, such as the 30-working-day period under section 10123.13, would subject an insurer to 

penalties.  CDI could have easily remedied the lack of fair notice by promulgating regulations or 

circulating a bulletin to the industry, but it chose not to do so. 

B. Section 790.03(h) Prohibits Unfair Claims Settlement Practices That Are 
Knowingly Committed Or Performed With Such Frequency To Constitute 
A General Business Practice. 

1. A Violation Of Section 790.03(h) Must Be Based On A “Practice,” 
Not A Single “Act.” 

As noted, section 790.03(h) proscribes “[k]nowingly committing or performing with such 

frequency as to indicate a general business practice any of the following unfair claims settlement 

practices . . . .”  (Italics added.)  It then enumerates 16 unfair claims settlement practices.   

CDI contends that “[t]he use of the disjunctive establishes that there are two ways to prove a 

violation:  a single act knowingly committed or an indication of a general business practice.”  (CDI 

Br. 67.)  This is a fundamental misreading of the statute.  Significantly, CDI cites no case authority 

interpreting section 790.03 to support its position.  (Id. at pp. 67-68.)  In fact, under the plain 

language of section 790.03(h), which is supported by the case law, violations may be premised only 
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upon a “practice,” not a single act, and that practice must be “knowingly commit[ed] or perform[ed] 

with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.”  (§ 790.03(h).) 

a) CDI Distorts The Language Of Section 790.03(h) To 
Contend That A “Single Act” Is Sufficient. 

As an initial matter, in order to violate section 790.03(h), the insurer must have engaged in 

one of the 16 prohibited “unfair claims settlement practices.”  (Italics added.)  The term “practice” is 

not defined.  However, “[w]hen attempting to ascertain the ordinary, usual meaning of a word, courts 

appropriately refer to the dictionary definition of that word.”  (Wasatch Prop. Mgmt. v. Degrate 

(2005) 35 Cal.4th 1111, 1121-1122.)   

Webster’s Dictionary defines a “practice” as a “[a] habitual or customary action,” and in the 

context of a business practice, as “[a] habitual act or action.”  (Webster’s II New College Dict. (2001) 

p. 867; see also 2 Shorter Oxford English Dictionary (6th ed. 2007) p. 2311 [“The habitual doing or 

carrying out of something; usual or customary action or performance”].)   

In other words, a “practice” is, by definition, more than a single “act.”  Indeed, the very text 

of section 790.03 explicitly distinguishes between “acts” and “practices.”  The first sentence in 

section 790.03 provides: “The following are hereby defined as unfair methods of competition and 

unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance.”  (Italics added).  However, 

790.03(h) is expressly limited to “unfair claims settlement practices.” 

b) CDI Relies On A Reading Of Section 790.03(h) That The 
California Supreme Court Has Rejected. 

In Moradi-Shalal v. Fireman’s Fund Ins. Cos. (1988) 46 Cal.3d 287, 303 (Moradi-Shalal), 

the California Supreme Court explained that section 790.03(h) was enacted to address “a pattern” of 

“wrongful settlement practices.” 

In overruling its prior decision in Royal Globe Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1979) 23 Cal.3d 

880 (Royal Globe), on the ground that it “incorrectly evaluated the legislative intent underlying” 

section 790.03(h), our state high court disapproved of Royal Globe’s holding “that an action under 
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section 790.03 could be based upon a single wrongful act.”  (Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 Cal.3d at pp. 

292, 303.)  Instead, the Moradi-Shalal Court largely adopted Justice Richardson’s dissenting opinion 

in Royal Globe, which explained that violations of section 790.03(h) were “considered unfair 

practices . . . only if committed with the requisite frequency.”  (Id. at pp. 295-296, quoting Royal 

Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at p. 895 (conc. & dis. opn. of Richardson, J.).)   

Following Moradi-Shalal, subsequent cases have confirmed that section 790.03(h), “which 

introduces the litany of things that insurers shouldn’t do, is framed in terms of many instances, not 

just a single case[.]”  (Neufeld v. Balboa Ins. Co. (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 759, 762; Lance Camper 

Mfg. Corp. v. Republic Indem. Co. of Am. (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 194, 200 [noting that section 

790.03(h) applies to an “insurer who regularly engages in unfair practices”], italics added; see also 

Crenshaw v. MONY Life Ins. Co. (S.D. Cal., May 3, 2004, No. 02cv2108-LAB) 2004 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 9883, *68 [violation of section 790.03(h) requires evidence that insurer’s conduct was “part 

of [a] general business pattern or practice that is unlawful, fraudulent, or unfair”], italics added.) 

As the Court noted in Moradi-Shalal, “the cases from other states without exception reject” 

the single-violation standard.  (Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 303, original italics.)  As stated 

by one such case, “[t]he obvious purpose and express intent of the legislature was to . . . regulat[e] 

. . . insurers in their general course of practice of handling claims and to enforce proper business 

practice[s] administratively under penalty[.]”  (Swinton v. Chubb & Son, Inc. (S.C. 1984) 320 S.E.2d 

495, 496, italics added; see also, e.g., Young v. Michigan Mut. Ins. Co. (Mich. App. 1984) 362 

N.W.2d 844, 847 [“isolated incidents do not constitute unfair trade practices,” because the statute “is 

designed to give the Commissioner of Insurance authority over certain continuing practices of 

insurance companies”]; Howell-Demarest v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. (Fla. App. 1996) 673 

So.2d 526, 529 [plaintiff “would have to demonstrate that [the insurer] engaged in this practice far 

more frequently than that” to show a “general business practice”].) 
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Ignoring these many authorities and the statute’s plain language, CDI argues that “[o]ther 

language in section 790.03(h) confirms that a single act can establish an unfair claims settlement 

violation.”  (CDI Br. 68.)  Significantly, CDI refers to the prohibited conduct as “an unfair claims 

settlement violation,” but the language of section 790.03(h) refers to the prohibitions as “unfair 

claims settlement practices.”  In support of its position, CDI cites subdivisions (h)(7), (h)(13), 

(h)(15), and (h)(16), which reference in the singular tense “a claim,” “an insured,” and “a claimant.”  

(Id.)  But CDI ignores the fact that each of those subdivisions merely describes a particular unfair 

claims settlement practice.  Each such subdivision, like subdivision (h)(15)’s prohibition against 

“[m]isleading a claimant as to the applicable statute of limitations,” is preceded by the clause 

prohibiting “[k]nowingly committing or performing with such frequency as to indicate a general 

business practice any of the following unfair claims settlement practices,” which are then defined.  

(Italics added.) 

Indeed, CDI’s “single act” interpretation of section 790.03(h) parrots Justice Mosk’s dissent 

in Moradi-Shalal – the decision that overruled Royal Globe.  Justice Mosk’s dissent stated, “It also 

bears noting that while some of the clauses of [section 790.03(h)] use the plural—‘claimants’—a 

number deliberately refer in the singular to ‘a claim’ (9), ‘a claimant’ (14), and ‘misleading a 

claimant’ (15).”  (Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 316 (dis. opn. of Mosk, J.).)  However, as 

Justice Mosk expressly acknowledged, his (and CDI’s) interpretation of section 790.03(h) did not 

carry the day:  “But, assert the majority as did the defendants unsuccessfully in Royal Globe, a 

pattern of unfair business practices must be shown, not a single descriptive act.”  (See ibid.)  

c) CDI’s Regulation 2695.1(a) Cannot Be Construed To Base 
A Section 790.03(h) Violation On A Single Act.   

Notwithstanding the California Supreme Court’s decision in Moradi-Shalal and the text of 

section 790.03(h), CDI relies heavily on Regulation 2695.1, subdivision (a) to argue that “[t]he 

Regulations . . . make it clear that a single isolated act knowingly committed can constitute a 

violation of section 790.03, subdivision (h).”  (CDI Br. 68.) 
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Regulation 2695.1, subdivision (a) provides:  “Section 790.03(h) of the California Insurance 

Code enumerates sixteen claims settlement practices that, when either knowingly committed on a 

single occasion, or performed with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice, are 

considered to be unfair claims settlement practices . . . .”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.1, subd. 

(a), italics added.) 

On its face, this is an inherently contradictory regulation.  A practice, which, by definition and 

binding case law, must be “committed with the requisite frequency” (Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 

Cal.3d at pp. 295-296), cannot be committed on a single occasion, unless it has previously been 

established as a practice by habitual or customary action or some other evidence showing that it in 

fact is the licensee’s general business practice.  Because the regulation, unless narrowly interpreted, 

contradicts the plain language of section 790.03(h), it cannot be accorded any deference. 

At a minimum, in light of the language of section 790.03, a single act can support an unfair 

business practice only if it applies an express policy to engage in such a practice.  Otherwise, one 

cannot rationalize the term “single act” with the prohibition against “practices” under the statute.  

Notably, however, CDI has not contended, nor does the record support, the existence of express 

policies by PacifiCare designed to violate the provisions of the Insurance Code at issue.  Accordingly, 

CDI’s reliance on Regulation 2695.1, subdivision (a), to treat a single act as a practice has no 

relevance here.  On the other hand, if CDI interprets this regulation to authorize unfair claims 

settlement practices based on a single act, the regulation is at odds with its enabling statute, and is 

invalid. 

“[N]o regulation . . . is valid or effective unless consistent and not in conflict with the statute” 

under which it was adopted.  (Gov. Code, § 11342.2.)  The courts “do not accord deference to an 

[administrative] interpretation that is clearly erroneous.  If a regulation does not properly implement 

the statute, the regulation must fail.”  (In re Lucas (2012) 53 Cal.4th 839, 849, citations omitted; Saso 
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v. Furtado (1951) 104 Cal.App.2d 759, 769 [“an erroneous administrative construction does not 

govern the interpretation of a statute”].)  

An agency adjudicator has a “duty on occasion to declare that regulations adopted by the 

Department are invalid.”  (Conlan v. Bonta (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 745, 761; see also Woods v. 

Superior Court (1981) 28 Cal.3d 668, 680.)  “[O]n principle, an invalid regulation should be 

vulnerable to attack at the administrative level.”  (Conlan, supra, 102 Cal.App.4th at p. 761.) 

Thus, this tribunal should narrowly construe Regulation 2695.1, subdivision (a) to require a 

practice, and not a mere single act. 

2. “Knowingly Committed.” 

Section 790.03(h) also requires that CDI establish that the insurer “knowingly committ[ed] or 

perform[ed]” the enumerated unfair claims settlement practice “with such frequency as to indicate a 

general business practice.” 

a) Knowingly Modifies Both “Committed” And “Performed.” 

The text of section 790.03 indicates that “knowingly” modifies “committing or performing 

with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.”  In other words, “knowingly” 

modifies both “committing” and “performing.”  As noted earlier, the majority in Moradi-Shalal 

largely adopted Justice Richardson’s dissent in Royal Globe, which stated that “under the clear and 

very express language of subdivision (h), the conduct specified therein does not become unfair or 

unlawful until those acts are repeated with the requisite frequency.”  Justice Richardson explained the 

glaring linguistic flaws in the contrary interpretation that CDI urges here: 

First, it will be noted that no comma separates the words – “committing 
or performing,” suggesting that they are to be read together.  
Furthermore, the majority would split the two present participles 
“committing” and “performing,” applying the modifying “frequency” 
clause to the “performing” but not to the “committing” function.  It 
seems obvious, however, that one could not unknowingly either 
“commit” or “perform” a prohibited act under the statute, thus strongly 
suggesting that the term “knowingly” applies to both “committing” and 
“performing” and that they are to be read together.  Similarly, if they 
are to be read together for purposes of the adverb “knowingly,” in 
consistent fashion they should be read together for purposes of the 
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“frequency” clause. 

(Ibid.; see also id. at p. 895 [“[I]f a single, isolated act is asserted it is not the subject of discipline.”].)  

Thus, as Justice Richardson suggested, if the Legislature had intended the “frequency” 

requirement to apply only to “performing,” and not to “committing,” the Legislature could have used 

commas to separate the terms.  In fact, this is what other statutory schemes have done if the phrases 

surrounding “committing” and “performing” are not intended to be read together.  (See, e.g., Health 

& Saf. Code, § 1367.03, subd. (g)(3) [authorizing administrative penalties “if the director determines 

that a health care service plan has knowingly committed, or has performed with a frequency that 

indicates a general business practice, either of the following . . . . .”], 1368.04, subd. (b) [similar]; see 

also § 10199.7, subd. (d) [similar].)   

Alternatively, the Legislature could have clearly separated “knowing” violations from those 

committed “with a frequency as to indicate a general business practice,” as it has done elsewhere in 

the Insurance Code.  (See §§ 789.3, subd. (e) [“Any insurer who violates this article with a frequency 

as to indicate a general business practice or commits a knowing violation of this article, is liable for 

an administrative penalty of no less than thirty thousand dollars ($30,000) . . . .”], 10123.31, subd. (c) 

[similar], 10140.5, subd. (c) [similar], 10192.165, subd. (b)(4) [similar], 10509.9, subd. (d) [similar], 

10718.5, subd. (d) [similar]; see also § 791.19, subd. (b) [authorizing a “monetary fine of not more 

than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) if the commissioner finds that violations have occurred with 

such frequency as to constitute a general business practice.”], italics added; § 791.19, subd. (c) 

[authorizing a different penalty “if the insurance institution or agent knew or reasonably should have 

known it was in violation of this article”], italics added.)  And “[w]hen the Legislature uses materially 

different language in statutory provisions addressing the same subject or related subjects, the normal 

inference is that the Legislature intended a difference in meaning.”  (People v. Trevino (2001) 26 

Cal.4th 237, 242.) 
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Significantly, in addition to subdivision (h), many of section 790.03’s other subdivisions 

include overlapping verbs that are meant to be read together:  “[m]aking, issuing, circulating” 

(§ 790.03(a)), “[m]aking or disseminating” (§ 790.03(b)), “[m]aking or permitting” (§ 790.03(f)), and 

“[m]aking or disseminating” (§ 790.03(g)).  The insertion of an adverb (“knowingly”) in front of the 

two overlapping verbs in subdivision (h) should logically modify both.21   

If there were any ambiguity, the legislative history confirms this conclusion.  In the original 

bill, subdivision (h) merely prohibited “committing or performing with such frequency as to indicate 

a general business practice.”  In that version, both “committing or performing” referred to the 

“general business practice.”  A subsequent amendment simply added “knowingly” to the beginning 

of the sentence.  (See Assem. Bill No. 459 (1972 Reg. Sess), Request for Official Notice, Tab 003.)  

The most reasonable interpretation of that legislative amendment is that “knowingly” modifies both 

“committing” and “performing.” 

Accordingly, any unfair claims settlement practice must be “knowingly” committed or 

performed with such frequency as to be a general business practice.  There is nothing unusual about 

authorizing statutory penalties only where conduct is performed “knowingly” and “with a frequency 

that indicates a general business practice.”  For instance, Labor Code section 5814.6, subdivision (a) 

provides, “[a]ny employer or insurer that knowingly violates section 5814 with a frequency that 

indicates a general business practice is liable for administrative penalties . . . .” 

Alternatively, at a minimum, the statute must require that either (a) the insurer “knowingly” 

commit an “unfair claims settlement practice,” or (b) the insurer perform the practice “with such 

frequency” that it can be deemed a “general business practice.”  Even under that interpretation, CDI’s 

proof fails (as will be shown in section VII). 

                                                 

 21 (See Webster’s Third New International Dictionary Unabridged (2002) p. 457 [defining 
“commit” as “PERFORM”].) 



 

79 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

b) Knowingly Means “Deliberately” And Cannot Include 
“Implied” Or “Constructive Knowledge.” 

Section 790.03(h) states that the insurer must have “knowingly” committed one of 16 

enumerated “unfair claims settlement practices.”  In order to commit such a practice “knowingly,” 

the insurer must “deliberately” commit a claims-handling practice that falls within one of the 

enumerated and prohibited practices. 

In construing section 790.03(h), the California Supreme Court explained that “knowingly 

committed” means that the litigant must “demonstrate that the insurer acted deliberately.”  (Royal 

Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at p. 891, italics added.)22   

In turn, the Court has defined the term “deliberate” as “characterized by or as resulting from 

unhurried, careful, thorough, and cool calculation and consideration of effects and consequences[.]”  

(Moyer v. Workmen’s Comp. Appeals Bd. (1973) 10 Cal.3d 222, 231.)   

This interpretation is consistent with the plain meaning of “knowing,” which the dictionary 

defines as “having or reflecting knowledge, information, or intelligence . . . COGNITIVE . . . 

DELIBERATE.”  (Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate Dict. (10th ed. 1993) p. 647.)  Merriam-Webster’s 

Collegiate Dictionary defines “deliberate,” as “characterized by or resulting from careful and 

thorough consideration . . . characterized by awareness of the consequences . . . slow, unhurried, and 

steady as though allowing time for decision on each individual action involved[.]”  (Id. at p. 305; see 

also Black’s Law Dict. (9th ed. 2009) p. 950 [defining “knowing” as “Deliberate; conscious”].) 

Under the foregoing authorities, therefore, in order to commit such a practice “knowingly,” 

the insurer must “deliberately” commit a claims-handling practice that falls within one of the 

enumerated and prohibited practices. 

                                                 
22  As noted, Royal Globe has been overruled to the extent it held that a single act can constitute a 
violation of section 790.03(h) and that subdivision (h) creates a private cause of action against 
insurers.  (See Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 Cal.3d at p. 303.)  But the Court’s interpretation of 
“knowingly” as synonymous with “deliberately” in Royal Globe remains valid and has not been 
called into question. 
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c) Regulation 2695.2, Subdivision (l) Is Void to the Extent It 
Does Not Require a “Knowingly Committed” Act To Be a 
Deliberate Act. 

Relying on Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (l), CDI argues that “[t]he legal standard for 

‘knowingly committed’ is ‘performed with actual, implied or constructive knowledge, including but 

not limited to, that which is implied by operation of law.’”  (CDI Br. 68.) 

Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (l) defines “knowingly committed” to mean “performed with 

actual, implied, or constructive knowledge, including, but not limited to, that which is implied by 

operation of law.”  (Italics added.)  This regulation was added in 1992 – 20 years after subdivision 

(h) was added to section 790.03 in 1972.  (Stats. 1972, ch. 725, § 1, p. 1314.) 

This regulation effectively dilutes the requirement of “knowingly” and expands the reach of 

section 790.03(h) dramatically by applying a constructive or implied knowledge standard, instead of 

an actual-knowledge standard.  It is in direct conflict with the California Supreme Court’s ruling in 

Royal Globe that “knowingly” committed means deliberately committed, which entails an awareness 

of the consequences of the action taken.  Such a requirement of awareness of the consequences of an 

action necessarily precludes constructive or implied knowledge.  (See Wang v. Division of Labor 

Stds. Enforcement (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 1152, 1158; People v. Martinez (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 

197, 205 [“knowingly” focuses on “the subjective awareness, or knowledge, of the defendant”], 

italics added.)  As one commentator has observed, this interpretation impermissibly turns the 

“knowingly” requirement of section 790.03(h) into a strict liability standard:  “Given the regulation’s 

training requirements, knowledge of the regulations may be ‘implied by operation of law.’  Thus, any 

violation of the regulations may be a ‘knowing’ violation, essentially a strict liability standard.”  

(DiMungo & Glad, California Insurance Laws Annotated (2009) Commentary to Regulation 2695.1, 

p. 1742.) 

Moreover, because Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (l) departs from the plain and well-

accepted definition of “knowingly,” which requires actual knowledge of the facts surrounding one’s 
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conduct and its consequences, Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (l) can be given no weight.  As noted 

earlier, “where an agency’s interpretation alters or enlarges the terms of a statute, the interpretation 

‘does not govern the interpretation of the statute, even though the statute is subsequently amended 

without change.’”  (Traverso v. People ex rel. Dep’t of Transportation (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1197, 

1206-1207, quoting Whitcomb Hotel, Inc. v. Cal. Emp. Com. (1944) 24 Cal.2d 753, 757-758; 

Masonite Corp. v. Superior Court (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 1045, 1054 [declaring invalid regulation of 

the State Air Resources Board that was inconsistent with the enabling legislation].) 

d) “Knowingly” Must Be Applied To The Practice, Not To 
Earlier Acts Or Omissions. 

Throughout its brief, CDI argues that because PacifiCare purportedly was aware that various 

“systems contributing to the violations were deficient,” PacifiCare should be deemed to have 

knowingly committed the prohibited practice, which resulted from the system deficiency.  (E.g., CDI 

Br. 186, 198 [PacifiCare “knew or should have known that it had not provided its examiners with the 

tools and training necessary to correctly pay interest, making the resulting acts knowing”], 213 

[PacifiCare “[i]s further chargeable with knowledge that the integration activities it was  

undertaking . . . would present an obvious risk of incorrect payment of claims”].) 

But section 790.03(h) requires that the insurer “[k]nowingly commit[]” the prohibited 

practice, not that it knew of the conditions that supposedly created a risk of the subsequent 

commission of a subsequent prohibited practice.   

3. “General Business Practice.” 

Section 790.03 also provides that each of the 16 enumerated unfair claims settlement practices 

must be knowingly committed or performed “with such frequency as to indicate a general business 

practice.”  (Italics added).   

This “frequency” requirement ensures that even a number of acts that are “occasional only 

and [have] not occurred often enough to ripen into a general business practice” do not subject an 
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insurer to penalties.  (Royal Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at p. 895 (conc. & dis. opn. of Richardson, J.), 

original italics.)  

a) “General Business Practice” Must be Distinguished from 
“Practice.” 

Neither section 790.03(h) nor CDI’s regulations expressly define what constitutes a “general 

business practice.”  The phrase therefore must be given its plain and ordinary meaning.  Courts 

appropriately refer to the dictionary to ascertain that ordinary meaning.  (See Wasatch, supra, 35 

Cal.4th at pp. 1121-1122.)   

As noted earlier, Webster’s defines a “practice” as “a repeated or customary action . . . the 

usual way of doing something[.]”  (Italics added.)   

Section 790.03(h) distinguishes between “practice” and “general business practice,” since it 

prohibits a party from “[k]nowingly committing or performing with such frequency as to indicate a 

general business practice any of the following unfair claims settlement practices . . . .”  (§ 790.03(h), 

italics added.)  Accordingly, a “general business practice” must be more frequent, systematic, and 

pervasive than the “claims settlement practices” specified in section 790.03(h).  Otherwise, the 

adjective “general” before the phrase “business practice” and the “frequency” requirement to 

constitute a “general business practice” would be rendered superfluous—an unacceptable result under 

normal rules of statutory construction:  “A construction making some words surplusage is to be 

avoided.”  (Dyna-Med, supra, 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) 

No California court has expressly defined what constitutes a “general business practice” under 

section 790.03(h).  However, one unreported federal case from California has described it as conduct 

that the insurer performs “as a general matter.”  (Lenh v. Canadian Life Assur. Co. (C.D. Cal., May 

13, 2005) 2005 WL 6211334, *9.)  Another such case held that the conduct must be “systematic[],” 

such as by uniformly using a particular computer program to adjust claims.  (See Benton v. Allstate 

Ins. Co. (C.D. Cal., Feb. 26. 2001) 2001 WL 210685, *8.)   
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Courts from other states with analogous claims-handling statutes concur:  A “general business 

practice” requires that the insurer “consistently” and “systematically”23 engage in a “typical . . . 

pattern of conduct”24 as part of a “habit, custom, usage, or business policy,”25 such as by adopting a 

“nationwide program” to handle claims in a particular manner.26  (Italics added.) 

b) The Frequency Of The Acts Must Exceed Specified 
Tolerance Thresholds To Constitute A “Practice” Or A 
“General Business Practice.” 

To show a “general business practice,” CDI must establish that the frequency of acts exceed 

specified tolerance thresholds, and in particular, those set forth in the Market Conduct Handbook of 

the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) and the Undertakings. 

(1) NAIC benchmark. 

Under section 733, subdivision (f), CDI is legally obligated to “observe those guidelines and 

procedures set forth in the Examiner’s Handbook adopted by” the NAIC when conducting an 

examination of an insurer’s claims-handling performance.27  This Market Conduct Handbook of the 

NAIC has strongly encouraged States to utilize a benchmark error rate of at least 7% for establishing 

a general business practice for purposes of a State’s unfair claims practices: 

A benchmark error rate of 7 percent has been established for auditing claim 
practices and 10 percent for other trade practices.  Error rates exceeding these 
benchmarks are presumed to indicate a general business practice contrary to these 
laws.  For uniformity in the application of these laws, and absent state case law 
that may apply an alternative standard, states that have the general business 
standard are strongly encouraged to utilize the 7 percent and 10 percent standards 

                                                 
23  (Snyder v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. (D.S.C. 2008) 586 F.Supp.2d 453, 462; accord 
Oehlmann v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. (M.D. Pa. 2007) 644 F.Supp.2d 521, 531 & fn.14.) 

24  (Gray v. North Carolina Ins. Underwriting Assn. (N.C. App. 1999) 510 S.E.2d 396, 400.) 

25  (Jackson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. (W.Va. 2004) 600 S.E.2d 346, 358 & fn. 4.) 

26  (Hipsky v. Allstate Ins. Co. (D. Conn. 2004) 304 F.Supp.2d 284, 290, fn. 10.) 

27  Since section 733, subdivision (f) was enacted, the NAIC publication at issue has been re-titled, 
“Market Conduct Handbook.” 
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. . . as benchmarks for evaluating when violations of the state’s unfair claim and 
trade practice acts have occurred.  (Market Regulation Handbook, Vol. I, Ch. 14.) 

(2) The Undertakings. 

Similarly, the Undertakings negotiated with CDI in connection with its approval of 

PacifiCare’s merger preclude any argument that an error rate of 8% or less could constitute a 

prohibited “unfair claims settlement practice” with respect to processing claims within 30 working 

days.  Undertaking No. 19 expressly imposes a 92% performance standard for PacifiCare’s 

processing of claims within 30 calendar days.  (Exh. 5191, p. 15; Tr. 8755:2-9756:12 [Monk]; P.P.F. 

13.)   

CDI insisted on the Undertakings as a condition for approving UnitedHealth Group’s 

acquisition of PacifiCare in 2005, and immediately after receiving the final signed Undertakings, 

approved the acquisition and issued an order and related press release stating that the Undertakings 

would “ensure the overall protection of consumers following the merger.”  (Tr. 8742:24-8743:5 

[Monk]; exhs. 5282, 5283; P.P.F. 10)   

Obviously, CDI would not have agreed to a 92% performance rate—and then trumpeted it as 

adequately protecting the public—if it believed a noncompliance rate of less than 8% would 

constitute an unlawful “unfair claims settlement practice.”28  Put otherwise, it would be absurd for 

CDI to argue that compliance with the performance rate that it set would constitute an unfair claims 

settlement practice. 

(3) The Frequency Required For A General Business 
Practice Cannot Be As “Small As One.” 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, CDI argues that for purposes of a “general business practice,” 

“[f]requency, as a threshold number, will vary according to the circumstances and can be as small as 

                                                 
28  Similarly, in a different proceeding, CDI agreed to a multi-state settlement with certain 
UnitedHealth entities that contained a 94% tolerance standard for calendar year 2008.  (Id., exh. 
5292, p. 7347-7350.) 
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one when the circumstances support an inference of practice from the single act.”  (CDI Br. 69, italics 

added.)  However, CDI’s only authority for its untenable construction of section 790.03(h) is its own 

regulation (2695.1, subd. (a)) and the testimony of Mr. Cignarale (Tr. 22850:10-13).  There is no 

support for CDI’s reading. 

First, Regulation 2695.1, subdivision (a) suggests that a single act can be a violation under 

section 790.03(h) only if “knowingly” committed.  It does not purport to define a “general business 

practice,” or suggest that a “general business practice” can be performed as a single act. 

Second, the cited testimony of Mr. Cignarale does not support CDI’s contention.  

Mr. Cignarale testified:  “Well, there are two standards.  One, I concluded that the acts were 

committed knowingly and therefore, even if they occurred only in one instance, it would constitute a 

general business practice.”  (Tr. 22850:10-13.)  This makes no sense:  A single, knowingly 

committed act cannot logically constitute a general business practice.  But Mr. Cignarale later 

clarified that where the acts are not committed “knowingly,” there must be a “frequency as to indicate 

a general business practice component.”  He gave the example of 1,333 acts as being sufficient to 

indicate a general business practice under his reading of the statute.  (Id. at 22850:14-20.)   

Moreover, Mr. Cignarale admitted that “there’s no regulation implemented by the Department 

that defines how often something has to occur so as to indicate a general business practice.”  (Tr. 

22876:10-14.)  Thus, CDI has given no fair notice of any interpretation (as illogical as it would be) 

that a single act can rise to the level of a “general business practice.”  Only the NAIC’s Market 

Conduct Handbook and the Undertakings provide fair notice of what might constitute a general 

business practice. 

C. The Specific Prohibited Practices Under Section 790.03(h). 

1. Section 790.03(h)(1). 

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits “[m]isrepresenting to claimants pertinent facts or insurance 

policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”   
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By definition, a “misrepresentation” requires an assertion—some affirmative misstatement; it 

cannot just be an omission of a material fact.  (See 1 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (2005) Contracts, 

§ 287 [“There can be no misrepresentation unless there is a representation . . .”], original italics; 

Rest.2d Torts (1977), § 525, com. b [defining misrepresentation as an “assertion not in accordance 

with the truth”], italics added; Bryum v. Brand (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 926, 941 [California law 

“require[s] positive assertions . . .  and we see no reason to depart from these statutory requirements 

that something more than an omission is required to give rise to recovery on that theory, even against 

a fiduciary,” italics added].) 

CDI nevertheless alleges that “an omission of a material fact by a person under duty to 

disclose it is equally as fraudulent as an affirmative misstatement” and that subdivision (h)(1) 

“imposes a duty on insurers to truthfully disclose to claimants pertinent facts or policy provisions 

relating to the coverage at issue.”  (CDI Br. 70.)   

But the plain language of the statute does not refer to omissions, but to misrepresentations.  

This is a deliberate choice:  When the California Legislature intends to impose an affirmative duty to 

disclose information under section 790.03, it has expressly done so.  Thus, section 790.03(h)(9) 

prohibits the practice of “[f]ailing, after payment of a claim, to inform insureds or beneficiaries, upon 

request by them, of the coverage under which payment has been made.”  Likewise, section 

790.03(h)(13) prohibits the practice of “[f]ailing to provide promptly a reasonable explanation of the 

basis relied on in the insurance policy . . . for the denial of a claim or for the offer of a compromise 

settlement.” 

Moreover, in other sections of the Insurance Code, the Legislature has expressly specified 

both misrepresentations and omissions where the relevant standard includes both.  (See § 10384.17, 

subd. (c) [limiting ability of health insurer to rescind policy “due to any omissions, misrepresentation, 

or inaccuracies in the application form”], italics added; § 11629.74, subd. (b) [requiring applicant for 

automobile insurance to certify that representations in application for the policy are “true, correct, 
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and contain no material misrepresentations or omissions of fact to the best knowledge and belief of 

the applicant”], italics added.)29 

This strongly suggests that the Legislature did not intend the term “misrepresentation” under 

section 790.03(h)(1) to also impose an affirmative disclosure obligation.  (See Brown v. Mortensen, 

supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 1067 [“While in construing statutes we will always prefer interpretations that 

harmonize them with other legislation.”].) 

CDI’s “authority” in support of its contrary position is meritless and misleading.  (CDI Br. 

70.)  It cites Chiarella v. United States (1980) 445 U.S. 222, for the proposition that an omission of a 

material fact is “as fraudulent as an affirmative misstatement.”  (CDI Br. 70.)  But Chiarella involved 

a federal law which has no bearing on the construction of section 790.03(h)(1).  It involved section 

10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, which has been interpreted to impose an affirmative duty to 

disclose in certain circumstances.  (Chiarella v. United States, supra, 445 U.S. at p. 230.)   

CDI also cites Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v) to support its contention that “the 

Regulations confirm the inclusive nature of ‘misrepresentation’ by making clear that . . . a single act 

may be ‘any commission or omission.’”  (CDI Br. 70.)  But Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v) does 

not purport to define “misrepresentation” under section 790.03(h).  Instead, it defines “single act” 

under section 790.035:  “‘Single act’ for the purpose of determining any penalty pursuant to 

California Insurance Code Section 790.035.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (v).) 

CDI also cites Regulations 2695.4, subdivision (a) and 2695.7, subdivision (b)(3) as 

regulations that “further interpret subdivision (h)(1).”  (CDI Br. 70.)  But Regulation 2695.4, 

                                                 

 29 (See also Bus. & Prof. Code, § 7112 [grounds for disciplinary action based on an “[o]mission 
or misrepresentation of a material fact by an applicant” for contractor’s license); Civ. Proc. Code, 
§ 1281.91), subd. (c) (right to disqualify arbitrator waived unless nominee “makes a material 
omission or misrepresentation in his or her disclosure”]; Fin. Code, § 5803, subd. (b) 
[commissioner’s ability to revoke application upon a finding that approval was “based on false 
statements, misrepresentations, or omission of material facts”]; Penal Code, § 532f, subd. (a)(1) 
[defining “mortgage fraud” as making “any misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission . . .”], 
italics added.) 
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subdivision (a) expressly imposes an affirmative obligation to disclose “all benefits, coverage, time 

limits or other provisions of any insurance policy issued by that insurer that may apply to the claim 

presented by the claimant.”  It does not purport to define “misrepresentation.”  Significantly, 

Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (b) provides that “[n]o insurer shall misrepresent or conceal benefits  

. . . which may apply to the claim presented under a surety bond.”  Thus, the regulation distinguishes 

“misrepresentation” from concealment.  (Please also note that this regulation only relates to claims 

presented “under a surety bond” and thus does not extend the prohibitions against misrepresentation 

to concealment here.)  Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (b)(3) imposes a duty to notify claimants of the 

right to CDI review where a claim has been denied or rejected, but it also does not define 

misrepresentation.  Thus, all of CDI’s cited regulations are inapposite because they do not purport to 

define the term “misrepresentation” in section 790.03(h)(1). 

In conclusion, CDI’s attempt to incorporate an “omission” standard into the term 

“misrepresentation” in section 790.03(h)(1) is contrary to law because (1) it contradicts the plain 

meaning of misrepresentation, (2) it contrasts with other Insurance Code provisions, which separately 

specify omissions when they are intended to be covered, and (3) it finds no support in the case law or 

regulations.  

2. Section 790.03(h)(2). 

Section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits “[f]ailing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon 

communications with respect to claims arising under insurance policies.”   

The plain language of section 790.03(h)(2) addresses the insurer’s duty to acknowledge and 

act upon “communications with respect to claims.”  Thus, it does not require an acknowledgement of 

a claim, but rather an acknowledgement of a “communication with respect to claims.”  These are two 

completely different concepts.  As PacifiCare’s regulatory expert Sue Stead testified, section 

790.03(h)(2) applies after a claim has been received, and the insurer receives some inquiry about the 

claim itself:  Whereas section 10133.66, subdivision (a) provides for the acknowledgement of receipt 
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of the claim itself, section 790.03(h)(2) is meant to prevent insurance companies from “ignor[ing] 

communications from insureds, from claimants” since the law “wanted them to respond to those 

kinds of communications.”  (Tr. 25310:9-22 [Stead].)  Here, to ignore the phrase “communications 

with respect to claims” and treat the statute as acknowledging and acting upon claims would violate 

the maxim of statutory construction that “‘[c]ourts should give meaning to every word of a statute if 

possible, and should avoid a construction making any word surplusage.’”  (Cooley v. Superior Court 

(2002) 29 Cal.4th 228, 249.)  

Further, nothing in subdivision (h)(2) mandates that the “acknowledge[ment]” be in any 

particular form, such as in the form of a letter.   

Finally, it does not require an affirmative effort to contact members or providers, absent a 

communication from the member or provider prompting the insurer to do so.  (See McLaughlin v. 

National Union Fire Ins. Co. (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 1132, 1159 [interpreting section 790.03(h)(2) as 

imposing a duty on the insurer to “respond promptly to communications about claims,” and finding 

no violation of the section where, inter alia, there was no evidence that plaintiffs or their 

representatives had reached out to the insurer about their claims and that the insurer had failed to 

respond].) 

CDI argues that “[s]tandards for ‘reasonably prompt’ payment of an uncontested claim are set 

forth in section 10123.13 as no later than 30 working days after receipt of the claim.”  (CDI Br. 72.)  

But section 10123.13, subdivision (a), and section 10123.147 (also cited by CDI) address an insurer’s 

obligation to reimburse claims within 30 working days after receipt of the claim, and do not address 

any deadlines for acknowledging and acting upon communications with respect to those claims.  

Moreover, as shown at pages __, CDI may not incorporate the restrictions in other Insurance Code 

statutes into section 790.03, which would effectively authorize penalties for conduct governed by 

non-penal statutes.  Significantly, the specific statutes or regulations cited by CDI do not purport to 

define “reasonably promptly” under section 790.03(h), or even contain that phrase.  Thus, it is not 
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appropriate for CDI to try to incorporate into section 790.03(h)(2) time limits specified in other 

sections of the Insurance Code.  (Wells Fargo Bank v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1082, 1086-

1097 [courts should interpret statutes as written and should not add language].) 

CDI argues that “the standard for ‘reasonably prompt’ acknowledgement of a claim are [sic] 

defined by section 10133.66, namely 15 working days from the date of receipt of the claim.”  (CDI 

Br. 71.)  But section 10133.66, subdivision (c), says nothing about the deadline for responding to 

“communications with respect to claims.”  Instead, it refers to acknowledgements of “receipt of each 

claim,” which is not a “communication with respect to claims.”   

Finally, CDI also cites Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e), which states that upon receiving 

notice of a claim, insurers must within 15 calendar days “acknowledge receipt of such notice to the 

claimant unless payment is made within that period of time” and provide “to the claimant” necessary 

forms and instructions (specifying the information the claimant must provide for proof of claim).  

(CDI Br. 71.)  But this regulation addresses the obligation to act upon a claim—not the obligation to 

acknowledge and act upon communications with respect to that claim.  Moreover, this regulation is 

applicable to members, not providers:  Although CDI’s claim regarding the failure to send 

acknowledgement letters primarily concerns providers, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) concerns 

acknowledging receipt of a notice “to the claimant,” which is defined as “a first or third party 

claimant” (Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (c)), and not providers.30  (See exh. 1197.) 

                                                 

 30 Oddly, CDI does not cite to Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) – a more relevant regulation – 
which specifically addresses the timing of a response to “any communication from a claimant, 
regarding a claim.”  It provides that “every licensee shall immediately, but in no event more than 
fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of that communication, furnish the claimant with a complete 
response . . . .”  But that clearly does not address acknowledgements of receipt of claims, given the 
language in Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e), which distinguishes acknowledgement of receipt 
from acknowledgement of communications. 
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3. Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits “[f]ailing to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the 

prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under insurance policies.”   

Thus, section 790.03(h)(3) imposes an obligation to adopt and implement reasonable 

investigation and processing standards.  By the statute’s plain language, if the insurer has adopted 

and implemented such standards, then there can be no violation of section 790.03(h)(3), even if CDI 

can point to specific claims that were not promptly investigated and processed.   

Although section 790.03(h)(3) imposes no specific time limits for “prompt[ness],” CDI again 

looks to other sections of the Insurance Code to try to define the term “reasonable standards” for 

prompt investigation and processing.  (CDI Br. 72.)  CDI argues that “section 10123.13 defines a 

reasonable standard for reimbursement of a claim as no later than 30 working days from receipt of the 

claim.”  (Ibid.)  But this statute does not reference section 790.03(h)(3) or purport to define a 

“reasonable standard” for the prompt investigation and processing of a claim.  Instead, it merely 

provides that the insurer “shall reimburse claims . . . no later than 30 working days after receipt of the 

claim . . . unless the claim or portion thereof is . . . contested or denied,” subject to the payment of 

interest for every calendar day after the 30-working-day period.  (§ 10123.13, subds. (a) & (b).)  

Accordingly, section 10123.13, subdivision (a), does not provide that the failure to pay within 30 

days is unreasonable.  Instead, it triggers an interest payment of 10% per annum if payment is not 

made within 30 working days.  (§ 10123.13, subd. (b).)  In short, the Legislature anticipated that 

some claims would not be paid within 30 working days.  Standards which permit some claims to be 

paid in more than 30 working days, but with interest, are not unreasonable, a concept that is 

consistent with tolerance thresholds in the NAIC Manual and Undertakings, and the 10% interest 

payment where claims are not paid within 30 working days.  What CDI is attempting to impose here 

is a standard of perfection.    
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CDI also argues that section 10123.147 “reinforces that 30 working days is a reasonable 

standard for reimbursement of a claim as well as a reasonable standard for notification to both the 

insured and provider that a claim is contested or denied.”  (CDI Br. 72-73.)  But section 10123.147, 

subdivision (b), provides for reimbursement no later than 30 working days, subject to a payment of 

$15 per year or 10% interest per annum, whichever is greater, for claims paid after 30 working days.  

Accordingly, that statute does not purport to limit what constitutes a reasonable period for processing 

a claim under section 790.03(h)(3), particularly since it acknowledges that claims may be paid later 

as long as paid with interest. 

CDI also discusses other statutes that, according to CDI, “flesh[] out” and “amplify” what are 

“reasonable standards” under section 790.03.  (CDI Br. 73.)  But these other statutory obligations 

have nothing to do with section 790.03(h)(3).  For example, CDI references section 10123.137, 

subdivision (a), which provides that “[e]ach contract between a health insurer and a provider shall 

contain provisions requiring a fast, fair, and cost-effective dispute resolution mechanism” and 

provides that each provider dispute shall be resolved within 45 working days.  (§ 10123.137, subds. 

(a) & (c).)  But the mere failure to resolve every dispute within 45 working days does not mean that 

reasonable standards for investigating and processing claims have not been adopted and 

implemented.   

CDI also cites section 10169, which provides for notice of IMR rights in information 

brochures and other communications.  But the failure to give notice of IMR rights in any particular 

written communication does not mean that reasonable standards for investigating and processing 

claims have not been adopted and implemented. 

Citing Regulations 2695.3, subdivision (a), 2695.5, subdivision (b), and 2695.7, subdivision 

(d), CDI argues that “[t]he Regulations also interpret the provisions of section 790.03(h).”  (CDI Br. 

73.)  However, once again, these particular regulations do not interpret “reasonable standards for the 

prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  (§ 790.03(h)(3).)  Regulation 2695.3, subdivision (a) 
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expressly addresses maintenance of claims files “[t]o assist in such examination [by the 

Commissioner].”  It provides that a licensee’s claim files “shall contain all documents, notes and 

work papers (including copies of all correspondence) which reasonably pertain to each claim in such 

detail that pertinent events and the dates of the events can be reconstructed.”  CDI contends that “[i]t 

stands to reason that if the insurer cannot produce records showing how it reached its determination 

about a claim, that it has failed to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the investigation and 

processing of claims.”  (CDI Br. 74.)  But the failure to maintain some documents after claims 

investigation and processing cannot, in and of itself, mean that there are insufficient records to show 

how the claim was determined or that there has been a failure to adopt or implement reasonable 

standards.  Again, CDI seeks a bright-line test when section 790.03 speaks in terms of “reasonable” 

standards for investigating and processing claims. 

CDI next argues that “Regulation 2695.5 sets forth a reasonable standard of 15 calendar days 

from receipt of a communication as to what constitutes a reasonable time to respond to a claimant 

regarding a communication about a claim.”  (CDI Br. 74.)  But the failure to respond to a claimant’s 

communications within 15 days does not necessarily mean that there is a failure to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for investigating and processing claims.  CDI has the burden of 

showing how PacifiCare’s standards were unreasonable. 

CDI cites Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d), which provides that “[e]very insurer shall 

conduct and diligently pursue a thorough, fair and objective investigation and shall not persist in 

seeking information not reasonably required for or material to the resolution of a claim dispute.”  

(CDI Br. 74.)  While the regulation is relevant to what constitutes a reasonable standard, it does not 

aid the construction of section 790.03(h)(2) because it does not purport to define what is a 

“reasonable standard[] for the prompt investigation and processing of claims.”   

Finally, CDI cites Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (a), which provides for the disclosure of 

benefits and coverage regarding a claimant’s claim and which provides that the insurer shall 
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immediately communicate the fact of “additional benefits [which] might reasonably be payable under 

an insured’s policy upon receipt of additional proofs of claim.”  (CDI Br. 74-75.)  But this regulation 

can only play a minor role in determining whether the insurer has adopted and implemented 

reasonable standards for promptly investigating and processing a claim. 

4. Section 790.03(h)(4). 

Section 790.03(h)(4) prohibits “[f]ailing to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a 

reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been completed and submitted by the insured.”  

Thus, this unfair claims settlement practice is limited to knowingly committing or performing with 

sufficient frequency to constitute a general business practice of failing “to affirm or deny coverage of 

claims within a reasonable time.” 

As CDI acknowledges, Regulation 2695.7 – which is entitled, “[s]tandards for [p]rompt, [f]air 

and [e]quitable settlements – is the applicable regulation.  (CDI Br. 75.)  However, Regulation 

2695.5.7, subdivision (c)(1) provides that “[i]f more time is required than is allotted in subsection 

2695.7(b) [which refers to the time to affirm or deny a claim]. . . . to determine whether a claim 

should be accepted and/or denied . . . , every insurer shall provide the claimant, within the time frame 

specified in subsection 2695.7(b), with written notice of the need for additional time.”  It also 

provides that such “written notice shall be provided every thirty (30) calendar days until a 

determination is made or notice of legal action is served.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.7, subd. 

(c)(1).)  If anything, Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (c)(1) contemplates the right to take additional 

time to accept or deny a claim. 

CDI contends that the standard of what is a “reasonable time” to affirm or deny coverage 

under section 790.03(h)(4) is established under section 10123.13, subdivision (a) as being “30 

working days.”  (CDI Br. 75.)  But, as noted earlier, section 10123.13 provides for reimbursement of 

uncontested claims within 30 working days, subject to the payment of interest if not reimbursed 

within the 30-working-day period.  (§ 10123.13, subds. (a) & (b).)  Thus, section 10123.13, 
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subdivision (b) itself recognizes the right to pay after 30 days as long as interest is paid.  

Accordingly, its rigid 30-day period for reimbursing uncontested claims without the payment of 

interest does not mean that permitting the affirmance or denial of coverage in more than 30 days is 

unreasonable.   Further, section 10123.13, subdivision (a), is not part of the article in the Insurance 

Code addressing unfair practices such that its violation can subject an insurer to a penalty.  (See Ins. 

Code, art. 6.5, § 790 et seq.).   

Accordingly, CDI cannot possibly contend that section 790.03(h)(4) should be construed to 

limit the time period to 30 working days. 

5. Section 790.03(h)(5). 

Section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits “[n]ot attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and 

equitable settlements of claims in which liability has become reasonably clear.”  For a practice to 

come within this prohibition, there must be:  (1) a failure to “attempt[]” (2) “in good faith” (3) “to 

effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims” (4) in those cases where “liability has 

become reasonably clear.”  This is partly a subjective standard since it is based on good faith 

attempts.  It must, by definition, involve individualized determinations. 

CDI stretches this prohibition beyond recognition. 

First, it argues that “good faith” is a belief that “is both subjectively real and objectively 

reasonable.”  (CDI Br. 76.)  But section 790.03(h)(5) does not define “good faith,” and some of 

CDI’s own authorities hold that the concept of “good faith” is subjective only.  For instance, in 

Careau & Co. v. Sec. Pac. Bus. Credit, Inc. (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 1371, the court addressed the tort 

of bad faith denial of contract, and held that the element of “bad faith” is “a subjective issue relating 

to the defendant’s state of mind.”  (Id. at p. 1402, original italics.)  Other authorities state the 

opposite:  “[T]he proper standard to be applied to the question of whether there was a ‘good faith 

dispute’ is, in our view, objective, not subjective.”  (FEI Enterprises, Inc. v. Kee Man Yoon (2011) 

194 Cal.App.4th 790, 806.)  Accordingly, there is no basis for CDI to require both objective and 
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subjective good faith.  Further, it is clear that “good faith” is ultimately “[a] state of mind.”  (Black’s 

Law Dict. (Ninth ed. 2009) p. 762.)  CDI has the burden of proving that PacifiCare lacked that state 

of mind in order to prove a violation of section 790.03(h)(5). 

Second, CDI again alleges that “[v]arious statutes provide detail as to what constitutes 

‘prompt’ settlement of claims for health insurance,” citing sections 10123.13 and 10123.147 for the 

“standard of 30 working days . . . for ‘prompt’ reimbursement of a claim.”  (CDI Br. 76-77.)  Once 

again, statutes outside article 6.5, which defines unfair practices, cannot be invoked to construe 

section 790.03 and thereby attach penalties for violations of non-penal statutes.   

CDI also invokes the 15 working days under section 10133.66, subdivision (c) for 

acknowledging the receipt of a claim.  (Id. at 77.)  But whether PacifiCare has acknowledged receipt 

of a claim within 15 days is irrelevant to whether there was a good faith attempt to effectuate the 

prompt, fair, and equitable settlement of claims. 

CDI alleges that “section 10123.13 imposes a standard on insurers to provide notice to the 

claimant” of the reasons that a claim is denied or contested (id. at 77), but the sufficiency of any such 

notice does not mean that the insurer has failed to attempt in good faith to settle a claim “in which 

liability has become reasonably clear” under section 790.03(h)(5).  Indeed, a contested claim will 

normally not even fall within section 790.03(h)(5), which addresses only settlements of claims, “in 

which liability has become reasonably clear.” 

CDI also suggests that the restrictions on the exclusionary periods for pre-existing conditions 

“contain a ‘fairness’ standard.”  (Ibid., citing §§ 10708, 10198.7, subd. (a)).  But whether any 

particular exclusion of coverage for pre-existing conditions constitutes a failure to make a good faith 

effort to effectuate a fair and prompt settlement will depend upon the circumstances. 

CDI argues that “[i]n promoting fairness and equity, section 10133.66 prohibits an insurer 

from requesting reimbursement from providers for overpayment of a claim after 365 days from the 

date of payment of the overpaid claim.”  (Id. at p. 78.)  But an untimely demand for reimbursement of 
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an overpayment made on a claim hardly qualifies as a failure to attempt in good faith to fairly settle a 

claim. 

Turning to the regulations, CDI claims that “[t]he Regulations further interpret section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(5) as to what constitutes ‘good faith, prompt, efficient and equitable settlement of 

claims.’”  (Ibid.)  CDI cites Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (a), which provides that “[e]very insurer 

shall disclose to a first party claimant . . . all benefits, coverage, time limits or other provisions of any 

insurance policy issued by that insurer that may apply to the claim . . . .”  However, any particular 

failure to make such a disclosure does not mean that the insurer has failed to attempt in good faith to 

fairly and promptly settle a claim.  Further, Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (a) does not use the 

phrase “fair and equitable.”  Nor do any of the other regulations regarding unfair claims settlement 

practices. 

CDI also suggests that “the Regulations interpret ‘prompt’ to mean that insurers must respond 

to a claimant within 15 calendar days” (Regulation 2695.5, subd. (b)) and “set the standard of 21 

calendar days for insurers to respond to the Department concerning an inquiry about a claim.”  (CDI 

Br. 77, citing Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 § 2695.5, subd. (a).)  But again, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision 

(b)’s obligation to respond to a “communication from a claimant” within 15 calendar days, and 

Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a)’s obligation to respond to an inquiry from CDI within 21 calendar 

days are not directly relevant to section 790.03(h)(5), which is focused upon the failure to make a 

good faith attempt to settle claims promptly and fairly. 

Finally, CDI suggests that “[t]o ensure accomplishing the objectives of section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(5), the Regulations set standards that every insurer provide thorough and adequate 

training regarding the Regulations to all of its claims agents . . . .”  (CDI Br. 78.)  But the failure to 

provide training in a particular instance to a particular group does not mean that an insurer has failed 

to attempt in good faith to fairly settle claims in which liability has become reasonably clear.  (See 

§ 790.03(h)(5).) 
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In sum, even if it were appropriate to construe the language in section 790.03(h)(5) by 

inserting additional, more stringent language – which the Legislature did not use in section 

790.03(h) – PacifiCare’s alleged failure to comply with these other statutes or regulations (such as the 

reimbursement of uncontested claims within 30 working days), says little about whether PacifiCare 

failed to “attempt[]” in “good faith” to settle claims in those cases where liability had “become 

reasonably clear.”   

6. Section 790.035 Sets Statutory Restrictions On The Amount Of 
Any Penalty. 

a) The Text Of Section 790.035. 

In addition to the due process constraints specified above, section 790.035, subdivision (a) 

sets a statutory maximum for penalties under section 790.03: 

Any person who engages in any unfair method of competition or any unfair or 
deceptive act or practice defined in Section 790.03 is liable to the state for a 
civil penalty to be fixed by the commissioner, not to exceed five thousand 
dollars ($5,000) for each act, or, if the act or practice was willful, a civil penalty 
not to exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each act.  The commissioner 
shall have the discretion to establish what constitutes an act.  However, when 
the issuance, amendment, or servicing of a policy or endorsement is inadvertent, 
all of those acts shall be a single act for the purpose of this section. 

Accordingly, Section 790.035 provides three parameters for penalties:  (1) Penalties must not 

exceed $5,000, unless the unfair or deceptive act or practice was willful, in which case, the penalty 

may not exceed $10,000 for each act; (2) If a person engages in an unfair or deceptive act or practice 

under section 790.03, the Commissioner may impose a penalty “for each act” and has discretion to 

establish what constitutes an act (within constitutional constraints); and (3) If the “servicing of a 

policy” is inadvertent, all such acts constituting the unfair or deceptive practice shall constitute “a 

single act” for purposes of assessing the penalty.31 

                                                 

 31 CDI observes that the bill enacting section 790.035 was an urgency measure and that it was 
enacted in response to Moradi-Shalal’s abrogation of a private right to action under section 790.03.   
(CDI Br. 82-83.)  This is irrelevant to the interpretation of the statutory language.  Because the 
abrogation of the private right of action meant that violations of section 790.03 would go 
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b) The Higher Penalty Permitted For Willful Acts Requires 
Actual Knowledge And Specific Intent. 

Section 790.035, subdivision (a), provides for a penalty not to exceed $5,000 for each act, 

unless “the act or practice was willful,” in which case the penalty may not exceed $10,000 per act.  

CDI argues that “willful” should be defined as merely “a purpose or willingness to commit 

the act, or make the commission referred to in the California Insurance Code.”  (CDI Br. 87, quoting 

Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (y).) 

However, the structure and language of the statutory scheme, its legislative history, analogous 

Insurance Code provisions, and judicial decisions collectively demonstrate that the term “willful,” as 

used in the statute, requires that the insurer have actual knowledge that its conduct violated the law – 

that is, that its conduct constituted an unfair practice defined in section 790.03(h) – and that it 

harbored a specific intent to commit the violation.  CDI’s contrary interpretation would make every 

unfair practice “willful” and eliminate the two-tiered penalty system established in the statute. 

(1) Section 790.035(a)’s two-tier penalty structure and 
statutory language demonstrate that “willful” 
requires actual knowledge and specific intent. 

The Legislature did not define “willful” for purposes of section 790.035, subdivision (a).  

Accordingly, in order to determine the Legislature’s intended meaning, “a court must look first to the 

words of the statute themselves, giving to the language its usual, ordinary import and according 

significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose.”  

(Dyna-Med, supra, 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-1387.) 

In this case, the statute’s two-tiered penalty structure shows that “willful” must require more 

than a mere willingness or purpose to commit the conduct that happens to be unlawful.  Section 

790.035 provides a $5,000 penalty for each act, but an enhancement where the act or practice is 

                                                                                                                                                             

unremedied until there was a separate violation of a cease-and-desist order, the bill merely 
authorized an enforcement mechanism for violations.  The enactment of section 790.035 does not 
suggest that CDI is free to arbitrarily “rack up” penalties where there is limited harm. 
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“willful.”  For there to be any meaningful distinction between the two tiers of penalties, “willful” 

must require more than the commission of an unfair claims settlement practice that is knowingly 

committed or performed with sufficient frequency to constitute a general business practice.  Even 

under CDI’s interpretation of section 790.03(h), every unfair claims settlement practice will be 

conducted either knowingly or with sufficient frequency to constitute a general business practice.  

Thus, willful must require something more than a willingness to commit the prohibited conduct.  

Otherwise, every knowingly committed practice or repeatedly performed practice would be willful.  

The standard penalty – $5,000 – would become the exception. 

In Kwan v. Mercedes-Benz of North America (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 174, 184 (Kwan), the 

Court of Appeal held that the Legislature’s adoption of a similar two-tiered civil penalty scheme in 

the Song-Beverly Act requires that “willful” be interpreted as requiring a specific intent, as opposed 

to merely intentional, volitional conduct.  Like section 790.035, subdivision (a), the Song-Beverly 

Act authorizes a civil penalty of up to twice the actual damages if “the failure to comply was 

willful[.]”  (Civ. Code, § 1794, subd. (c).)  The Court of Appeal ruled that the trial court’s jury 

instruction defining “willful” as “simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act or to make the 

omission in question” was inappropriate for the Act’s two-tiered civil penalty scheme because it 

eliminated any distinction between the two tiers by reducing “willful” to a synonym of “volition[al].”  

(Kwan, supra, 23 Cal.App.4th at pp. 180-181, 183-85.)  As the court explained, an interpretation 

requiring specific intent “preserves the . . . distinction between willful and nonwillful violations” 

because “a simple equation of willfulness with volition” would “render ‘willful’ virtually all” alleged 

violations.  (Id. at p. 185.)  Kwan therefore found that the trial court’s definition of “willful” “resulted 

in a miscarriage of justice requiring reversal of the civil penalty award.”  (Id. at p. 187.)  

Likewise, here, a statute that distinguishes between willful and non-willful conduct cannot 

define “willful” as the mere willingness or purpose to commit the act (as CDI suggests), or it would 

render virtually all alleged violations “willful.” 
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In interpreting the statutory language, “[t]he words of the statute must be construed in context, 

keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject 

must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible.”  (Dyna-Med, supra, 

43 Cal.3d at p. 1387.)  Indeed, “[i]t is the duty of this court to harmonize statutes on the same subject 

[citations], giving effect to all parts of all statutes if possible [citation].”  (Droeger v. Friedman, 

Sloan & Ross (1991) 54 Cal.3d 26, 52.)  Here, section 790.035, subdivision (a), must be read in 

harmony with section 790.03, since section 790.03 defines the unfair or deceptive acts or practices 

upon which the penalties specified in section 790.035, subdivision (a), must rest.  But an 

interpretation of “willful” which requires nothing more than willingly committing the act that 

happens to be a prohibited practice would mean that all, or virtually all, of the unfair claims 

settlement practices would be willful because each of the unfair practices requires the willingness to 

perform the acts at issue. 

(2) The legislative history of section 790.035 leaves no 
doubt that “willful” requires specific intent and 
actual knowledge. 

“To the extent that uncertainty remains in interpreting statutory language, . . . both legislative 

history and the ‘wider historical circumstances’ of the enactment may be considered. [Citation.]”  

(People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782-783.) 

In this case, the legislative history of section 790.035 confirms that “willful” was intended to 

mean conduct performed with the actual knowledge that it violated the law, and with the specific 

intent to commit a violation. 

The legislative history shows that the penalty structure under section 790.035 was intended to 

be consistent with the penalty structure for violations of the McBride-Grunsky Act.  (See The Core 

Legis. History of Cal. Stats. of 1989, ch. 725, Sen. Bill No. 1363 [Request for Official Notice, Tab 

002].)  Both section 790.035, subdivision (a), and section 1858.07 – the penalty provision in the 

McBride-Grunsky Act – were enacted at the same time, are the mirror image of each other, and were 
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deemed companion statutes.  (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analysis on Sen. Bill No. 1363 

(1989), p. 5. [Request for Official Notice, Tab 002, pp. 37, 80]; see also Stats. 1989, ch. 726, § 1.)  

The Legislature expressly considered Senate Bill No. 1363 (which became section 790.035) to be a 

“companion bill to SB 1364 which deals with McBride-Grunsky rate violations” (which added 

section 1858.07, the statute delineating the penalties available for violations of Proposition 103’s 

premium rate rules).  (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analysis on Sen. Bill No. 1363 (1989), p. 

5; Request for Official Notice, Tab 002,  pp. 37, 80]; see also Stats. 1989, ch. 726, § 1.)  In several 

places of the legislative history, that history notes that one of the “advantages” of section 790.035, 

subdivision (a), was that it would “address” the “inconsisten[cy]” between the then-existing law and 

the “Proposition 103 regulatory structure,” which included section 1858.07.  (Sen. Rules Com., Off. 

of Sen. Floor Analysis, 3d reading analysis on Sen. Bill No. 1363 (1989), p. 3, Request for Official 

Notice, Tab 002, pp. 44, 80].)   

Exactly like section 790.035, section 1858.07, subdivision (a) authorizes “a civil penalty not 

to exceed five thousand dollars ($5,000) for each act, or, if the act or practice was willful, a civil 

penalty not to exceed ten thousand dollars ($10,000) for each act.”  Section 1858.07, subdivision (a), 

just like section 790.035, also states that “when the issuance, amendment, or servicing of a policy or 

endorsement is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single act for the purposes of this section.” 

Under the McBride-Grunsky Act, as amended, penalties for “willful” violations require proof 

of actual knowledge and a specific intent to violate the law.  Specifically, section 1850.5 defines 

“wilful,” as follows: 

In this chapter “wilful” or “wilfully” in relation to an act or omission which 
constitutes a violation ... means with actual knowledge or belief that such act or 
omission constitutes such a violation and with specific intent to commit such 
violation.  (Italics added.) 

Given the relationship between section 1858.07 and section 790.035, it follows that the 

definition of “willful” under section 1858.07 should govern the proper interpretation of “willful” 
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under section 790.035, subdivision (a).  “When the same word or phrase is used, it should be given 

the same meaning in the related part of the law.”  (Gruschka v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. 

(1985) 169 Cal.App.3d 789, 792 (Gruschka).)  

Furthermore, the legislative history underscores the importance of being able to “differentiate 

between serious and lesser violations.”  (Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analysis on Sen. Bill 

No. 1363 (1989), p. 3.[Request for Official Notice, Tab 002,  at 44, 60-61].)  No such differentiation 

could be drawn if a “willful” violation merely requires volitional conduct. 

(3) Every other insurance code provision penalizing 
willful conduct defines “willful” to require actual 
knowledge and specific intent. 

Additionally, in every other instance in which the Insurance Code authorizes enhanced 

penalties or enforcement mechanisms for “willful” violations, the Legislature has defined “willful” to 

require actual knowledge and a specific intent to violate the law.  (See, e.g., §§ 11756, subds. (a) &  

(b) [in two-tiered penalty scheme for worker’s compensation in which “willful” failure to comply is 

subject to a maximum $5,000 penalty, while other failures are subject to a $50 fine, “willful” or 

“willfully” is defined as being done “with actual knowledge or belief that such an act or omission 

constitutes such violation and with specific intent to commit such violation.”], 12340.9 [in title 

insurance provision granting the Commissioner additional enforcement powers in response to 

“willful” violations, “willful” is defined as “with actual knowledge or belief that such act or omission 

constitutes such violation and with specific intent to commit such violation,” italics added.) 

In addition, cases analyzing section 533 – which also penalizes willful conduct – have 

required “‘something more than the mere intentional doing of an act constituting [ordinary] 

negligence.’”  (Fire Ins. Exch. v. Abbott (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 1012, 1019, quoting Russ-Field 

Corp. v. Underwriters at Lloyd’s (1958) 164 Cal.App.2d 83, 96, italics added.)  Instead, a “clear line 
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of authority” holds that to constitute a “willful” act under section 533, the act must be “done with a 

‘preconceived design to inflict injury.’”  (Clemmer v. Hartford Ins. Co. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 865, 887.)32   

It would make little sense for “willful” to be given a different and diluted meaning in section 

790.035, subdivision (a) from the consistent statutory definition of “willful” used in every other 

instance where the Insurance Code authorizes enhanced penalties.  (See Gruschka, supra, 169 

Cal.App.3d at p. 792 [“When the same word or phrase is used, it should be given the same meaning 

in the related part of the law.”].) 

(4) California courts consistently interpret “willful” as 
imposing the specific-intent standard. 

California case law in other contexts also supports the conclusion that “willful,” as used in 

section 790.035, subdivision (a), means conduct performed knowingly and with a specific intent to 

harm or violate the law. 

“The Legislature is presumed to have knowledge of existing judicial decisions and to have 

enacted statutes in the light thereof.”  (Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. City of Oxnard (1981) 126 

Cal.App.3d 814, 819.)  Hence, when a new statute uses words that “have been construed . . . in a 

former statute on the same or an analogous subject, they are presumed to have been used in the same 

sense in the new statute unless there is a clearly expressed intention to the contrary.”  (Ibid.)  Indeed, 

“[w]here the language of a statute uses terms that have been judicially construed, the presumption is 

almost irresistible that the terms have been used in the precise and technical sense which had been 

placed upon them by the courts.”  (People v. Weidert (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 845-846, quotation marks 

omitted.) 

                                                 

 32 Cases after Clemmer have expanded the scope of section 533 to include “inherently harmful” 
acts, such as child molestation, regardless of the actor’s subjective intent.  (See, e.g., J.C. Penney 
Cas. Ins. Co. v. M.K. (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1009, 1026.)  Otherwise, however, a specific intent to harm 
is still required. 
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Our state high court concluded that in the context of tort liability, “willful” requires a specific 

intent to harm or a deliberate failure to prevent a probable injury – not simply the general intent to 

perform an act.  In Calvillo-Silva v. Home Grocery (1998) 19 Cal.4th 714, 727-730, the California 

Supreme Court thoroughly examined the body of case law interpreting the term “willful,” as used in 

various statutes and the common law.  As Cavallo-Silva explained, “the mere intent to do an act . . . is 

not enough to establish willful misconduct,” because “willful” conduct “involves a more positive 

intent to actually harm another or to do an act with a positive, active and absolute disregard of its 

consequences” (id. at pp. 729-730, italics added).  In a particularly relevant passage, the Supreme 

Court noted that “a person who fails to perform a statutory duty, without more, is not guilty” of 

“willful misconduct.”  (Id. at p. 729, italics added.) 

CDI ignores the numerous times that “willful” conduct is defined in the Insurance Code, and 

relies instead on Penal Code section 7.  The Penal Code defines “willfully” to imply a “purpose or 

willingness to commit the act, or make the omission referred to.”  (CDI Br. 88.)  But Penal Code 

section 7 is not part of the Insurance Code and does not contain the two-tiered penalty system in 

section 790.035 or anything like it.  Moreover, Penal Code section 7 is meant to provide a minimal 

level of intent before finding a defendant guilty of any violation of a criminal statute; it is not meant 

as the standard for enhancing the penalty.  Further, even as the standard for determining whether 

there has been a violation of a criminal statute, that willful standard must be proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt – a higher burden than CDI has in an action for civil penalties.  In sum, by 

importing the definition of “willful” from the Penal Code to interpret the word in Insurance Code 

section 790.035, CDI is attempting to interpret the statutory language of section 790.035 in a vacuum, 

ignore the latter’s two-tiered system, neglect its legislative history, and disregard the word’s 

definition elsewhere in the Insurance Code.  This violates multiple canons of statutory construction. 

The cases cited by CDI at page 88 also do not support a definition that ignores the two-tiered 

system in section 790.035.  These cases involve statutory schemes which require specific notice of 
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the conduct that constitutes the violation before the penalty is imposed for the willful commission of 

the prohibited conduct.  (See, e.g., Patarak v. Williams (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 826, 829 [allowing 

penalties only after thirty-day written notice and opportunity to cure under Civil Code section 

798.84]; Ibrahim v. Ford Motor Co. (1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 878, 893 [allowing penalties only after 

defendant receives four opportunities to comply with the law]; May v. New York Motion Picture 

Corp. (1920) 45 Cal.App. 396, 404 [defendant was given written notice that conduct violated law, 

which the defendant acknowledged].)  Ibrahim is particularly inapposite because the Court of Appeal 

held that the trial court should have instructed the jury that “a civil penalty could be awarded to 

plaintiff if the jury determined that Ford knew of its obligations but intentionally declined to fulfill 

them.”  (214 Cal.App.3d at p. 894, italics added.)  And May v. New York Motion Picture Corp. 

involved a since-repealed statute that does not even provide for a civil penalty.  (45 Cal.App. at p. 

403.)  None of these cases supports CDI’s argument that a defendant can be subject to enhanced 

penalties based on a “willfulness” standard where it has no knowledge that its conduct violated a 

statute or regulation. 

(5) CDI’s regulation purporting to eliminate the specific 
intent and actual knowledge requirements for 
“willful” is invalid and unenforceable. 

Three years after the Legislature enacted section 790.035, the Commissioner broke with the 

language of the statutory scheme and long-standing precedent by promulgating Regulation 2695.2, 

subdivision (y), which improperly purports to define “willful” as any volitional act.33  Regulation 

2695.2, subdivision (y) states: 

                                                 
33 Another regulation, Regulation 2591.3, subdivision (d), also improperly expands the meaning 
of “willful” by applying a constructive knowledge standard and by making insurers strictly liable 
for the “willful” acts of others.  Regulation 2591.3, however, may not be consulted in this 
proceeding:  Regulation 2591.3 is “not intended to be consulted by a hearing officer, judge or trier 
of fact in connection with an action brought by the Department.”  (10 Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 
§ 2591.1, subd. (d).)  Regulation 2591.3 is only “appropriate for determining the penalty imposed in 
those cases which are resolved through settlement.”  (Id., § . 2591.1, subd. (a).) 
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“Willful” or “Willfully” when applied to the intent with which an act is done or 
omitted means simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act, or make the 
omission referred to in the California Insurance Code or the subchapter.  It does 
not require any intent to violate law, or to injure another, or to acquire any 
advantage.  (Italics added.) 

This regulation is invalid and unenforceable because it is inconsistent with section 790.035, 

subdivision (a), and therefore exceeds CDI’s statutory authority.  The Government Code provides 

that “no regulation . . . is valid or effective unless consistent and not in conflict with the statute” 

under which it was adopted.  (Gov. Code, § 11342.2; see also Nortel Networks Inc. v. State Bd. of 

Equalization (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1259, 1276-1277.)  As the California Supreme Court has 

declared, “regulations ‘must be consistent, not in conflict with the statute, and reasonably necessary 

to effectuate its purpose.’”  (Woods v. Superior Court (1981) 28 Cal.3d 668, 679.)  

“We do not accord deference to an [administrative] interpretation that is clearly erroneous.  If 

a regulation does not properly implement the statute, the regulation must fail.”  (In re Lucas, supra, 

53 Cal.4th at p. 849, citations omitted.)  As noted earlier, this tribunal has the authority, and indeed, 

the “duty on occasion to declare that regulations adopted by the Department are invalid.”  (Conlan v. 

Bonta, supra, 102 Cal.App.4th at p. 761.) 

As discussed above, a definition of “willful” that eliminates the distinction between non-

willful and willful conduct conflicts with the two-tiered system of section 790.035, ignores the 

legislative history, and is inconsistent with the meaning of “willful” in other Insurance Code 

provisions.  Accordingly, because CDI’s interpretation is contrary to law, it does not deserve any 

deference and should be invalidated. 

c) The Commissioner May Only Impose A Penalty For Each 
Act or Practice. 

Section 790.035 authorizes a penalty for each act and grants the Commissioner “discretion to 

establish what constitutes an act.”  (CDI Br. 84-85.)  Of course, the Commissioner cannot abuse the 

exercise of that discretion in violation of the due process and excessive fines clauses. 
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Moreover, here, the Commissioner has exercised this discretion by issuing in advance a 

regulation that specifies what constitutes an “act” for purposes of penalties under section 790.035.  

Significantly, CDI’s brief omits this critical fact because the regulation constrains the 

Commissioner’s discretion here.  Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v) provides:  “‘Single act’ for the 

purpose of determining any penalty pursuant to California Insurance Code Section 790.035 is any 

commission or omission which in and of itself constitutes a violation of California Insurance Code 

Section 790.03 or this subchapter.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (v).) 

But if an “act” is a “commission or omission which in and of itself constitutes a violation” of 

section 790.03, then the “act” here must be the unfair claims settlement practice under section 

790.03(h). 

By definition, a practice cannot be composed of a single act, but is “[a] habitual or customary 

action.”  (Webster’s II New College Dict. (2001), p. 867.)  And the California Supreme Court has 

confirmed that violations of section 790.03(h) are “considered unfair practices . . . only if committed 

with the requisite frequency.”  (Moradi-Shalal, supra, 46 Cal.3d 287, 295-296, quoting Royal Globe, 

supra, 23 Cal.3d 880, 895.)   

Accordingly, if CDI proves that PacifiCare committed an “unfair claims settlement practice[]” 

in violation of section 790.03(h), the Commissioner can only impose a penalty for the “commission  

. . . which in and of itself constitutes a violation of . . . Section 790.03” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.2, subd. (v)), which would be the prohibited “practice” here – not each act that collectively 

forms the “practice.” 

d) Section 790.035 Also Requires That Inadvertent Acts In The 
Servicing Of A Policy Must Be Treated As A Single Act.  

Section 790.035, subdivision (a), also provides that “when the issuance, amendment, or 

servicing of a policy or endorsement is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single act for the 

purpose of this section.” 
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Neither section 790.035, subdivision (a), nor CDI’s definitional regulation provides a 

definition of the term “inadvertent.”  (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2.)  It therefore must be 

interpreted in accordance with the “‘usual and ordinary meaning’” of the word.  (Imperial Merchant 

Serv., Inc. v. Hunt (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 388.)  Black’s Law Dictionary defines “inadvertence” as 

“[a]n accidental oversight; a result of carelessness.”  (Black’s Law Dict. (8th ed. 1990), p. 744.)  The 

governing case law agrees:  “Inadvertence is defined as lack of heedfulness or attentiveness, 

inattention, fault from negligence.”  (Kooper v. King (1961) 195 Cal.App.2d 621, 626.)  This 

definition applies not only to affirmative acts, but also to omissions:  “inadvertence . . . may consist 

of a lack of heedfulness or attentiveness by refraining from doing the proper thing, and by failing to 

act when action is required.”  (Kern v. Kern (1968) 261 Cal.App.2d 325, 335.) 

Moreover, in construing a statute, courts must accord “significance, if possible, to every word, 

phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose. . . . The words of the statute must be 

construed in context . . . .”  (Dyna-Med, supra, 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.)  In this case, viewing the 

statutory language as a whole, the mere fact that the insurer knew that it was engaging in the act that 

turned out to be prohibited does not mean that it was not “inadvertent” if the violation resulted from a 

lack of heedfulness or attentiveness.   

In Heritage Residential Care, Inc. v. Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (2011) 192 

Cal.App.4th 75, the Court of Appeal held that “inadvertent” means accidental and not deliberate in 

the context of Labor Code section 226, subdivision (a), which states that “the Labor Commissioner 

shall take into consideration whether the violation was inadvertent, and in his or her discretion, may 

decide not to penalize an employer for a first violation when that violation was due to a clerical error 

or inadvertent mistake.”  (Id. at p. 81, italics added.)  Using the standard tools of statutory 

interpretation, the court concluded that inadvertent “as used in section 226.3, means ‘unintentional,’ 

‘accidental,’ or ‘not deliberate.’”  (Id. at p. 85)  The court noted that “[i]n legal authorities, the 
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meaning of the term “inadvertent” typically is explained by way of contradistinction to its antonyms, 

such as deliberate and intentional, or its near antonyms, willful and knowing.”  (Ibid.) 

Because PacifiCare never intended to commit unfair claims settlement practices (e.g., any 

failure to send acknowledgement letters or to make untimely demands for reimbursement of 

overpayments was inadvertent), CDI makes some nonsensical arguments to avoid limiting itself to 

one penalty for many of its categories of violations.  First, CDI argues that “[i]t is inadvertence in the 

act of servicing itself, not an error in the way in which the servicing was carried out, for which the 

consolidation of violations is prescribed.”  (CDI Br. 85-86.)  But it is not a violation of section 790.03 

to issue, amend, or service a policy; rather, only errors in the issuance, amendment, or servicing can 

constitute violations of 790.03.  Accordingly, only “an error in the way in which the [issuance, 

amendment, or] servicing was carried out” (id. at 86) could possibly be relevant for purposes of 

treating inadvertent conduct as “a single act.”   

This is confirmed by the canon of construction that “[t]he statutory language must . . . be 

construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme.”  (Robert L. v. 

Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901.)  The purpose of section 790.035 is to fix a penalty for 

each “act” where a person engages in an unfair or deceptive act or practice under section 790.03.  But 

section 790.035 also provides that when the servicing of a policy is inadvertent, “all of those acts 

shall be a single act for the purpose of this section.”  Since “the purpose of this section” is to fix a 

penalty for each “act,” the multiple “acts” that shall be treated as a single act for purposes of the 

penalty must necessarily be those constituting the unlawful practice.  And the inadvertence in the 

servicing of the policy must necessarily relate to those “acts” for the limitation to have any relevance.  

CDI’s interpretation that it is the issuance or servicing of the policy that must be inadvertent, not the 

error that results in the unfair claims settlement practice, makes the inadvertence exception 

meaningless because no insurer issues or services a policy without knowing it. 
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Citing to Mr. Cignarale for another of his inadmissible legal conclusions, CDI argues that 

“[e]ven in those cases where servicing may be said to have been inadvertent, Mr. Cignarale points out 

a logical limit to the principle:  If the error was repeated, or persisted for so long that it should have 

been identified by the company, the deficiency cannot be dismissed as mere ‘inadvertence,’ but rather 

constitutes gross neglect or conscious disregard of the deficiency.”  (CDI Br. 86.)  Putting aside the 

fact that this would mean that CDI’s repeated spoliation of evidence constituted gross negligence and 

a conscious disregard of its obligations, a repeated error or the persistence of an error is essentially 

the definition of a practice or a general business practice.  If a repeated error cannot be the result of 

inadvertence, the inadvertence limitation could never be applied to section 790.03(h).  Specifically, 

under section 790.03(h), a practice must be knowingly committed or performed “with such frequency 

as to indicate a general business practice.”  Accordingly, CDI is arguing that a “knowingly” 

committed practice cannot be inadvertent and that no general business practice can ever qualify as 

inadvertent (because the “error was repeated”) and thus that the inadvertence limitation can never be 

applied to section 790.03(h) – an absurd contention.  

CDI contends that “[t]he very absence of any explanation of the sentence [regarding 

inadvertence] in the legislative history is itself important” because “[t]he obvious inference is that the 

added language neither solved a major problem nor was understood by the voting legislators to 

significantly alter its law-enforcement objectives or means.”  (CDI Br. 87.)  This effort to minimize 

the meaning of a statutory provision because of silence in the legislative history is both speculative 

and blatantly contrary to rules of statutory construction.  As an initial matter, “[o]nly when the 

statute’s language is ambiguous or susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, may the 

court turn to extrinsic aids to assist in interpretation.”  Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Prods., Inc. (2007) 40 

Cal.4th 1094, 1103 (Murphy); see also United States v. Gonzales (1997) 520 U.S. 1, 6 [“Given the 

straightforward statutory command, there is no reason to resort to legislative history”].)  Second, “[i]t 

is ‘a cardinal principle of statutory construction’ that ‘a statute ought, upon the whole, to be so 
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construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or 

insignificant.’”  (TRW, Inc. v. Andrews (2001) 534 U.S. 19, 31, citations omitted; People v. 

Woodhead (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002.)  CDI cannot ignore or minimize the import of the “inadvertence” 

limitation simply because there is no affirmative evidence regarding that sentence in the legislative 

history. 

Accordingly, even if an insurer’s specific actions were volitional, they are nonetheless 

“inadvertent” if they were performed through inattention or carelessness.  In such a case, all acts are 

deemed a single act for purposes of any penalty. 

7. The California Code Of Regulations Also Guide The 
Determination Of The Size Of Any Penalty. 

In addition to the constitutional and statutory constraints upon any penalty that CDI may 

impose, Regulation 2695.12 specifies factors that should guide the Court in determining any penalty 

assessment.  

a) Regulation 2695.12(a)(10), (a)(12):  The Degree Of Harm. 

The most important factor in setting a penalty is “the degree of harm occasioned by the 

noncompliance.”  (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subds. (a)(10), (12).)  Indeed, CDI 

acknowledges that “an assessment of harm was at the core of Mr. Cignarale’s penalty 

recommendations” (CDI Br. 98) and the “Commissioner has chosen, by enacting Regulation 2695.12, 

subdivision (a)(10), to require consideration of harm in assessing penalties under section 790.035A.”  

(Id. at p. 100.)  Of course, treating harm as the most important factor in determining the size of any 

penalty is required by due process.  (See also Section IV.B, ante.) 

This factor is important here because, as set forth below, CDI points to no evidence of actual 

harm resulting from well over 99% of the alleged violations at issue in this enforcement action.  

CDI’s claims are instead premised on technical infractions of non-penal insurance laws that caused 

minimal, if any, harm.  For example, with respect to the EOPs and acknowledgement letters, the 

alleged violations involved the omission of information that sophisticated providers already had or 
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knew how to obtain.  No conceivable harm occurred as a result of these violations, requiring that any 

penalty be minimal. 

CDI claims that its expert, Henry Zaretsky, “reviewed the violations alleged and confirmed 

that, from an economic perspective, there were cognizable categories of harm to providers and 

consumers that were not fully offset by remedial payments.”  (CDI Br. 99-100.)  But this conclusory 

assertion is not evidence of harm.  Mr. Zaretsky based his opinion on a “review [of] the violations 

alleged” – that is, on the nature of the type of violation – not on any actual evidence submitted by 

CDI.  Indeed, CDI does not argue that its analysis regarding a proposed penalty is based on evidence 

of actual harm; rather, it claims that “the ‘harm’ that . . . this factor calls on the Commissioner to 

consider, is properly interpreted broadly to include all forms of harm that an insurance company can 

cause”—not harm for which it has presented evidence.  (Id. at p. 99.) 

Speculation about harm is not, however, sufficient to satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, 

subdivisions (a)(10) and (a)(12), or due process.  As a matter of due process, the Supreme Court in 

State Farm held that punitive damages must be keyed to “the specific harm suffered by the plaintiff.”  

(State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 422, italics added.)  The regulation itself allows consideration of 

“the degree of harm occasioned by the noncompliance.”  Thus, CDI’s burden is to establish actual 

harm, not imagined harm.  Any penalty against PacifiCare cannot be increased as a result of imagined 

harm for which there is no evidence. 

b) Regulation 2695.12(a)(8):  PacifiCare’s Remedial Measures. 

Another factor that may be considered in fixing the proper penalty is “whether the licensee 

has taken remedial measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).)  This regulation reflects CDI’s policy that insurers that respond to regulatory 

concerns and take meaningful remedial measures should be given credit for such actions.  (Exh. 

5707, pp. 10-11.) 
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CDI acknowledges that PacifiCare remediated all of the issues in this case long ago.  (Tr. 

23470:21-23471:5 [Cignarale]; see also exhs. 736, 750, 5707, 5015, 5016, 5165, 5264; Tr. 24458:4-

18 [Stead]; Tr. 7562:25-7563:11, 7745:9-7749:20, 7755:24-7757:3, 7767:6-7768:8, 7769:14-7771:7, 

7477:24-7478:8, 7480:7-20 [Berkel ]; Tr. 6964:8-6965:19 [Vonderhaar]; P.P.F. 310.)   

CDI argues, however, that in order to be “remedial,” the remedial action must “correct[] the 

deficiency both prospectively (to staunch future violations) and retrospectively (to compensate those 

injured by past violations).”  (CDI Br. 95.)  This, however, has no basis in the language of the 

regulation, which refers to “remedial measures with respect to noncomplying act(s).”  The relevant 

facts for the Court to consider are whether PacifiCare has “taken remedial measures with respect to 

the noncomplying act(s)” – that is, remediated the violations – not whether (in CDI’s formulation) it 

has put in place systems to prevent future violations.  For instance, if the unfair claims settlement 

practice is a misrepresentation, remedying the misrepresentation is sufficient. 

c) Regulation 2695.12(a)(9):  Previous Violations. 

Section 2695.12, subdivision (a)(9) allows the ALJ to consider “the existence or nonexistence 

of previous violations by the licensee.”  PacifiCare did not have a record of previous violations, as 

CDI has acknowledged.  (CDI Br. 98-98). 

Instead, CDI attempts to rely on violations supposedly committed by United and to ignore 

PacifiCare’s sterling history of compliance.  (CDI Br. 96-98).  But this is plainly inappropriate 

because CDI’s pleadings do not make an alter ego claim against United.  And CDI has not presented 

any evidence that could support an alter ego claim against United, which requires proof of multiple 

elements in order to pierce the corporate veil.   

Moreover, the alleged violations here – failure to send acknowledgement letters, the omission 

of language in EOPs and EOBs, the issuance of purportedly untimely payments, etc. – were caused 

by PacifiCare employees.  There is no authority for penalizing PacifiCare for United’s conduct unless 

the ALJ is willing to take the gigantic step of disregarding the licensee’s corporate personality.  
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Furthermore, the text of the regulation clearly forecloses CDI’s argument—it refers to 

violations “by the licensee”—not, as CDI claims, by the licensee’s parent, affiliate, or any other 

entity.   

Finally, PacifiCare did not have fair notice, as required by due process, that any penalty 

against it could be increased because of its parent’s previous record.  (See Section IV.D.1, ante.)   

Accordingly, the relevant regulatory compliance history is PacifiCare’s, not United’s. 

d) Regulation 2695.12(a)(11):  PacifiCare’s Good Faith Efforts 
To Comply With The Law. 

The ALJ may also decrease any penalty against PacifiCare where “under the totality of 

circumstances, [PacifiCare] made a good faith attempt to comply with the” law.  (Cal. Code Regs., 

tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).)  The record shows that PacifiCare attempted in good faith to comply 

with the law relating to each of the categories of alleged violations (as will be fully discussed later). 

CDI points to no evidence that PacifiCare operated in bad faith in an attempt to evade its legal 

obligations.  If anything, it too readily agreed to correct matters that may have not been violations.  

The three principal categories of violations—relating to EOBs, EOPs, and acknowledgement 

letters—involve at best disagreement over good faith interpretations of what the Insurance Code and 

the regulations require, not any attempt by PacifiCare to gain an improper advantage. 

Indeed, the California Supreme Court has “noted that the defendants’ good faith belief ‘that 

they were not violating [the statute] . . . [could] make the imposition of statutory penalties a violation 

of defendants’ due process rights.’”  (R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal. 4th at p. 730.) 

At various points in its brief, CDI contends that PacifiCare’s conduct during the MCE and 

subsequent investigation amounted to “bad faith” (e.g., CDI Br. 163, 208, 216), but many of the 

actions identified were simply PacifiCare’s assertion of its right to defend itself against the charges 

made.  The U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that “[t]he right to litigate is an important one” 

(Bill Johnson’s Restaurants, Inc. v. NLRB (1983) 461 U.S. 731, 742-744), and “one should not be 

penalized for merely defending or prosecuting a lawsuit.”  (Fleischmann Distilling Corp. v. Maier 
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Brewing Co. (1967) 386 U.S. 714, 718.)  Increasing the punishment against PacifiCare for defending 

itself in an enforcement action and refusing to admit liability improperly penalizes PacifiCare for 

engaging in constitutionally protected conduct.  (See Legal Servs. Corp. v. Velazquez (2001) 531 U.S. 

533, 547 [restrictions on the types of arguments that may be made in court “implicate[ ] central First 

Amendment concerns”]; California Motor Transport Co. v. Trucking Unlimited (1972) 404 U.S. 508, 

510-511 [access to courts to resolve disputes is part of the First Amendment right to petition 

government].) 

e) Regulation 2695.12(a)(13):  Management’s Awareness. 

Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(13) provides as a factor in assessing a penalty “whether 

the licensee’s management was aware of facts that apprised or should have apprised the licensee of 

the act(s) and the licensee failed to take any remedial measures.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(13).) 

Here, every time management became aware of a potential violation, remedial action was 

taken, and every problem was ultimately resolved.   

CDI claims that management’s strategic decisions during the integration, such as cost-cutting 

and outsourcing, are to blame for the alleged violations (CDI Br. 103-104), but that is not what this 

regulation is concerned with.  Management’s knowledge of its integration strategies does not equate 

with knowledge of the alleged violations of the insurance laws.  As discussed in Section VII (which 

addresses each of the specific categories of violations), when management became aware of a 

purported violation, it was identified and resolved. 

f) Regulation 2695.12(a)(7):  Relative Number of Claims. 

Regulation 2695.12 allows the ALJ to consider “the relative number of claims where the 

noncomplying act(s) are found to exist, the total number of claims handled by the licensee and the 

total number of claims reviewed by the Department during the relevant time period.”  (Cal. Code 

Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(7).) 
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Application of this factor requires the Court to compare the number of alleged violations to 

the total volume of the claims processed by PacifiCare.  (Exh. 5707, p. 10 [Stead].)  As Ms. Stead 

explained, “[t]he volume and the complexity of healthcare claims is one important reason why 

individual errors should not be penalized when it is shown that the general business practice of the 

insurer” complies with the applicable law.  (Ibid.) 

VII. CDI HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT PACIFICARE’S CONDUCT 
VIOLATED SECTION 790.03 

A. The Failure To Provide Notice Of IMR Rights In EOBs.  (CDI Brief, pp. 
153-169.) 

Nearly 37% of CDI’s claimed violations are attributable to PacifiCare’s failure to advise 

members of their rights to request an IMR in PacifiCare’s EOBs.  (OSC, ¶ 134.)   

But section 10169, subdivision (i) – the non-penal statute upon which CDI relies to make this 

argument – does not identify EOBs as one of the documents in which such notice is required, and 

other major health insurers have not included IMR language in their EOBs without any penalty from 

CDI.  Furthermore, even if section 10169, subdivision (i), did require IMR language in EOBs, the 

omission of a notice of IMR rights in EOBs cannot possibly constitute an unfair claims settlement 

practice.  First, as demonstrated herein, the omission of a statutory notice does not constitute a 

misrepresentation of a fact or of a policy provision relating to coverage under section 790.03(h)(1).  

Nor can the omission of a statutory notice of IMR rights in EOBs mean, in and of itself, that the 

insurer failed to adopt reasonable standards for the prompt processing of claims under section 

790.03(h)(3), particularly since PacifiCare gave notice of the right to an IMR at numerous points in 

the process.  Indeed, the right to an IMR is not even triggered at the time of an issuance of an EOB.  

In addition, CDI’s effort to penalize PacifiCare for each purportedly non-compliant EOB at the very 

time that PacifiCare was cooperating with CDI, and awaiting its approval of acceptable language, is 

nothing short of outrageous and inconsistent with CDI’s practice and the law.  Among other things, 

even if an unfair claims settlement practice could be made out – and it cannot – any penalty would 



 

118 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

violate PacifiCare’s due process rights because PacifiCare had no notice that the failure to 

incorporate notice language while it awaited CDI approval would subject it to penalties.  Finally, 

even if CDI could prove a violation of section 790.03, CDI must treat any violation as a single act 

under section 790.035 because PacifiCare’s conduct was inadvertent, given that PacifiCare was 

unaware that CDI would charge it with violations while it awaited CDI’s approval of its revised 

EOBs.  Such treatment comports with CDI’s practice of citing insurers for only one “in general” 

violation where the challenged conduct involves missing language in an EOB or EOP.   

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare issued 322,423 EOBs for group PPO claims that failed to include 

IMR language during the period of March 24, 2007 through June 14, 2007, and that it issued at least 

13,662 EOBs for individual PPO claims that failed to include IMR language during the period of 

March 24, 2007 through May 31, 2007, for a total of 336,085 alleged omissions.  (OSC, ¶¶ 138-139; 

CDI Br. 165.)   

CDI argues that each of these purportedly deficient EOBs constitutes an act in violation of 

section 790.03(h)(1) and (h)(3), section 10169, subdivision (i), and Regulation 2695.4, subdivision 

(a).  (OSC, ¶¶ 138-139.) 

Section 10169, subdivision (i) of the Insurance Code provides: 

No later than January 1, 2001, every disability insurer shall prominently display 
in every insurer member handbook or relevant informational brochure, in every 
insurance contract, on insured evidence of coverage forms, on copies of insurer 
procedures for resolving grievances, on letters of denials issued by either the 
insurer or its contracting organization, and on all written responses to 
grievances, information concerning the right of an insured to request an 
independent medical review in cases where the insured believes that health care 
services have been improperly denied, modified, or delayed by the insurer, or by 
one of its contracting providers.  (Italics added.) 



 

119 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

CDI claims (1) that PacifiCare’s EOBs constitute “letters of denial” and (2) that because the 

EOBs include “insurer procedures for resolving grievances,” they also constitute “copies of insurer 

procedures for resolving grievances” under section 10169, subdivision (i).  (CDI Br. 153-154.) 

Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (a) provides: 

Every insurer shall disclose to a first party claimant or beneficiary, all benefits, 
coverage, time limits or other provisions of any insurance policy issued by that 
insurer that may apply to the claim presented by the claimant. When additional 
benefits might reasonably be payable under an insured’s policy upon receipt of 
additional proofs of claim, the insurer shall immediately communicate this fact 
to the insured and cooperate with and assist the insured in determining the 
extent of the insurer’s additional liability.  (Italics added). 

CDI claims that by omitting the required IMR notification language allegedly required by 

statute, PacifiCare failed to disclose “all benefits, coverage, time limits or other provisions of any 

insurance policy” as required by Regulation 2695.4. 

Significantly, CDI offers no analysis as to how an alleged violation of a non-penal statute – 

section 10169, subdivision (i) – could constitute an unfair claims settlement practice so as to justify 

penalties.  It merely asserts that “[t]he knowing issuance of defective EOBs also constitutes acts in 

violation of section 790.03, subdivision (h)(1)” and of “section 790.03, subdivision (h)(3) because 

they reflect failures to adopt and implement reasonable standards for prompt investigation and 

processing of claims . . . .”  (CDI Br. 155.)  However, failure to include purported statutory notices 

does not constitute a failure to implement reasonable processing standards.  This category of alleged 

violations should be dismissed, as demonstrated below. 

2. The Facts. 

a) CDI Asserts Its Position Regarding IMR Language. 

Section 10169, subdivision (i) was enacted in January 2001 and in the six years following, 

CDI had never cited PacifiCare or any other insurer for failing to include notice of IMR rights on its 

EOBs, or had taken the position publicly that insurers must include IMR language in EOBs, even 

though CDI had repeatedly reviewed PacifiCare’s EOBs for years.  (Tr. 8865:18-8866:8 [Monk]; 
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P.P.F. 458.)  Further, CDI has never generated any guidance—internal or external—which requires 

EOBs to include IMR disclosures.  (Tr. 22817:10-15 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 463.) 

Therefore, given that no CDI guidance requires EOBs to include IMR disclosures (Tr. 

22817:10-15 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 463), it is not surprising that several major insurers do not contain 

IMR language in their EOBs.  (Exhs. 5540, 5661; Tr. 23363:9-23371:15, 23369:22-23371:15, 

23376:5-23378:11 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 464.) 

Health Plan Membership (2007) Share of CA 
Membership (2007) 

EOBs Contain 
IMR 

Wellpoint 975,753 41.04% No 

Aetna 265,284 11.15% No 

PacifiCare 123,942 5.21% As of 6/15/07 
(RIMS Only) 

Cigna 74,565 3.14% No 

 

b) A Member Does Not Have An IMR Right Upon Receipt Of 
An EOB. 

Significantly, a member is entitled to an IMR only in limited instances defined in section 

10169, subdivisions (d), (j), and (k).  (Tr. 3945:23-3946:8 [Masters]; Tr. 5713:9-5714:5 [Roy]; Tr. 

8874:19-8876:20 [Monk]; P.P.F. 448.)  During the period at issue, there were only 57 EOBs issued 

out of 336,085 claims that implicated a potential right to an IMR.  (Exh. 5298, p. 4.) 

It is also significant that a member who receives an EOB does not at that point have the right 

to an IMR.  A member must first complete the company’s grievance process.  (Exh. 5305; Tr. 

8860:24-8861:13, 8865:9-17 [Monk]; Tr. 24346:9-19 [Stead]; P.P.F. 452.)  Only after that can the 

member request an IMR with CDI.  (Ibid.)  And, at the point that this procedure becomes available, 

the member is informed of that right and given a form application for exercising it.  Specifically, 

PacifiCare informed members whenever they actually had a right to an IMR (as set forth in section 

10169, subdivisions (d), (j), and (k)) and included a form application to minimize the burden of 
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submitting such a request.  (Exhs. 5300, 5301, 5302; Tr. 8859:2-8861:2 [Monk]; P.P.F. 451.)  As a 

result, the inclusion of IMR disclosures in an EOB could confuse or mislead a member with regard to 

his or her right to an IMR or suggest to the member that an IMR is immediately available.  (Tr. 

8860:24-8861:13 [Monk]; Tr. 25619:9-25620:4 [Stead]; P.P.F. 453.) 

Moreover, it is undisputed that PacifiCare advises members about their potential right to an 

IMR, including details about the procedures for requesting an IMR, at numerous points, including at 

the outset of the company’s relationship with the member.  (Exh. 5299; Tr. 8855:18-8857:12 [Monk]; 

P.P.F. 450.)  CDI even admits that PacifiCare “includes IMR language on its certificates of coverage, 

appeal resolution letters, and denial letters” (CDI Br. 158:3-4), which are the documents identified in 

section 10169, subdivision (i). 

Apparently aware that its position on EOBs is mistaken, CDI expends pages contending that 

during both the MCE and CDI’s investigation, PacifiCare admitted that its EOBs were not in 

compliance with the law.  (CDI Br. 156:10-159:23.)  But CDI misstates the testimony upon which it 

relies.  PacifiCare agreed to modify the forms as CDI requested and to a corrective plan, but it never 

admitted that the omission was unlawful.  (Tr. 9236:23-9237:1 [Monk].)  In claiming that PacifiCare 

admitted liability, CDI relies on Mr. Master’s claim that he spoke with Jean Diaz at a March 7, 2007 

meeting and that she told him that she had meant to put IMR language on EOBs.  But CDI 

misinterprets her testimony:  Both Ms. Diaz’s testimony and her contemporaneous notes show that 

she did not even become involved in dealing with CDI on modifying the EOBs until late April 2007.  

(Tr. 13444:2-17 [Diaz]; exh. 5431.)  And Ms. Monk testified that Ms. Diaz did not agree that 

PacifiCare’s omission of the IMR language was unlawful, only that CDI took that position and Ms. 

Diaz accepted that contention.  (Tr. 9259:17-9260:4 [Monk].) 

c) PacifiCare Worked Diligently To Add IMR Language. 

Between March 2007 and June 2007, PacifiCare worked with CDI staff to develop IMR 

language that was acceptable to CDI.  (Tr. 8867:11-16, 8878:9-8889:20 [Monk]; Tr. 13460:3-
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13469:2 [Diaz]; P.P.F. 468.)  Although CDI claims that it provided PacifiCare with sample language 

that tracked the statutory requirements in its March 27, 2007 letter, that letter explicitly states that it is 

for “reference” only and that it is PacifiCare’s responsibility to compose compliant language.  (Exh. 

5303; P.P.F. 472.)  And although CDI criticizes PacifiCare for not using the supposed “samples” 

which it identified in its March 27, 2007 letter, CDI staff subsequently criticized as non-compliant the 

language in PacifiCare’s draft EOBs which was essentially the same as those “samples.”  (Exhs. 

5303, 5309, 5311; P.P.F. 471.)   

Moreover, CDI never told PacifiCare that any specific language would bring its EOBs into 

compliance.  (See Exh. 5303; P.P.F. 472.)  And CDI staff could not even agree among themselves 

regarding what the IMR notice should say.  (Exh. 5361; Tr. 11110:12-11111:14; 11113:8-25, 

11119:19-11120:5 [Smith]; Tr. 5719:17-5722:25 [Roy]; P.P.F. 479.)  Indeed, on several occasions, 

CDI’s Ms. Smith told PacifiCare that its proposed language was satisfactory, only to call or write 

back a short period later and indicate that the proposed language was inadequate and/or that CDI 

would have additional comments.  In short, there was no ready-made sample that CDI had blessed as 

compliant with California law that PacifiCare could simply copy and paste into its EOBs.  (Exhs. 

5033, 5034; Tr. 530:20-534:15, 1805:14-1806:25 [Masters]; Tr. 13454:11-13455:18 [Diaz]; P.P.F. 

470.) 

As a result, PacifiCare went through a number of iterations with CDI, in each case proposing 

IMR language that CDI staff found inadequate.  (Exhs. 5306, 5308, 5309, 5391; Tr. 279:4-25, 

11029:10-11030:12, 11075:5-24, 11080:5-10, 11086:13-11090:11 [Smith]; Tr. 8878:12-8879:16, 

8889:10-17, 13458:15-13460:22, 13523:10-13524:13 [Monk]; P.P.F. 477.)  There can be no question 

that PacifiCare’s proposed IMR language was a good-faith attempt to comply with CDI’s proffered 

interpretation of the statute, because PacifiCare’s proposed language was identical to the form 

language endorsed by the Industry Collaborative Effort (“ICE”), a managed care and insurance 

industry educational organization in which CDI participates.  (Exhs. 5357, 5544; Tr. 18038:12-
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18040:23 [Monk]; P.P.F. 475.)  Further, internal company communications characterized the 

EOB/EOP project as “urgent.”  (Exh. 5432; Tr. 13446:22-13447:6 [Diaz]; P.P.F. 469.)  CDI staffer 

Barbara Love noted that, if anything, PacifiCare was trying too hard to satisfy CDI’s unarticulated 

expectations.  (Exh. 5310; Tr. 11118:4-9 [Roy].) 

Between March 2007 and June 2007, PacifiCare promptly implemented every change that 

CDI requested be made to the IMR language.  (Tr. 8878:19-22, 8882:1-7 [Monk]; Tr. 13463:9-

13465:17 [Diaz]; P.P.F. 481.)  Finally, on June 4, 2007, CDI approved PacifiCare’s IMR language 

and PacifiCare began using that language days later, on June 8, 2007.  (Exhs. 5436, 5438, p. 4442; 

Tr. 13466:19-13469:2 [Diaz]; P.P.F. 482(a), 482(b).)  PacifiCare made two minor edits to typos in the 

EOB on June 15, 2007.  (Tr. 8889:4-20 [Monk]; P.P.F. 483.)  CDI does not allege any violations after 

that date with respect to group policies.34 

d) The IMR Language In EOBs Has No Effect. 

There was no noticeable impact on the number of IMR requests after PacifiCare began 

including the IMR language in the EOB forms.  (Exh. 5298, p. 5; Tr. 8874:5-8876:20 [Monk]; Tr. 

20880:17-20881:14 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 489.)  Nor has CDI identified a single member who did not 

exercise his or her IMR right because it was not repeated in an EOB.  (Tr. 23969:7-12 [Cignarale]; 

Tr. 18993:7-11; 18995:8-12 [Zaretsky]; Tr. 20879:7-16 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 487.) 

3. The Failure To Provide IMR Notice In An EOB Does Not Violate 
Section 10169(i). 

Section 10169, subdivision (i) includes a list of documents that must include information 

about a member’s IMR rights, but an “explanation of benefits” form is not one of them.  This is 

                                                 

 34 In its Opening Brief, CDI criticizes PacifiCare for not having made similar revisions to its 
EOBs for its individual policies around this time, but CDI never raised any issue with PacifiCare 
concerning those documents.  Jean Diaz testified that CDI focused solely on PacifiCare’s group 
plan documents and did not ask for any changes to be made to the individual business forms (which 
are handled by a separate organization, American Medical Security, in Green Bay, Wisconsin).  (Tr. 
13538:3-9 [Diaz].)  CDI never brought up those separate policies or forms in its discussions with 
Ms. Diaz.  (Ibid.)  
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logical because a member does not have a right to an IMR at the point he or she receives an EOB.  As 

set forth below, section 10169, subdivision (i) does not require notice of IMR rights in an EOB and 

thus the basis for CDI’s claim under section 790.03(h) disappears. 

a) The Term EOB Does Not Appear In Section 10169(i). 

There is no legal basis for CDI’s contention that section 10169, subdivision (i) requires IMR 

information be included in EOBs.  Section 10169, subdivision (i) specifies the materials that must 

inform an insurer about IMR rights, but nowhere requires that notice of IMR rights be included in 

EOBs: 

No later than January 1, 2001, every disability insurer shall prominently display 
in every insurer member handbook or relevant informational brochure, in every 
insurance contract, on insured evidence of coverage forms, on copies of insurer 
procedures for resolving grievances, on letters of denials issued by either the 
insurer or its contracting organization, and on all written responses to 
grievances, information concerning the right of an insured to request an 
independent medical review in cases where the insured believes that health care 
services have been improperly denied, modified, or delayed by the insurer, or by 
one of its contracting providers.  (Italics added.) 

Notably absent from that list are EOBs.  Yet, the Legislature was aware of EOBs when it 

enacted section 10169, subdivision (i), as it specifically refers to them elsewhere in the Insurance 

Code.  (See e.g., § 10123.13, subd. (a) [“The notice to the provider may be included on either the 

explanation of benefits . . . . The notice to the insured may also be included on the explanation of 

benefits”], italics added; § 10123.147, subd. (a) [“The notice to the provider may be included on 

either the explanation of benefits”], italics added.)   

CDI claims that EOBs constitute “letters of denial.”  (CDI Br. 153.)  But a “letter of denial” is 

a term of art used in the insurance industry with an understood meaning that does not include EOBs.  

(Tr. 24346:9-24347:6, 25325:22-25326:11, 25580:21-25582:1, 25620:18-25621:10 [Stead]; Tr. 

18045:2-18047:20 [Monk]; Tr. 23362:11-23363:5 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 455.)  The words of a statute 

should be construed “according to their use and understanding in the profession.”  (Joseph v. Drew 

(1950) 36 Cal.2d 575, 578.) 
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Specifically, a letter of denial is used to communicate an adverse claims decision prior to 

medical services being rendered and when pre-authorization of such services have been sought.  (Tr. 

18044:4-11 [Monk].)  Since there are circumstances, “whereby a member could have an immediate 

right to an IMR upon receiving a letter of denial,” section 10169, subdivision (i)’s inclusion of 

“letters of denial” makes sense.  (Tr. 18046:13-18047:20, 18044:4-17, 18045:21-18046:2 [Monk].)  

In contrast, an EOB is issued after medical services have been rendered; thus, there is no scenario 

under which a right to an IMR could be triggered at that point.  (Tr. 18045:11-20 [Monk].) 

CDI argues that those EOBs which deny a portion of a claim, i.e., that deny one or more, but 

not all claims lines, constitute a “letter of denial.”  (CDI Br. 154.)  But that is not true of every EOB.  

Indeed, this position directly contradicts CDI’s own prior pronouncements and actions.  (Exh. 5181 

[2006 MCE]; Tr. 11575:3-11577:22 [David]; Tr. 22817:10-15, 22834:22-22835:11 [Cignarale].)   

In a footnote, CDI contends that not treating EOBs as “letters of denial” is “not consistent 

with industry practice.”  (CDI Br. 157, fn. 18.)  But it cites no authority for this contention, other than 

an excerpt from the ICE organization that a “document notifying a patient that an adverse coverage 

decision has been made as a result of adjudication of a provider claim” may “comprise a letter or a 

properly formatted explanation of benefits form (EOB), remittance advice (RA) or payment advice 

(PA).”  (Ibid., italics added.)  The excerpt, however, does not state that an EOB constitutes a “letter 

of denial” but instead refers to documents that may inform of an adverse coverage decision, which 

could include any number of outcomes.  If anything, the excerpts confirm that there is a distinction 

between “letters” and “EOBs.”. 

In short, an EOB is not one of the documents in which section 10169 requires an explanation 

of a member’s IMR rights.  In interpreting a statute, “the office of the Judge is . . . not to insert what 

has been omitted.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 1858.)  In sum, there is no basis for CDI to contend that 

section 10169, subdivision (i) requires IMR rights to be included in EOBs. 
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CDI alternatively argues that “PacifiCare’s EOBs constitute ‘copies of insurer procedures for 

resolving grievances,’” which must include IMR language under section 10169, subdivision (i).  

(CDI Br. 154.)  However, during a teleconference on March 23, 2007, a CDI staff member asserted 

for the very first time that it was CDI’s view that PacifiCare’s EOBs should include IMR notification 

language.  (Id. at p. 159.)  PacifiCare’s EOBs included a “Know Your Rights” page that informed 

members generally of various ways in which they could challenge a claim adjudication, including the 

consumer’s right to appeal an adverse decision with PacifiCare, and the right to seek CDI review of 

PacifiCare’s decision.  (Exh. 30, p. 4.)  But the “Know Your Rights” page did not purport to include 

information on every procedure for resolving grievances; instead, it generally describes members 

rights at that point in the claims process and refers the member to materials with more information.  

(Ibid.)  Such materials included the certificate of coverage that is sent to every member upon 

enrollment, which contains a 12-page section on grievances and appeals.  (Exh. 5299, pp. 5600-

5611.) 

CDI argues that because the fourth page of each EOB was entitled “Know Your Rights” – 

which described the means by which an insured may challenge an insurer’s determinations at that 

point in the claims process – it became an “insurer procedure for resolving grievances.”  (CDI Br. 

154:21-155:7.)  This is absurd because that would mean that any time an insurer advises an insured 

about some procedures, it must include all procedures, relevant or not.  (Tr. 25619:9-25620:4 

[Stead].)  The latter type of full disclosure is contained in the policy itself or certificate of coverage.  

(Tr. 8855:18-8857:12 [Monk]; exh. 5299.)  Indeed, the “Know Your Rights” page does refer the 

member to those documents, if he or she has questions generally about coverages and rights. 

b) Providing Notice Of IMR Rights In An EOB Would Be 
Premature And Misleading To Consumers.   

It makes no practical sense for insurers to include a notice of IMR rights in an EOB, because 

at the point a member receives an EOB, he or she does not even have the right to obtain an IMR.  

(Exh. 5305; Tr. 8860:24-8861:13, 8865:9-17 [Monk]; Tr. 24346:19 [Stead]; P.P.F. 452.)  The 

Dennis
Text Box
pp. 7600-7611
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member’s right to an IMR only potentially becomes relevant if the member exhausts PacifiCare’s 

grievance procedure.  (Ibid.)  It is undisputed that at that point PacifiCare provides notice of the right 

to an IMR.  (Exhs. 5300, 5301, 5302; Tr. 8859:2-8861:2 [Monk]; P.P.F. 451.) 

Further, PacifiCare provides notice of the IMR procedure at numerous other points, all of 

which make much more sense than in an EOB.  (Exh. 5299; Tr. 8855:18-8857:12 [Monk]; P.P.F. 

450.)  It is therefore unsurprising that requests for IMRs did not increase after PacifiCare began 

including the IMR language in its EOBs.  (Exh. 5298, p. 5; Tr. 8874:5-8876:20 [Monk]; Tr. 

20880:17-20881:14 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 489.) 

Finally, PacifiCare had determined that inclusion of a member’s IMR rights in an EOB, where 

that right is not yet available, could be potentially confusing to members.  (Tr. 8860:24-8861:13 

[Monk]; Tr. 25619:9-25620:4 [Stead]; P.P.F. 453.)  Courts have recognized that additional 

information can harm consumers by creating confusion.  (See, e.g., Morales v. Trans World Airlines, 

Inc. (1992) 504 U.S. 374, 390 [“As the FTC observed, ‘[r]equiring too much information in 

advertisements can have the paradoxical effect of stifling the information that consumers receive.”]; 

Channell v. Citicorp Nat. Services, Inc., (7th Cir. 1996) 89 F.3d 379, 382 [“too much 

information…can be as bad as too little…[and] make[s] it hard for consumers to find what they really 

care about”]; In re Union Carbide Class Action Securities (S.D.N.Y. 1986) 648 F.Supp. 1322, 1327 

[addressing “the hazards of a corporation disclosing too much information in proxy materials”]; 

Umbriac v. Kaiser (D.Nev. 1979) 467 F.Supp. 548, 553  [“While full and fair disclosure is required, 

complete revelation is not [because]…too much information can be as misleading as too little.”].)   

In short, CDI’s attempt to stretch the language of section 10169, subdivision (i) to cover 

EOBs is inconsistent with the express text of the statute and would not promote members’ rights. 
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4. The Failure To Provide Notice Does Not Violate Regulation 
2695.4(a).  

Regulation 2695.4 requires insurers to “disclose . . . all benefits, coverage, time limits or other 

provisions of any insurance policy . . . that may apply to the claim presented by the claimant.”  (Cal. 

Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.4.) 

In order to allege a violation of this regulation, CDI must presumably argue that the omission 

of IMR language in EOBs violates the obligation to “disclose . . . all benefits, coverage, time limits or 

other provisions of any insurance policy.”   

But nothing in this regulation requires any particular disclosure in any particular document.  

And here, it is undisputed (as CDI admits) that PacifiCare disclosed the IMR procedure at length in 

numerous other policy documents, including in the documents issued to members at the point in the 

claims process when the IMR procedure was relevant.  (Exhs. 5300, 5301, 5302; Tr. 8859:2-8861:2 

[Monk]; P.P.F. 451; CDI Br. 158:1-15.) 

In short, Regulation 2695.4 does not require that IMR language be disclosed in any specific 

place and does not provide a basis for penalizing PacifiCare for not including IMR language in its 

EOBs. 

5. Even If PacifiCare Violated Section 10169, Subdivision (i) Or The 
Regulation, It Could Not Constitute A Violation Of Insurance Code 
Section 790.03(h)(1) Or (h)(3). 

Even if section 10169, subdivision (i) or the regulation required IMR language in EOBs, CDI 

could not premise an unfair claims settlement practice on them.  Neither section 10169, subdivision 

(i) nor the regulation authorizes CDI to impose penalties on PacifiCare.  As explained earlier, CDI 

cannot premise penalties under section 790.03(h) based on violations of non-penal statutes. 

Instead, CDI has the burden of proving that PacifiCare’s omission of IMR language from 

EOBs constituted a violation of section 790.03 subdivisions (h)(1) and (h)(3).  But neither 

subdivision (h)(1) nor (h)(3) mentions anything about EOBs or IMR language.  As set forth below, 



 

129 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

even if PacifiCare violated section 10169, subdivision (i) or the regulation, CDI has failed to prove an 

unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(1). 

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[m]isrepresenting to 

claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.” 

CDI asserts, without any authority or argument, “By requiring that insurers include [IMR 

language] on various insurance communications, the Legislature has determined that notification of 

IMR rights is a pertinent fact that must be disclosed to members.”  (CDI Br. 155.)  CDI is mistaken. 

First, the omission of a statutory notice of IMR rights in EOBs does not constitute a 

misrepresentation of fact or of insurance policy provisions:  A purported statutory notice is not a fact 

or a policy provision relating to coverage.  Accordingly, the omission of a statutory notice cannot be a 

misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision relating to coverage.  That this omission is not a 

misrepresentation is even clearer, given that a member who receives an EOB is not eligible to request 

an IMR at that time.  Thus, the omission does not misrepresent anything.  Moreover, since PacifiCare 

did in fact notify members of their IMR rights in other documents, the failure to restate the right to an 

IMR in an additional form cannot be a misrepresentation. 

Second, the omission of a purported statutory obligation cannot even constitute a 

misrepresentation.  A representation requires a written or oral statement.  (See § 350 [“A 

representation may be oral or written”]; § 352 [“The language of a representation is to be interpreted 

by the same rules as contracts in general”].)  As explained more fully at Section VI.C.1, a 

“misrepresentation” requires an affirmative misstatement; it cannot just be an omission of a material 

fact.   

Third, even if the omission of a material fact could be a misrepresentation, the omission of a 

notice of a statutory right that has not yet ripened at the time of receipt of an EOB is not material and 

cannot be a material omission. 
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b) Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

CDI asserts, again in a single conclusory sentence, that “PacifiCare’s deficient EOBs also 

violate section 790.03, subdivision (h)(3) because they reflect failures to adopt and implement 

reasonable standards for prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under insurance 

policies.”  (CDI Br. 155.) 

But the alleged failure to include IMR language in EOB forms does not fit within the 

language of section 790.03(h)(3):   

First, omitting language from a form is not, in and of itself, a “fail[ure] to adopt [a] standard.” 

Second, informing members about IMR rights in an EOB is also unrelated to “the prompt 

investigation and processing of claims.”  Indeed, an IMR is only available after the insurer has 

completed the investigation and processing of a claim, and actually involves administrative activities 

by CDI and not the insurer.  (P.P.F. 452.)  In short, nothing in section 790.03(h)(3) states or even 

suggests that omission of IMR language in one form (but not in others) could itself constitute the 

unfair claims settlement practice of failing to adopt reasonable standards for claims processing.  

Indeed, CDI wholly fails to meet its burden of proof to show that PacifiCare has failed to adopt and 

implement “reasonable standards” for the prompt investigation and processing of claims. 

6. The Due Process Clause Bars Any Violation Because There Was 
No Notice That The Omission Of An IMR Notice Constituted An 
Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

As shown above, CDI’s claims against PacifiCare are not grounded in the text of section 

790.03(h) so as to authorize the imposition of penalties.  Nothing in the text of section 790.03(h) 

suggests or even implies that the omission of notice of IMR language in an EOB would be the basis 
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for a violation.  And nowhere does section 790.03(h) suggest that an insurer could be punished, 

particularly to the tune of hundreds of millions of dollars, for omitting such language. 

Fox Television, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2307, discussed earlier, is directly on point and precludes 

CDI from imposing penalties on PacifiCare for conduct that CDI never identified in advance as a 

violation of section 790.03.  There, as noted earlier, the U.S. Supreme Court vacated a fine of over $1 

million imposed by the FCC because the FCC’s written guidelines gave no notice that a fleeting 

expletive or a brief shot of nudity could be actionably indecent under 18 U.S.C. section 1464, which 

broadly prohibits “any obscene, indecent, or profane language” by radio or television.  The high court 

ruled, “A fundamental principle in our legal system is that laws which regulate persons or entities 

must give fair notice of conduct that is forbidden or required” and “[t]his requirement of clarity in 

regulation is essential to the protections provided by the Due Process Clause . . . .”  (Fox Television, 

supra, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2317.) 

Here, PacifiCare was not given “fair notice” of CDI’s novel and unsupported interpretation of 

section 790.03(h)(1) and (h)(3) – the only statutory provisions upon which penalties can be based.  

Significantly, even the non-penal statute, upon which CDI seeks to base penalties – section 10169, 

subdivision (i) – specifies the materials that must inform an insurer about IMR rights but nowhere 

mentions EOBs.  Yet, the Legislature was aware of EOBs when it enacted section 10169, subdivision 

(i), as it specifically refers to them elsewhere in the Insurance Code.  (See e.g., §§ 10123.13, subd. 

(a); 10123.147, subd. (a).)  Even if CDI could now conclude that PacifiCare should have inserted the 

right to an IMR in its EOBs, PacifiCare plainly lacked fair notice that it could be subject to millions 

of dollars in punishment for omitting notice of IMR rights in its EOBs. 

This is true even with respect to the violations alleged after March 24, 2007.  First, there was 

no notice at that time that the failure to include IMR rights in an EOB was an unfair claims settlement 

practice.  Second, there was no prior notice that any delay in developing the correct language for 

IMRs after March 24, 2007, would subject PacifiCare to an unfair claims settlement practice or any 
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penalties.  CDI knew that PacifiCare was awaiting its approval, but there was absolutely no notice to 

PacifiCare that it had to incorporate the new language by a specified date, even if it had not yet 

received CDI’s approval of its language.  Moreover, as discussed above, CDI did not provide the 

language that PacifiCare was required to include but simply raised objections to each iteration of the 

language that PacifiCare proposed.  Although PacifiCare used the form language that an industry 

group in which CDI participated had developed (exhs. 5306, 5308, 5309, 5357, 5391, 5544; Tr. 

8878:12-8879:16, 8889:10-17, 13458:15-13460:22, 13523:10-13524:13, 18038:12-18040:23 [Monk]; 

Tr. 279:4-25, 11029:10-11030:12, 11075:5-24, 11080:5-10, 11086:13-11090:11 [Smith]; P.P.F. 475, 

477), CDI determined that the language was insufficient, but did not provide PacifiCare any fair 

notice of what language CDI considered sufficient and which PacifiCare could have relied upon in 

order to avoid penalties. 

Further, CDI knew that other insurers were not including IMR language in their EOBs during 

the relevant time, but did not cite them.  (See Tr. 23368:11-25, 23380:5-16, 23387:8-20 [Cignarale]; 

Tr. 24348:1-24350:7 [Stead]; P.P.F. 465.)  The failure to pursue enforcement for the same alleged 

violations also contributed to the lack of any notice. 

In sum, even if PacifiCare had notice that it was required to include IMR language in its 

EOBs, and even if PacifiCare had notice of what language it was required to include, PacifiCare 

lacked notice that its failure to include the IMR language immediately after March 23, 2007 could be 

considered an unfair claims settlement practice and subject it to penalties.  CDI never informed 

PacifiCare that it was supposedly violating section 790.03(h) during the period while CDI was 

negotiating with PacifiCare over the proposed language.  (Tr. 22024:10-23 [Kessler]; Tr. 22943:15-

21; 23016:1-23020:3 [Cignarale], Tr. 24257:2-24258:18 [Stead ]; P.P.F. 493.)  Not even in CDI’s 

Order to Show Cause in this action did CDI ever identify a failure to include IMR language in an 

EOB as an unfair claims settlement practice.  (Tr. 23026:25-23028:18 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 497.)  The 

notion that PacifiCare, in hindsight, should have implemented as an interim step IMR notice language 
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that CDI asserts was unacceptable undoubtedly would have been the genesis of tens of thousands of 

additional alleged violations for willful misconduct.  (Tr. 13447:12-21, 13524:22-25 [Diaz]; Tr. 

24988:13-22, 25533:3-24 [Stead].) 

Accordingly, as a matter of due process, PacifiCare lacked fair notice that section 790.03(h)’s 

prohibition against misrepresentation or against the failure to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for processing claims covered a delay in finding acceptable language for informing 

members of their right to an IMR in an EOB. 

7. CDI Is Also Barred From Alleging Conduct Outside Of The 2007 
MCE Period. 

CDI is also charging PacifiCare for allegedly non-compliant forms outside of the 2007 MCE 

period (June 1 to June 15, 2007), resulting in approximately 49,530 additional allegations that fall 

within the scope of a separate market conduct examination – the 2009 exam – that is still currently 

underway. 

Allegations arising from conduct outside the relevant time period of the 2007 MCE are 

outside the scope of this case.  This Court made that clear many months ago: 

THE COURT:  That’s fair.  The dates -- I am not going to find violations 

of law outside of the dates that are covered in the exam.  That there are 

other violations may be relevant to what I do after that or before that or 

however I take it on.  But I am not going to find violations that aren’t part 

of the original exam.  (Tr. 10448:25-10449:6.) 

8. Any Penalty Must Be At The Low End Of The Permissible 
Spectrum. 

a) The Violations At Issue Were Inadvertent And Constituted 
No More Than One Act. 

Even if failing to include the IMR language in PacifiCare’s EOBs constituted an unfair claims 

settlement practice in violation of section 790.03(h) and fair notice thereof had been given, the over 

320,000 alleged violations must be considered a single act, warranting only a single penalty.   
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Section 790.035, subdivision (a), provides that “when the issuance, amendment, or servicing 

of a policy or endorsement is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single act for the purpose of this 

section.”  As discussed earlier at Section VI.C.6(b), “inadvertence” is a lack of heedfulness or 

attentiveness, inattention, or fault from negligence.  Here, the failure to include language in a form 

was “inadvertent” within the meaning of section 790.035, subdivision (a).   

CDI argues that even if the initial omission of IMR language was inadvertent, “PacifiCare’s 

omission of IMR language from EOBs after receiving notice of the noncompliance was not 

inadvertent.”  (CDI Br. 167.)  But PacifiCare’s delay in incorporating IMR language in the EOBs, 

while it awaited CDI’s approval, was certainly inadvertent.   

First, the initial time period between the March 23 phone call and PacifiCare’s preparation of 

the first draft of a revised EOB was reasonable given the need to draft language suitable for an EOB.  

(Tr. 8871:11-8872:19 [Monk].)  Thereafter, PacifiCare believed that it was on the “verge of arriving 

at resolution with the Department,” and implementing the revised EOBs (and along with its 

companion project, modified EOPs).  (Tr. 9305:20-9306:4 [Monk].)  Each and every new set of CDI 

comments regarding IMR language was incorporated and sent back to CDI in a timely manner.  (Tr. 

8878:12-8879:16, 8889:10-17; 13458:15-13460:22, 13523:10-13524:13 [Monk]; Tr. 13460:3-

13469:2 [Diaz].)  PacifiCare personnel never imagined that the back-and-forth discussions with CDI 

over IMR language acceptable to CDI would take as long as it did.  (Tr. 9305:1-10 [Monk].)  This 

delay, as CDI continued to reject various formulations of the IMR language, was clearly inadvertent.   

Accordingly, the multiple forms that PacifiCare sent without the IMR language should all be 

considered one act, warranting one penalty, within the meaning of section 790.035. 

Alternatively, CDI has defined “single act” for purposes of assessing penalties under section 

790.035, subdivision (a), as “any commission or omission which in and of itself constitutes a 

violation of California Insurance Code Section 790.03.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. 

(v).)  The commission which constitutes the violation of section 790.03 here – if proven – would be 
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the unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h); thus, the violation is the practice 

(encompassing all of the acts that constitute the practice), which qualifies as a single act for purposes 

of a penalty under Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v). 

Treatment of the failure to include IMR language in EOBs as a single act, or no more than a 

few acts, would conform with CDI’s approach with respect to an errant form in other cases.  

Conversely, treating each purportedly errant EOB as a separate act would radically deviate from 

CDI’s past practice.  Historically, CDI has cited only the number of non-compliant forms in a sample 

of claims, or cited only one “in general” violation for having an incorrect form.  (Tr. 25255:1-

25256:5 [Stead]; Exhs. 5418, 5479; see, e.g., Standard Insurance Co. 10/25/10 MCE Report [citing 

one “in general” 10123.13(a) violation for failing to put right of review language in EOPs], Request 

for Official Notice, Tab 20; Unicare Life & Health Insurance Company 11/12/10 MCE Report [citing 

one “in general” 10123.13(a) violation for failure to provide CDI address on EOPs], Request for 

Official Notice, Tab 030; Symetra Life Insurance 10/9/07 MCE Report [citing one “general” 

violation of 2695.7(b)(3) for failing to include the right to CDI review language in EOBs]; Hana 

Home Protection 5/19/08 MCE Report [citing one “in general” violation of 2695.7(b)(3) for failure 

to include the right to CDI language] , Request for Official Notice, Tab 034.)  Even in the 2007 MCE 

report on PacifiCare, CDI did not treat each EOB form as a separate violation of section 790.03.  (Tr. 

11575:3-11577:22 [David], Tr. 21303:15-21306:21; 21313:1-21314:9 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 485(a).)   

In sum, the failure to include IMR language in EOBs arises from a single decision. (Tr. 

8866:10-20, 9257:7-13 [Monk]; P.P.F. 456, 484.)  Assuming that PacifiCare was obligated to include 

such a notice in EOBs, the failure was clearly inadvertent, thereby limiting CDI to a single penalty 

not to exceed $5,000.  Further, CDI’s own regulation and past practice suggest that the allegedly 

errant forms should be considered only one or at most a few acts. 



 

136 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

b) Any Violation Was Not Willful. 

Even if the failure to include IMR language in EOBs was not inadvertent, the failure could not 

be willful.  As discussed earlier, section 790.035’s two-tiered penalty structure shows that “willful” 

must require more than a mere willingness or purpose to commit the conduct that happens to be 

unlawful.  Instead, “[w]illful” conduct is conduct that is performed with knowledge that such an 

omission violates the law and with the specific intent to violate the law.  (See Section VI.C.6(b), 

ante.) 

But CDI cannot show that PacifiCare’s omission of IMR language from its EOBs was 

“willful” conduct under this definition.  First, the initial omission of IMR language from EOBs was 

rational, if not correct.  (Tr. 8866:10-20 [Monk]; P.P.F. 456.)  There was no intent to violate the law.  

Second, after the March 23, 2007 phone call, PacifiCare was either proceeding promptly to effect 

modifications to its EOBs or waiting for CDI’s approval of acceptable language so that it could 

comply with the law.  Again, there was no intent to violate the law. 

Furthermore, even utilizing CDI’s erroneous definition of “willful” as the “purpose . . . to . . . 

make the omission” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (y)), PacifiCare did not have the 

purpose of omitting the IMR language from EOBs as it waited for CDI approval.  To the contrary, it 

had the purpose of including the language for the period that violations are alleged (March 23, 2007 

to June 15, 2007).  CDI argues that “PacifiCare was entitled to develop alternative legally compliant 

language, but it was not entitled to continue to issue misleading EOBs while it was doing so.”  (CDI 

Br. 166.)  Putting aside the fact that an EOB without IMR language is not misleading (given that the 

right to an IMR is not triggered at that point), PacifiCare did not have the purpose of omitting the 

IMR language during the March-June period.  A government agency cannot properly argue that there 

is a purpose to omit language when it is the government agency that is delaying in approving the 

correct language. 
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Accordingly, PacifiCare’s omission of IMR language from EOBs was not willful and thus the 

maximum potential penalty is $5,000 per act. 

c) There Is No Evidence Of Any Harm Resulting From Any 
Violations. 

If CDI proves (1) that PacifiCare committed an unfair claims settlement practice, (2) that fair 

notice was given that the omission of IMR language would constitute an unfair practice, (3) that the 

omission was not inadvertent, and (4) that each EOB constitutes a separate act in violation, this Court 

must still fix a particular penalty per act. 

Of particular importance in fixing a penalty is that there is absolutely no evidence that 

PacifiCare’s failure to include the IMR language caused any harm whatsoever.  CDI argues that 

“[t]he potential consequences of the omitted IMR notice are serious” because “[c]onsumers are 

typically unaware of their legal rights to appeal health care determinations outside of the insurer-

administered appeal process.”  (CDI Br. 164, citing Cignarale’s inadmissible testimony.)  However, 

since CDI admits that “PacifiCare includes IMR language on its certificates of coverage, appeal 

resolution letters, and denial letters,” among other documents (id. at p. 158), there cannot possibly be 

any harm for the failure to advise about these rights on yet another form, particularly when that right 

is not ripe when the EOB is issued. 

CDI argues that “[m]any consumers who petition for an IMR review and are found to be 

ineligible for the service in question may nonetheless have meritorious complaints of other kinds.”  

(CDI Br. 164.)  But it is pure speculation to suggest that an ineligible petition for IMR review would 

lead to review of a meritorious claim.  In any event, consumers are informed about the right to seek 

CDI review of issues in every EOB they receive; thus, those consumers who did not qualify for an 

IMR, or simply had other concerns, always had notice of and the right to seek CDI’s assistance with 

their issues. 

CDI also argues that “[e]ven consumers who never avail themselves of the IMR process 

benefit from knowing that the government guarantees a neutral review of claim denials that could 
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stand in the way of needed medical care.”  (CDI Br. 165.)  This is also pure speculation and does not 

establish any harm. 

In sum, CDI has not submitted evidence of a single person who had a right to an IMR but did 

not pursue it owing to a lack of notice in an EOB.  (P.P.F. 487.)  And it is quite clear there was no 

such harm, because once PacifiCare began including IMR language in its EOBs, the number of IMRs 

did not increase at all.  As CDI concedes, an IMR review is only available when the denial of a claim 

is based on a finding that the service was not medically necessary and is “therefore inapplicable to 

many denials.”  (CDI Br. 167:16-17.)  Indeed, there were only 57 medical necessity claim denials 

involving EOBs during the same period that PacifiCare issued over 300,000 EOBs.  (P.P.F. 449.)  

The failure to restate information about the right for an IMR in an EOB did not cause any 

conceivable harm, and any penalty against PacifiCare would therefore need to be at the lowest end of 

any penalty range. 

d) Remedial Measures. 

Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(8) provides that in setting a penalty, the Commissioner 

shall consider “whether the licensee has taken remedial measures with respect to the noncomplying 

act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).) 

CDI asserts that while Cignarale “credited PacifiCare for undertaking remedial measures to 

correct its EOBs,” he “recognized only slight mitigation due to the failure to promptly revise the 

form, even in the interim, while developing its one-page language.”  (CDI Br. 168:14-16.)  However, 

there is no basis for not fully crediting PacifiCare’s remedial measures when it was CDI’s internal 

disagreements over compliant IMR language and the failure to provide PacifiCare with a ready 

sample which delayed implementation of the remedial measure.  Further, the remedial measure 

regulation does not suggest that implementing a remedial measure within three months in any way 

alters the fact that the remedial measures were willingly taken without unreasonable delay. 
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e) Good Faith. 

Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(11) provides that in setting a penalty, the Commissioner 

shall consider “whether, under the totality of circumstances, the licensee made a good faith attempt to 

comply with the provisions of this subchapter.”  CDI acknowledges that Mr. Cignarale “found 

significant mitigation in the company’s good faith in attempting to comply (Reg. 2695.12, subd. 

(a)(11)), recognizing the quick submission of revisions after receiving CDI-staff comments and 

PacifiCare’s evident belief at the time that it was entitled to await staff ‘approval’ of its proposed 

language.”  (CDI Br. 168:17-21.)  This admission conflicts with CDI’s grudging mitigation for 

PacifiCare’s remedial measures because it shows that PacifiCare moved quickly in taking remedial 

measures, subject to receipt of CDI’s comments. 

f) Conclusion. 

CDI’s proposed penalty of $2,275 per act in violation, which CDI reduces in subsequent 

50,000-blocks, for a total penalty of $225.7 million, is absurd.  Even if CDI could make out an unfair 

claims settlement practice, the omission was inadvertent, thereby justifying only a single penalty of 

no more than $5,000 pursuant to section 790.035, subdivision (a).  And even if PacifiCare’s 

inadvertent omission of IMR language is not deemed inadvertent, any penalty must be nominal based 

on the lack of evidence of any harm (since the right to an IMR is not triggered at that point, and since 

the notice was given in other documents), PacifiCare’s willing remediation and good faith, and CDI’s 

past practice in only assessing a penalty for a single or a sample of errant forms. 

 

B. The Omission Of Notice Of The Right To CDI Review In EOP Claims.  
(CDI Brief, pp. 135-152.) 

Nearly 51% of the claimed violations (462,805 acts) are attributable to PacifiCare’s failure to 

advise providers in the EOPs of their right to have contested or denied claims reviewed by CDI.  

(OSC, ¶¶ 126-133.)   
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Again, CDI premises this unfair claims settlement practice upon the violation of a non-penal 

statute (section 10123.13, subdivision (a)), which does not support a violation of section 790.03(h) or 

give notice that violation of such a non-penal statute would subject an insurer to penalties. 

First, the omission of a statutory notice of a provider’s right to CDI review in EOPs cannot 

constitute a misrepresentation under section 790.03(h)(1) because (1) section 790.03(h)(1) is directed 

to misrepresentations to “claimants,” not providers, and CDI’s own manual establishes that providers 

are not “claimants” (exh. 1197, pp. 6-7), and (2) an omission of a statutory notice cannot be a 

misrepresentation of a fact or policy provision relating to coverage under section 790.03(h)(1).  

Indeed, CDI did not present a single provider who claimed that it was confused regarding its rights as 

a result of this omission.  Likewise, the omission of a statutory notice in an EOP cannot mean, in and 

of itself, that PacifiCare failed to adopt reasonable standards for promptly processing claims under 

section 790.03(h)(3). 

In addition, in light of the lack of harm and PacifiCare’s remediation of the omission, CDI’s 

effort to penalize PacifiCare for each purportedly non-compliant EOB for the very period that 

PacifiCare was awaiting CDI’s approval of acceptable language for its EOBs and EOPs (so that it 

could implement the changes at a single time), is nothing short of outrageous, particularly given the 

lack of notice that awaiting CDI approval would subject it to penalties.  Finally, for the same reason, 

even if CDI could prove a violation of section 790.03, PacifiCare’s conduct was inadvertent and 

therefore CDI must treat any violation as a single act under section 790.035.  That treatment 

comports with CDI’s practice of citing insurers for only one “in general” violation when the 

challenged conduct involves missing language in a form EOB or EOP. 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that from February 22 through June 14, 2007, PacifiCare issued 443,055 EOPs on 

group PPO claims which failed to advise providers of their right to have contested or denied claims 

reviewed by CDI, and that from February 22 through May 31, 2007, PacifiCare issued 19,750 EOPs 
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on individual PPO claims which failed to include the required language.  (OSC at ¶¶ 131-132.)  In 

total, CDI argues that between February 22 and June 15, 2007, “PacifiCare issued at least 462,805 

illegal EOPs.”  (CDI Br. 147.) 

CDI contends that the failure to include this statutory language in EOPs violated sections 

10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a), and Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (b), 

and that “[e]ach knowing issuance of a defective EOP also constitutes an act in violation of section 

790.03, subdivision (h)(1)” and of “section 790.03, subdivision (h)(3).”  (CDI Br. 135-138.) 

Section 10123.13, subdivision (a), provides that where an insurer contests or denies a claim, 

the notice shall, inter alia, “advise the provider . . .  and the insured that either may seek review by the 

department of a claim that the insurer contested or denied, and the notice shall include the address, 

Internet Web site address, and telephone number of the unit within the department that performs this 

review function.  The notice to the provider may be included on either the explanation of benefits or 

remittance advice and shall also contain a statement advising the provider of its right to enter into the 

dispute resolution process described in Section 10123.137.”  Section 10123.147, subdivision (a), 

provides to similar effect. 

CDI’s reference to Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (b)(3) is irrelevant.  Regulation 2695.7, 

subdivision (b)(3) requires that notice of CDI review rights be provided to “the claimant.”  But EOPs 

are issued to “providers,” not claimants.  The definitions for Regulation 2695.7 are found at 

Regulation 2695.2, which specifically defines “claimant” as a “first or third party claimant,” not as a 

provider.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (c).)  Indeed, CDI admits that providers are not 

“claimants.”  (Exh. 1197; Tr. 26131:16-26132:3 [Stead]; P.P.F. 447.) 
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2. The Facts. 

a) PacifiCare’s Misinterpretation Of Newly Enacted Section 
10123.13. 

Sections 10123.13 and 10123.147, subdivision (a) went into effect on January 1, 200635—six 

months before the 2007 MCE period.  These statutes impose two notice requirements on a health 

insurer’s EOP:  (a) a provider’s right to seek CDI review in the event of a contested or denied claim; 

and (b) a provider’s right to participate in the company’s formal provider dispute resolution process. 

Years before the merger, PacifiCare had an established process for reviewing new legislation 

and reporting any new regulatory requirements.  The meetings “included business owners of various 

departments within the Company that would be impacted by the new legislation.”  (Tr. 8891:12-

8893:6 [Monk]; P.P.F. 413.)  However, there were over thirty separate pieces of legislation 

implemented in 2005 that had the potential to impact PacifiCare’s operations in 2006, including 

sections 10123.13, 10123.147, subdivision (a), and 10123.137.  (Tr. 8901:3-5 [Monk]; P.P.F. 414.) 

The PacifiCare personnel responsible for implementing the new notice requirements of 

sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a) incorrectly interpreted the separate 

notice requirements “of review by the department” and the “statement advising the provider of its 

right to enter into the dispute resolution process described in Section 10123.137” as a single notice 

requirement providing for review by the insurance company.  According to Ms. Monk, “they 

implemented the notice requirements as though there was only one notice requirement related to the 

plan’s internal provider dispute mechanism.”  (Tr. 8896:22-25, 8896:18-8899:4, 9271:14-21 [Monk]; 

P.P.F. 415.)  Ms. Monk explained that sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision 

(a) refer to “review by the department”—which PacifiCare staff incorrectly interpreted to mean the 

department within PacifiCare which contested or denied the claim, instead of “the Department of 

                                                 

 35 In that same legislation, the Legislature also amended section 10123.147, subdivision (a) to 
include the “notice” language at issue here. 
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Insurance.”  Ms. Monk explained, “It is referenced here as department with a small ‘d.’  It is not a 

defined term. . . .  I can understand that they read this and thought this was the department within the 

insurance company because of the way it is written here.”  (Tr. 8898:18-25 [Monk].) 

CDI claims that PacifiCare’s initial interpretation “reveal[ed] a shocking negligence in the 

analysis and implementation of new law . . . .”  (CDI Br. 141.)  It argues that it was “plainly absurd” 

for PacifiCare to treat a notice of the right to seek review by the department the same as the notice of 

the insurer’s dispute resolution process.  (Id.)  But the language of section 10123.13 is not that clear:  

It specifies that the notice shall advise the provider that it “may seek review by the department” of the 

contested claim, that the notice “shall include the address, Internet Web site address, and telephone 

number of the unit within the department that performs this review function,” and that the same 

notice “shall also contain a statement advising the provider of its right to enter into the dispute 

resolution process described in Section 10123.137.”  (§ 10123.13, subd. (a)).  The three sets of 

notices contain slightly different information, not making it clear that the first two relate to an entity 

distinct from the third notice. 

CDI also claims that PacifiCare’s interpretation was “unreasonable” because Regulation 

2695.7, subdivision (b)(3), which was “on the books since the 1990s,” requires “that insurers notify 

claimants of their right to have matters ‘reviewed by the California Department of Insurance.’”  (CDI 

Br. 142, fn.15, quoting Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 § 2695.7, subd. (b)(3).)  To the contrary, this 

illustrates the basis for PacifiCare’s initial confusion:  The reference to “the Department of 

Insurance” is clear in Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (b)(3), whereas the reference in the newly 

enacted statutes to “the department” is ambiguous and could be interpreted to mean the department 

within the insurance company.  (Tr. 9271:9-13 [Monk].)  Furthermore, Regulation 2695.7, 

subdivision (b)(3) requires notice only to “claimants,” not “providers,” so it is not applicable here.  

Finally, there would be no reason for PacifiCare personnel to use a regulation adopted in the 1990s in 

order to construe a statute that was newly enacted in 2005. 
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CDI argues that “[t]he legislative history of SB 367 [by which the relevant language in section 

10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a) was enacted] . . . makes absolutely clear that the reference to 

‘department’ in the statute is to the California Department of Insurance.”  (CDI Br. 141-142.)  But 

CDI has not identified any legal requirement or standard of care obligating PacifiCare to review the 

legislative history whenever interpreting a new statute.  (Tr. 9275:9-22 [Monk] (“Well, in the 

ordinary course, they would review the legislation itself.  So if you mean history outside of the 

legislation -- so outside of, say, the Legislature’s declarations and intent, that sort of thing, that would 

not be part of the ordinary course information they review.  Q.  What about senate floor analysis?  A.  

They would not review the senate floor analysis as part of the normal course.”).)  Even CDI’s 

witnesses in this proceeding—including senior officers—demonstrated a remarkable lack of 

familiarity, knowledge, and understanding of the statutes at issue, let alone their legislative history.  

(Exh. 5679; Tr. 23881:25-23883:1, 23883:23-23892:4, 23898:21-23901:5 [Cignarale]) 

CDI also claims that it was unreasonable to construe “department” in sections 10123.13, 

subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a) as anything other than the “Department of Insurance” 

because the Insurance Code defines “department” as “Department of Insurance.”  (CDI Br. 141, 

citing § 21.)  However, the definitional section of the Insurance Code states only that “the general 

provisions hereinafter . . . shall govern the construction of this code” “[u]nless the context otherwise 

requires.”  (§ 5, italics added.)  Further, section 21, which states, “‘Division,’ and ‘department,’ in 

reference to the government of this state, mean the Department of Insurance of this state,” is in an 

entirely different part of the Insurance Code.  There is no indication in sections 10123.13, subdivision 

(a) or 10123.147, subdivision (a) that “department” is being used “in reference to the government of 

this state.” 

CDI next argues that “PacifiCare’s implementation log for that bill stated that section 

10123.13, subdivision (a)” required notice of review by “the Dept. of Insurance.”  (CDI Br. 142; see 

Exh. 5316.)  But CDI misrepresents the clarity of Exhibit 5316.  First, that same document, in 
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describing section 10123.13, subdivision (a), refers in one instance to the “Dept of the insurer” and in 

another to the “Dept. of Insurance.”  (Exh. 5316, p. 867528.)  Second, it shows that PacifiCare staff 

believed that the necessary action in response to the new legislation was to “[r]evise notice to include 

PDR [internal company dispute resolution] rights.”  (Ex. 5316; Tr. 8895:3-25, 8896:18-8899:4, 

9271:14-21 [Monk], P.P.F. 415.) 

As a result of PacifiCare’s initial misinterpretation of sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 

10123.147, subdivision (a), PacifiCare’s EOP language notified providers only of their right to enter 

into PacifiCare’s dispute resolution process.  This failure to include the notice of the right to CDI 

review was “inadvertent.”  (Tr. 8899:19-8900:1, 8901:24-8902:7 [Monk:  “It was based on our 

attempt to interpret the statute and comply with the statute.  If that language was misinterpreted, it 

was not purposefully.”]; P.P.F. 418.) 

Notably, CDI itself failed to detect an issue with the non-compliant EOP forms during its 

2006 MCE of PacifiCare, and did not cite PacifiCare in the draft report for any of the issues related to 

EOBs and EOPs.  (See exh. 5181; Tr. 11430:24-11431:11, 11578:5-9 [David]; P.P.F. 416.) 

b) CDI Requests PacifiCare To Incorporate The Omitted 
Language And PacifiCare Complies Within A Reasonable 
Time. 

On February 21, 2007, CDI brought the EOP-language issue to PacifiCare’s attention, and the 

company promptly took steps to include the required notice in all of its EOPs.  (Exhs. 5314, 5049; Tr. 

8889:4-20, 8900:8-22, 9293:1-19, 9297:21-9299:2 [Monk]; P.P.F. 425-430.)36  PacifiCare’s 

regulatory expert, Sue Stead, opined that the company “responded appropriately” and within a 

reasonable time frame.  (Tr. 24989:14-18, 25532:23-25533:24; P.P.F. 425.)  Indeed, internal 

                                                 

 36 The company also improved its processes for reviewing new legislation.  Ironically (in light of 
CDI’s constant disparagement of United in this action), it did so largely by adopting United’s 
processes in that area.  (Exhs. 5049, 5314; Tr. 8900:8-22, 9293:1-19; 9297:21-9299:2 [Monk]; 
P.P.F. 417.) 
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company communications characterized the EOB/EOP project as “urgent” from the outset.  (Exh. 

5432; Tr. 13446:22-13447:6 [Diaz] (“we wanted to resolve it as quickly as possible.”); P.P.F. 426.) 

Nonetheless, CDI complains about various alleged delays in implementing the revised EOP 

language.  (CDI Br. 139-140.)  CDI was unhappy that PacifiCare “forwarded a sample of a revised 

EOP” on March 23, 2007, which was “over a month” later (ibid.), and it complains that PacifiCare 

“was waiting to implement these changes on its EOPs until it had developed compliant IMR language 

on its EOBs.”  (Id. at p. 146.)   

But CDI never directed PacifiCare to complete the revisions to the EOP by any specified 

time.  In fact, CDI did not expect the revised EOP forms to be circulated any earlier than April 30, 

2007.  (Tr. 172:20-173:7 [Smith]; P.P.F. 427.)  Furthermore, although PacifiCare had the revised 

EOP forms ready to be distributed by April 30, 2007, CDI required additional revisions to the current 

EOB project, causing further delay.  (Exh. 5306 [EOP]; Tr. 8872:13-8873:17 [Monk] (EOPs); see 

also exhs. 11 [EOP], 5357 [EOP], 5359 [EOP]; Tr. 9244:20-9245:21 [Monk] (EOP); Tr. 13523:15-25 

[Diaz] (EOB).)  PacifiCare implemented the required changes to its form EOP and EOB for group 

claims on June 8, 2007, and made minor typographical changes to the EOB on June 15, 2007.  (Exhs. 

5314, 5049; Tr. 8889:4-20 [Monk]: P.P.F. 430.)37  During this period, PacifiCare kept CDI staff 

apprised of any changes in schedule for the EOB and met every deadline it established.  (Exh. 5306 

[EOP]; Tr. 8872:13-8873:17 [Monk] (EOPs); see also exhs. 11 [EOP], 5357 [EOP], 5359 [EOP]; Tr. 

9244:20-9245:21 [Monk] (EOP); Tr. 13523:15-25 [Diaz] (EOB).)   

This was a reasonable time frame because (1) the EOP and EOB modifications were treated as 

being a single corrective project since these forms involved the same company product, scope, 

population of claims, and claims platforms.  (Tr. 8901:24-8902:7, 9305:1-9306:9 [Monk]; Tr. 

                                                 

 37 PacifiCare completed its changes to the EOP form for its individual business on November 4, 
2007, as it promptly reported to CDI.  (Exh. 118.)  CDI did not raise an issue as to individual claims 
until now.  (CDI Br. 140.)  It does not allege any violations based on this separate issue. 
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25532:10-25533:24 [Stead]) and (2) PacifiCare’s employees believed that they were “at the verge of 

arriving at resolution with [CDI]” on the modifications to the EOB, thereby not justifying separating 

the two projects.  (Tr. 8872:13-8873:17, 9305:20-9306:4 [Monk]; P.P.F. 428-430.)  As Ms. Monk 

testified, “I think that our team believed all along the way that they were on the verge of arriving at 

resolution with the Department, and they were trying to keep these items together because it did make 

more sense to them to handle them together with this same team that was programming the claims 

system for the same scope of claims at the same time.  So they were trying [to] manage the project 

effectively and to minimize the number of times that the team would have to touch the system.”  (Tr. 

9305:20-9306:4 [Monk].) 

In short, PacifiCare “didn’t anticipate that it was going to take weeks to arrive at a conclusion 

with the Department about that [IMR language in the EOB]” such that it should not simultaneously 

implement the form changes.  (Tr. 9305:1-10 [Monk].)  It bears noting that CDI has accepted 

significantly longer time periods by insurers modifying allegedly non-compliant EOP and EOB forms 

without assessing any penalty.  (Tr. 26127-20:26128:18 [Stead]: P.P.F. 483.) 

3. CDI Has Inflated The Number Of Claims Because Sections 
10123.13, Subdivision (a) And 10123.147, Subdivision (a) Require 
Notice Only When A Claim Is Contested Or Denied. 

CDI grossly overstates the number of purported violations because it includes all claims paid 

from February 22, 2007, to June 14, 2007, not just those contested or denied.  But as CDI admits, 

notice regarding the right to seek CDI review is not required for “every EOP.”  (Tr. 22936:17-23 

[Cignarale]; see also Tr. 24340:16-24341:2, 22834:3-22839:9 [Stead]; P.P.F. 421.)  Instead, the plain 

language of sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a) requires notice to 

providers of their CDI review rights only for a claim that is “contested or denied.”  (P.P.F. 411.)   

CDI nonetheless has charged every EOP issued between February 22, 2007 and June 14, 

2007, as a separate violation because, it argues, “virtually all of them represent notifications to the 

provider that not 100 percent of the claim had been paid, and, therefore, it’s considered a denial, and, 
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therefore, requires this notice.”  (Tr. 22937:1-22938:20, 23186:5-23187:8 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 419.)   

Thus, if PacifiCare issued an EOP and paid benefits at the contracted rate for that claim, but paid 

“less than the amount billed by the provider,” CDI’s position is that this nonetheless constitutes a 

“contested or denied” claim, triggering the right-of-CDI-review language.  (CDI Br. 143.)   

CDI contends that its interpretation of “contested or denied” is necessary because “[a]n 

insurer that believes it is entitled by virtue of its contract with a provider to contest a portion of the 

claim may . . . be illegally withholding money owed to the provider.”  (CDI Br. 144.)  But the statute 

is not intended to address, and CDI does not have the authority to address, disputes over the rates to 

be paid under a provider contract.  (See, e.g., exh. 5651 [informing providers with disputes over rates 

that “your complaint indicate[s] that there is a difference of opinion between you and the insurance 

company that this Department, as outlined in [section] 12921.4(a), does not have the authority to 

decide.”].)  A provider will know if its claim is paid for less than the permitted rate.  Instead, the 

statute is intended to address the situation where a claim is entirely contested or denied.  (See Tr. 

[Stead].) 

Accordingly, CDI’s interpretation of “contested or denied” is not consistent with the industry 

standard.  (Tr. 24340:16-25344:18, 25534:12-25539:17, 25599:14-25600:17 [Stead]; P.P.F. 423.)  A 

statute must be construed to “conform[] with evidence of industry standards.”  (Kirk v. Source One 

Mortgage Servs. Corp. (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 483, 491.)  In the insurance industry, a claim is 

considered “paid” – not wholly or partially “contested” or “denied” – if a payment has been made in 

connection with the claim.  (Tr. 25536:11-25537:4 [Stead]; see also id. at 25537:15-16 [“benefits due 

under the contract have been provided or at least the terms of the policy have been complied with”].)  

Consequently, in accordance with the plain language of the terms “contested” and “denied,” a claim 
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is not deemed “contested” or “denied” unless it includes at least one claim line that is actually 

contested or denied.  (Tr. 25544:6-16, 25550:7-25551:15 [Stead].)38 

CDI’s expansive interpretation of “contested or denied” is not supported by any statute, 

internal regulation, manual, or external guidelines.  (Exh. 1197; Tr. 1864:1-4 [Masters]; Tr. 

11392:11-24 [David]; Tr. 22831:25-22832:6, 22940:9-22942:12 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 422.)  Further, it 

is inconsistent with CDI’s actions in the 2007 MCE.  (Tr. 24343:7-24345:19 [Stead].)  In the context 

of the 2007 MCE, CDI specifically defined a paid claim as a claim where any payment is made.  

(Exh. 5187, p. 5606.)  After correcting for this erroneous construction, the number of allegedly 

improper EOPs at issue decreases from 462,805 to 176,816.  (Exh. 5658.)   

Even if CDI’s interpretation is accepted going forward, there was no fair notice during the 

MCE period that claims paid in full under the contract terms would still be deemed denied and thus 

required notice of CDI review.  Thus, penalties may not be imposed with respect to those EOPs that 

did not expressly “contest” or “deny” a claim. 

4. In Any Event, An Omitted Statutory Notice In EOPs Does Not 
Constitute An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice Under Section 
790.03(h). 

a) There Is No Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(1). 

CDI alleges that “[e]ach knowing issuance of a defective EOP also constitutes an act in 

violation of section 790.03, subdivision (h)(1)” because “EOPs purported to represent the recipients’ 

dispute rights if they disagreed with PacifiCare’s adjudication of their claim, but omitted mention of 

an avenue of appeal deemed essential by the Legislature.”  (CDI Br. 138.)  Like its argument with 

EOBs, the essence of CDI’s contention is that the failure to give notice of a statutory right of review 

                                                 

 38 CDI seeks to support its argument by citing Regulation 2695.7(b)(3).  But that regulation 
refers to the written notice given to a “claimant” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 § 2695.7, subd. (b)(3)), 
which is defined as a “first or their party claimant,” not a provider.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 
§ 2695.2, subd. (c).) 
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constitutes a misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision.  There are three independent reasons 

why CDI’s claim is meritless. 

(1) Subdivision (h)(1) does not cover 
misrepresenntations to “providers.” 

Section 790.03(h)(1) penalizes “[m]isrepresenting to claimants pertinent facts or insurance 

policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”  (Italics added.)  

A “provider” is not a “claimant.”  (Exh. 1197; Tr. 26131:16-26132:3 [Stead]; P.P.F. 447.)  

Section 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a) explicitly distinguish between the 

notice that must be provided to “the claimant,” and the separate “notice to the provider.”  (Italics 

added).   

Likewise, CDI’s regulations do not include “provider” within their definition of “claimant.”  

(See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 § 2695.2, subd. (c) [defining “Claimant” as “first or third party 

claimant”]; Tr. 25313:6-25316:25, 25324:7-16 [Stead] (as used in the Fair Claims Settlement 

Regulations, the term “claimant” does not include “providers,” who submit claims on a fee-for-

service basis).)   

Consequently, the failure to provide statutory notice of review rights to “providers” cannot be 

a misrepresentation “to claimants” under section 790.03(h)(1).  “If there is no ambiguity in the 

language, we presume the Legislature meant what it said and the plain meaning of the statute 

governs.”  (See, e.g., Murphy, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1103.)  Accordingly, CDI’s claim under section 

790.03(h)(1) fails on this ground alone. 

(2) The omission of a statutory notice is not a 
misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision. 

In addition, the alleged failure to notify providers regarding the statutory right of review 

cannot constitute a misrepresentation of a “pertinent fact[] or insurance policy provision[] relating to 

coverage.”  (§ 790.03(h)(1).)  To the contrary, the obligation to notify providers of the right to pursue 

CDI’s procedures comes from a statute, not a policy provision relating to coverage.  Thus, the 
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omission of a statutory notice cannot be a misrepresentation of a policy provision relating to 

coverage.  Likewise, the omission of a notice regarding a statutory right to review is not a 

misrepresentation of “fact . . . relating to coverage.”   

(3) The omission of statutory notice is not, by definition, 
an affirmative “misrepresentation.” 

Finally, the omission of a statutory notice does not constitute a misrepresentation.  The plain 

terms of section 790.03(h)(1) apply only to a “misrepresent[ation],” not a mere omission.  As 

explained earlier at Section VI.C.1, a “misrepresentation” and an “omission” are two different things.  

A misrepresentation is an assertion that is not in accordance with the facts.  (See 1 Witkin, Summary 

of Cal. Law (2005) Contracts, § 287 [“There can be no misrepresentation unless there is a 

representation . . .”], original italics.)  An omission, by contrast, is the absence of an assertion where 

there is a duty to make one.  Where the Legislature has intended to cover omissions as well as 

misrepresentations, it has specified both.  (See Section VI.C.1, ante.) 

In conclusion, the omission of a statutory notice to providers cannot be a misrepresentation of 

fact or of a policy provision relating to coverage under section 790.03(h)(1). 

b) There Is No Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

CDI also argues, without any analysis, that “[e]ach deficient EOP also violates section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(3) because it reflects a knowing failure to adopt and implement reasonable standards 

for prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under insurance policies.”  (CDI Br. 138.)   

However, the omission of the requisite statutory notice language in an EOP has nothing to do 

with PacifiCare’s “standards” for the “prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  Surely, the 

statutory notice does not relate to the investigation of claims.  Nor does the omission of the statutory 

notice of the right to CDI’s review in an EOP mean that PacifiCare has failed to adopt reasonable 
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standards for the prompt processing of claims.  CDI would need to prove much more to establish a 

failure to adopt or implement “reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of 

claims.”  It has not.  This is just another example of CDI’s stretching the text of section 790.03(h)(3) 

beyond recognition and in a way that afforded no fair notice that the omission of a notice would 

expose the insurer to massive penalties. 

Thus, the deficient EOPs do not constitute an unfair claims settlement practice under section 

790.03(h)(3). 

5. Any Penalties Would Violate Due Process Because PacifiCare Did 
Not Have Fair Notice That The Omission Of A Statutory Notice, 
While Awaiting CDI’s Approval, Would Subject It To Penalties. 

Even if the omission of a statutory notice in EOPs constituted an unfair claims settlement 

practice under section 790.03(h)(1) or (h)(3), imposing any penalties on this record would violate due 

process. 

As explained earlier, “[e]lementary notions of fairness enshrined in our constitutional 

jurisprudence dictate that a person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject him to 

punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a State may impose.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. 

559, 574.)  The failure to do so requires the vacation of any penalties imposed for conduct not subject 

to fair notice.  (Fox, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2307, 2317 [failure to give fair notice that penalties would be 

imposed for broadcast of fleeting expletives and momentary nudity required that fines and sanctions 

be set aside].) 

Here, the sources of the statutory obligation for providing notice of the right to CDI review—

sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a)—do not authorize penalties.  Thus, 

there was no notice regarding the fact or the severity of the penalty for misinterpreting the 

requirements of those statutes.  Conversely, a plain reading of section 790.03(h) – under which 

penalties are authorized – does not give any fair notice that the failure to provide statutory notice in 

an EOP form could possibly give rise to an unfair claims settlement practice.  Neither section 
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790.03(h)’s prohibition against factual or policy misrepresentations nor its prohibition against the 

failure to adopt reasonable standards for claims processing gave fair notice that the inadvertent 

omission of a statutory notice in one particular form could possibly be an unfair claims settlement 

practice. 

In Christopher, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2156, the U.S. Supreme Court found that an agency’s 

interpretation of an ambiguous regulation “to impose potentially massive liability on respondent for 

conduct that occurred well before that interpretation was announced” (id. at p. 2159) “would 

seriously undermine the principle that agencies should provide regulated parties ‘fair warning of the 

conduct [a regulation] prohibits or requires’” (id. at p. 2169).  “In penalty cases, courts will not 

accord substantial deference to an agency’s interpretation of an ambiguous rule in circumstances 

where the rule did not place the individual or firm on notice that the conduct at issue constituted a 

violation of a rule.”  (1 Pierce, Administrative Law Treatise (5th ed. 2010), § 6.11, p. 543, cited in 

Christopher, supra, 2167, fn. 15.) 

Thus, PacifiCare did not have adequate notice that non-compliant EOP forms could be 

charged as violations of section 790.03 and subject it to penalties.  (Tr. 22024:10-23 [Kessler]; Tr. 

22943:10-21, 23016:1-23019:9 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 443-447.)   

The lack of notice is highlighted by the fact that CDI itself did not originally consider the non-

compliant EOPs to be violations of section 790.03(h).  In the final 2007 MCE reports for PacifiCare, 

CDI acknowledged that the “right of review” issue was something other than a violation of section 

790.03, despite CDI’s legal obligation to report any violations of section 790.03 in the final MCE 

report.  (Tr. 22837:3-10, 23016:1-23019:9 [Cignarale] [“Q.  Fair to say that there’s nothing in this 

confidential report that would have put the company on notice that the Department was considering 
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contending that any of these alleged violations were Section 790.03, correct?  A.  Correct, not in this 

report. . . .”]; Tr. 24416:9-24417:8 [Stead]; P.P.F. 219, 326, 443-447.)39   

Moreover, the original OSC in this action did not plead the alleged violations involving EOPs 

as violations of section 790.03, again showing that CDI itself did not consider the omission to be an 

unfair claims settlement practice.  (Exh. 1; Tr. 23025:12-23026:24 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 443-447.)   

In addition, PacifiCare had absolutely no notice that it would be charged for non-compliant 

EOPs that were issued while it was cooperating with CDI over acceptable revised language for its 

EOPs and EOBs.  To the contrary, CDI had accepted significantly longer time periods for insurers to 

modify non-compliant EOPs and EOBs without assessing any penalty.  (Tr. 26127:20-26128:18. 

[Stead]) 

Finally, the lack of notice regarding the severity of the penalty is highlighted by the fact that 

CDI has departed in this proceeding from its historical practice by citing every allegedly non-

compliant EOP form as a basis for a penalty.  In a number of other examinations and enforcement 

actions, CDI cited only one “in general” violation for having an incorrect form, even though it was 

aware that the non-compliance was more widespread.  (See, e.g., Standard Insurance Co. 10/25/10 

MCE Report [citing one “in general” 10123.13(a) violation for failing to put CDI Review Right 

language in EOPs] , Request for Official Notice, Tab 20; Unicare Life & Health Insurance Company 

11/12/10 MCE Report [citing one “in general” 10123.13(a) violation for failure to provide CDI 

address on EOPs] , Request for Official Notice, Tab 030; Symetra Life Insurance 10/9/07 MCE 

Report [citing one “in general” violation of 2695.7(b)(3) for failing to include CDI Right of Review 

language in EOBs] , Request for Official Notice, Tab 028; Hana Home Protection 5/19/08 MCE 

Report [citing one “in general” violation of 2695.7(b)(3) for failure to provide CDI Right of Review 

language] , Request for Official Notice, Tab 034.)  In the Blue Shield and Blue Cross examinations, 

                                                 

 39 Significantly, CDI’s senior management reviewed those MCE reports.  (Tr. 23011:17-
23013:24 [Cignarale].)  
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CDI cited only the number of non-compliant forms in the sample as violations, even though it was 

aware that the insurers had many more violations across the overall claims population.  (Tr. 25255:1-

25256:5 [Stead]; exhs. 5418, 5479.) 

Accordingly, any penalties issued under section 790.03(h) premised on violations of sections 

10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a) – which do not provide for penalties – 

would violate well-established due process principles:  PacifiCare did not receive fair notice that the 

omission of a notice on a form would constitute an unfair claims settlement practice and absolutely 

no notice regarding the severity of the penalty arising from such an omission. 

6. CDI Is Also Barred From Alleging Conduct Outside Of The 2007 
MCE Period. 

CDI is also charging PacifiCare for allegedly non-compliant forms outside of the 2007 MCE 

period (June 1 to June 15, 2007), resulting in approximately 49,348 additional allegations that fall 

within the scope of a separate market conduct examination – the 2009 exam – that is still currently 

underway. 

Allegations arising from conduct outside the relevant time period of the 2007 MCE are 

outside the scope of this case.  This Court made that clear many months ago: 

THE COURT:  That's fair.  The dates -- I am not going to find violations 

of law outside of the dates that are covered in the exam.  That there are 

other violations may be relevant to what I do after that or before that or 

however I take it on.  But I am not going to find violations that aren't part 

of the original exam.  (Tr. 10448:25-10449:6.) 
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7. Even If  CDI Could Prove An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice, 
The Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory 
Principles Requires That Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

a) The Violations At Issue Were Inadvertent And Could 
Constitute No More Than One Act. 

Even if an unfair claims settlement practice could be established, the transmittal of the non-

compliant EOPs must be considered a single act (Tr. 24438:20-24440:12 [Stead]; P.P.F. 432), 

warranting a single penalty of no more than $5,000.  Under section 790.035, subdivision (a), “when 

the issuance, amendment, or servicing of a policy . . . is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single 

act for the purpose of this section [in assessing penalties].”  As explained earlier, “[i]nadvertence is 

defined as lack of heedfulness or attentiveness, inattention, fault from negligence.”  (See Kooper v. 

King, supra, 195 Cal.App.2d 621, 626.) 

Here, neglecting to include the statutory notice in EOPs was the result of inadvertence.  As 

Ms. Monk testified, “[The omission] was based on our attempt to interpret the statute and comply 

with the statute.  If that language was misinterpreted, it was not purposefully.”  (Tr. 8899.19-25 

[Monk]; P.P.F. 418.)  Further, the failure to include this language in the EOPs stems from a single 

decision.  (Tr. 8896:18-8899:4, 8899:19-8900:1 [Monk]; P.P.F. 433.)   

CDI argues that “PacifiCare deliberately chose to continue issuing EOPs . . . after it had been 

informed that its EOPs were illegally omitting this language” and thus “[f]rom February 22, 2007 

forward, PacifiCare willingly and purposefully misrepresented providers’ options for challenging 

contested or denied claims.”  (CDI Br. 149.)  But this ignores the fact that PacifiCare was drafting the 

new language for the EOPs up to April 30, 2007, and then awaiting CDI’s approval of the language 

in its EOPs and EOBs during the period that CDI now charges violations.  As explained with respect 

to EOBs (see Section VII.A.2, ante), PacifiCare “didn’t anticipate that it was going to take weeks to 

arrive at a conclusion with the Department about that [IMR language in the EOB].”  (Tr. 9305:1-10 

[Monk].)  If PacifiCare had known that each day that it did not include a statutory notice in an EOP, 

it would be subjected to penalties, it would have surely issued new EOP forms earlier.  Accordingly, 
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it was purely inadvertent that the revised EOPs were not issued earlier.  In any event, once CDI 

agreed to the corrective form language, PacifiCare implemented these changes within a reasonable 

time.  (Exh. 5432; Tr. 25532:23-25533:24 [Stead]; P.P.F. 425.) 

Alternatively, CDI’s own regulations define “‘[s]ingle act for the purpose of determining any 

penalty pursuant to California Insurance Code Section 790.035” as “any commission or omission 

which in and of itself constitutes a violation of California Insurance Code Section 790.03 or this 

subchapter.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (v).)  The commission that constitutes the 

violation of section 790.03 is the unfair claims settlement practice prohibited by section 790.03(h), 

not the individual acts that constitute that practice.  Accordingly, CDI’s own regulations mandate that 

the unfair practice constitutes the “act” upon which the penalty is assessed; consequently, only one 

penalty can be assessed. 

b) Any Harm Is Speculative. 

As noted earlier, the most important factor in determining penalties is the degree of harm.  

(See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(12); R.J. Reynolds, supra, 37 Cal.4th at p. 728; 

State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 417.) 

But there is no evidence that even a single provider was harmed by failing to receive the 

statutory notice in EOPs.  (Exh. 5505; Tr. 20876:16-20877:4 [Kessler]; Tr. 16882:4-16, 16937:22-

16939:16 [Wetzel]; Tr. 19000:4-10 [Zaretsky]; Tr. 23973:7-23974:13 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 436.)  No 

provider ever complained about the lack of statutory notice in PacifiCare’s form EOP.  (Tr. 271:8-

272:17 [Smith]; P.P.F. 440.)  Nor did PacifiCare experience any material increase in the number of 

providers seeking CDI intervention regarding claims in the period following the addition of the notice 

of CDI review rights in EOPs.  (Exh. 5317; Tr. 8902:20-8903:25 [Monk], Tr. 20873:14-20876:25 

[Kessler]; P.P.F. 441.)  In fact, following the addition of this language, the raw number of complaints 
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CDI deemed to be justified against PacifiCare actually went down.  (Exh. 5622; Tr. 20873:14-

20876:25 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 442.)40 

CDI alleges that “PacifiCare’s failure to adequately respond to both informal phone calls and 

formal provider disputes during this time . . . made notification of the right to CDI review all the 

more crucial” because “[m]any claims denials and mispayments could have been remedied . . . if they 

had known to complain to the Department.”  (CDI Br. 146-147.)  But it is completely speculative 

whether providers did not know to complain to CDI, and CDI has never presented any evidence that 

links any assertion regarding the purported “inadequate” customer service with PacifiCare’s omission 

of the notice of CDI-review rights.   

Instead, any alleged harm resulting from PacifiCare’s failure to include the statutory notice in 

EOPs is speculative.  “Whatever its measure in a given case, it is fundamental that damages which 

are speculative, remote, imaginary, contingent, or merely possible cannot serve as a legitimate basis 

for recovery.”  (Piscitelli v. Friedenberg (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 953, 989, quotation marks omitted; 

see also Ferguson v. Lieff, Cabraser, Heimann & Berstein (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1037, 1048 [“the mere 

possibility or even probability that damage will result from wrongful conduct does not render it 

actionable”], quotation marks omitted.) 

CDI argues that “[a]lthough providers typically know more about their legal rights with 

respect to insurers than do consumers . . . awareness likely had not spread throughout the medical 

community.”  (CDI Br. 146.)  But that is sheer conjecture.  Here, in particular, it is highly unlikely 

that providers were unaware of their right to CDI review.  Providers make it their business to know 

their rights vis-a-vis insurers.  (See Tr. 20872:17-21 [Kessler], Tr. 25065:23-25066:8 [Stead]; P.P.F. 

                                                 

 40 However, the number of complaints that CDI ultimately deemed unjustified did increase.  CDI 
can take much of the credit for these meritless complaints, given its request to CMA to encourage 
its members to submit complaints and “rack up the numbers.”  (Exh. 5413.) 
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437.)41  Indeed, providers actively lobbied for this right, and virtually every provider organization in 

California (including CMA, hospital and medical groups, and virtually every specialty practice 

association) was a supporter.  (Tr. 20873:3-10 [Kessler]; Tr. 1237:6-8 [Black]; P.P.F. 438.)  CDI also 

was required to publicize the new law in a variety of forms, including on its website.  (Tr. 20873:3-10 

[Kessler]; P.P.F. 438.)  There is no evidence that the vast majority of providers were unaware of the 

right to CDI review. 

CDI also argues that the absence of statutory notice in EOPs “harmed” providers because it 

infringed on their right to petition the government, “and impediments to the exercise of that right 

[are] [themselves] a form of harm.”  (CDI Br. 147.)  But there is no evidence that any provider 

actually was impeded or “chilled” from exercising its right to petition the government.  Further, 

PacifiCare is not a “state actor” and therefore it is not subject to claims of infringement of the First 

Amendment.  (See, e.g., NCAA v. Tarkanian (1988) 488 U.S. 179, 191.) 

CDI argues that “even providers who would not have filed a complaint with the Department 

may have been more assertive in their interactions with the insurer . . . if they knew that the insurer’s 

determination is subject to governmental review.”  (CDI Br. 147.)  This is pure speculation premised 

on an admission of a lack of harm since it regards “providers who would not have filed a complaint.” 

Finally, CDI is reduced to acknowledging the lack of any evidence of harm by arguing, “[t]hat 

these harms cannot readily be calculated does not mean they can be ignored.  ‘A penalty statute pre-

supposes that its violation produces damage beyond that which is compensable.’”  (CDI Br. 147, 

citing City & County of San Francisco v. Sainz (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1302, 1315.)  But this misses 

                                                 

 41 CDI cites the legislative history of section 10123.13, subdivision (a), which includes language 
about the desire to reduce confusion about the identity of the appropriate regulator and to assure that 
the law is properly implemented.  (CDI Br. 146.)  In fact, the quoted language appears in the 
beginning of the Legislative Digest for SB 367 and does not refer to any specific statutory section.  
(Legis. Counsel’s Dig., Sen. Bill No. 367 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.))  SB 367 itself resulted in other 
statutory enactments and amendments beyond the notice provision of section 10123.13, subdivision 
(a), including sections 10123.137, 10133.66, 10133.67, 12921.1, and 12921.3. 
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the mark.  First, there is no statute that imposes a penalty for the failure to include a notice in an EOP; 

thus, there was no legislative determination that failure to provide this notice causes a harm worthy of 

a penalty.  Second, CDI has failed to provide evidence of any harm whatsoever resulting from the 

lack of notice in the EOPs, whether in the form of compensable damages or otherwise.   

c) The Acts Were Not “Willful.” 

A violation of section 790.03 is not “willful” absent evidence that the insurer had actual 

knowledge that its conduct violated the law and harbored a specific intent to commit that violation.  

(See Section VI.C.6(b), ante.)   

Relying on its watered-down definition that “willful” only requires “a purpose or willingness 

to commit the act” (CDI Br. 149), CDI argues that “PacifiCare deliberately chose to continue issuing 

EOPs . . . after it had been informed that its EOPs were illegally omitting this [the notice] language.”  

(CDI Br. 149.)  But PacifiCare had no purpose of continuing to issue non-compliant EOPs as it never 

thought that it would take CDI so long to approve the EOP and EOB language.  (Tr. 8872:13-

8873:17, 9305:1-9306:4 [Monk]; P.P.F. 428.)  To the contrary, PacifiCare’s purpose was to issue 

EOPs that CDI would consider compliant and thought that it was “on the verge of arriving at 

resolution with the Department.”  (Tr. 9305:20-9306:4 [Monk]; Tr. 13446:22-13447:6 [Diaz:  “we 

wanted to resolve it as quickly as possible”]; exh. 5432; P.P.F. 428.) 

d) The Fact That Every EOP Was Non-compliant Cannot Be 
An Aggravating Factor. 

In calculating the applicable per-unit penalty, Mr. Cignarale found, as an aggravating factor, 

that every EOP was non-compliant during the relevant period.  (CDI Br. 150.)   

That cannot possibly be a proper basis for increasing the amount of the per-unit penalty for 

two reasons:  First, it is an inherent part of the nature of a non-compliant form that multiple copies 

will be issued.  Second, the form continued to be issued because PacifiCare was awaiting CDI 

approval of the new language for the EOBs and EOPs before reprogramming the computer system 

which generates both forms.  Treating the non-compliant form as an aggravating factor based on the 
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fact that the form was used for each EOP punishes PacifiCare twice for the same conduct.  But 

“[p]enal statutes should be given a reasonable and commonsense construction.  Absurd consequences 

are to be avoided if possible.”  (People v. Griffini (1988) 65 Cal.App.4th 581, 588, citation omitted.) 

e) There Is No Basis For CDI’s Contention That There Was A 
Lack Of Good Faith In Complying. 

CDI notes that Mr. Cignarale also found “an absence of a good faith attempt to comply with 

the law” because “[h]e did not credit the claim that PacifiCare misunderstood the statutory reference 

to ‘department’ to be to anything other than the Department of Insurance,” and because CDI drew 

PacifiCare’s attention to the omission.  (CDI Br. 151:4-7.)   

There is no basis for this determination.  First, the evidence – Ms. Monk’s testimony – was 

uncontroverted.   

Second, Mr. Cignarale is not the finder of fact.  It is neither admissible nor his province to 

refuse to credit PacifiCare’s initial interpretation of the term “department” in the newly enacted 

language of sections 10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a).  (See Section III.B, ante.)  CDI is entitled to 

present its argument, but it may not submit a witness to perform the ALJ’s job of making findings of 

good faith. 

Third, after CDI called PacifiCare’s attention to the omitted language in the EOP forms, 

PacifiCare, working closely with CDI, treated the issue as “urgent,” and “responded appropriately” 

and within a reasonable time frame.  (Exh. 5432; Tr. 25532:23-25533:24 [Stead]; see Tr. 13446:22-

13447:6 [Diaz:  “we wanted to resolve it as quickly as possible.”]; P.P.F. 425, 426.)  This was good 

faith. 

Finally, PacifiCare’s decision to treat the EOP forms and EOB forms as a single corrective 

project—which ultimately dictated the timing of the issuance of the revised EOP forms—was 

reasonable and in good faith.  (Tr. 8901:24-8902:7 [Monk]; Tr. 9304:11-9305:10, 13447:7 [Diaz]; 

P.P.F. 428.)  As Ms. Monk testified, “I think that our team believed all along the way that they were 

on the verge of arriving at resolution with the Department, and they were trying to keep these items 
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together because it did make more sense to them to handle them together with this same team that 

was programming the claims system for the same scope of claims at the same time.  So they were 

trying [to] manage the project effectively and to minimize the number of times that the team would 

have to touch the system.”  (See also Tr. 9305:20-9306:4 [Monk].)  It is illogical to claim that 

PacifiCare’s effort to correct the EOP notice in a way that satisfied CDI was anything less than good 

faith. 

f) PacifiCare’s Remedial Measures Mitigate The Amount Of 
Any Penalty. 

As CDI admits, PacifiCare remedied the deficient language in its EOPs.  (CDI Br. 151.)  These 

“remedial measures” should be a mitigating factor in assessing any penalty.  (Cal. Code Regs., 

tit. 10 § 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).)   

Nonetheless, Mr. Cignarale faults PacifiCare because the remedial measures took four months 

to implement.  (CDI Br. 151.)  Such miserly recognition of PacifiCare’s remediation is neither fair 

nor objective.  As explained above (Section VII.B.7(e), ante), PacifiCare treated this issue as an 

“urgent” one, and responded appropriately and within a reasonable time frame under the 

circumstances.  Indeed, CDI has accepted significantly longer time periods by insurers for the 

modification of allegedly non-compliant EOP and EOB forms without assessing any penalty.  (Tr. 

26127:20-26128:18 [Stead].)42 

g) Mr. Cignarale’s Unit-Penalty Is Arbitrary And Based On 
Improper Factors. 

Despite the many mitigating factors by any objective standard (e.g., remedial measures, lack 

of harm, inadvertence), Mr. Cignarale found most of the circumstances to be aggravating and opined 

                                                 

 42 Mr. Cignarale also criticizes PacifiCare’s remedial efforts because correction of non-group 
business took eight months.  (CDI Br. 151:16-17.)  But as Ms. Monk testified, and the ALJ noted, 
the EOBs and EOPs for the group business were the subject of the parties’ evidence.  Notices for 
the individual business post-June 2008 are not the subject of any alleged violations, and PacifiCare 
had no opportunity to present evidence on this point. 
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that an increase of 10% in the unit-penalty from his arbitrary starting point of $3,000 was warranted.  

(CDI Br. 149-150.) 

Mr. Cignarale then prepared a graduated per-unit penalty scheme, guided by his personal 

criterion that the “punishment for each act should exceed [the] harm,” that “the penalty for each act 

should be greater than any benefit the company may have realized from committing that act,” and 

that it should suffice to deter such future violations.  (CDI Br. 152.)   

But as discussed above, there is no evidence that any provider was harmed by failing to 

receive the statutory notice in EOPs.  (Exh. 5505; Tr. 20876:16-20877:4 [Kessler]Tr. 16882:4-16, 

16937:22-16939:16 [Wetzel]; Tr. 19000:4-10 [Zaretsky]; Tr. 23973:7-23974:13[Cignarale]; P.P.F. 

436.)  Nor was there any evidence that PacifiCare received any “benefit” from failing to provide the 

statutory notice.  Moreover, even assuming, arguendo, that PacifiCare “benefits” financially when 

providers decline to seek CDI’s review of contested or denied claims, PacifiCare did not experience 

any material increase in the number of providers who sought CDI intervention regarding claims in the 

period following the addition of CDI right of review language on EOPs.  (Exh. 5317; Tr. 8902:20-

8903:25 [Monk], Tr. 20873:14-20876:25 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 441.)  In fact, following the addition of 

this language, the raw number of complaints CDI deemed to be justified against PacifiCare actually 

went down.  (Exh. 5622; Tr. 20873:14-20876:25 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 442.)  Thus, there is no basis for 

claiming that PacifiCare benefitted from this alleged violation.  Consequently, Mr. Cignarale’s 

assessment of per-unit penalties do not even comport with his personal criterion. 

Mr. Cignarale also factored in the “hundreds of thousands of noncompliant EOPs preceding 

the period of the acts charged.”  (CDI Br. 151.)  Yet, PacifiCare has no history of prior violations.  It 

has never been cited, even in connection with the previous MCE, with regard to issues involving its 

EOPs as an unfair claims settlement practice and received no notice of noncompliance until February 

2007.  CDI cannot premise prior violations on the acts which are the subject of its current 

enforcement action. 
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In short, Mr. Cignarale’s recommended penalty is arbitrary and based on irrelevant factors 

and a misguided assessment of harm, remedial measures, good faith, and willfulness.  He relies on an 

arbitrary methodology that he was never qualified to develop and which is not consistent with 

historical precedent.  He fails to credit PacifiCare for its inadvertence in awaiting CDI’s approval of 

the language in the EOPs and EOBs before issuing the new forms, which requires only a single 

penalty based on a single act.  And he fails to follow Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v) as to what 

constitutes a single “act” for purposes of a penalty. 

If an unfair claims settlement practice can be established and PacifiCare be deemed to have 

had fair notice that its conduct would subject it to penalties, the maximum penalty here must be 

$5,000 for its non-willful failure to include a statutory notice in EOPs while awaiting CDI approval 

of the revised EOP and EOB forms. 

C. The Failure To Timely Acknowledge Claims.  (CDI Brief, pp. 217-240.) 

The next largest set of alleged violations are attributable to PacifiCare’s failure to send letters 

acknowledging its receipt of paper claims.  (OSC, ¶¶ 126-133.)  This consists of a failure to send at 

least 55,475 letters acknowledging receipt of claims from providers (OSC, ¶ 109) and for the period 

from July 1, 2006, through March 12, 2007, at least 988 letters acknowledging receipt of claims from 

members (id., ¶ 111).  These constitute approximately 6.2% (a total of 56,463 acts) of the claimed 

908,654 violations. 

Again, this claim is premised upon the purported violation of another non-penal statute, 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c), but that statute does not require that claims be acknowledged by 

letter.   

Moreover, even if section 10133.66, subdivision (c), could be construed to require 

acknowledgement letters, the violation of that statute cannot constitute a violation of section 

790.03(h).  First, the failure to send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim is not a failure to 

“acknowledge and act upon communications with respect to claims” under section 790.03(h)(2); the 
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receipt of a claim does not constitute a communication with respect to a claim.  Likewise, the failure 

to send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim cannot possibly evidence a failure to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the processing of claims under section 790.03(h)(3), where 

PacifiCare provided various alternatives for acknowledging receipt of claims.  Alternatively, even if 

section 790.03(h) required acknowledgement of receipt of claims by mail, PacifiCare timely 

acknowledged claims in writing 95% of the time such that there was no prohibited general business 

practice here.   

Finally, any penalty, other than a nominal one, would be a violation of due process in light of 

the facts that any failure was inadvertent, there was no specific evidence of any harm caused by the 

failure to send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim, and CDI itself concedes that this failure was 

not willful.  In any event, as demonstrated herein, failure to mail a written acknowledgement of 

receipt cannot constitute an unfair claims settlement practice. 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI claims that the purported failures to send letters acknowledging receipt of claims are 

violations of section 10133.66 and Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) and thus are violations of 

section 790.03(h)(2) and (h)(3), thereby justifying penalties.  (OSC, ¶¶ 109, 111.) 

Section 10133.66, subdivision (c), which provides for acknowledgement of receipt of claims 

from providers, became effective on January 1, 2006, only six months before commencement of the 

2007 MCE period.  (Tr. 8982:24-8983:9 [Monk]; P.P.F. 499.)  A separate regulation, Regulation 

2695.5, subdivision (e), governs the acknowledgement of claims submitted by members.  (Tr. 936:7-

12 [Vandepas]; P.P.F. 500.)  As will be demonstrated, neither the statute’s nor the regulation’s text 

requires that a letter be sent to providers or members. 
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2. The Facts. 

a) The Acknowledgement Process. 

PacifiCare had reasonable processes in place to promptly acknowledge receipt of claims 

during the relevant time period.  (Tr. 7681:3-7694:20 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 501.)   First, PacifiCare had a 

telephone system in place during the entire relevant period which allowed a provider to readily 

confirm the date on which PacifiCare received any claim.  (Tr. 7171:10-7186:16; 9332:14:-9389:25 

[Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7690:9; 8015:7-8030:9 [Berkel]; Exh. 5240, 5241, 5242, 5243; P.P.F. 502.)  The 

telephone acknowledgement system is staffed by customer service representatives (“CSRs”) who are 

specifically trained to inform providers of the “received” “date” for a claim in “response to a general 

claims status inquiry”; providers did not even have to specifically ask about a claim 

acknowledgement to receive such information.  (Tr. 7192:18-7195:19 [Sing]; P.P.F. 504, 504.)  

PacifiCare witnesses demonstrated that it was PacifiCare’s express policy to train its CSRs to look up 

and provide the received date of a claim when responding to general inquiries concerning claims 

status. (Tr. 7193:11-7196:18 [Sing], Tr. 13562:17-13564:11 [Murphy]; exh. 5244; P.P.F. 505.)   

Moreover, providers are aware and did, in fact, utilize the telephone acknowledgement system 

to check on the status of a claim.  Indeed, PacifiCare received over 150,000 inquiries to its provider 

customer service line in 2006 and 2007 concerning claims status, rebutting speculation from CDI that 

providers did not know how to call PacifiCare to obtain claims status information.  (Exh. 5243; P.P.F. 

509.)  Notably, the DMHC determined that PacifiCare’s telephone acknowledgement system satisfied 

the requirements of the DMHC regulation, upon which section 10133.66, subdivision (c) was 

modeled. (Tr. 12402:4-12405:15, 12419:23-12420:19, 12434:5-12442:3 [Monk]; Tr. 11623:2-4 

[David]; exh. 5263; P.P.F. 512.) 

Second, PacifiCare also established a system that automatically acknowledges any claims 

submitted electronically.  (Tr. 7680:14-7687:14 [Berkel]; Exh. 5147, p. L-7; P.P.F. 515.)   
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Third, contracted providers can confirm on PacifiCare’s website portal that their claims have 

been processed.  (Tr. 7692:15-7693:3 [Berkel].)  However, contrary to CDI’s assertion (CDI Br. 

230), PacifiCare does not maintain that its website satisfies its obligation to acknowledge receipt of 

claims under section 10133.66, subdivision (c), even though it is a valuable tool for providers.  

Rather, PacifiCare’s website is simply an additional means of claims acknowledgement that is 

separate and apart from its customer service telephone line, which, by itself, complies with section 

10133.66, subdivision (c).  (Tr. 7692:15-7693:3; 8014:21-8015:10 [Berkel].)  It is therefore 

immaterial that PacifiCare’s website is only accessible to providers who contract with PacifiCare, and 

that the website did not provide information about those claims in Claims Exchange.  (Tr. 8029:5-

8030:9 [Berkel].)  Nonetheless, 80% of PacifiCare’s claims are made by contracting providers, who 

could therefore confirm processing of their claims over the website portal.  And information about 

those claims received in Claims Exchange was available through the customer service number.  (Tr. 

8029:5-8030:9 [Berkel].) 

Finally, even assuming that during the relevant period, the acknowledgement of claims 

required the affirmative transmittal of an acknowledgement that the claim had been received, 

PacifiCare had a general business practice of acknowledging claims within the 15 working day 

statutory period.  (Tr. 24426:14-24428:16 [Stead]; P.P.F. 532.)  Accordingly, approximately 95% of 

claims during the 2007 MCE Period received some form of written acknowledgement within 15 

working days from receipt of the claim (whether by virtue of payment, automatic electronic 

acknowledgements, or otherwise).  (Tr. 5281:3-5282:11 [Dixon]; Tr. 7692:24-7697:2 [Berkel]; exhs. 

5057, 5243; P.P.F. 533.)  This 95% compliance rate is well within the acceptable tolerance threshold 

set forth in the NAIC Handbook.  (Exh. 876; P.P.F. 534.)   

b) CDI Has Not Previously Taken The Position That Insurers 
Must Provide Written Acknowledgement Letters. 

Significantly, prior to this proceeding, CDI had never taken the position that insurers must 

provide written acknowledgement letters or that the failure to do so constituted an unfair claims 
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settlement practice.  (Tr. 20898:2-20900:13, 20991:3-20992:6 [Kessler]; Tr. 22833:1-22834:7, 

22835:12-22837:6 [Cignarale]; Tr. 24257:13-18, 24337:19-24340:15, 24350:8-24357:20 [Stead]; 

exh. 5622; P.P.F. 535.)  Instead, CDI’s position with regard to the mailing of acknowledgement 

letters is not based on the language of the statute, but on an unwritten policy.  (Tr. 11637:1-17 

[David]; P.P.F. 519.)   No written bulletin, guideline, or manual supports CDI’s interpretation that an 

insurer must send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim.  (Tr. 973:17-974:4 [Vandepas]; Tr. 

11572:8-20, 11634:5-24 [David]; Tr. 23661:19-25 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 520.)   And CDI staff gave 

conflicting testimony about whether acknowledgement letters were even required.  (Tr. 1000:25-

1002:4 [Vandepas]; Tr. 5318:25-5320:15 [Dixon]; Tr. 5709:4-9, 5712:14-5713:2 [Roy]; Tr. 

11564:10-11569:20, 11612:5-11613:7 [David]; P.P.F. 521, a-c.)   

Moreover, in the final 2007 MCE reports on PacifiCare, CDI acknowledged that the alleged 

violations of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) are something other than violations of section 790.03 

or Regulation 2695 et seq.  (Exhs. 1, 5296; Tr. 11583:10-11584:5 [David]; Tr. 13285:1-7 [Laucher]; 

P.P.F. 536.)  Indeed, section 10133.66, subdivision (c) was enacted substantially after section 790.03 

and does not refer to section 790.03. 

Further, CDI did not cite PacifiCare for violating Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) by 

reason of its failure to send acknowledgement letters in the Order to Show Cause filed on January 28, 

2008.  CDI did not first allege that such an omission violated Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) until 

October 24, 2011 – 22 months after commencement of this hearing, and nearly four years after the 

OSC was filed.  (Fourth Supplemental Accusation, exh. 1177, ¶ 5.) 

c) PacifiCare Committed To Sending Acknowledgement 
Letters, Whether Required Or Not. 

Nonetheless, even though there was no legal obligation to transmit written acknowledgement 

letters, as demonstrated herein, PacifiCare committed to complete, and did in fact complete, within 

the time promised, a series of corrective actions that included a process for sending written 

acknowledgement letters for any claims not paid within 15 days, a process for imaging and storing 
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any acknowledgement letters that the company sends, and focused audits and weekly reports to 

ensure letters were being sent.  (Tr. 10116:9-10117:12, 10134:4-16, 11197:2-23 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 

531.)  

d) There Is No Evidence Of Harm. 

There is no evidence that any provider was harmed by failing to receive a written 

acknowledgement letter in connection with its submission of a claim.  (Tr. 5316:5-5318:3 [Dixon]; 

Tr. 13218:12-13226:16 [Laucher]; Tr. 223:23-224:12 [Smith]; Tr. 1353:18-1355:2 [Black]; Tr. 

15429:5-15430:12 [Ho]; Tr. 20882:17-20886:2 [Kessler]; exh. 5622; P.P.F. 544.)  

e) CDI’s Allegations Of PacifiCare’s Misstatements. 

CDI wrongfully maintains that in response to CDI’s request for data on the status of 

acknowledgements, PacifiCare responded untruthfully as to the reason that the company could not 

produce data.  (CDI Br. 221-22.)  Although CDI expends pages on this issue, it is irrelevant to 

whether there was an unfair claims settlement practice or to the amount of any penalty.  The 

considerations for determining the appropriate amount of any penalty do not include purported 

misstatements to CDI in the course of its investigation.  However, because CDI seeks to taint 

PacifiCare with these allegations, a short response follows. 

First, CDI complains that in response to CDI’s request dated September 20, 2007, for the 

dates that PacifiCare acknowledged its receipt of claims, PacifiCare explained that those dates were 

“not available for reporting at this time” because those dates “are not tracked in RIMS.”  (CDI Br. 

222:3-7.)  CDI argues that “PacifiCare’s response to CDI was false” because “PacifiCare was unable 

to provide to CDI dates of acknowledgement . . . because the company had failed to send 

acknowledgement letters during that time.”  (Id. at 222:15-17.) 

However, the Company personnel responding to the September 20, 2007 request confused 

acknowledgement letters to members (which the company had historically sent, except from August 

2006 to March 2007), with acknowledgement letters to providers (which the company had never sent 
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prior to March 2008).  (Tr. 7686:3-12, 7706:19-7708:7, 10101:9-10102:15, 10106:13-22 [Berkel]; Tr.  

12442:13-12443:7 [Monk]; P.P.F. 529).  Moreover, CDI’s suggestion that PacifiCare knew it had not 

been sending provider letters, but attempted to hide that supposed non-compliance in its response, is 

contradicted by the evidentiary record.  But PacifiCare clarified within a month of its initial response 

to CDI’s September 20, 2007 request, that member acknowledgement letters were not being sent for a 

specific period of time (August 1, 2006 to January 2007) following the transition of printing and 

outgoing mail operations to United’s printing and mailing operations in Duncan, South Carolina.  

(Exh. 113; Tr. 2340:17-2341:3 [Norket]; Tr. 643:15-644:20 [Vandepas]; Tr. 7705:25-7707:5 

[Berkel].)  And less than three months after CDI’s inquiry, Sue Berkel’s December 7, 2007 letter to 

CDI acknowledged that tens of thousands of letters had not been sent.  By March 2008, PacifiCare 

clarified any remaining confusion around its processes for provider acknowledgements, and asserted 

that it had not sent written acknowledgement letters to providers prior to March 2008.  (Tr. 7696:24-

7697:2 [Berkel]; Tr. 8990:18-8996:7 [Monk]; Tr. 23827:14-23833:21 [Cignarale].)  PacifiCare did 

not make any intentional misrepresentations here.  

CDI also complains that at the hearing, PacifiCare witnesses admitted that member 

acknowledgement letters were not sent until March 13, 2007, not January 2007.  (CDI Br. 225; Tr. 

7706:19-7707:13 [Berkel].)  CDI argues that Ms. Norket, who sent the October 16 response regarding 

the failure to send member acknowledgement letters (exh. 113; Tr. 2340:17-2341:3 [Norket]), learned 

seven months earlier that the initial date was wrong.  (CDI Br. 225.)  But there is absolutely no 

evidence that Ms. Norket believed that the date was wrong when she sent the letter.  To the contrary, 

it is unreasonable for CDI to assume that Ms. Norket would have recalled a detail from seven months 

earlier. 

CDI also claims that the “October 16 response contained additional misrepresentations” 

because while PacifiCare stated that acknowledgement letters were not sent from July 2006 to 

January 2007, “[a]t the hearing PacifiCare admitted that it failed to send any acknowledgement letters 
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to providers for over two years, from January 1, 2006 . . . until March 1, 2008.”  (CDI Br. 224, italics 

added.)  CDI admits that Sue Berkel explained that the staff had instead mistakenly provided the 

dates for noncompliance for member letters.  (Ibid.)  But CDI claims that “explanation is 

implausible” because its “referral clearly requested information about the company’s compliance 

with section 10133.66, subdivision (c).”  (Ibid.)  But CDI’s opaque reference to a statutory provision 

hardly makes “implausible” a misunderstanding that CDI was referring to member acknowledgement 

letters. 

CDI alleges that an internal PacifiCare email dated September 19, 2007, reported that 

PacifiCare may have “‘a gap in the current process’” regarding the mailing of acknowledgement 

letters.  (CDI Br. 222, citing exh. 1139, p. 9768.)  CDI complains that “PacifiCare never disclosed the 

gap in the company’s acknowledgement letter process during the examination process.”  (CDI Br. 

223.)  But this gap had nothing to do with PacifiCare’s failure to send provider acknowledgement 

letters – which is the vast bulk of CDI’s claim regarding acknowledgement letters.  (Monk Tr. 

8993:11-8995:11.)  Rather, the issue was that RIMS had been set up to automatically send out 

member acknowledgement letters if a claim had not been processed within 15 working days of 

receipt.  But if a claim did not arrive in the RIMS system within 15 working days of receipt, a timely 

member acknowledgement letter would not be sent.  (Tr. 2418:7-2420:7, 2426:18-23 [Norket]; exh. 

274.)  However, CDI has not offered any evidence of claims that failed to arrive in RIMS within 15 

working days of receipt; thus, this so-called “gap” in the member claims acknowledgement process is 

at most a hypothetical problem.   

CDI complains that in response to an October 2007 request for sample acknowledgement 

letters, PacifiCare stated that it was unable to provide “‘carbon copies’” and instead provided a 

sample letter, which CDI claims was “fabricate[d].”  (CDI Br. 226.)  However, PacifiCare’s response 

was based on member acknowledgement letters, which were not being imaged at that time.  The 

responding team did not understand the distinction between member and provider acknowledgement 



 

172 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

letters.  (Tr. 11287:9-17 [Berkel].)  As such, the sample letter that PacifiCare did provide appeared to 

be based on a member letter.  (Tr. 12446:3-22 [Monk].) 

CDI also alleges PacifiCare’s two December 7, 2007 letters responding to examination reports 

represented that the company was not sending acknowledgement letters for July 2006 through 

December 2006, when in fact the company was non-compliant for a longer period – from January 

2006 until March 2007 for providers, and from July 2006 to March 2007 for members.  (CDI Br. 287, 

see exhs. 117, p. 3410, 118, p. 3427.)  This criticism is unfair and blown out of proportion.  

Ms. Berkel testified that at the time she prepared the December 7, 2007 letters, she was mistaken 

about whether acknowledgement letters were being sent and during what period.  (Tr. 7671:16-

7672:8 [Berkel]; see also id. at 7681:3-7694:20; 7696:24-7697:2; 7706:7-7707:13; 11279:20-24 

[Berkel].)  But within three months, at a March 2008 meeting with CDI, PacifiCare “updated” the 

statements in those letters with “a written and oral presentation to the Department that specifically 

differentiated [its] actions and performance with respect to member acknowledgment letters versus 

provider acknowledgment letters.”  (Tr. 8990:18-8996:7 [Monk]; see also id. at 8985:5-8988:24 

[Monk]; 8974:24-8976:3; 9313:8-9316:9; 12425:3-12426:9; 12429:3-12430:13 [Monk]; P.P.F. 529-

530, 767e.)  At this meeting, PacifiCare also provided CDI with specific details concerning its claims 

acknowledgement process, including the specific dates when PacifiCare was historically sending 

member acknowledgement letters, the date when PacifiCare began to send provider 

acknowledgement letters, and the availability of claims receipt information from PacifiCare’s 

customer service telephone system.  (Exh. 817, Tr. 7696:24-7697:2 [Berkel]; Tr. 8990:18-8996:7 

[Monk]; Tr. 23827:14-23833:21 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 529-530, 767e.) 

CDI argues that “PacifiCare did not at that March 2008 meeting inform CDI of the actual 

number of acknowledgement violations” and “represented at that March 2008 meeting, as it does at 

this hearing, that its web portal makes it compliant with the acknowledgement statute,” which is 

“false.”  (CDI Br. 228.)  In fact, far from hiding any alleged violations, PacifiCare conceded more 
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violations than existed (and CDI has had to reduce its claims from 81,270 to 56,463), and no one 

purported to represent PacifiCare’s legal position for purposes of this litigation regarding the web 

portal or any of the other alternatives for acknowledging claims under section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c). 

3. Section 10133.66 Authorizes Multiple Methods Of 
Acknowledgement. 

CDI contends that PacifiCare violated section 10133.66, subdivision (c), by failing to send 

letters acknowledging receipt of claims from providers and claimants.  In response to CDI’s position, 

PacifiCare agreed, as part of its corrective action plan, to send these types of acknowledgement 

letters, and over the past two years, it has consistently done so, at great cost to the company (and the 

environment). 

However, nothing in section 10133.66, subdivision (c) requires an insurer to send a letter of 

acknowledgement of receipt. 

a) The Express Language Of Section 10133.66(c) Comports 
With PacifiCare’s Interpretation. 

The full text of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) provides as follows: 

The receipt of each claim shall be identified and acknowledged, 
whether or not complete, and the recorded date of receipt shall be 
disclosed in the same manner as the claim was submitted or provided 
through an electronic means, by telephone, Web site, or another 
mutually agreeable accessible method of notification, by which the 
provider may readily confirm the insurer’s receipt of the claim and the 
recorded date of receipt within 15 working days of the date of receipt of 
the claim by the office designated to receive the claim. 

If a claimant submits a claim to a health insurer using a claims 
clearinghouse, its identification and acknowledgment to the 
clearinghouse within the timeframes set forth above shall constitute 
compliance with this section.  (Italics added.) 

 
Under well-accepted rules of statutory interpretation, “[t]he statute’s plain meaning controls 

. . .  unless its words are ambiguous.”  (Imperial Merchant Serv., Inc. v. Hunt (2009) 47 Cal.4th 381, 

377-388.)  As discussed further below, there is no ambiguity here.  Section 10133.66, subdivision (c) 
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requires that receipt be “identified and acknowledged,” but then permits disclosure of the recorded 

date of receipt by three general methods: (1) acknowledgement “in the same manner as the claim was 

submitted”; (2) acknowledgement through electronic means, by telephone, web site, or another 

mutually agreeable method of notification, “by which the provider may readily confirm the insurer’s 

receipt of the claim and the recorded date of receipt”; or (3) acknowledgement to the claims 

clearinghouse, if the claimant uses the clearinghouse. 

This unambiguous statutory language imposes no duty to send out confirmation letters or 

similar notices in order to “acknowledge” a claim simply because the claim was submitted by mail.  

Rather, it expressly permits an insurer to acknowledge receipt of claims in a number of alternative 

ways, including “by telephone” or “Web site.”  The only requirements are that the chosen method be 

one of those methods authorized by the statute and must allow the provider to “readily confirm the 

insurer’s receipt of the claim and the recorded date of receipt[.]”  (§ 10133.66, subd. (c), italics 

added.)  There is no additional obligation to affirmatively provide notice that the claim was received.   

b) CDI’s Contrary Interpretation Of The Statutory Language 
Is Fundamentally Flawed.   

CDI argues that “[t]he first phrase of section 10133.66(c) – ‘The receipt of each claim shall be 

identified and acknowledged, whether or not complete’ – requires insurers to identify and 

acknowledge the receipt of claims . . .” and that “[i]dentifying and acknowledging a claim requires an 

affirmative act.”  (CDI Br. 217.) 

To the contrary, the identification and acknowledgement of receipt of each claim merely 

requires an internal entry.  This is made clear by the next phrase, which states that “the recorded date 

of receipt shall be disclosed in the same manner as the claim was submitted or provided through an 

electronic means, by telephone, Web site, or another mutually agreeable accessible method of 

notification.”  If the first phrase – “receipt of each claim shall be identified and acknowledged” – 

required an “affirmative act” of acknowledgement, there would be no need to impose a separate 
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disclosure requirement in the second phrase, or to provide alternatives for that disclosure, including 

passive means, such as a web site. 

Moreover, CDI’s contention that section 10133.66, subdivision (c) requires “an affirmative 

act” ignores the express language of the statute, which qualifies the alternative methods for disclosing 

the date of receipt of the claim by the phrase, “by which the provider may readily confirm the 

insurer’s receipt of the claim and the recorded date of receipt.”  (§ 10133.66, subd. (c), italics added.) 

CDI argues that “[s]imply making that information available to providers and imposing the 

burden on them to contact the insurer to find out if their claims have been received does not identify 

and acknowledge that a claim has been received . . . .”  (CDI Br. 218.)  CDI then relies on the 

definition of acknowledge, which it says is “‘to recognize’” or “‘to disclose.’”  (CDI Br. 218, quoting 

Merriam-Webster’s Online Dict.)  It also observes that Black’s Law Dictionary defines 

“acknowledge” as, among other things, “to recognize one’s acts, and assume responsibility 

therefore.”  (CDI Br. 218, quoting Black’s Law Dict., p. 21.)  But if “acknowledge” means 

“recognize,” then acknowledging the receipt of a claim does not require an affirmative act of 

disclosure.  Instead, the statute distinguishes the act of acknowledgement – the “recognition” of the 

receipt of the claim – from the immediately following phrase, which provides for disclosure of the 

recorded date of receipt to providers after the claim is recognized. 

CDI then erroneously contends that “in addition to the requirement to affirmatively identify 

and acknowledge that the claim is received, insurers must disclose to the provider the recorded date 

of receipt ‘in the same manner as the claim was submitted or provided’ by the provider.”  (CDI Br. 

219.)  But if the obligation to identify and acknowledge receipt requires an affirmative act to notify 

the provider, the next phrase, “and the recorded date of receipt shall be disclosed” would be 

surplusage.  However, “where there are several provisions or particulars” in a statute, it should be 

construed “if possible, to be adopted as will give effect to all.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 1858.)  Further, 

CDI is plain wrong in contending that the exclusive way to comply with the disclosure obligations 
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under the statute is by acknowledging receipt of a claim “in the same manner as the claim was 

submitted.”  To the contrary, this provision permits three general methods of acknowledging a claim, 

and disclosure of the date of receipt “in the same manner as the claim was submitted” is only one of 

them.  (See, Section VII.C.3, post.)    

c) The Legislative History Of Section 10133.66(c) Confirms 
PacifiCare’s Interpretation. 

PacifiCare’s textual interpretation of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) is confirmed by the 

legislative history, which shows that section 10133.66, subdivision (c) was intended to mirror a 

regulation that the DMHC adopted in 2003 for Health Maintenance Organizations (“HMOs”).  

DMHC has expressly confirmed that this regulation does not require any affirmative notification in 

order to “acknowledge” a claim.   

Section 10133.66 was enacted in 2005.  As explained in the official commentary to the 

statute, section 10133.66 was enacted to “impose[] on health insurers . . . the claims processing and 

payment requirements now required for health care service plans (HMOs).”  (§ 10133.66, Official 

Commentary; see Sen. Com. on Health, analysis of Sen. Bill No. 634 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.), p. 1.)  

The legislative history for section 10133 66, subdivision (c) expressly explains that it was “modeled 

after Department of Managed Health Care (“DMHC”) regulations passed in 2003.”  (Exh. 5679, pp. 

153, 166, 269; Sen. Com. on Health & Human Servs.; Talking Points on Sen. Bill No. 634 (2005-

2006 Reg. Sess), at p. 1 [“Regulations passed by DMHC in 2003 ... are used as the model for the 

terms in this bill”]; exh. 5679 at p. 80.)   

One such regulation is 28 California Code of Regulations section 1300.71 (“Regulation 

1300.71”), which DMHC adopted in 2003 and whose text is part of the legislative history file for 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c).  (Exh. 5679, pp. 75, 257-285.)  Subsection (c) of Regulation 

1300.71 contains language substantively identical to the language in section 10133.66, subdivision 

(c).  Like section 10133.66, subdivision (c), it nowhere mandates any particular method of claim 

acknowledgement nor requires insurers to affirmatively notify providers (or members) that a claim 
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has been received.  Rather, Regulation 1300.71, subdivision (c) simply requires that HMOs provide 

“an electronic means, by phone, website, or another mutually agreeable accessible method of 

notification, by which the provider may readily confirm the ... receipt of the claim and the recorded 

date of receipt[.]”  (Italics added.)  Like section 10133.66, subdivision (c), it also provides that when 

claims are submitted through a clearinghouse, HMOs may respond directly to the clearinghouse, 

although the required time frame is only two working days instead of 15.  (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 

10 § 1300.71, subd. (c)(2)(A).)43  

The rulemaking file for Regulation 1300.71 confirms that “the language of this section allows 

a payor to establish a method of notification by which the provider may readily confirm the payor’s 

receipt of the claim.”  (Dept. of Managed Health Care, tit. 28, § 1300.71, “Response to Comments – 

3rd Comment Period Ending:  April 30, 2003” (2003), pp. 45-46, italics added.)  The file shows that 

DMHC expressly “rejected” a comment suggesting that Regulation 1300.71 would require payors to 

“literally notify and acknowledge each claim by contacting the provider’s office to inform them of 

                                                 

 43 Regulation 1300.71, subdivision (c), pertaining to “Acknowledgment of Claims,” provides: 

The plan and the plan's capitated provider shall identify and acknowledge the receipt of each claim, 
whether or not complete, and disclose the recorded date of receipt as defined by section 1300.71, 
subdivision (a)(6) in the same manner as the claim was submitted or provide an electronic means, 
by phone, website, or another mutually agreeable accessible method of notification, by which the 
provider may readily confirm the plan's or the plan’s capitated provider’s receipt of the claim and 
the recorded date of receipt as defined by 1300.71(a)(6) as follows: 

(1) In the case of an electronic claim, identification and acknowledgement shall be provided within 
two (2) working days of the date of receipt of the claim by the office designated to receive the 
claim, or  

(2) In the case of a paper claim, identification and acknowledgement shall be provided within 
fifteen (15) working days of the date of receipt of the claim by the office designated to receive the 
claim.  

(A) If a claimant submits a claim to a plan or a plan’s capitated provider using a claims 
clearinghouse, the plan’s or the plan’s capitated provider's identification and acknowledgement to 
the clearinghouse within the timeframes set forth in subparagraphs (1) or (2), above, whichever is 
applicable, shall constitute compliance with this section. 
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receipt.”  (Ibid.)  Instead, as DMHC explained, the regulation was designed “to ensure that ... 

providers can readily verify that their claims submissions have been received” and to “provide the 

flexibility for the differences in information systems.”  (Dept. of Managed Health Care, tit. 28, 

§ 1300.71, “Response to Comments – First Comment Period” (2003), p. 22; Dept. of Managed 

Health Care, tit. 28, § 1300.71, “Final Statement of Reasons” (2003), p. 4, italics added.)  Thus, in 

response to a comment that the first proposed version of the regulation would allow providers to 

insist upon one particular acknowledgement method, DMHC revised the regulation to clarify that a 

payor can “acknowledge the receipt of a claim in a manner that is different than [the] method that 

the claim was submitted,” including “electronically, by phone or website,” and that it was “only when 

an alternative method is used that the parties must mutually agree.”  (Dept. of Managed Health Care, 

tit. 28, § 1300.71, “Response to Comments – 2nd Comment Period Ending:  December 29, 2002” 

(2003), pp. 52-53, italics added.) 

DMHC’s interpretation is particularly relevant here, because (1) Regulation 1300.71, 

subdivision (c) contains virtually identical language to section 10133.66, subdivision (c), and (2) the 

Legislature expressly intended to “align” section 10133.66, subdivision (c) with the regulation. 

d) DMHC’s Interpretation Also Confirms PacifiCare’s 
Interpretation. 

Significantly, DMHC has confirmed, in writing, that Regulation 1300.71 does not require the 

insurer to “proactively send out acknowledgement letters,” but only that the payor be able to confirm 

the receipt of a claim in response to an inquiry, such by telephone.   

Specifically, on February 22, 2008, in connection with DMHC’s investigation of PacifiCare’s 

market conduct, PacifiCare sent an email to DMHC that cited the language of Regulation 1300.71(c) 

and asked DMHC to “confirm” that it “does not require the . . . payor to send written 

acknowledgment letters for new day claims,” but only that the payor must “be acknowledgment 

‘ready’ meaning we need to be able to locate a claim and verify receipt should a provider call to 

inquire on claim status.”  (Exh. 5263.)  The next day, DMHC responded as follows: 
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There is no requirement to proactively send out acknowledgment letters to 
providers upon receipt of a new claim for services rendered.  The payor must be 
able to recognize that they have received a claim, within the timeframe, should a 
provider call to confirm the Plan’s receipt of a claim. (Ibid.) 

e) PacifiCare Complied With Section 10133.66(c). 

As discussed above, to comply with section 10133.66, subdivision (c), PacifiCare had to 

provide only one of several alternative methods to acknowledge receipt of claims – including 

confirmation of receipt by telephone or website.  And for claims received through a clearinghouse, 

PacifiCare could comply by providing acknowledgements directly to the clearinghouse.   

That is exactly what PacifiCare did here.  During the exam period at issue from June 23, 2006 

through May 31, 2007, PacifiCare offered several methods – including by telephone and website – 

that allowed providers and claimants to readily confirm the receipt of their claims.   

Telephone 

Since well before the start of exam period, PacifiCare has maintained two toll-free customer 

service telephone numbers that providers and members can use to verify the status of their claims by 

phone, including confirmation that a claim was received and the date of receipt.  (Tr. 7171:10-

7186:16; 9332:14:-9389:25 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7690:9; 8015:17-8030:9 [Berkel]; exhs. 5240, 5241, 

5242, 5243; P.P.F. 502.).  The telephone line is staffed from 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. PST by live 

operators who can view the status of a claim the instant that it is logged into PacifiCare’s computer 

system and who are specifically trained to answer questions regarding claim status.  (Exhs. 5136, 

5244, 5316; Tr. 7195:2-7197:18, 9346:24-9347:9 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7689:8 [Berkel]; Tr. 13561:6-

13564:11 [Murphy].) 

CDI argues that “[t]he purported availability of PacifiCare’s telephone line . . . does not 

satisfy section 10133.66’s requirements” because “PacifiCare does not affirmatively identify and 

acknowledge claims by phone, but rather imposes on the provider the burden of calling the company 

 . . . .”  (CDI Br. 230-231.)  But, as amply demonstrated, the language of section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c), confirmed by the legislative history proves differently. 
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CDI also argues that “PacifiCare never informed providers that they must call the company’s 

phone number in order to get information about when claims have been received” and that the phone 

number on the back of member identification cards only “vaguely informed the provider that general 

claims information was available by phone, apparently expecting that providers would divine that 

they must call that number in order for PacifiCare to acknowledge the receipt of claims.”  (CDI Br. 

231.) 

First, the text of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) nowhere requires that providers be 

instructed regarding the obvious:  that if they wish to know whether their claim was received by the 

insurer, they should contact the insurer.  Second, CDI’s position is absurd:  It is not rocket science to 

“divine” that to determine if an insurer received a claim, the provider should take the giant step of 

phoning the insurer or checking its website.  In any event and third, PacifiCare does notify its 

members and providers of the toll-free numbers, and how to use them, in a number of ways, 

including the publicly accessible portion of its Internet website, www.pacificare.com.  (Tr. 7171:10-

7186:16; 9332:14:-9389:25 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7690:9; 8015:12-8030:9 [Berkel]; exhs. 5240, 5241, 

5242, 5243; P.P.F. 502.)  And the toll-free numbers are also printed on the identification cards that 

every PacifiCare member receives – and which health care providers, as a standard and “best” 

practice, inspect and copy at the time services are provided.44  (Tr. 7172: 17-7173:12 [Sing]; exh. 

5315; Tr. 8018:22-25 [Berkel].)  The telephonic acknowledgement method is also detailed in the 

Provider Manual that PacifiCare sends to all its contracted providers, in the Certificates of Coverage, 

and in the EOB letters.  (Tr. 7688:22-25 [Berkel]; exh. 5299, p. 5 [Bates 7552]; Tr. 7173:8-7177:23 

[Sing] (member ID cards, provider manual, and portal all include phone number); exh. 23, p. 3090.)    

                                                 
44 Patients are “accustomed to handing the doctor or hospital their health insurance card and 
subsequently receiving a billing statement for any copayment or deductible amount due after the 
provision of health care services.”  (Note, Inadequacies of the Consumer-Driven Health Plan Model 
as a Template for Medicaid Reform (Fall 2006) 52 Wayne L.Rev. 1297, 1307.) 
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Finally, these publicity efforts were obviously successful:  In 2007 alone, PacifiCare received 

more than 150,000 claim inquiries regarding its Group PPO product on its customer service telephone 

lines.  (Tr. 7184:4-7186:16 [Sing]; exh. 5243.) 

Web site 

Additionally, since late 2004, and throughout the exam period, contracted providers could 

confirm the processing of their claims via PacifiCare’s provider portal at www.pacificare.com.  The 

status of a claim can be viewed on the portal as soon as the claim is processed in PacifiCare’s claims 

system.   

As with the toll-free telephone line, PacifiCare notified its providers of the portal’s 

capabilities in several ways, including the Provider Manual and the Provider welcome letter.  (Tr. 

7688:22-25 [Berkel]; Exh. 5349.)  This apparently enabled providers to “divine” what to do.  From 

June 23, 2006 through May 31, 2007 – the time period of the CDI’s examination – PacifiCare’s 

provider portal received over 2.5 million visits.  (Exh. 817, p. 4.)  

CDI argues that “Ms. Berkel admitted . . . that PacifiCare’s website was not accessible to 

providers that were not contracted with PacifiCare.”  (CDI Br. 230.)  It likewise argues that “the 

website did not provide information about the status of a claim until the claim was fully adjudicated 

in RIMS.”  (Ibid.)  But these arguments are irrelevant, because as explained above, section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c) permits any of a number of alternatives for disclosing the date of receipt.  As long as 

one of those alternatives were available (and PacifiCare’s toll-free telephone number placed it in full 

compliance), the statutory acknowledgement was satisfied.  The website portal was just an additional 

means of claims acknowledgement that contracted providers (who submit 80 percent of the claims 

submitted to PacifiCare) could utilize.  (See Section VII.C.2, ante.) 

EDI/Clearinghouse 

Finally, since January 1, 2006, as authorized by section 10133.66, subdivision (c), PacifiCare 

has maintained an electronic system, known as “EDI,” for acknowledging claims that are 
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electronically submitted through a clearinghouse.  (Tr. 7681:1-25 [Berkel].)  When such a claim is 

received through EDI, PacifiCare returns an electronic file, that communicates the file status and 

reports any errors in the original file.  (Tr. 7682:1-13 [Berkel].)  Again, the details of this electronic 

confirmation procedure are explained in PacifiCare’s Provider Manual.   

Conclusion 

PacifiCare’s claim acknowledgement procedures unquestionably place it in compliance with 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c).  Both providers and claimants can confirm the status of their 

claims, including the date on which they were received, by telephone, or for contracted providers, on 

PacifiCare’s website, or for claims submitted electronically, through a clearinghouse.  Nothing more 

is required under the unambiguous language of section 10133.66, subdivision (c). 

4. Even If Section 10133.66 Requires Acknowledgement Letters, The 
Failure To Send An Acknowledgement Letter Cannot Constitute 
An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

Assuming, arguendo, that PacifiCare failed on occasion to comply with the express terms of 

section 10133.66, subdivision (c), CDI still cannot recover any penalties in this proceeding, because 

it cannot prove the required elements of an unfair claims settlement practice under section 

790.03(h)(2) or (h)(3) – the two sections upon which CDI premises penalties.  (OSC, ¶ 109.)   

a) Section 790.03(h)(2):  The Failure To Send A Written Letter 
Is Not A Failure To “Acknowledge And Act Upon 
Communications” Regarding Claims. 

Section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to 

acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under 

insurance policies.”  (Italics added.)   

CDI’s claim based on section 790.03(h)(2) fails for two principal reasons: 

First, nothing in subdivision (h)(2) mandates that the acknowledgement be in any particular 

form.  As a result, CDI’s claim – which is premised solely on the failure to send acknowledgement 

letters – fails. 
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Second, the unambiguous plain language of the phrase, “acknowledge ... reasonably promptly 

upon communications with respect to claims,” in section 790.03(h)(2) addresses the 

acknowledgement of communications relating to claims.  It does not require an affirmative effort to 

contact members or providers to acknowledge receipt of a claim absent a communication from a 

member or provider to do so.  (See McLaughlin v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. (1994) 23 

Cal.App.4th 1132, 1159 [interpreting section 790.03(h)(2) as imposing a duty on the insurer to 

“respond promptly to communications about claims,” and finding no violation of the section, 

because, among other reasons, there was no evidence that plaintiffs or their representatives had 

reached out to the insurer about their claims and that the insurer had failed to respond].) 

Accordingly, since CDI’s claim is premised solely upon the failure to send letters 

acknowledging receipt of claims and since section 790.03(h)(1) only requires acknowledgements 

“upon communications with respect to claims” (and does not require that acknowledgement to be in 

the form of a letter), CDI’s claim under section 790.03(h)(1) fails. 

CDI argues that Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) “further defines section 790.03’s 

requirement to acknowledge claims.”  (CDI Br. 220.)  It claims that “[t]his Regulation requires 

insurers to acknowledge the receipt of a claim in writing, unless the insurer makes a notation of 

acknowledgement in the claim file.”  (Id. at p. 221.)  

However, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e)(1) does not even concern providers – which is 

the basis for the vast majority of CDI’s acknowledgement claims – and does not require that 

acknowledgement letters be sent to members: 

(e) Upon receiving notice of claim, every insurer shall immediately, but in no event 
more than fifteen (15) calendar days later, do the following unless the notice of 
claim received is a notice of legal action: 

(1) acknowledge receipt of such notice to the claimant unless payment is made 
within that period of time.  If the acknowledgement is not in writing, a notation of 
acknowledgement shall be made in the insurer’s claim file and dated.  Failure of an 
insurance agent or claims agent to promptly transmit notice of claim to the insurer 
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shall be imputed to the insurer except where the subject policy was issued pursuant 
to the California Automobile Assigned Risk Program.  (Italics added.) 

Accordingly, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) applies to members, not providers.  

“Claimant,” as used in Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e), is defined in Regulations 2695.2, 

subdivisions (c), (f), and (x), to include “first party claimants” (“named insured, other insured or 

beneficiary”) and “third party claimants” (“any person asserting a claim against any person or the 

interests insured under an insurance policy”).  Indeed, CDI has explicitly interpreted “claimants” not 

to mean providers.  (Exh. 1197, pp. 6-7.)  Ms. Stead also testified that as used in the Fair Claims 

Settlement Regulations, the term “claimant” does not include “providers,” who submit claims on a 

fee for service basis.  (Tr. 25313:12-25314:17, 25315:19-25316:25 [Stead].) 

Secondly, with respect to members, because Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) provides that 

“[i]f the acknowledgement is not in writing, a notation of acknowledgement shall be made in the 

insurer’s claim file and dated,” the regulation suggests that acknowledgement of receipt of claim need 

not be in writing.  (Italics added.) 

Third, Regulation 2695.5 has a separate subdivision regarding responses to 

“communications,” which demonstrates that a communication regarding a claim is distinct from an 

acknowledgement of receipt of a claim.  Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) provides:  “Upon 

receiving any communication from a claimant, regarding a claim, that reasonably suggests that a 

response is expected, every licensee shall immediately, but in no event more than fifteen (15) 

calendar days after receipt of that communication, furnish the claimant with a complete response.”  

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.5, subd. (b).)  The latter – Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) – is the 

regulation that concerns section 790.03(h)(2), not Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e) invoked by CDI 

here. 

Finally, CDI argues that “PacifiCare’s implementation log for the Regulation [2695.5] reflects 

the company’s understanding that the ‘action items that must be taken by PacifiCare’ to comply with 



 

185 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

the Regulation included ‘find[ing] out whether for non-participating provider claims, the ack letters 

are sent to providers and members.’”  (CDI Br. 221.)  Elsewhere, CDI argues that “PacifiCare 

performed its own internal analysis of SB 634 when it was enacted and determined that section 

10133.66, subdivision (c) requires insurers to acknowledge the receipt of claims via the same method 

of receipt of the claims.”  (Ibid.; accord, id. at 230.)  

However, first, PacifiCare’s implementation log cannot possibly serve as a basis for 

determining the proper interpretation of a regulation, or for that matter, section 790.03.  While some 

deference is owed to an agency’s interpretation of a statute where it is in the form of a regulation, an 

internal interpretation of a private company is owed no deference in the interpretation of a statute.  

(Cf. Yamaha, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 11.)  Second, due to the iterative nature of the logs and the 

number of persons who have access to the document, Ms. Monk testified that they were not intended 

to be comprehensive statements of the company’s interpretation or position on a particular law.  (Tr. 

8893:23-8894:19, 9054:7-11 [Monk].)  

Accordingly, the failure to send a letter acknowledging the receipt of a claim does not 

constitute a violation of section 790.03(h)(2), which requires an acknowledgement of 

“communications with respect to claims.” 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3):  The Failure To Send An 
Acknowledgement Letter In A Paperless Age Cannot 
Constitute A Failure To Implement Reasonable Standards. 

CDI also argues that a failure to send a letter acknowledging receipt of a claim constitutes a 

failure to implement reasonable standards for the processing of claims under section 790.03(h)(3).  

(CDI Br. 220.)  This contention is simply untenable in today’s paperless age, in which we are 

constantly being urged to forego traditional snail-mail communications and “go paperless” or “go 

green,” and in which most of us conduct a majority of our daily business over the internet. 
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Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”   

The failure to send acknowledgement letters cannot constitute a violation of section 10133.66, 

subdivision (c), which concerns standards.  The failure to confirm receipt of a claim in the most old-

fashioned manner cannot even evidence a lack of reasonable standards for the prompt processing of 

claims. 

Furthermore, and as detailed earlier, PacifiCare had systems in place that promptly 

acknowledged communications regarding a claim.  (Tr. 7681:3-7694:20 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 501.)  And 

PacifiCare’s systems for acknowledging claims were reasonable.  For instance, its telephone 

acknowledgement system is staffed by customer service representatives who are specifically trained 

to research the status of a claim and report the received date upon communications from a provider.  

(Exhs. 5136, 5244, 5316; Tr. 7195:2-7197:18, 9346:24-9347:9 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-12 [Berkel]; Tr. 

13561:6-13564:11 [Murphy]; P.P.F. 504, 505.)  PacifiCare also makes its provider customer service 

number readily available, and has used the same number since 2000.  (Exhs. 5135, 5240, 5241; Tr. 

7172:12-7174:7 [Sing]; Tr. 7688:2-7689:8 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 506.)  Even if a provider calls the wrong 

PacifiCare customer service number, the telephone acknowledgement system is designed to route 

providers to the right number.  (Tr. 9332:23-9333:14 [Sing]; P.P.F. 507.)  Moreover, the 

administrative burden from using the telephone system to check the status of a claim is minimal.  The 

wait time to speak with a customer service representative averaged less than 60 seconds during 2006, 

2007, and 2008, and total call time averaged between five and six minutes.  (Tr. 9335:19-9336:14, 

9341:22-9342:18 [Sing]; P.P.F. 510.)   

CDI claims that “[s]ection 10133.66, subdivision (c) . . . reflects the Legislature’s 

determination of what constitutes reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of 

claims with respect to acknowledging the receipt of a claim.”  (CDI Br. 220.)  This argument fails on 
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multiple grounds.  First, section 10133.66, subdivision (c) does not require an acknowledgement 

letter, as already explained at length.  Second, even if it did require acknowledgement letters, the 

mere violation of a distinct, non-penal technical requirement (which is not part of the unfair practices 

article (article 6.5 of division 1 of the Insurance Code) does not translate into an unfair practice, as 

explained at Section VI.A.  Third, even if section 10133.66, subdivision (c) required the transmittal 

of acknowledgement letters and could be incorporated as part of the unfair practices statute, the 

failure to acknowledge receipt of a claim does not mean that the insurer has not implemented 

reasonable standards for “investigating” or “processing” claims.  CDI has wholly failed to show that 

PacifiCare’s standards for processing claims are not reasonable.   

In sum, even if the failure to provide any means of acknowledging receipt of a claim suggests 

that reasonable processing standards have not been adopted, the failure to utilize the most old-

fashioned technique for acknowledgement cannot. 

c) Even If PacifiCare’s Failure To Send Acknowledgement 
Letters Comes Within Subdivisions (h)(2) Or (h)(3), The 
Failure Was Not Knowingly Committed Or A General 
Business Practice. 

Even if CDI could prove that the failure to send acknowledgement letters was an unfair claims 

settlement practice under section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(2) or (h)(3), that statute only penalizes 

unfair claims settlement practices which are “[k]nowingly commit[ed] or perform[ed] with such 

frequency as to indicate a general business practice.” 

(1) Knowingly committed. 

However, there is no evidence that PacifiCare “knowingly” – i.e., deliberately – engaged in a 

“practice” of failing “to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with 

respect to claims” (section 790.03(h)(2)) or deliberately failed “to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims” (section 790.03(h)(3)).  To the 

contrary, as discussed above, PacifiCare’s established practice for acknowledging the receipt of 
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health insurance claims demonstrates that it did not knowingly fail to acknowledge receipt of claims 

or knowingly fail to adopt reasonable standards. 

Relying on its diluted definition of “knowingly,” CDI argues that “PacifiCare is chargeable 

with knowledge of the actions it has or has not taken” (CDI Br. 236), but nowhere explains how 

PacifiCare had knowledge of any failure to acknowledge, particularly since PacifiCare only later 

learned (1) that PacifiCare’s vendor, Duncan, had failed to print member acknowledgement letters 

from July 2006 to March 2007, and (2) that the inadvertent insertion of an “N” in the RIMS system 

had turned off the transmittal of provider acknowledgements.  (Exh. 727, p. 2408; exhs. 729, 113, 

149, p. 1026; Tr. 7706:19-7707:13, Tr. 10120:10-10121:5 [Berkel]; Tr. 2340:17-2341:3, [Norket].)  

CDI’s position that an insurer knowingly commits a practice of which it was unaware eliminates the 

element of “knowingly” from the statute. 

(2) General business practice. 

As shown at Section VII.B, the practice must also be knowingly performed “with such 

frequency as to indicate a general business practice.”  (§ 790.03(h).)  Even if the failure to send 

acknowledgement letters was a prohibited claims settlement practice, this failure did not occur with 

such sufficient frequency – i.e., either a 7% or 8% error rate – to be deemed a “general business 

practice.” 

Specifically, even assuming that section 10133.66, subdivision (c) requires the transmittal of 

acknowledgement letters and assuming that the violation of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) is a per 

se violation of section 790.03(h)(2) or (h)(3), even CDI admits that the acknowledgement 

requirement is satisfied if the acknowledgement is electronically transmitted or if the claim is paid 

within the 15 working days which section 10133.66, subdivision (c) provides for disclosure of the 

date of receipt.  (CDI Br. 234.)  Approximately 95% of claims during the 2007 MCE Period received 

some form of written acknowledgement within 15 working days from receipt of the claim.  (Tr. 

5281:3-5282:11 [Dixon]; Tr. 7692:24-7697:2 [Berkel]; exhs. 5057, 5243; P.P.F. 533.)  This 95% 
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compliance rate is within the acceptable tolerance threshold set forth in the NAIC Handbook (exh. 

876; P.P.F. 534), and is less than the 8% tolerance threshold to which CDI agreed in Undertaking No. 

19, with respect to the prompt processing of claims.  While Undertaking No. 19 does not expressly 

govern timely claim acknowledgements, CDI presumably would not have approved an 8% 

noncompliance rate for any type of claims-processing activity if a lower noncompliance rate would 

constitute an unlawful “general business practice.”   

In sum, PacifiCare had a general business practice of acknowledging claims in writing within 

the 15 working day statutory period.  (Tr. 24426:14-24428:16 [Stead]; P.P.F. 532.)  Thus, there is no 

unlawful general business practice upon which to premise a violation of section 790.03(h). 

CDI responds that “55,475-plus acts in violation, occurring over the course of several years, 

are certainly sufficiently numerous to indicate such a practice.”  (CDI Br. 236.)  But the alleged 

failures must be compared to the total claims handled during the same period, and the frequency of 

failures does not amount to a general business practice, as shown above.   

CDI’s remaining argument on this point is that “[t]he bulk of the violations arose from an 

improperly coded parameter in RIMS,” and that “[t]he pertinent ‘business practice’ for this purpose 

concerns the manner in which the company customarily processes claims and discharges its 

acknowledgement obligations.”  (CDI Br. 236.)  But describing the error underlying the failure to 

transmit acknowledgement letters– an improperly coded parameter – does not change the frequency 

of claims that were not acknowledged in some affirmative fashion (assuming that this was even 

required under section 790.03(h)(2) or (h)(3)).  Indeed, by acknowledging that “[t]he bulk of the 

violations arose from an improperly coded parameter,” CDI has rebutted its claim that the failure was 

knowing. 
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5. In Any Event, Any Penalty Would Violate Due Process Because 
PacifiCare Lacked Fair Notice That Its Failure Would Subject It 
To Penalties. 

Any penalty against PacifiCare, based on an interpretation of section 10133.66, subdivision (c) 

that is not unambiguously specified in its text, would violate due process.  As explained at Section 

III.A, the U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly and recently admonished that as a matter of due 

process, “agencies should provide regulated parties ‘fair warning of the conduct [a regulation] 

prohibits or requires.’”  (Christopher, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2156, 2167.)  Where the notice afforded by 

the agency regarding the prohibited conduct is vague, any penalty based thereon must be set aside.  

(Fox, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2307.)   

The primary (albeit non-penal) statute upon which CDI relies for establishing the prohibited 

conduct – section 10133.66 – does not expressly require written acknowledgement letters.  

Furthermore, CDI failed to notify PacifiCare or other insurers that CDI had construed this statute to 

require that claims had to be acknowledged with a written letter contrary to its plain language.  (See 

Tr. 985:3-25, 5318:25-5322:9.)  Indeed, at least two of CDI’s own employees differed with the 

interpretation of section 10133.66 which CDI now posits for purposes of this enforcement action.  

(See, e.g., Tr. 1000:25-1002:4 [Vandepas] [if the provider is able to call customer service line and 

verify if its claim has been received and when, section 10133.66 is satisfied]; Tr. 11564:10-11569:20 

[David] [an acknowledgement letter is not required if the insurer acknowledges receipt of claims via 

telephone or website]; compare Tr. 5318:25-5320:15 [Dixon] [an insurance company that 

acknowledges receipt of claim on a provider’s website satisfies section 10133.66]; Tr. 11612:19-

11613:3 [David] [in order for acknowledgement by telephone to satisfy section 10133.66, the insurer 

would have to call the provider].)   

In any event, any penalties must be based on the text of section 790.03(h)(2) and not section 

10133.66, subdivision (c).  The plain language of section 790.03(h)(2) is even further removed from 

any express obligation to send acknowledgement letters.  Instead, section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the 
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unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon 

communications with respect to claims arising under insurance policies.”  (Italics added.)  A plain 

reading of section 790.03(h)(2) does not give notice to an insurer that it must acknowledge by letter 

its receipt of a claim since section 790.03(h)(2) only covers the failure to acknowledge 

“communications with respect to claims.”   

Penalties are manifestly inappropriate in cases where a party’s legal obligations are so 

uncertain.  (See Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Burr (2007) 551 U.S. 47, 69 (Safeco) [penalties 

inappropriate where there are multiple reasonable interpretations of the law]; Kropp Forge Co. v. 

Secretary of Labor (7th Cir. 1981) 657 F. 2d 119, 122 [refusing to impose sanctions where standard 

the regulated party allegedly violated “d[id] not provide ‘fair warning’ of what is required or 

prohibited”].)  In Christopher, supra, 132 S.Ct. 2156, 2167, the U.S. Supreme Court recently rejected 

the Department of Labor’s interpretation of regulations under the Fair Labors Standards Act where 

“the DOL’s interpretation of ambiguous regulations” was invoked “to impose massive liability on 

respondent for conduct that occurred well before that interpretation was announced.  To defer to the 

agency’s interpretation in this circumstance would seriously undermine the principle that agencies 

should provide regulated parties ‘fair warning of the conduct [a regulation] prohibits or requires.’”  In 

short, imposing penalties in the face of such uncertainty would violate due process.  (See, e.g., City of 

Chicago v. Morales, supra, 527 U.S. 41, 56; Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574.)   

6. Failing Dismissal Of This Claim, Any Penalty Would Have To Be 
Nominal. 

Even if failing to send written acknowledgement letters were an unfair claims settlement 

practice in violation of section 790.03(h), and PacifiCare had fair notice that the failure would subject 

it to penalties, only a nominal penalty would comport with the constitutional limits of due process 

and CDI’s statutory and regulatory framework. 
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a) The Conduct Was Not Willful. 

CDI concedes that “[t]he bulk of the acknowledgement violations, the 55,475 provider claims, 

have been traced to what might be called a single typographical error, the insertion of an ‘N’ value in 

the relevant RIMS parameter” and thus will be treated as “non-willful acts.”  (CDI Br. 237.)  

Accordingly, the maximum penalty is $5,000 per act. 

b) Any Violation Was Inadvertent And Can Only Constitute A 
Single Act And Thus A Single Penalty Not Exceeding 
$5,000. 

As noted earlier, section 790.035, subdivision (a), provides that “when the issuance, 

amendment, or servicing of a policy or endorsement is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single 

act for the purpose of this section.”   

Here, PacifiCare’s failure to send acknowledgement letters was inadvertent, and thus 

constituted a single act for purposes of a violation under section 790.03(h).  (Tr. 24350:14-22, 

24352:10-24353:14 [Stead]; Tr. 11195:11-11196:11 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 541.)  As discussed at Section 

VI.C.6(d), an “inadvertent” act is one that results from an insurer’s failure to pay sufficient heed or 

attention.  Any alleged violation for failure to send written acknowledgement letters is the epitome of 

inadvertence, as it resulted from the inadvertent insertion of an “N” that turned off the sending of 

acknowledgement letters.  CDI virtually concedes this by stating:  “It may be the case that 

PacifiCare’s error in entering an ‘N’ instead of a ‘Y’ in RIMS may have been the result of a simple 

mistake.”  (CDI Br. 237.)   

CDI’s only contrary argument is that “[t]hese violations do not involve the issuance, 

amendment, or servicing of a policy” because “[o]ne does not ‘service’ a policy by failing to take 

action the law requires . . . .”  (CDI Br. 237.)  To the contrary, the failure to send a letter in servicing 

a policy is clearly part of its servicing.  CDI’s interpretation – that “[o]ne does not ‘service’ a policy 

by failing to take action” – would write out the concept of “inadvertence” in the context of an 



 

193 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

omission, even though omissions are more likely to be inadvertent than affirmative actions.  

Significantly, CDI cites no authority to support its strained interpretation of section 790.035. 

In sum, the inadvertent failure to transmit acknowledgement letters (although they are not 

required as a matter of law) only permits a single penalty of $5,000 pursuant to section 790.035. 

Alternatively, as noted earlier, CDI defines “‘[s]ingle act’ for the purpose of determining any 

penalty” as “any commission or omission which in and of itself constitutes a violation of California 

Insurance Code Section 790.03 or this subchapter.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (v).)  If 

a single act is the commission which constitutes the violation of section 790.03, and section 

790.03(h) requires a practice in order to be a violation, the “single act” for purposes of determining 

the penalties is the unfair claims settlement practice itself.  This prevents more than a single penalty 

of no more than $5,000. 

c) The Absence Of Harm. 

As mentioned earlier, for regulatory and due process purposes, the most important factor in 

setting a penalty is the “degree of harm occasioned by the noncompliance.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(10), (12).)  In this case, any harm caused by PacifiCare’s failure to send 

acknowledgement letters is sheer speculation.  There is no evidence that any provider was harmed by 

failing to receive a written acknowledgement letter in connection with its submission of a claim.  (Tr. 

5316:5-5318:3 [Dixon]; Tr. 13218:12-13226:16 [Laucher]; Tr. 223:23-224:12 [Smith]; Tr. 1353:18-

1355:2 [Black]; Tr. 15429:5-15430:12 [Ho]; Tr. 20882:17-20886:2 [Kessler]; Exh. 5622; P.P.F. 544.)   

Indeed, neither CMA – a sponsor of Senate Bill No. 634 – nor any individual provider 

complained about failing to receive a written acknowledgement letter or not being able to determine 

the received date of a claim.  (Tr. 3517:12-3518:3; 11784:16-19 [Harvey]; Tr. 15429:5-115430:12 

[Ho]; Tr. 16939:20-16940:4 [Wetzel]; Tr. 1353:18-25 [Black]; P.P.F. 545.)  In fact, many providers 

do not even want acknowledgement letters sent to them and actually complained once the company 

implemented a letter process because “it was a lot of mail junking up their mailbox.”  (Tr. 11784:20-
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25 [Harvey]; Tr. 7698:7-21, 10169:9-10170:19 [Berkel]; Tr. 8968:20-8969:3 [Monk]; Tr. 14953:13-

14954:12, 14963:7-14965:16 [Bigam]; Tr. 15429:5-15430:12 [Ho]; P.P.F. 547.) 

While CDI claims that it is an administrative burden for providers to have to call to see if their 

claim was received and that PacifiCare’s failure to send acknowledgement letters sometimes causes 

providers to submit a claim twice (CDI Br. 233, 238), receipt of a letter of acknowledgement, which 

requires the recipient to open, review, and file the letter creates an administrative burden on providers 

that is greater than picking up the phone to call.  (Tr. 14953:13-14954:12 [Bigam]; Tr. 23235:4-12 

[Cignarale]; P.P.F. 548.)  CDI has failed to demonstrate that the administrative burden on providers 

was greater where an insurer fails to send written acknowledgement letters.  (Tr. 23489:4-23490:1, 

23564:2-23569:13, 23948:24-23959:7 [Cignarale]; Tr. 18975:5-18985:5 [Zaretsky]; P.P.F. 549.) 

CDI cites Aileen Wetzel’s testimony for the theoretical point that “if a provider doesn’t 

receive acknowledgement that a claim has been received, he or she may submit to the payor a 

duplicate claim . . .”  (CDI Br. 233.)  But there is no need for a provider that submitted a claim to 

send a duplicate when the provider can easily pick up the phone or check the web site to confirm 

receipt. 

Finally, citing the testimony of the ever-inadmissible Mr. Cignarale, CDI argues that “‘[t]he 

fact that the Legislature saw fit to impose this requirement [in section 10133.66(c)] . . . precludes the 

Department from treating it as if disobedience is harmless.’”  (CDI Br. 234.)  But this “requirement” 

was not part of any penal statute.  Indeed, the “requirement” is not even expressly specified in section 

10133.66(c).  Thus, even if section 10133.66, subdivision (c) can be construed to require 

acknowledgement letters – despite its text – it does not follow that the Legislature concluded that the 

hypothetical harm from section 10133.66, subdivision (c) warranted any penalties under section 

790.03(h). 
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d) Remedial Action. 

The regulations provide that another factor in assessing a penalty is “whether the licensee has 

taken remedial measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).)  CDI concedes mitigation, stating that Mr. Cignarale “found slight 

mitigation in the eventual taking of remedial action.”  (CDI Br. 239.)  However, the remedial action – 

even though not required by law – was not slight but complete. 

e) The Relative Number of Noncomplying Acts. 

Another consideration for penalties is “the relative number of claims where the noncomplying 

act(s) are found to exist, the total number of claims handled by the licensee and the total number of 

claims reviewed by the Department during the relevant period.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, 

subd. (a)(7).) 

Here, not only did PacifiCare have a 95% compliance rate, but CDI’s approach in counting 

“noncomplying acts” is inconsistent with its approach in other MCEs and enforcement actions.  (Tr. 

22832:16-22836:6 [Cignarale]; Exhs. 5424, 5425; P.P.F. 542.)  In the two market conduct exams 

following PacifiCare’s exam, which also involved alleged violations of section 10133.66, subdivision 

(c), CDI’s citations have been based upon the sample reviewed and not the entire population of 

claims, even where the insurer admitted that it had not been in compliance with the statute or 

regulation.  (Kaiser Permanente Public Report, 5/24/2010, Request for Official Notice, Tab 013; 

Standard Insurance Company Public Report, 10/25/2010, Request for Official Notice, Tab 020; 

P.P.F. 543.)  The same is true with respect to CDI’s enforcement of alleged violations of the 

acknowledgement of members’ claims under Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (e).  (Exh. 5424; Tr. 

25259:24-25260:20, 26121:15-26125:6 [Stead].) 

f) The Alleged Aggravating Circumstances. 

So what is CDI left with?  Its arguments in favor of aggravating circumstances, based on Mr. 

Cignarale’s inadmissible testimony, is (i) “the absence of good faith” under Regulation 2695.12, 
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subdivision (a)(11), (ii) “management awareness and failure to take action” under Regulation 

2695.12, subdivision (a)(13), and (iii) “the multiple misrepresentations to CDI made by PacifiCare 

during the MCE.”  (CDI Br. 239.)  This led Mr. Cignarale to increase his arbitrary per-unit penalty of 

$1,000 by 50% to $1,500.  He then “made the declining unit-penalty adjustment for the relatively 

large number of violations,” resulting in “an average $1,410 per act in violation” – which is fairly 

close to his assignment of an aggravated and arbitrary penalty of $1,500 per act. 

The short answer is that (i) the utter lack of harm, (ii) the inadvertence in not sending 

acknowledgement letters, (iii) the lack of willfulness (as conceded by CDI), and (iv) CDI’s own 

regulation that defines a single act for purposes of assessing a penalty as the unfair practice itself 

(thereby only allowing a single penalty of $5,000) require a minimal penalty of no more than $5,000. 

The longer answer is that the management’s purported “aware[ness] of facts that . . . should 

have apprised the licensee of the act(s)” is based not on any awareness of facts, but upon Mr. 

Cignarale’s contention that “PacifiCare should have detected, but apparently didn’t detect” that it was 

failing to send these letters.  (Exh. 1184, p. 130:9-12.)  But this ignores the requirement in the 

regulation that management must be “aware of facts that apprised or should have apprised the 

licensee” of the acts upon which the unfair practice is based.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12(a)(13).  And there is no evidence that management was aware of the failure of 

acknowledgement letters to be transmitted.  Likewise, the purported absence of good faith is 

premised on alleged misrepresentations during CDI’s investigation and the MCE.  But CDI has not 

proven any intentional misrepresentations or bad faith.  Furthermore, Regulation 2695.12, 

subdivision (a)(11) does not address conduct during CDI’s examination or investigation, but instead 

the licensee’s “good faith attempt to comply with the provisions of this subchapter.”  (Cal. Code 

Regs.,tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).)  Here, there was surely a good faith attempt to comply with 

the insurer’s substantive obligations.  CDI has simply taken the phase “good faith attempt” and 

attempted to apply it to a circumstance distinct from that specified in its own regulation. 
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In sum, the failure to send acknowledgement letters did not violate section 790.03(h), and 

even if it did, a single penalty of no more than $5,000 is the statutory maximum. 

D. The Alleged Failure To Timely Pay Uncontested Claims.  (CDI Brief, pp. 
169-189.) 

Approximately 3.8% (34,997 acts) of the 908,654 violations are attributable to CDI’s claim 

that PacifiCare engaged in the unfair claims settlement practice of failing to pay uncontested claims 

within 30 working days.  (In fact, the 34,997 acts is an error in CDI’s chart; the text of its brief and 

the Fourth Supplemental Accusation allege 39,934 acts.  (CDI Br. 185-186; Fourth Supp. Acc., 

§ 23.)) 

However, once again, CDI premises these violations of section 790.03 upon the purported 

breach of a separate, non-penal statute – section 10123.13, subdivision (a) – which provides for its 

own remedy in the event of late payment:  the payment of 10% interest.  Thus, by this non-penal 

statute’s own terms, the failure to pay a claim within 30 working days is not an unfair claims 

settlement practice, but simply subjects the insurer to an interest payment.   

CDI’s unfair claims settlement practice claim fails for three additional reasons.  First, 

PacifiCare paid uncontested claims within 30 working days 97% of the time, which exceeded the 

timeliness rate that CDI demanded in the Undertakings in order to approve United’s acquisition of 

PacifiCare.  CDI is estopped from charging PacifiCare with an unfair claims settlement practice for 

its compliance with a performance metric approved by CDI.  Second, there was no fair notice for 

purposes of due process that exceeding the performance metric in the Undertaking would nonetheless 

be treated as an unfair claims settlement practice.  And third, the failure to pay 3% of claims within 

30 working days is not an unfair claims settlement practice:  The failure to pay 3% of the claims 

timely is not a failure to acknowledge communications with respect to claims under section 

790.03(h)(2); the failure to pay precisely within 30 working days in every instance does not itself 

evidence a failure to adopt and implement reasonable processing standards under section 

790.03(h)(3) in light of PacifiCare’s proof that it did adopt and implement reasonable standards; and 
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a small number of late payments is not a failure to affirm coverage within a reasonable period of time 

under section 790.03(h)(4).  

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that during the MCE review period, there were 34,934 claims that PacifiCare 

failed to reimburse as soon as practical, but no later than 30 working days after receipt of the claim 

by PacifiCare.  (CDI Br. 185-186.)  The statutory basis for this “30 working day” reimbursement 

deadline is in sections 10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a), which provide:   

Every insurer issuing group or individual policies of health insurance that covers 
hospital, medical, or surgical expenses, including those telemedicine services 
covered by the insurer . . . shall reimburse claims or any portion of any claim, 
whether in state or out of state, for those expenses as soon as practical, but no 
later than 30 working days after receipt of the claim by the insurer . . . . 

(§ 10123.13, subd. (a); see also § 10123.147, subd. (a) [imposing a similar 30 working day deadline 

for paying “each complete claim, or portion thereof”].) 

CDI argues that each of the 34,934 purported failures to reimburse claims within 30 working 

days constitutes a separate act in violation of section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(2), (h)(3), (h)(4), and 

(h)(5). 

2. The Facts. 

PacifiCare is “in the business of providing excellent service to [its] customers and to 

providers.  And so that means that we need to do everything we can to have the right claims payment 

timeliness . . . .”  (Tr. 7433:9-17 [Berkel].)  And PacifiCare, like other insurers, is incentivized to pay 

claims timely in California because employer groups and individuals use timeliness as a measure in 

deciding which insurer to use.  (Tr. 7433:9-7434:13 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 550.)  Accordingly, PacifiCare 

adhered to a number of policies and procedures related to the prompt investigation and processing of 

claims.  (Tr. 7438:21-7439:22, 7782:5-16 [Berkel]; Tr. 3525:5-3528:8 [Norket]; P.P.F. 556.)   

CDI’s 314-page brief carefully avoids putting the number of late payments alleged here in 

context, and for good reason—the alleged 34,934 late-paid claims represent a mere 3.10% of the 
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1,126,107 PacifiCare paid claims during the period and only 2.55% of the 1,368,950 adjudicated 

claims during the period.  (Exh. 5190; Tr. 5300:5-5303:23 [Dixon]; Tr. 7657:12-19 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 

559.) 

a) Sections 10123.13 And 10123.147 Explicitly Acknowledge 
That Claims May Be Paid After 30 Working Days By 
Providing For Interest. 

Sections 10123.13 and 10123.147 expressly contemplate that some claims will be paid 

beyond the “30 working days” timeliness threshold.  For those late-paid claims, the statutes provide 

their own sanction:  “Interest shall accrue and shall be payable at the rate of 10 percent per annum 

beginning with the first calendar day after the 30-working day period.”  (§ 10123.13, subd. (b); see 

also § 10123.147, subd. (b) [in the event of untimely payment of a claim, “the insurer shall pay the 

greater of fifteen dollars ($15) per year or interest at a rate of ten percent per annum beginning with 

the first calendar day after the 30-working-day period”].)   

PacifiCare paid interest on the late-paid claims at the statutory rate.  (Ex. 5252; Tr. 11182:14-

11183:16 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 575.)  This rate typically exceeds the insurer’s rate of return and/or an 

insurer’s time value of money.  (Tr. 7434:5-7435:10 [Berkel] [“10 percent is significantly more than 

we earn in the marketable securities we invest in”]; Tr. 20886:15-20887:22 [Kessler]; P.P.F. 552.)   

Accordingly, the 10% statutory interest serves as a “penalty” and provides “an incentive for 

companies to pay the claims timely.”  (Tr. 7434:5-13 [Berkel]; Exh. 5682 (leg history of interest 

component as penalty).)  Even CDI acknowledges that the legislative history demonstrates that the 

payment of interest is meant to act as a deterrent to payments after 30 working days.  (CDI Br. 

190:12-16.) 

b) PacifiCare Either Paid Within 30 Working Days Or Timely 
Paid Interest On The Claim More Than 99% Of The Time. 

PacifiCare’s general business practice during the 2007 MCE Period was to pay claims within 

the statutory period.  (Tr. 7783:11-7785:16 [Berkel]; Tr. 25235:4-25236:17 [Stead]; P.P.F. 560.)  

Shortly after the merger, PacifiCare adopted United’s internal timeliness standards for processing 
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claims—which imposed a stricter standard than the “30 working days after receipt” standard of 

sections 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 10123.147, subdivision (a).45  Specifically, PacifiCare adopted 

a standard for payment of 96.5% of claims within 10 working days and 98% of claims within 20 

working days.  (Tr. 3535:5-3528:8 [Norket]; Tr. 6798:8-6800:24 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7435:16-7336:12 

[Berkel]; P.P.F. 557.)   

In accordance with these internal standards, and by CDI’s own calculations, PacifiCare 

complied with the timeliness requirements of sections 10123.13 and 10123.147 in 96.9% of the 

34,934 alleged claims at issue (34,997÷1,126,107).  By PacifiCare’s calculation, that percentage is 

even higher.  (Exhs. 5190, 5252, p. 11; see Tr. 7647:18-7648:5 [Berkel]; see also Tr. 7657:12-19 

[Berkel] [“So looking at paragraph A only, CDI’s position, starting with their 42,137, excluding 

items that don’t meet the definition of paragraph A, then we are 97.4 percent compliant with 

paragraph A.”]; Tr. 5300:5-5303:23 [Dixon]; P.P.F. 566(a).) 

The incidence of late pays in this action does not exceed what is typically experienced by 

health insurers in this state.  (See Tr. 7656:8-7558:7 [Berkel:  “well within industry standards”], 

10024:13-21 [Berkel]; Tr. 12545:4-12557:3 [Monk]; Tr. 25849:11-25850:9, 25258:20-25259:23 

[Stead]; P.P.F. 573.)  Not surprisingly, CDI staff acknowledged that they have seen worse cases of 

noncompliance with timeliness requirements.  (See, e.g., Tr. 5308:5-15 [Dixon]; P.P.F. 574.) 

c) PacifiCare Met Or Exceeded The Timeliness Standards 
Agreed To In The Undertakings. 

In 2005, CDI established tolerance thresholds around certain claims-handling metrics—

including those in the Undertakings with PacifiCare and United.  (Exh. 5191; Tr. 8755:10-8756:12, 

12545:4-12557:3 [Monk]; P.P.F. 555.).  As Nancy Monk explained, “We were committing to a 

                                                 

 45 Shortly after the merger, PacifiCare also adopted United’s more robust quality control 
standards around claims processing, including regular audits, bonuses, feedback, and PacifiCare-
PPO dedicated auditors.  (Tr. 7438:18-7446:13 [Berkel]; Tr. 7249:5-7254:20 [Goosens]; exh. 607; 
P.P.F. 558.) 
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standard of 95 percent of processing our claims within 30 calendar days and that there would be a 

tolerance threshold of 3 percent, allowing a performance down to 92 percent.”  (Tr. 12545:4-12557:3 

[Monk], italics added.)  PacifiCare met or exceeded the timeliness standard set forth in the 

Undertakings.  (Exhs. 5615, 5621, p. 7, 5634; Tr. 8764:25-8765:20, 12545:4-12561:15 [Monk]; Tr. 

7436:19-7438:1, 10024:15-21 [Berkel]; Tr. 20900:14-20901:16 [Kessler]; Tr. 22787:14-18 

[Cignarale]; Pleading No. 71 [Monk Decl.]; P.P.F. 561.)  CDI admits that PacifiCare met the “30 

calendar days” timeliness thresholds set forth in the Undertakings.  (Tr. 22787:14-18 [Cignarale]; Tr. 

8767:9-12, 18067:6-10 [Monk]; P.P.F. 14.)  

But CDI now contends that the Undertakings are irrelevant here because they “set forth 

certain standards and thresholds that are different from what insurers are obligated to follow under the 

law.”  (CDI Br. 183-184, italics added.)  CDI is correct, but only insofar as the Undertakings imposed 

a stricter standard around timeliness than what California insurance law requires.  (Tr. 12556:19-24 

[Monk]; Tr. 13364:5-11 [Laucher].) 

d) PacifiCare’s Processing Of Claims Exceeded The Standards 
Set Forth In The Undertaking And The NAIC Handbook. 

PacifiCare also met or exceeded the tolerance thresholds set forth in the NAIC handbook.  

(See Exh. 876; P.P.F. 564.)  Under section 733(f) of the Insurance Code, the Commissioner must 

“observe those guidelines and procedures” set forth in the NAIC handbook in conducting an 

“examination.”  The handbook represents the collective wisdom of the chief insurance regulators 

from the 50 states, the District of Columbia, and five U.S. territories.   

CDI offers no credible reason for ignoring the NAIC’s thresholds here.  It contends only that 

the NAIC’s tolerance level “applies only to when the Department is ‘conducting the examination,’ 

not to when it is prosecuting an insurer for violations of law.”  (CDI Br. 183:18-19.)  In short, CDI’s 

position is what passes its examination may still be an unfair claims settlement practice – an 

irresponsible position! 
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e) Irregularities In CDI’s Process For Calculating Late Pays. 

CDI’s calculation of the number of violations for late payment is inaccurate and unreliable 

due to a large number of irregularities in CDI’s calculation process.   

First, CDI departed from its standard practice with other insurers and performed an electronic 

analysis of PacifiCare’s data around the issue of late pays.  (Tr. 24774:25-24775:11 [Stead]; P.P.F. 

569-570.)  Indeed, the CDI staff person responsible for the electronic analysis spent only seven hours 

in total conducting that analysis.  (Tr. 9593:14-9595:7 [Washington]; P.P.F. 570a.)  Yet, the number 

of late pays reported in the 2007 confidential MCE report was not determined from that electronic 

analysis, despite representations to the contrary in the report.  (Exh. 1, at pp. 6, 39; Tr. 11560:9-

11562:11 [David] (admitting that the purported number of violations “did not come from the 

electronic analysis”); P.P.F. 570b.)   

In addition, CDI lowered the number of calendar days that would correspond to the 30 

working days requirement in section 10123.13, subdivision (a) (from 45 days to 42 days), resulting in 

thousands more alleged late pays.  (Exhs. 5190, 5331, 5382; Tr. 11548:2-11550:25 [David]; P.P.F. 

571.)  CDI made this change in the midst of the 2007 examination, even though CDI had typically 

applied a standard of 45 calendar days in prior examinations.  (Tr. 9578:17-9579:2 [Washington]; 

P.P.F. 571a.)  This resulted in 42,137 alleged late claims.  (Exh. 1.) 

But by CDI’s own admission, its reported figure of 42,137 for PacifiCare’s late pays was off 

by almost 20%.  (See Fourth Supplemental Accusation, ¶ 23.)  CDI’s error involved double-counting 

overpayment recoveries, which should never have been included in the first instance.  (Exhs. 107, 

5252, p. 6923; Tr. 9603:16-9604:13 [Washington]; Tr. 7639:4-7640:22, 10043:9-24 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 

572(a).)  Although CDI knew at the time of the 2007 MCE that CDI was erroneously including 

overpayment recoveries as late pays, it pursued the violations anyway.  (Exh. 107; Tr. 9573:13-

9575:5, 9604:13 [Washington]; Tr. 11516:5-11519:2 [David]; P.P.F. 572(b).) 

Dennis
Text Box
p. 6937
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Yet, CDI’s reduced number of 34,934 alleged violations still overstates the number of late 

pays.  CDI’s own “healthcare expert within the department” concluded internally that late pays do not 

include those “claims where the total amount due [is] applied against the [member’s] deductible.”  

(Tr. 11519:14-11520:22 [David].)  Nonetheless, CDI continues to charge 5,921 such claims here as 

timeliness violations.  (CDI Br. 182.)  CDI argues that “[n]othing in section 10123.13, subdivision (a) 

limits the application of the 30-working-day requirement to instances where money changes hands.”  

(Ibid.)  But section 10123.13, subdivision (a) expressly refers to the deadline for an insurer to 

“reimburse” claims.  It provides that “[e]very insurer . . . shall reimburse claims . . . no later than 30 

working days after receipt of the claim . . . .”  To “reimburse” necessarily means that money goes 

from one entity to the other.  (2 Shorter Oxford English Dict. (6th ed. 2007), p. 2156 [defining 

“reimburse” as “Repay (a sum of money spent)”]; see also Webster’s Third New Int’l Dict. (2002), p. 

1914 [“defining “reimburse” as “to pay back (an equivalent of something taken, lost, or expended) to 

someone”].)   

Once the late claims are reduced to 29,013 late payments, PacifiCare’s noncompliance rate 

falls to 2.5%. 

CDI contends that PacifiCare’s plain-language reading of sections 10123.13(a) and 

10123.147(a) “would mean that insurers could refuse to process claims on which the entire amount is 

applicable to the member’s deductible indefinitely without violating any laws.”  (CDI Br. 182.)  But 

the argument gets CDI nowhere because insurers have no incentive to delay the processing of such 

claims.  First, the insurer cannot determine what payment is due until the claim is processed.  

Refusing to process claims based on the assumption that nothing would be due would prove an 

expensive risk.  Second, the insurer has the incentive to timely process the claim because employer 

groups and individuals use timeliness as a measure in deciding which insurer to use.  (Tr. 7433:9-

7434:13 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 550, 551.)  



 

204 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

f) The Supposed “Root Cause” Of Any Timeliness Issues. 

CDI alleges that the “root cause” of PacifiCare’s timeliness issues was the outsourcing to 

Lason and other front-end issues (e.g., United Front End [“UFE”]).  (CDI Br. 177-180.)   

First, CDI’s own integration expert, Ronald Boeving, found no causal connection between the 

integration issues and any specific violations.  (Tr. 19143:13-19145:14.)   

Second, these front-end issues did not materially impact the timeliness of PacifiCare’s claims 

processing, given that PacifiCare exceeded the performance metrics in both the Undertakings and the 

NAIC Handbook.  (Tr. 6154:16-6156:12, 6343:3-10, 6796:3-6798:22 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7784:3-

7785:16, 11182:9-13 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 567.) 

In fact, self-initiated reworks were the largest contributor to late pays during the MCE period.  

24,181 of the 34,934 alleged violations here (69.2%) were reprocessed claims for which the 

additional processing of the claim (not the original processing) occurred 42 or more calendar days 

after receipt of the original claim.  (Tr. 11180:12-23 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 568.) 

CDI also complains about 1,500 claims “looping” between the HMA and PPO platforms each 

day.  (CDI Br. 178.)  But CDI’s cited evidence—Exhibit 881—does not contain examples of 

misrouted or looped claims.  (Tr. 9849:24-9851:11, 11230:5-16 [Berkel].)46  And CDI’s purported 

“solution” to the looping issue (i.e., giving Lason access to FETrain (CDI Br. 178)) merely would 

have permitted Lason staff to assume work already being performed by the reject queue managed by 

PacifiCare staff, which had access to the eligibility data.  (Tr. 14019:1-8 [Vavra].)  CDI suggests that 

this solution met “resistance” because of the $65,000 price tag.  (CDI Br. 178.)  Instead, resistance 

was the result of the proposal being made near the end of the year and the fact that it could assist only 

with a “very, very small subset” of claims.  (Tr. 9850:13-9851:11 [Berkel].) 

                                                 

 46 Moreover, the misrouting of PPO claims did not become a significant quantitative issue 
because in order to be misrouted, a PPO claim would have to have (1) involved a member not on 
Lason’s member extract list; (2) not contained the correct legal company on the submitted bill; and 
(3) been shipped to the wrong P.O. box.  (Tr. 9842:3-13 [Berkel].) 
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CDI also refers to the corruption of provider demographic data by EPDE, which, argues CDI, 

resulted in provider checks being sent to old addresses, causing claims to be paid after 30 working 

days had elapsed.  (CDI Br. 180.)  However, returned checks are an unavoidable consequence of the 

insurance claims-payment business.  (Tr. 17306:18-17308:6 [Lippincott]; Tr. 19812:9-19813:6 

[McNabb]; exh. 5615.)  In any event, the monthly quantities of returned checks actually decreased 

after PacifiCare began using the EPDE feed for RIMS, relative to the time period before that use.  

(Exh. 604; Tr. 17309:4-16 [Lippincott].)   

g) Alleged Member/Provider Complaints About Late 
Payments.  

CDI argues that it received “a large number of consumer complaints against PacifiCare 

relating to late . . . claims payments” (CDI Br. 172), but CDI cites its employees’ own testimony, and 

provides no qualitative or contextual support, and no documentary evidence.  (See ibid. [citing 

testimony of Masters, Smith, and Cignarale].) 

In fact, from June to December of 2006, CDI received 27 complaints for which it ultimately 

cited PacifiCare for alleged violations.  (Exh. 5720.)  Of those 27 complaints, only three related to the 

alleged failure to pay a claim within 30 working days.  (Ibid.)47 

CDI’s brief focuses on a few discrete examples of late payments, but even its discussion of 

those examples is completely misleading.  (CDI Br. 173-175.)  For example, Mr. R and his family 

submitted approximately 60 claims over a four-year period, and he recalled having problems with 

only the two claims at issue here.  (Tr. 1776:12-1777:6 [Mr. R.:  “We may have been frustrated with 

                                                 

 47 In August 2007, CDI requested that PacifiCare self-report the number of claims paid beyond 
45 calendar days.  (CDI Br. 171.)  PacifiCare’s original response contained a spreadsheet 
duplication error, showing only 206 claims.  (Ibid.)  But PacifiCare promptly corrected that error, 
and CDI has never asserted it or relied on it in the prior submissions in this action.  (Exh. 106.)  CDI 
now asserts there were “inconsistencies in those data” (CDI Br. 172), but those supposed 
inconsistencies were the result of CDI’s own failure to understand that it was reviewing data 
reflecting claim-line level detail, or because CDI did not understand the report reflected claims for 
services rendered in other states, which had different requirements.  (Exh. 106, 5072.)  
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the PacifiCare, but nothing that would [rise] to the level of us taking any action”]; P.P.F. 788.)  Yet, 

the primary problems which Mr. R faced resulted not from problems with PacifiCare’s claims-

processing procedures, but from Mr. R’s failure to pursue resolution through the appropriate appeals 

channels:  He opted instead to try to resolve issues over the phone.  (Tr. 1779:9-1780:1 [Mr. R.]; 

P.P.F. 784.)  When he finally pursued an appeal, Mr. R’s issues were resolved within PacifiCare’s 

standard appeals response time, and one was resolved in six days.  (Tr. 1758:6-1761:14, 1760:11-14, 

1765:12-17 [Mr. R.]; P.P.F. 295.)     

CDI also references Dr. Mazer, a PacifiCare contracted provider, who “testified about his 

frustrating experience trying to get PacifiCare to correctly pay a claim.”  (CDI Br. 175.)  While Dr. 

Mazer claimed to have been underpaid based on an outdated contract and fee schedule, he did not 

present any documentary evidence to support his claim.  (Tr. 3058:12-15 [Mazer:  “I don’t have 

anything with me today, no.”], 3072:24-3074:3.)  In any event, Dr. Mazer’s dispute with PacifiCare is 

a contractual one, which is outside of CDI’s authority to resolve.  (Exhs. 5121, 5651.) 

The only other example is Ms. W, whose only “harm” was that she had to advance $500 to a 

provider to ensure time-sensitive treatment for her son.48  (CDI Br. 175.) 

3. CDI Is Estopped From Claiming That PacifiCare’s Compliance 
With The Undertakings Was An Unfair Claims Settlement 
Practice. 

The metrics of Undertaking No. 19 were designed to be consistent with PacifiCare’s historical 

claims-handling performance before PacifiCare’s acquisition by United.  The Undertakings thereby 

gave PacifiCare a reasonable basis to believe that it could continue to conduct its claims-handling 

                                                 

 48 In addition, CDI relies on several irrelevant examples of complaints from UCLA and UCSF.  
(CDI Br. 176-77.)  But allegations associated with UCLA and UCSF were dismissed from this 
proceeding on March 21, 2012.  Moreover, with respect to alleged violations before March 15, 
2008, those claims were resolved by a settlement between PacifiCare and UCLA, as CDI admits.  
(Id. at p. 177.)  CDI’s complaint that PacifiCare resolved the claim by settlement, rather than 
reprocessing the claims, is meaningless because the settlement, by definition, had UCLA’s 
approval.  In any event, the allegations about UCLA and UCSF have no bearing on this proceeding. 
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operations after the acquisition in accordance with its established practices and procedures and that, 

by so doing, it would not be subject to a conclusion that it was engaging in an unfair business 

practice.  Undertaking No. 19 sets forth a series of “performance standards,” each of which is subject 

to a “tolerance threshold” of 3%.  (Exh. 5191, p. 15.)  In particular, for “[c]laims processed within 30 

calendar days,” Undertaking No. 19 imposes a 95% performance standard, which is reduced to 92% 

after applying the 3% tolerance threshold.  (Id.)  It is undisputed that over the relevant time period, 

PacifiCare paid more than 95% of undisputed claims within 30 calendar days.  (Tr. 22787:14-18, 

23428:22-23429:1 [Cignarale]; Tr. 8767:5-12, 18067:6-10 [Monk]; P.P.F. 752.)  This performance 

significantly exceeds the 92% benchmark for timely claim payments set forth in Undertaking No. 19.  

It also surpasses the standard embodied in section 10123.13(a), which uses a period of 30 working 

days, as opposed to 30 calendar days.   

PacifiCare therefore unquestionably complied with the agreed-upon performance metrics of 

Undertaking No. 19 and cannot be charged a penalty for engaging in an “unfair claims settlement 

practice” under section 790.03(h) by virtue of not exceeding the performance metrics by an even 

higher percentage.  As PacifiCare’s expert, Dr. Kessler, opined, “if the late payment rates fell within 

the tolerance thresholds that the Department and PacifiCare had agreed to, it doesn't make sense for 

the Department to then turn around and allege that that late payment rate constituted a violation of the 

law.”  (Tr. 20901:12-16 [Kessler].)   

PacifiCare’s regulatory expert, Sue Stead, confirmed this point.  She testified that where a 

regulator sets a standard of performance required by the regulator, and the insurer meets that 

standard, it would be inappropriate to punish the insurer for meeting that standard.   

[T]here’s a standard of performance that's in the Undertaking 19 for the prompt 
processing of claims.  And it has error tolerances.  And that was acceptable to the 
Department to approve the acquisition.  So to now take a position that that same 
level of performance or actually a better level of performance, meaning higher 
standards, is somehow an unfair practice or violation or should be penalized is 
what I find to be, frankly, inappropriate and troubling under the circumstances.   

(Tr. 26013:22-26014:7 [Stead].) 
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Even if the Undertakings were not considered a binding contractual agreement, CDI would be 

estopped from renouncing the agreed-upon performance metrics of Undertaking No. 19. 

“The elements of the doctrine [of estoppel] are that (1) the party to be estopped must be 

apprised of the facts; (2) he must intend that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the 

party asserting the estoppel has a right to believe it was so intended; (3) the other party must be 

ignorant of the true state of facts; and (4) he must rely upon the conduct to his injury.”  (City of 

Goleta v. Superior Court, supra, 40 Cal.4th 270, 279.)  Estoppel lies against government agencies so 

long as “the injustice which would result from a failure to uphold an estoppel is of sufficient 

dimension to justify any effect upon public interest or policy which would result from the raising of 

an estoppel.”  (City of Long Beach v. Mansell (1970) 3 Cal.3d 462, 496-497.) 

In this case, it would be unjust to allow CDI to impose penalties on PacifiCare on the ground 

that it exceeded the performance metric for the timely payment of claims approved by CDI itself.  

Based on CDI’s own allegations, PacifiCare exceeded the 92% performance metric by failing to 

timely pay on only 3.1% of the paid claims.   

The metrics of Undertaking No. 19 were designed to be consistent with PacifiCare’s historical 

claims-handling performance before PacifiCare’s acquisition by United.  The Undertakings thereby 

gave PacifiCare a reasonable basis to believe that it could continue to conduct its claims-handling 

operations after the acquisition in accordance with its established practices and procedures and that, 

by so doing, it would satisfy CDI’s expectations, as expressed in Undertaking No. 19.  In other 

words, the performance metric in Undertaking No. 19 led PacifiCare to believe that it would incur no 

penalties if it exceeded that performance metric. 

CDI argues that the metrics set forth in the Undertakings do not “apply to this enforcement 

hearing” because “[t]hose undertakings reflected unilateral commitments made by PacifiCare and 

United to then-Commissioner Garamendi in 2005 to induce him to approve the acquisition.”  (CDI 

Br. 183:22-26.)  This is absurd:  First, an Insurance Commissioner does not approve an acquisition 
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based on commitments that, if met, result in unfair claims settlement practices.  Second, regardless of 

whether CDI accepted commitments which fell below the standards set by the unfair practices law, 

the elements of estoppel would still be met:  The government misled PacifiCare into believing that 

conduct that met the commitments would be acceptable to the department; PacifiCare had every right 

to believe that meeting those commitments would be acceptable to the department; and it relied upon 

those commitments to its injury – to the tune of millions of dollars in proposed penalties. 

Simply put, CDI seeks to claim that PacifiCare engaged in an unfair claims settlement 

practice in violation of section 790.03(h)—even though PacifiCare substantially exceeded the 92% 

performance metric of Undertaking No. 19 that CDI itself approved.  CDI should be estopped from 

claiming that PacifiCare’s compliance with the performance metric nonetheless subjects PacifiCare to 

penalties for not further exceeding that performance metric.  It is CDI, not PacifiCare, that has 

engaged in the unfair practice here. 

4. The Failure To Pay Within 30 Working Days Under Sections 
10123.13(a) And 10123.147(a) Is Not Itself An Unfair Claims 
Settlement Practice. 

As with all the other alleged violations, CDI cannot recover penalties unless PacifiCare’s 

conduct constitutes an “unfair claims settlement practice” prohibited by section 790.03(h).  But there 

is a world of difference between a violation of sections 10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a), on the one 

hand, and an unfair claims practice in violation of section 790.03(h), on the other.  Multiple 

violations of the non-penal provisions of sections 10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a) – even if they in fact 

represented as much as 2.5% or 3.1% of the paid claims here – cannot constitute the basis for 

penalties under section 790.03(h). 

a) Section 10123.13 Was Not Adopted “With The Purpose Of 
Adding To The Existing UIPA,” As Claimed By CDI. 

Section 10123.13 and 10123.147 are non-penal statutes which are not part of the unfair 

practices article of the Insurance Code (§ 790 et seq.).  The failure to meet the 30-day working 

standard is not specified to be an unfair claims settlement practice and does not provide for penalties 



 

210 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

but instead a separate remedy of 10% interest tailored to both remediate and deter the failure to meet 

that standard – the payment of 10% interest for every day of delay. 

Recognizing that its late payment claim is premised exclusively on a non-penal statute, CDI 

claims that the 30-working-day standard in section 10123.13, subdivision (a) has been expressly 

incorporated into section 790.03(h) to define what constitutes a “reasonable” timeframe for paying 

claims.  (CDI Br. 170-171.)  According to CDI, the Legislature added section 10123.13, subdivision 

(a) to the Insurance Code in 1986 “with the stated purpose of adding to the existing UIPA (also 

referred to as the Unfair Trade Practices Act) specific time limits for processing of claims.”  (Id. at p. 

170.)  This is untrue. 

In enacting section 10123.13, subdivision (a), the Legislature only acknowledged that 

“[e]xisting law” (including section 790.03(h)) did not set specific time limits for reimbursement of 

claims.  (Legis. Counsel’s Dig., Assem. Bill No. 4206 (1985-1985 Reg. Sess.), Request for Official 

Notice, Tab 004.)  The Senate Floor Analysis explained that “[c]urrent law [i.e., section 790.03(h)(3)] 

requires insurers to adopt standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims; failure to 

do so constitutes an unfair practice subject to administrative, civil or criminal penalties.”  (Sen. Rules 

Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analysis, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 4206 (1986), p. 1 [Exh. 1201, p. LIS-

9b].)   

Thus, the Legislature recognized that the California insurance law did not impose a specific 

deadline for reimbursement of claims.  Section 10123.13, subdivision (a) was meant to provide such 

a deadline, but not for purposes of the UIPA.  There is absolutely no indication that the Legislature 

intended the 30-working-day deadline of section 10123.13, subdivision (a) to define “reasonable 

standards” as the term is used in section 790.03(h).  Significantly, the text of section 10123.13, 

subdivision (a) makes no reference to section 790.03(h), which appears in an entirely different 

division and chapter of the Insurance Code.   
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Second, the Legislature provided, not for penalties, but for the payment of 10% interest as the 

remedy for the failure to meet the 30 working day deadline. 

Third, section 10123.13 does not provide that the failure to pay within 30 days is 

unreasonable.  By providing for interest of 10% per annum if payment is not made within 30 working 

days (§ 10123.13, subd. (b)), the Legislature anticipated that some claims would not be paid within 

30 working days.  The Legislature’s authorization of late payments, but paid with interest, 

demonstrate that reasonable standards can permit a percentage of late payments, which are paid with 

interest. 

b) Section 790.03(h)(2): The Failure To Pay Within 30 
Working Days Is Not Itself A Failure To Act “Reasonably 
Promptly” Upon Communications. 

As noted previously, section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of 

“[f]ailing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims 

arising under insurance policies.”  Subdivision (h)(2) does not apply to late payments.  The prohibited 

practice involves the practice of failing to acknowledge and act “upon communications,” not the 

failure to pay a claim, let alone the mere delay in paying a claim. 

c) Section 790.03(h)(3): The Failure To Timely Pay A Small 
Percentage of Claims Does Not Mean There Was A Failure 
To Adopt Reasonable Standards. 

(1) Late payment of a small percentage of claims does 
not mean that PacifiCare failed to adopt reasonable 
standards. 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”  (Italics added.)   

The failure to pay a limited percentage of claims within 30 working days does not, in and of 

itself, even evidence a failure to adopt and implement “reasonable standards” for the prompt 

processing of claims.  Whether the standards for promptly processing claims are unreasonable would 

depend upon a host of factors, including the percentage of claims that are untimely paid, the length of 
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the actual delay, and the reasons for the particular delay.  As discussed below, CDI has failed to 

present evidence that shows that PacifiCare failed to adopt or implement reasonable processing 

standards. 

(2) PacifiCare had “reasonable standards” for the 
prompt processing of claims. 

PacifiCare’s general business practice during the 2007 MCE Period was to pay claims within 

the statutory period.  (Tr. 7783:11-7785:16 [Berkel]; Tr. 25235:4-25236:17 [Stead]; P.P.F. 560.) 

Shortly after the merger, PacifiCare adopted and complied with United’s more stringent 

timeliness standards for processing claims.  (Tr. 3525:5-3528:8 [Norket]; Tr. 6798:8-6800:24 

[Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7435:16-7336:12 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 557.)  As noted earlier, instead of paying claims 

within “30 working days,” PacifiCare adopted a standard for payment of 96.5% of claims within 10 

working days and 98% of claims within 20 working days.  (Tr. 3535:5-3528:8 [Norket]; Tr. 6798:8-

6800:24 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7435:16-7336:12 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 557.)  These standards are reasonable 

and preclude the finding of a section 790.03(h)(3) violation here. 

In accordance with these reasonable claims-processing standards, PacifiCare paid at least 

96.9% (and assuming only 29,013 late payments, 97.5%) of the claims at issue with 30 working days.  

It paid 99.5% of the claims at issue within 30 working days or after 30 working days with 10% 

interest.  (Exh. 5252, p.11; Tr. 7647:18-7648:5 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 566(a).)  Thus, it adequately 

implemented these standards. 

Moreover, shortly after the merger, PacifiCare also adopted United’s more robust quality 

control standards around claims processing, including regular audits, bonuses, feedback, and 

PacifiCare-PPO dedicated auditors.  (Exh. 607; Tr. 7438:18-7446:13 [Berkel]; Tr. 7249:5-7254:20 

[Goosens]; P.P.F. 558.) 

The fact that there was a small percentage of claims that PacifiCare paid late cannot possibly 

mean that there was a failure to adopt and implement reasonable standards.  Experience and common 

sense dictate that all insurers have at least some percentage of late pays, which does not mean their 



 

213 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

standards were unreasonable.  (Tr. 6333:18-23, 6336:7-16, 6987:6-10 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7780:23-

7781:10, 10024:13-21 [Berkel]; Tr. 14157:12-16 [Laucher] ; Tr. 23041:19-23042:11 [Cignarale]; 

P.P.F. 553.)  As CDI’s Laucher admitted,  

“Q.  Have you ever seen an insurance company, health insurance 

company, that had a perfect record of paying every single claim within 

30 days for any given year?   

A.  No.”   

(Tr. 14157:12-16 [Laucher].)  Deputy Commissioner Cignarale also conceded he has never “seen an 

error-free system in all [his] years” at CDI (Tr. 23722:15-23724:4) and that he has never “even 

evaluated whether it is possible to have an error-free claims handling process.”  (Tr. 23715:2-21; see 

also Tr. 14157:12-16 [Laucher].)  And CDI’s integration expert agreed that holding PacifiCare or 

United to a standard of perfection “wouldn’t be fair.”  (Tr. 19406:5-10 [Boeving]; see also Tr. 

20866:6-22 [Kessler].) 

Given this reality of claims-handling, CDI has historically established certain tolerance 

thresholds around claim payment timeliness in a number of circumstances.  (See exhs. 5191, 5292, 

5671; Tr. 23777:5-23795:17 [Cignarale]; see also Findings 232-242 (re tolerance thresholds); P.P.F. 

554.)  PacifiCare exceeded the tolerance thresholds set forth in the NAIC handbook and in the 

Undertakings approved by CDI.  (See Exh. 876, 5615, p.7, 5634; Tr. 8764:25-8765:20, 12545:4-

12561:15 [Monk]; Tr. 7436:19-7438:1, 10024:15-21 [Berkel]; Tr. 20900:14-20901:16; Pleading 71 

(Monk Declaration); Tr. 22787:14-18 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 561, 564.) 

In short, PacifiCare adopted and implemented “reasonable standards” for the prompt 

processing of claims. 
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d) Section 790.03(h)(4): The Failure To Pay Within 30 
Working Days Is Not A Failure To Affirm Or Deny 
Coverage Within A Reasonable Time. 

Section 790.03(h)(4) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to affirm or 

deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been 

completed and submitted by the insured.”  (Italics added.)   

The prohibited “practice” of failing to affirm or deny coverage differs from the conduct 

proscribed by sections 10123.13(a) and 10123.147(a): 

“[A]ffirming” coverage for a claim, as required by section 790.03(h)(4), is different from the 

actual payment of a claim.  When an insurer affirms coverage, it merely confirms that the claim is 

covered under the terms of the policy at issue.  Whether and when the claim is actually paid is a 

different issue.   

This distinction is reflected in the regulations that CDI adopted to implement section 

790.03(h) with respect to certain classes of insurers.  Under Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (b), an 

insurer must, “[u]pon receiving proof of claim … immediately, but in no event more than forty (40) 

calendar days later, accept or deny the claim, in whole or part.”  (Italics added.)  “Acceptance” of a 

claim, however, does not require immediate payment.  Rather, under Regulation 2695.7, subdivision 

(h), the insurer has an additional 30-calendar-day period to issue payment:  “Upon acceptance of the 

claim in whole or part . . . every insurer . . . shall immediately, but in no event more than thirty (30) 

calendar days later, tender payment [….]”  (Italics added.)  While these 30- and 40-calendar-day 

time frames are expressly inapplicable to health insurers such as PacifiCare, the regulations 

nevertheless confirm that “affirming” or “accepting” coverage for a claim is different from actually 

paying the claim.49 

                                                 
49  Regulation 2695.7, subdivisions (b)(4) and (h)(1) specify that these time frames “shall not apply 
to claims arising from policies of disability insurance subject to Section 10123.13(a) of the 
California Insurance Code[….].”  In 1994, when Regulation 2695.7 was adopted, “health insurance” 
was not recognized as a separate class of insurance, but was part of the larger class of “disability” 
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Accordingly, a failure to pay a claim within 30 working days does not mean there has been a 

failure to affirm or deny coverage within a reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been 

completed and submitted.  Nor is there any basis for construing the reasonable period for affirming 

claims to be the 30-working days for the right to pay claims without the payment of interest.  If the 

Legislature had intended that the failure to pay claims within 30 working days was to constitute a 

failure to affirm a claim within a reasonable time, the Legislature could have so provided in section 

790.03(h)(4).  But it did not. 

Accordingly, to prove a violation of section 790.03(h)(4), CDI cannot simply rely on evidence 

suggesting that 3.1% (or 2.5%) of paid claims were paid with interest outside of the 30-working-day 

period.  CDI instead must prove that PacifiCare had a practice of affirming or denying coverage of 

claims within an unreasonable time period. 

e) Section 790.03(h)(5): The Failure To Pay Within 30 
Working Days Cannot Itself Constitute A failure To 
“Attempt[] In Good Faith To Effectuate Prompt, Fair, And 
Equitable Settlements Of Claims.” 

Section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[n]ot attempting in 

good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has 

become reasonably clear.”  (Italics added.)   

Even if “prompt” in section 790.03(h)(5) could be construed as “30 working days” in all 

cases, that would say nothing about whether claims settled beyond 30 days were nonetheless done so 

pursuant to a “good faith” attempt to effectuate “fair” and “equitable” settlements.  (See Kulshrestha 

v. First Union Commercial Corp. (2004) 33 Cal.4th 601, 611 [“[C]ourts may not excise words from 

statutes.  We assume each term has meaning and appears for a reason,” citation omitted].)  Whether a 

claim paid beyond 30 working days still reflects a good faith attempt to promptly settle the claim 

                                                                                                                                                             

insurance referenced in the regulation.  (See Ins. Code § 106, prior to amend. by Stats. 2001, ch. 
277, § 1.) 
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depends upon a variety of factors, including the percentage of late payments, the length of the 

particular delay, and the reasons for it), none of which has been presented by CDI.  In any event, 

CDI’s failure to show bad faith dooms this claim.50 

5. Even If The Failure To Pay Within 30 Working Days Violates 
Section 790.03(h), CDI Cannot Establish That The Failure Was A 
Knowingly Committed Practice Or A General Business Practice. 

Even assuming arguendo that PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h) by failing to pay some 

claims within 30 working days, CDI did not establish that PacifiCare knowingly committed or 

performed the violations with such frequency as to constitute a general business practice. 

a) General business practice. 

Even under CDI’s calculations, only 3.1% of the total claims were paid in more than 30 

working days.  The NAIC Market Conduct Handbook specifies a 7% error rate in order to qualify as 

a general business practice.  Accordingly, virtually by definition, a practice that is engaged in less 

than 4% of the time cannot be a “general business practice.”  (See Royal Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at 

p. 895 (conc. & dis. opn. of Richardson, J.) [explaining that the “frequency” requirement ensures that 

acts that are “occasional only and [have] not occurred often enough to ripen into a general practice” 

do not subject an insurer to penalties,” original italics.]) 

b) Knowingly committed. 

Moreover, even under CDI’s erroneous reading of section 790.03(h)—which, it contends, 

requires either a general business practice or a “knowing” violation—PacifiCare’s alleged violations 

were not committed “knowingly” and thus do not satisfy the “knowledge” requirement.  As noted, 

“knowingly committed” means that the litigant must “demonstrate that the insurer acted 

deliberately.”  (Royal Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at p. 891, italics added.)  There is no evidence or 

reasonable inference that PacifiCare deliberately paid a certain percentage of its claims beyond 30 

                                                 

 50 In fact, PacifiCare’s reasonable, post-merger claim-processing standards alone negate any 
inference of bad faith here. 
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working days, with awareness of the consequences.  To the contrary, PacifiCare’s general business 

practice during the 2007 MCE Period was to pay claims within the statutory period.  (Tr. 7783:11-

7785:16 [Berkel]; Tr. 25235:4-25236:17 [Stead]; P.P.F. 560.) 

CDI argues that the alleged late-payment violations were “knowingly” committed because 

PacifiCare (a) is deemed to have constructive knowledge of when it receives and pays claims, and 

(b) is “chargeable with knowledge of the likely consequences” of implementing deficient systems.  

(CDI Br. 186.)  But it must be the “practice” that is committed “knowingly.”  And there is no 

evidence that PacifiCare was aware of facts that it had not implemented reasonable standards for the 

prompt processing of claims (§ 790.03(h)(3)), that its systems somehow prevented it from affirming 

or denying coverage within a reasonable period of time (§ 790.03(h)(4)), or that it was failing to 

attempt in good faith to effectuate equitable claims settlements (§ 790.03(h)(5)).  Consequently, CDI 

cannot establish a “knowing” unfair claims settlement practice here. 

6. Any Penalty Would Also Violate Due Process Because PacifiCare 
Lacked Fair Notice That It Would Be Subject To Penalties, Rather 
Than Only Interest For Making Some Late Payments. 

Any penalty would also violate due process because PacifiCare lacked notice that failure to 

comply with section 10123, subdivision (a)’s 30 working days standard in 3.1% (or 2.5%) of the 

cases would subject it to penalties under section 790.03(h). 

First, due process prohibits any punishment against PacifiCare for conduct that complied with 

the standards set forth in the Undertakings approved by CDI.  (See, e.g., Safeco, supra, 551 U.S. at p. 

69; Satcher v. Honda Motor Co. (1995) 52 F.3d 1311, 1317 [compliance with regulatory standards 

was a key factor demonstrating “that no reasonable jury could conclude . . . that this is an ‘extreme 

case’ meriting punitive damages”]; Richards v. Michelin Tire Corp. (11th Cir. 1994) 21 F.3d 1048, 

1059 [holding that “JNOV should be granted in [the manufacturer’s] favor” on punitive damages 

where, among other things, “the record demonstrates that [the manufacturer] complied with all 

requisite Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards”].) 
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Second, as explained earlier, due process “dictate[s] that a person receive fair notice not only 

of the conduct that will subject him to punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a State 

may impose.”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574.)  PacifiCare lacked fair notice that the failure to pay 

claims within 30 working days would subject it to substantial penalties, in addition to the payment of 

10% interest prescribed in the statute. 

Further, neither section 790.03 nor section 10123.13 even gave CDI fair notice that the failure 

to pay 3.1% of claims would expose an insurer to penalties.  In the final 2007 MCE reports on 

PacifiCare, CDI acknowledged that PacifiCare’s alleged non-compliance with the late-pay statute 

was something other than a violation of section 790.03, despite having a legal obligation to report any 

violations of section 790.03 in the final MCE report.  (Tr. 13284:12-25 [Laucher]; Tr. 22837:3-10, 

23008:1-10, 23016:12-23018:19 [Cignarale]; Tr. 24415:25-24417:8 [Stead]; P.P.F. 576.)  Nor did the 

original OSC plead the alleged late-pay violations as violations of Section 790.03.  (Tr. 23025:12-

23028:18 [Cignarale]; Exhs. 1, 123; P.P.F. 578.) 

Moreover, as shown in the two charts below, in prior instances where CDI has identified 

thousands of untimely payments in its market conduct examinations, it has not imposed penalties 

except where the late payments occurred in over 20% of the cases, and even then the penalty was 

only $200,000.  But where late payments occurred over 20% of the time, there truly might not be 

reasonable standards for the prompt processing of claims.  However, here, where the frequency of 

late payments fell below the NAIC standard and the performance metrics in the Undertakings, it is 

absolutely clear that PacifiCare received no fair notice that its 97% timely claims payments would 

subject it to any penalties, let alone the millions of dollars that CDI seeks here. 

Insurer 
Untimely 

Payments  

Total 

Claims 

Untimely 

% 

MCE 

Cites 

Penalty 

Assessed 

Time  17,969 100,692 17.85% 0 $0 

Mega (Midwest) 30,224 148,019 20.42% 131 $200,000 
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Indeed, as shown below, not only has CDI not assessed penalties, it has not even cited 

insurers in the MCE report regarding their late payments: 

Insurer 
Untimely 

Payments  
MCE  Cites 

Penalty 

Assessed 

Time  17,969 0 None 

Principal 33,602 0 None 

Mega (Midwest) 30,224 131 $200,000 

American Home Shield 11,438 0 None 

Kaiser Permanente 66,264 0 None 

New York Life 7,490 3 None 

 

Finally, in those prior instances where CDI cited an insurer for late pays, it failed in all but 

one other case to allege violations of the late-pay statute based on the entire claims population (as it 

has done here) – even where there was arguably evidence of a systemic issue.  (Tr. 25799:21-25807:4 

[Stead]; see Time Insurance Company Public Report (Apr. 30, 2012), Request for Official Notice, 

Tab 012; New York Life Insurance Public Report ( Dec. 4, 2008), Request for Official Notice, Tab 

33; Kaiser Permanente Insurance Company Public Report (May 24, 2010), Request for Official 

Notice, Tab 013; Principal Life Insurance Company Public Report (Dec. 18, 2009), Request for 

Official Notice, Tab 018; American Home Shield of California Public Report (Nov. 19, 2009), 

Request for Official Notice, Tab 019.) 

For all these reasons, PacifiCare lacked fair notice that the alleged late pays here could subject 

it to penalties at all under section 790.03 – let alone the draconian penalty sought here of 

$192,483,500 for violations that occurred in only 3.1% of the paid claims at issue (which uses CDI’s 

inflated figures of late-payments). 
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7. Even If An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice Could Be 
Established, Any Penalty Would Have To Be Minimal. 

a) There Was No Willful Violation. 

As explained earlier, the term “willful” as used in section 790.035 refers to conduct 

performed with the actual knowledge that it violated the law, and with the specific intent to commit a 

violation.  (See Section VI.C.6(b), ante.)  There is no evidence that PacifiCare had a specific intent to 

violate either section 10123.13, subdivision (a) or section 10123.147, subdivision (a)—let alone 

section 790.03(h).  Consequently, the alleged violations cannot be deemed “willful.” 

CDI argues that the violations were “willful” because PacifiCare “recklessly designed new 

processes … in a manner that made claims processing errors highly foreseeable.  PacifiCare further 

failed to equip these processes with appropriate quality control mechanisms, and failed to promptly 

investigate and address the resulting problems.”  (CDI Br. 187.)   

However, CDI does not show how specific late payments were the result of inappropriate 

quality control mechanisms.  CDI has the burden of proof to establish willfulness.  But CDI cites zero 

evidence for this supposed “willfulness” beyond the self-serving report of Mr. Cignarale—from 

which CDI apparently cut and pasted this argument in its brief.  (Compare CDI Br. 187:13-18, with 

Exh. 1184, p.110:16-25.) 

Further CDI’s integration expert has admitted that there is no causal connection between the 

post-merger integration issues and any specific violations.  (Tr. 19143:13-19145:14 [Boeving].)   

Finally, even if a result is “foreseeable” (and it was not here), that does not mean that the 

practice itself is “willful.”  Indeed, since over 69% of the “late payments” were reworked claims, a 

portion of that would have been timely paid before they were reworked, it can hardly be said that 

PacifiCare had the purpose of engaging in a practice of making late payments. To the contrary, 

PacifiCare’s purpose in reworking the claims was to make correct payments. 
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b) The Lack Of Harm. 

Under Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(10), the lack of harm weighs in favor of minimal 

penalties. 

CDI’s brief refers to one member and one provider who were “frustrated” because their 

claims were paid beyond the 30-day deadline of section 10123.13, subdivision (a), but there was no 

harm other than some purported credit card interest charges or an out-of-pocket cost of $500.  (CDI 

Br. 172-176 [discussing Mr. R, Ms. W, and Dr. Mazer].)  CDI has failed to provide evidence of any 

“harm” from late payments to the remainder of the entire population of 34,934 alleged claims.  

Indeed, PacifiCare either timely paid claims—or paid claims late but with the statutory interest (in 

compliance with section 10123.13, subdivision (b) and section 10123.147, subdivision (b)) in more 

than 99.5% of cases.  (Tr. 7647:18-7648:5 [Berkel]; Exh. 5252, p.11; P.P.F. 566(a).)  Further, since 

over 69% of the “late payments” were reworked claims which had been timely paid, such that 

claimants timely received a portion of their claim with the balance paid with 10% interest, it is 

difficult to conceive how this alleged unfair claims settlement practice resulted in any appreciable 

harm.  Thus, any penalties must therefore be minimal as a matter of due process.  (See Section IV.) 

Ironically, CDI claims that the “harm” here “was greater than the typical case because of 

PacifiCare’s failures to timely respond to inquiries and complaints by members and providers and 

because many of the late-paid claims were extremely late.”  (CDI Br. 190, italics added.)  Again, 

CDI’s only support is Mr. Cignarale’s report, which in turn offers nothing more than inadmissible 

and conclusory statements on this point.  (Exh. 1184, p. 112:1-4.)  The existence of a late payment (or 

even an “extremely” late payment) does not provide evidence of any “harm,” particularly where the 

late payment was likely of a claim where some payment had already been made before it was 

reworked and 10% interest paid on the late portion. 
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c) PacifiCare’s Compliance With The Undertakings. 

Again, there is no dispute that PacifiCare complied with the performance metrics set forth in 

Undertaking No. 19 for the timely processing of claims.  (Tr. 22787:14-18, 23428:22-23429:1 

[Cignarale]; Tr. 8767:5-12, 18067:6-10 [Monk]; P.P.F. 752.)  To the extent that this compliance does 

not entirely preclude a finding of any violation as a matter of estoppel law (see Section VII.D.3.), it 

militates in favor of a minimal penalty at the very least. 

d) PacifiCare Acted In Good Faith. 

CDI also seeks to increase the penalty against PacifiCare based on a purported lack of good 

faith attempt to comply with the law.  (CDI Br. 188.)  But there is no evidence of bad faith here.  

PacifiCare’s undisputed compliance with the Undertaking and United’s own (stricter) claims-

processing standards are powerful evidence that PacifiCare attempted in good faith to process claims 

in a timely manner.   

Further, as noted, claims paid beyond 30 days are already subject to a penalty—10% 

interest—under section 10123.13.  PacifiCare either timely paid claims or paid that “penalty” of 10% 

interest more than 99.5% of the time.  (Exh. 5252, p. 11; Tr. 7647:18-7648:5 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 566a.)  

Therefore, there should be no aggravation of the penalty for a supposed lack of good faith effort to 

comply with the law. 

e) Conclusion. 

There was no unfair claims settlement practice based on 3.1% (or 2.5%) of the claims being 

paid after 30 working days, albeit with 10% interest.  But even if it was and PacifiCare had fair notice 

that the failure to pay within 30 working days for 3.1% of claims would subject it to penalties and 

even if CDI is not estopped by virtue of the fact that PacifiCare had satisfied the metric for timely 

payment approved by CDI, any penalty would have to be nominal.  The late payments were not 

willful, caused minimal, if any, harm, were remediated with 10% interest, and complied with the 

performance metric in the Undertakings. 
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E. The Alleged Failure To Pay Statutory Interest On Late-Paid Claims.  
(CDI Br., pp. 189-200.) 

CDI seeks to penalize 5,195 failures to pay 10% statutory interest on late-paid claims, which 

constitutes approximately 0.6% of CDI’s 908,654 purported violations. 

However, late-paid interest cannot possibly be the basis for a separate unfair claims settlement 

practice since the payment of statutory interest is a remedy for late-paid claims. 

In any event, as demonstrated below, CDI cannot fit the failure to pay statutory interest into 

any of 16 enumerated unfair claims settlement practices.  The failure to pay statutory interest is not a 

misrepresentation (§ 790.03(h)(1)); it is not, in and of itself, proof that reasonable standards for 

promptly processing claims were not adopted (§ 790.03(h)(3)); it has  little to do with affirming or 

denying coverage of claims within a reasonable time (§ 790.03(h)(4)); and it cannot itself evidence an 

absence of good faith in settling claims (§ 790.03(h)(5)). 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim.  

As discussed above, if an insurer fails to pay an uncontested claim within “30 working days” 

under section 10123.13, subdivision (a), interest accrues at a rate of “10 percent per annum beginning 

with the first calendar day after the 30-working day period.”  (§ 10123.13, subd. (b).)   

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to pay this statutory interest on late-paid claims in 5,195 

instances.  (CDI Br. 198.)  It argues that these purported failures constitute violations of section 

790.03, subdivisions (h)(1), (h)(2), (h)(3), (h)(4), and (h)(5).  (CDI Br. 189-191.)  The late payment 

of interest is none of these. 

2. The Facts. 

a) PacifiCare Had Established Policies That Required Interest 
Payments. 

Before and during the relevant time period, PacifiCare had in place policies and procedures to 

pay statutory interest on any uncontested claim paid after 30 working days.  (See exh. 177, attach. 

29.)  Indeed, PacifiCare’s policy is to pay interest when in doubt about the timing of payment.  As 

Dennis
Text Box
117
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Ms. Berkel explained, “[i]f there is ever any doubt, then [PacifiCare claims examiners] should use the 

earliest review date and they should err on the side of interest overpayment.”  (Tr. 7653:22-7654:5 

[Berkel]; see also id. at 7773:15-7774:21; exh. 5252.) 

b) Interest Was Paid On The Vast Majority Of Late-Paid 
Claims. 

PacifiCare failed to timely pay interest in connection with 5,195 claims, totaling $142,101.01.  

(Tr. 7648:8-18, 11182:14-11183:16 [Berkel]; Exhs. 730, 777, 5252, 5369; P.P.F. 584.)  The median 

interest due was $0.87.  (Tr. 11188:11-17 [Berkel]; Exhs. 781, 5369, p.4, 5720; P.P.F. 586.) 

These 5,195 claims represent a mere 0.05% of the claims at issue.  In other words, where any 

payment was due, PacifiCare paid 99.5% of the claims either within 30 working days, or after 30 

working days plus interest.  (Tr. 7647:18-7648:5 [Berkel]; Exh. 5252, p. 11; P.P.F. 566a.)  CDI 

argues that this figure is “meaningless” because the “total number of claims figure in the denominator 

… virtually assures that any compliance rate is going to appear high.”  (CDI Br. 193.)   

Instead, CDI suggests that “the more appropriate measure of PacifiCare’s compliance with the 

interest requirement would be to compare the number of claims on which PacifiCare failed to pay 

interest to the number of claims that required interest.”  (CDI Br. 193:8-10.)  Based on that 

calculation, CDI comes to an 82% compliance rate (23,658 claims paid with interest divided by 

28,853 claims requiring interest).  (CDI Br. 193:18-21.)    

However, this penalizes PacifiCare for paying the vast majority of claims on time by 

removing them from CDI’s calculation, which leads to a meaningless statistic.  For instance, if 

PacifiCare paid all but two claims on time, and one of the two late-paid claims did not include 

interest, CDI’s formulation would result in a 50% non-compliance rate.  However, it is the total 

number of claims processed for payment against which a particular error in calculating those amounts 

should be compared.  The failure to pay statutory interest occurred only 0.5% of the time during the 

relevant period. 
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CDI also claims that PacifiCare falsely represented during the MCE that it had manually 

adjusted all of its 5,432 self-reported failures to pay interest, when in fact there were 813 claims that 

still needed to be adjusted as of June 10, 2010.  (CDI Br. 192.)  But for each of the 5,432 claims, 

PacifiCare sent CDI files describing the amount of interest paid or the reasons for not paying interest.  

(Exh. 118, attachs. 19, 21.)  When PacifiCare determined that an additional 561 claims (out of the 

additional 813 claims) did warrant interest, it paid $4,049.34 in additional interest (or an average of 

$7.22 per claim).  (Tr. 11183:13-11184:20 [Berkel].)  As CDI admits, PacifiCare ultimately paid all 

of the interest due on these claims for every day of delay at the statutory rate of 10% (CDI Br. 192), 

which should more than compensate for the delay in payment  (Tr. 7434:5-7435:10 [Berkel: “10 

percent is significantly more than we earn in the marketable securities we invest in”]; Tr. 20886:15-

20887:22 [Kessler].)   

The total interest paid with respect to these 5,195 claims was $142,101.01.  (Tr. 7648:8-18, 

11182:14-11183:16 [Berkel]; Exhs. 730, 777, 5252, 5369; P.P.F. 584.) 

c) When Interest Was Not Paid, It Was Due To Human Error. 

The root cause for PacifiCare’s failure to pay interest on these 5,195 late-paid claims was 

“human error.”  (Tr. 7648:23-7649:8 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 585.)  Specifically, “the RIMS system does not 

automatically calculate interest when a claim is being readjusted,” so “the examiner has to calculate 

that interest independently.”  (Tr. 7469:1-8 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 585.) 

PacifiCare remedied this problem and implemented a series of corrective actions designed to 

minimize the errors associated with paying interest, including focused audits and the development of 

a software program for calculating interest.  According to Ms. Vonderhaar:  “One of the most 

effective things we did was we created what I call a calculator where our claims examiners just plug 

in basic information.  It calculates for them what the interest would be so they don’t have to do that 

manually….  And along the same lines, we did retraining around interest.  We put a focus audit in 

place around interest so we could see where we had continued issues….  And we’ve seen continued 
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improvement on performance around interest payments.”  (Tr. 6851:5-6852:21 [Vonderhaar]; see 

also id. at 6965:25-6967:2 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7651:5-7653:17 [Berkel:  “we do much to keep our 

claims examiners up to speed with all of the requirements, including interest.  And so we have 

periodic training on interest.”]; exhs. 355, 357, 5252, p. 117 attach. 51.) 

CDI complains that where a claim needs to be reworked, the date that the rework claim was 

received is recorded as the received date.  It argues that “recording the original received date in RIMS 

for rework claims,” rather than recording the date the rework claim was received, “would have been 

far more effective in ensuring that claims were paid with appropriate interest.”  (CDI Br. 196.)  But 

recording the date that the rework claim is received is a reasonable business judgment and beyond 

CDI’s jurisdiction to criticize. 

CDI also argues that “[t]he transfer of PPO claims processing to MedPlans – a vendor with 

serious and known performance problems – almost certainly contributed to PacifiCare’s significant 

failures to appropriately pay interest on claims.”  (CDI Br. 197:6-8.)  This is pure speculation.  CDI 

fails to provide any citation to the record for its contention that MedPlans was responsible for the 

failure to pay interest on any of the 5,195 claims. 

3. The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest Is Not An Unfair Claims 
Settlement Practice. 

a) Interest Is A Remedy For A Late-Paid Claim, Not The Basis 
For A Separate Unfair Practice. 

Section 10123.13, subdivision (b) provides as follows: 

If an uncontested claim is not reimbursed by delivery to the claimant’s 
address of record within 30 working days after receipt, interest shall 
accrue and shall be payable at the rate of 10 percent per annum 
beginning with the first calendar day after the 30-working day period. 

As CDI admits (CDI Br. 189-190), section 10123.13, subdivision (b)’s 10% interest penalty 

was enacted to provide a remedy for claimants whose claims were not paid within the 30 working 

days required under section 10123.13, subdivision (a).  In CDI’s recitation of its legislative history, it 

quotes the bill’s author that “[t]he purpose of Assembly Bill 865 is to encourage compliance with this 
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law [timely payment of uncontested claims] by providing a deterrent for those who currently 

disregard it.”  (CDI Br. 190, quoting exh. 5682, p. 49.) 

By definition, the failure to pay interest on a claim that was not timely paid cannot itself be a 

separate “unfair claims settlement practice” under section 790.03(h) for the following reasons: 

First, none of the sixteen “unfair claims settlement practices” enumerated in section 790.03(h) 

makes any reference to the failure to pay statutory interest on a claim.  Similarly silent on the issue 

are the numerous regulations that CDI has adopted for the purposes of implementing section 

790.03(h).  (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.1 et seq.)  This point is further elucidated below. 

Second, the payment (or nonpayment) of statutory interest is not a “claims settlement 

practice” at all.  It is instead a statutory remedy for the violation of the statutory obligation to timely 

pay uncontested claims.  As CDI’s regulations acknowledge, a “claim” is a request for benefits due 

under an insurance policy.51  Hence, a “claims settlement practice” is a practice regarding the 

processing and payment of claims for benefits under an insurance policy.  The statutory interest 

payment mandated by section 10123.13, subdivision (b) is not a policy benefit, but a remedy imposed 

by statute for failure to pay within the time set by another statute.   

Third, a penalty for failure to pay a remedy for failure to comply with a non-penal statute (the 

payment of claims within 30 working days) doubles the penalty for the violation of a non-penal 

statute (section 10123.13).  After all, CDI acknowledges that the payment of 10% interest was 

designed to encourage timely payment “‘by providing a deterrent for those who currently disregard 

it.’”  (CDI Br. 190.)  Imposing a penalty on top of the 10% penalty/remedy for the same non-penal 

infraction creates an excessive fine. 

                                                 
51  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (c) [“‘Claimant’ means a first or third party claimant as 
defined in these regulations[….]”]; subd. (f) [“‘First party claimant’ means any person asserting a 
right under an insurance policy . . . under the terms of that insurance policy[….]”, italics added]; 
subd. (x) [“‘Third party claimant’ means any person asserting a claim against any person or the 
interests insured under an insurance policy[….]”], italics added.) 
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b) Section 790.03(h)(1): The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest 
Cannot Constitute A Misrepresentation Of A Fact Or A 
Policy Provision. 

As noted, section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of 

“[m]isrepresenting to claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any 

coverages at issue.”   

CDI argues that “an insurer that pays claims without statutory interest also violates 

subdivision (h)(1) because it is misrepresenting to claimants the amount owed on the claim.”  (CDI 

Br. 191:13-14.) 

But that is a stretch.  A failure to pay statutory interest has nothing to do with a representation 

of a fact relating to coverage or a policy provision relating to coverage. 

The failure to pay statutory interest is an omission of a statutory remedy.  It is not a 

representation of fact and thus not a misrepresentation.  Thus, there is no violation of section 

790.03(h)(1). 

c) Section 790.03(h)(2): The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest 
Cannot Constitute A Failure To Acknowledge And Act 
Reasonably Promptly Upon Communications. 

Likewise, the failure to pay statutory interest cannot constitute a violation of section 

790.03(h)(2), which prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to acknowledge and 

act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under insurance 

policies.”   

There is no connection between the failure to pay statutory interest and the failure to 

acknowledge and act upon “communications” with respect to a claim. 

Indeed, there is no evidence for any of these late-paid interest payments, that PacifiCare failed 

to “acknowledge” a communication – which is an element that CDI must prove in order to assert a 

violation under section 790.03(h)(2) (“[f]ailing to acknowledge and act . . . upon communications 

. . .”)  (Italics added.) 
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CDI does not even try to explain how the omission of statutory interest could possibly fall 

within this prohibited practice, instead choosing to consolidate its remaining contentions into the 

single assertion that “an insurer that fails to pay statutorily required interest on late claims, is not fully 

paying claims in a timely manner, in violation of section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(2), (h)(3), and 

(h)(4).”  (CDI Br. 191:10-12.) 

d) Section 790.03(h)(3): The failure To Pay Statutory Interest 
Does Not Itself Constitute A Failure To “Adopt And 
Implement Reasonable Standards.” 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

But the failure to pay statutory interest on some untimely paid claims cannot itself constitute a 

failure to adopt reasonable standards for the processing of policy benefits for claims.  While the 

repeated failure to promptly process claims might circumstantially evidence a failure to adopt 

reasonable standards, CDI would have the burden of proving (1) the insurer’s standards and 

(2) (through expert testimony) how the standards were unreasonable.  However, CDI has done 

nothing of the sort here.   

At best, all that CDI has done is allege that “[o]ne significant root cause of the company’s 

failures to pay required interest was its flawed policies and procedures for recording claim received 

dates in RIMS,” which left it “to the claims examiner to find the original received date of the claim 

and to manually change it so that interest would be calculated correctly.”  (CDI’s Proposed Finding 

No. 455, pp. 115-116; CDI Br. 195:1-196:9.)  But the obligation to “manually change” the received 

date is not a “standard” – it is at best a “practice.”  And there was no admissible testimony that this 

practice was unreasonable; nor is manually calculating interest unreasonable, at least depending upon 

the circumstances.  But CDI presented no evidence as to what was reasonable.  Again, section 

790.03(h)(3) is directed at standards for the prompt processing of claims, not practices for calculating 
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interest on late payments.  In sum, evidence that 0.5% of the claims did not include a payment of 

statutory interest does not, alone, evidence the lack of reasonable standards for promptly processing 

claims. 

Finally, as explained earlier, PacifiCare did adopt reasonable standards for the prompt 

processing of claims, including the payment of any interest due.  (See exh. 177, attach. 29.) 

e) Section 790.03(h)(4): The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest 
Does Not Constitute A Failure To Affirm Or Deny 
Coverage. 

Section 790.03(h)(4) prohibits the unfair class settlement practice of “[f]ailing to affirm or 

deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been 

completed and submitted by the insured.”  (Italics added.)   

The failure to pay statutory interest has nothing to do with the prohibited practice of “[f]ailing 

to affirm or deny coverage . . . within a reasonable time.”  As noted earlier, “affirming” coverage for 

a claim, as required by section 790.03(h)(4), is different from the actual payment of a claim.  (See 

Section __.)  And affirming coverage is even further removed from the issue of paying statutory 

interest on a late-paid claim. 

Finally, the failure to pay interest on 1,126,107 paid claims for 0.5% of claims does not 

constitute a “practice” of failing to affirm or deny coverage.   

Thus, CDI cannot prove a violation of section 790.03(h)(4) here. 

f) Section 790.03(h)(5): The Inadvertent Failure To Pay 
Statutory Interest Does Not Evidence A Failure To 
“Attempt[] In Good Faith To Effectuate” Claim 
Settlements.  

Finally, section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[n]ot 

attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which 

liability has become reasonably clear.” 

The payment of interest is a statutory remedy for the failure to meet the statutory obligation to 

timely pay an uncontested claim within 30 working days.  The failure to pay that statutory remedy 

Dennis
Text Box
exh. 117
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does not constitute a failure to “attempt” in “good faith” to effectuate the prompt and fair settlement 

of claims which is all subdivision (h)(5) requires.  After all, the claim has been paid; it is the payment 

of statutory interest which was neglected.  Second and decisively, there is no evidence that the failure 

to pay the statutory interest was in bad faith, as required under section 790.03(h)(5).  To the contrary, 

the only evidence regarding the failure to pay interest was “human error,” not any lack of good faith.  

(Tr. 7648:23-7649:8.) 

CDI argues that “[b]y failing to pay statutory interest on claims, insurers are not paying the 

full amount owed on a claim and are thus failing to attempt ‘in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, 

and equitable settlements of claims,’ in violation of section 790.03, subdivision (h)(5).”  (CDI Br. 

191:6-8.) 

To the contrary, the failure to pay “the full amount owed on a claim” cannot, in and of itself, 

translate into a failure to “attempt” in “good faith” to pay the claim.  A fortiori, the inadvertent failure 

to pay statutory interest on a fully paid claim does not, in and of itself, constitute a failure to 

“attempt” in “good faith” to pay the full amount of the claim. 

Accordingly, CDI cannot recover penalties under section 790.03(h)(5). 

4. In Any Event, The Due Process Clause Precludes Any Penalties 
For Failure To Pay Statutory Interest. 

As explained earlier, the due process clause “dictate[s] that a person receive fair notice not 

only of the conduct that will subject him to punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a 

State may impose.”  (See, e.g., Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574, italics added.)   

In this case, CDI seeks $8.8 million in penalties for failure to pay $142,101 in interest.  But 

there was absolutely no fair notice that PacifiCare could be subject to such penalties for the 

inadvertent failure to pay statutory interest for several reasons: 

First, the statutory remedy of 10% interest in section 10123.13, subdivision (b) for a late-paid 

claim does not suggest that the failure to pay interest would expose the insurer to penalties, much less 

$8.8 million in penalties. 
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Second, none of the enumerated unfair claims settlement practices – whether they cover a 

misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision (subd. (h)(1)), a failure to adopt reasonable 

standards for claims processing (subd. (h)(3)), or the failure to affirm or deny coverage within a 

reasonable period (subd. (h)(4)) – gave fair notice that the failure to pay statutory interest on a late 

paid claim could be covered by those provisions.  To the contrary, CDI filed a pleading in a separate 

proceeding seeking an administrative determination under section 790.06 that the failure to pay 

interest on a late benefit payment constituted an unfair business practice.  (Exh. 5669.)  As noted 

earlier, the section 790.06 procedure is only used where the “act or practice . . . is not defined in 

Section 790.03.”  (§ 790.06, italics added.)  Thus even CDI did not consider section 790.03(h) to 

prohibit the practice of failure to pay statutory interest.  It had to invoke the section 790.06 process 

instead. 

This lack of notice is further reinforced by the fact that in the final 2007 MCE report on 

PacifiCare, CDI categorized PacifiCare’s failure to pay interest under section 10123.13 as something 

other than a violation of section 790.03(h), despite having a legal obligation to report any violations 

of section 790.03 in the final MCE report.  (Tr. 13284:12-25 [Laucher]; Tr. 22837:3-10, 23008:1-10, 

23016:12-23018:19 [Cignarale]; Tr. 24415:25-24417:8 [Stead].) 

Nor did the original OSC plead violations of the statutory interest requirement as violations of 

section 790.03.  (Tr. 23025:12-23028:18 [Cignarale]; Exh. 1, 123; P.P.F. 578.)  Consequently, even 

CDI did not originally consider the failure to pay interest to be an unfair claims settlement practice 

under section 790.03(h). 

Accordingly, given the absence of fair notice that the failure to pay statutory interest could 

warrant penalties as an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h), the due process 

clause prevents the imposition of any penalties here. 
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5. The Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory 
Principles Requires That The Amount Of Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

Even if CDI could establish a valid violation of section 790.03(h), any penalty would have to 

be nominal. 

a) The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest Was Inadvertent. 

As explained earlier, “when the issuance, amendment, or servicing of a policy . . . is 

inadvertent, all of those acts [constituting the servicing] shall be a single act” for purposes of 

assessing any penalty.  (§ 790.035(a).)   

Here, the only evidence regarding the reason for the failure to pay interest was because the 

RIMS system does not automatically calculate interest when a claim is readjusted.  (Tr. 7648:23-

7649:8, 7469:1-8.)  Thus, the failure to pay interest was inadvertent, and the acts constituting the 

purported unfair claims settlement practice were therefore inadvertent. 

CDI’s entire argument against inadvertence is that “PacifiCare intended to service each of 

these claims when it issued payment on them” and thus “there was no inadvertent servicing on these 

policies.”  (CDI Br. 199:18-20.)  But the fact that PacifiCare intended to service the policies does not 

mean that the acts which serve as the basis for the purported unfair claims settlement practice – were 

not inadvertent. 

Accordingly, the purported practice here can only constitute a single act for purposes of a 

penalty:  a maximum of $5,000 unless the inadvertent act could be deemed willful, in which case the 

maximum is $10,000.  (§ 790.035, subd. (a).) 

b) The Failure To Pay Statutory Interest Was Not Willful. 

There is no evidence that PacifiCare’s 5,195 failures to pay statutory interest were 

“willful” as that term is used in section 790.035.  (See Section VI.C.6(b), ante)  To the contrary, 

the testimony established that these were simply the result of “human error.”  (Tr. 7648:23-7649:8 

[Berkel]; P.P.F. 585.)  Properly defined, “willful” under the two-tiered structure of section 

790.035, subdivision (a), requires a specific intent to commit the violation.  Therefore, CDI can 
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recover only $5,000 per violation. 

Relying on its clearly erroneous regulatory definition of willful (as explained at Section 

VI.C.6(b), ante), CDI argues that “PacifiCare acted willfully – with a purpose and willingness – in 

failing to pay statutory interest on these claims.  The absence of proper interest was a knowable 

consequence of paying a claim late and of the willing failure to adequately train and equip its claims 

personnel.”  (CDI Br. 199:8-11.)   

But even under CDI’s definition, it is the practice that must be willfully committed under 

section 790.03(h).  Here, there was no purpose or willingness to fail to pay statutory interest.  Nor 

was there any evidence of a willingness to not adequately train or equip claims personnel.  To the 

contrary, as Ms. Berkel testified, PacifiCare had “periodic training on interest” and the failure to pay 

interest on 5,195 claims was “human error.”  (Tr. 7648:23-7649:8, 7651:2-7653:17.)   

Accordingly, the failure to pay statutory interest was not willful, whether using the correct 

definition reflected in the text and legislative history of section 790.035, or using CDI’s erroneous 

definition. 

c) The Absence Of Harm. 

CDI observes that Mr. Cignarale “found mitigation . . . in the harm caused by these 

[purported] violations.”  (CDI Br. 200:1-3.)  In fact, in his direct testimony, Cignarale “assume[d] 

that for a majority of these claims, PacifiCare’s failure to pay interest did not have serious financial 

consequences for providers.”  (See exh. 1184, p. 118 ) 

Indeed, since only the failure to pay 10% statutory interest is at issue here, it should be clear 

that the failure to pay such interest, over and above the claim, did not cause any financial distress.   

All that CDI’s brief can allege is:  “In addition to financial consequences to claimants, an 

insurer’s failure to pay statutorily required interest also creates unnecessary administrative burdens 

on claimants who may be forced to track down information about particular claims they had 

submitted and to follow up with insurers . . . .”  (CDI Br. 197:24-27.)   
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First, there is no citation to the record of any financial consequences.  Second, CDI has failed 

to show even one instance where any of the 5,195 claimants went to any administrative burden to get 

paid the 10% interest. 

d) Remedial Action. 

Another consideration in setting the penalty is “whether the licensee has taken remedial 

measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. 

(a)(8).) 

Here, after discovering the “human error” that resulted in these 5,195 claims, PacifiCare 

remedied the problem and implemented a series of corrective actions designed to minimize errors 

associated with paying interest, including focused audits and the development of a software program 

for calculating interest.  (Tr. 6851:5-6852:21 [Vonderhaar]; see also id. at 6965:25-6967:2 

[Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7649:9-7653:17 [Berkel:  “we do much to keep our claims examiners up to speed 

with all of the requirements, including interest.  And so we have periodic training on interest.”]; 

Exhs. 355, 357, 5252, 117 attach. 51; P.P.F. 587.) 

CDI’s Cignarale “found mitigation in the remedial acts taken” (CDI Br. 200:1-2), but “found 

that PacifiCare’s delay in remediating all the claims was an aggravating factor (Reg. 2695.12(a)(13))”  

(CDI Br. 200:4-5).  But Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(13), cited by Mr. Cignarale, considers 

“whether the licensee’s management was aware of facts that apprised or should have apprised the 

licensee of the act(s) and the licensee failed to take any remedial measures.”  Here, upon learning of 

the facts, PacifiCare did not fail “to take any remedial measures.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(13).)  CDI’s effort to penalize PacifiCare because it did not determine that 561 

claims were owed interest, while paying interest on 4,634 claims, ignores the language of regulations 

2695.12, subdivision (a)(8) and 2695.12, subdivision (a)(13) – which speak to whether the licensee 

has taken “remedial measures” or “any remedial measures” (which PacifiCare has).  Instead, CDI 
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seeks to penalize an insurer unless the remediation is flawless.  That is not a ground for finding 

aggravating circumstances for increasing the penalty. 

e) Good Faith. 

CDI argues (in another usurpation of this Court’s province of applying the law to the facts) 

that “Mr. Cignarale determined that under the totality of circumstances, PacifiCare did not exhibit a 

good faith attempt to comply (Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(12)), considering that factor to be slightly 

aggravating.”  (CDI Br. 200:6-8.)   

Regulation 2695, subdivision (a)(12) does not address good faith, and CDI/Cignarale 

apparently meant to refer to Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(11).  But that regulation identifies as 

a consideration “whether, under the totality of circumstances, the licensee made a good faith attempt 

to comply with the provisions of this subchapter,” namely, the unfair practices subchapter.  Surely, 

even if an unfair claims settlement practice could be established based on the failure to pay statutory 

interest, the fact that the failure to pay statutory interest was inadvertent and the fact that PacifiCare 

took a series of corrective actions to minimize errors in paying interest demonstrates that PacifiCare 

acted in good faith. 

f) Conclusion. 

Even if a penalty is warranted, because the failure to pay statutory interest was human error 

and therefore inadvertent and not willful, the prohibited practice is subject to only a single penalty of 

no more than $5,000 under section 790.035, subdivision (a).  And even if penalties for multiple acts 

were permissible, all of the relevant considerations, viewed with common sense rather than CDI’s 

distorted lens, are mitigating:  The payment of the claims without 10% statutory interest did not cause 

any harm; PacifiCare took remedial measures; PacifiCare made a good faith effort to comply with the 

unfair practices statute; and only 0.5% of the processed claims failed to include statutory interest. 
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F. The Denial Of Claims Based On The Exclusionary Period For Pre-
Existing Conditions.  (CDI Brief, pp. 122-135.) 

Only 0.42% (3,862 acts) of the claimed violations are attributable to PacifiCare’s denial of 

claims based on an incorrect 12-month exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions in an 

insurance policy that was approved by CDI and ultimately disclosed to CDI by PacifiCare. 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare’s incorrect denial of 3,862 claims due to the application of an 

erroneous 12-month exclusionary period constitutes an unfair claims settlement practice in violation 

of section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(l), (h)(3), and (h)(5), section 10708, subdivision (a), and section 

10198.7, subdivision (a), and of California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2695.4, subdivision 

(a).  (OSC, ¶¶ 117–118; CDI Br. 122.)  CDI alleges that 3,019 of the 3,862 claims required additional 

monetary payments upon being reprocessed.  (CDI Br. 129–130.) 

Section 10708, subdivision (a) provides, in part, that “[p]reexisting condition provisions of 

health benefit plans shall not exclude coverage for a period beyond six months following the 

individual's effective date of coverage . . . .”  Section 10198.7, subdivision (a) also provides, in part, 

that “[n]o health benefit plan that covers three or more persons and that is issued, renewed, or written 

by any insurer…shall exclude coverage for any individual on the basis of a preexisting condition 

provision for a period greater than six months following the individual's effective date of 

coverage….” 

As demonstrated earlier, a violation of these non-penal statutes cannot alone constitute an 

unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h).  They do not purport to define the meaning 

of any of the subdivisions of section 790.03(h) (and CDI makes no argument that they do), and the 

imposition of penalties for the mere violation of a non-penal statute would violate the due process 

clause’s requirement that “a person receive fair notice . . . of the severity of the penalty . . . .”  (Gore, 

supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574.) 
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CDI also cites Regulation 2695.4, subdivision (a).  That regulation provides, in part, that 

“[e]very insurer shall disclose to a first party claimant or beneficiary, all benefits, coverage, time 

limits or other provisions of any insurance policy issued by that insurer that may apply to the claim 

presented by the claimant.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.4, subd. (a).)  That regulation is not 

relevant here because there is no issue whether PacifiCare disclosed “all benefits, coverage, . . . or 

other provisions of any insurance policy.”  The issue here is not disclosure of the insurance policy 

provisions, but that one of the provisions violated the requirements of section 10198.7, 

subdivision (a). 

2. The Facts. 

Insurers may exclude coverage for pre-existing conditions for a limited period of time after a 

new group insurance policy takes effect.  (CDI Br. 122.)  For some health plans, the maximum pre-

existing condition exclusionary period is 12 months after the insured’s effective date of coverage 

(§ 10198.7(b)), but for other plans the exclusionary period is only 6 months.  (§ 10198.7, subds. (a), 

(b).) 

Around January 2004, PacifiCare submitted to CDI a certificate of insurance for a group plan 

that contained a 12-month exclusionary period.  Julie Burton, a long-time PacifiCare employee with 

extensive regulatory experience, was primarily responsible for this filing.  (Tr. 8909:5-22, 9217:6-

9218:16, 9219:8-9221:20 [Monk]; P.P.F. 595.)  CDI approved and “authorized the certificate,” and 

CDI also approved multiple amendments to the certificate over the next two years.  (CDI Br. 123; Tr. 

211:1-25 [Smith]; Tr. 11249:18-22; Tr. 8904:25-8909:22, 8908:12-8909:22, 9215:21-9228:4 [Monk]; 

Exhs. 5299, p. 24, 118, attach. 17, 5317, 5318; P.P.F. 597, 598.)  CDI never raised any concern about 

the length of the exclusionary period even in the context of a prior market conduct examination.  (Tr. 

11430:14-23 [David]; Exh. 5181; P.P.F. 599.) 

However, in 2006, PacifiCare raised concerns with CDI about whether PacifiCare was using 

the proper exclusionary period.  (CDI Br. 124; Tr. 221:7-222:4 [Smith], Tr. 7511:19-7512:11, 
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9979:8-9980:23 [Berkel]; Exh. 559; P.P.F. 601.)52  CDI was not able to offer an immediate answer, 

as there was confusion amongst CDI staff about which exclusionary period applied to what types of 

policies.  (Tr. 219:5-12 [Smith]; exh. 5010.)   

Quoting Nancy Monk’s testimony, CDI concedes that PacifiCare’s policy filer made “a 

mistake” in copying the certificate from “an already-drafted template” and “conforming it to the 

product that was being filed.”  (CDI Br. 123, citing Tr. 8906:16-20; 9222:1-7.)  CDI also admits in its 

brief that it “did not ‘catch the mistake’ when it authorized the certificate.”  (CDI Br. 123:23-24.) 

Both PacifiCare and CDI eventually determined that the health plan at issue should have 

included a six-month exclusionary period, instead of a twelve-month period.  As a consequence, 

PacifiCare immediately began a series of corrective actions, including (i) modifying the policy to 

properly reflect the correct exclusionary period, (ii) sending letters to notify its members and brokers 

of the error and changes, and (iii) reworking claims.  (Tr. 8910:4-20 [Monk], Tr. 245:11-20, 265:17-

267:4 [Smith]; Tr. 7575:4-7576:2, 10224:17-10225:19 [Berkel]; Exhs. 740, 5018, 5260; P.P.F. 602.) 

PacifiCare began the process of reworking claims potentially subject to the twelve-month 

exclusionary period immediately in December 2006, and payments were made as claims were 

reworked.  (Exhs. 559, 601, 5257; Tr. 7512:12-7513:22, 10224:17-10225:19 [Berkel]; Tr. 8910:16-20 

[Monk]; P.P.F. 603.)  PacifiCare completed the claims at issue in this proceeding by April 4, 2007, 

prior to receiving notice of the 2007 MCE.  (Exh. 601; Tr. 248:18-249:1 [Smith], Tr. 23102:8-19 

[Cignarale]; Tr. 10224:17-10255:12 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 604.)  Still, CDI complains that PacifiCare did 

not complete the reprocessing until April 2007 (CDI Br. 124:25-27), although it does not present any 

                                                 

 52 CDI incorrectly suggests that it discovered the exclusionary period issue before PacifiCare 
did.  (See CDI Br. 124:12-16, citing Tr. 57:21-25 [Smith].) Although Smith did testify that she 
contacted PacifiCare regarding claims for pre-existing conditions, the only problem that Smith 
identified was PacifiCare’s requests for COCCs when claimants had already provided a COCC.  
(Tr. 62:17-25 [Smith].)  When PacifiCare disclosed the exclusionary period issue to Smith, it was 
something that CDI had not been previously aware of.  (See id. at 63:13-19.) 
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evidence to suggest that this was an unreasonable period.  Further, CDI has not shown that even one 

claim in this category was reprocessed incorrectly.  (Tr. 258:18-260:4 [Smith]; P.P.F. 608.) 

For each of the reprocessed claims, PacifiCare sent the affected member a letter explaining 

the issue and inviting the member or provider to contact the company or CDI if the member or 

provider believed the claim had still been incorrectly processed.  (Exh. 5017; P.P.F. 609.)  No record 

exists of even one complaint of that nature being made. 

PacifiCare also engaged in a series of focused audits designed to monitor its performance in a 

number of areas, including its application of the correct exclusionary period.  (Tr. 10229:11-

10230:10, 10234:9-22 [Berkel]; Exhs. 6, 741, 70, p. 1409; P.P.F. 605.) 

Because these facts demonstrate an inadvertent error, which CDI authorized, followed by 

PacifiCare’s remediation – evidence that forcefully argues against any liability or penalties – CDI’s 

narrative of events expends most of its ink on uncharged claims which have been stricken from this 

case as untimely (Tr. 25713:13-16, 25719:19-24) and thus are irrelevant.  For instance, CDI claims 

that PacifiCare “failed to reprocess all 2004 and 2005 illegally denied claims” and that PacifiCare 

only “reprocessed those claims in February 2008 – three to four years after they had initially been 

denied.”   (CDI Br. 125:14-18, 127:7-10, 130.)  CDI also argues that PacifiCare “has admitted that it 

illegally denied at least 826 pre-existing claims from 2006 to 2008.”  (Id. at 130:14-15.)  But as this 

Court has ruled in dismissing these untimely allegations, PacifiCare never had an opportunity to fully 

defend itself against these allegations and thereby rebut CDI’s narrative.  (Tr. 25713:13-25722:12 

[March 21, 2012 Hearing]; Tr. 26249:22-26250:21, 26263:1-3 [August 9, 2012]; P.P.F. 618.)  These 

allegations are therefore irrelevant and would violate PacifiCare’s due process rights if considered. 

Dennis
Text Box
740, p. 1409
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3. CDI Cannot Transform This Mutual Mistake Into An Unfair 
Claims Settlement Practice. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(1):  Enforcement Of An Unlawful Policy 
Provision Is Not A Misrepresentation Of That Policy 
Provision. 

CDI argues that every time PacifiCare denied a claim based on the application of the wrong 

exclusionary period, PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h)(1) “because the insurer is falsely 

representing that the service for which reimbursement is requested is not covered by the member’s 

policy.”  (CDI Br. 122:13-17.)   

The fatal flaw in CDI’s argument is that the denial did not misrepresent the terms of the 

policy.  The denial conformed with the terms of the policy; the denial was erroneous only because the 

policy issued by PacifiCare (and approved by CDI) inadvertently provided for a twelve-month, rather 

than a six-month, exclusionary period. 

However, section 790.03(h)(1) only prohibits the practice of “[m]isrepresenting to claimants 

pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”  Thus, there can be 

no violation without a misrepresentation of the “pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions.” 

Yet, CDI’s opening brief never identifies a single false statement made by PacifiCare 

regarding a fact or a policy provision here.  Indeed, the claim denials are consistent with the policy 

provision, which provided for a twelve-month exclusionary period. 

Moreover, the denial of a claim is not really a misrepresentation of fact or of a policy 

provision by any stretch of section 790.03(h)’s text.  CDI suggests that improperly “den[ying] a 

claim” is the same thing as “falsely representing” a fact or policy provision to a claimant.  (CDI Br. 

122.)  But in this case, denying a claim in conformity with the policy provisions cannot even be an 

implied misrepresentation of the terms of the policy. 

In any event, it is well settled that issuing a document which implies a false assertion or is 

based on a false premise is not a misrepresentation.  (See Yanase v. Auto. Club of So. Cal. (1989) 212 

Cal.App.3d 468, 473 [auto club tour book endorsing motel’s accommodations contained no “positive 
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assertion concerning neighborhood safety”]; Williams v. United States (1982) 458 U.S. 279, 284 

[reversing conviction because depositing a bad check does not constitute the making of a false 

statement—“a check is not a factual assertion at all”].)  Instead, the court must look to the precise 

words communicated by the defendant and determine whether those words constitute a misstatement.  

(See Shamsian v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2003), 107 Cal.App.4th 967, 983–994 [finding no 

misrepresentation because the “carefully worded” soil report, which recommended against additional 

soil remediation, while possibly misleading, made “no representations about the level of 

contamination at the site”].)  Here, there can be no misrepresentation of a fact or of a policy provision 

based on a denial that conforms with the terms of the policy. 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3): Adoption Of An Unlawful Policy 
Provision, Approved By CDI, Does Not Constitute A Failure 
To Adopt Reasonable Standards For Processing Claims. 

CDI argues that claims denied because of the wrong exclusionary period “are also violations 

of section 790.03, subdivision (h)(3) because they reflect failures to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under insurance policies.”  (CDI 

Br. 122.) 

Apart from this single sentence, which simply parrots the language of subdivision (h)(3), CDI 

offers no analysis to support its contention that the denial of a claim pursuant to the provisions of a 

policy approved by CDI constitutes a failure to adopt reasonable standards for the prompt processing 

of claims.  It plainly does not.  PacifiCare’s adoption of the wrong exclusionary policy cannot 

possibly mean, in and of itself, that it failed to adopt “reasonable standards for the prompt 

investigation and processing of claims . . . .” (Italics added.) 

First of all, every error, particularly good-faith errors that even CDI does not detect, does not 

constitute a failure to adopt reasonable standards for investigating and processing claims.  CDI – 

which has the burden of proof – utterly fails to present evidence of (i) PacifiCare’s standards or 

(ii) the unreasonable nature of those standards. 
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Secondly, the filing of a policy with an erroneous exclusionary period is not even directly 

related to the investigation and processing of claims arising under the insurance policy, let alone the 

standards for doing so.  While PacifiCare’s adoption of erroneous policy language yielded some 

incorrect claims-processing results, it had nothing to do with the standards for processing claims 

arising under the insurance policy.  Section 790.03(h)(3) only prohibits the practice of “[f]ailing to 

adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims 

arising under insurance policies.”  

The closest that CDI comes to addressing “standards” is its claim that “[m]any of these illegal 

claim denials were attributable to PacifiCare’s decision to outsource claim processing to MedPlans – 

a vendor it knew to be incompetent and unconcerned about quality.”   (CDI Br. 127.)  First, assuming 

arguendo that MedPlans was incompetent, this is a single hiring error, not a standard for claims 

processing.  Second, this Court dismissed the untimely allegations about MedPlans’ purportedly 

improper application of the 12-month exclusionary period.  (Tr. 25713:13-25722:12 [March 21, 

2012]; Tr. 26249:22-26250:21, 26263:1-3 [August 9, 2012]; P.P.F. 618.) 

Third, CDI’s own narration of the facts – that a long-time PacifiCare employee chose the 

wrong exclusionary period by copying the insurance certificate at issue from an already-drafted 

template – shows that MedPlans is irrelevant here. 

c) Section 790.03(h)(5): The Inadvertent Adoption Of An 
Unlawful Policy Provision Cannot Possibly Suggest A 
Failure To “Attempt” To Act In “Good Faith.” 

CDI alleges that every time PacifiCare denied a claim pursuant to its incorrect exclusionary 

policy, PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h)(5) “because they are instances in which the company is 

not attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which 

liability has become reasonably clear.”  (CDI Br. 122.)  CDI’s twisted reasoning is that “[a]fter the 6-

month exclusionary period has expired, the insurer’s liability for claims for pre-existing conditions is 
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reasonably clear, and an insurer’s determination that the claim is to be denied reflects a failure to 

make a good faith effort to apply the proper exclusionary period.”  (Id. at 122:27-123:2.) 

This is absurd.  An insurer need only “attempt[] in good faith” to effectuate an equitable 

settlement of a claim under section 790.03(h)(5).  Here, PacifiCare’s error was made in good faith.  

As CDI concedes, PacifiCare “submitted, and CDI authorized, a certificate of insurance for a group 

plan that contained a 12-month exclusionary period, instead of the 6-month period permitted by law.”  

(CDI Br. 123, italics added.)  Further, CDI approved subsequent amendments to this policy without 

raising any concern about the length of the exclusionary period.  No one caught the error until 

PacifiCare self-reported the mistake to CDI.  (CDI Br. 124, Tr. 221:7-222:4 [Smith]; Tr. 7511:19-

7512:11, 9979:8-9980:23 [Berkel]; Exh. 559; P.P.F. 601.)  Even CDI’s Cignarale – CDI’s “expert” 

on applying insurance law to determine penalties – “credited PacifiCare for making a good faith 

attempt to comply with the law.”  (CDI Br. 132.)  In order to charge PacifiCare with bad faith, CDI 

must disregard the factual record and disavow its own expert.  By applying a policy authorized by 

CDI, PacifiCare was acting in good faith in settling claims pursuant to it.  This alone precludes any 

unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h)(5). 

Additionally, under section 790.03(h)(5), PacifiCare did not have to settle the claim in good 

faith, it merely had to “attempt” to equitably settle the claim in good faith.  That PacifiCare’s 

application of the policy’s exclusionary period to pending claims was a good faith attempt to settle 

them is further confirmed by the fact that CDI’s own staff was confused over the applicable 

exclusionary period when PacifiCare first reported the possible error to them.  (Tr. 219:5-12, 221:13-

222:7 [Smith].)  It hardly behooves CDI to allege that PacifiCare’s application of a policy provision 

authorized by CDI was not a good faith attempt to settle claims. 
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d) Not Only Is There No Unfair Claims Settlement Practice, 
But CDI Should Have Never Alleged The Violation. 

CDI authorized the twelve-month exclusionary-period policy at issue, then approved multiple 

amendments to that policy without raising a concern, and now charges PacifiCare with an unfair 

claims settlement practice for applying that policy to claims. 

In so doing, CDI has cast aside best practices which its own senior staff have advocated.  A 

Best Practices guide published by an institute staffed by regulators, to which CDI’s Craig Dixon 

significantly contributed, devoted an entire section to “Violations Previously Ratified by CDI.”  (Tr. 

5775:5 [Dixon].)  This section specifically identifies the most common example as “a policy form 

that was [ap]proved by CDI that contains one or more provisions that are noncompliant with the 

law.”  (Id. at 5776:2-8.)  A CDI employee agreed that treating these matters “as a violation might 

reflect poorly on and embarrass CDI.”  (Tr. 5776:21-24 [Dixon].)  Thus, CDI’s about-face is contrary 

to its own manual, reflects poorly on it, and constitutes an injustice against PacifiCare. 

As articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court, “[w]here …agency guidance” permits or authorizes 

a defendant’s conduct, “it would defy history and current thinking to treat [that] defendant…as a 

knowing or reckless violator.”  (Safeco, supra, 551 U.S. 47, 70, fn. 20.) 

4. Even If The Pre-Ex Denials Constitute A Prohibited Practice 
Under Section 790.03(h), They Were Not Knowingly Committed 
Or A General Business Practice.  (CDI Br. 130-131.) 

Even if the denial of claims based on a CDI-approved, but erroneous, exclusionary period 

constituted one of the unfair claims settlement practices specified under section 790.03(h), the 

practice must also be “[k]nowingly commit[ed] or perform[ed] with such frequency as to indicate a 

general business practice” in order to constitute a violation of section 790.03(h).  (§ 790.03(h).)  

While the proper interpretation of this provision requires that the practice be a knowingly committed 

general business practice (see ante, Section VI.B.2), neither element has been proven here. 
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(1) Knowingly committed. 

First, the “practice” was not knowingly committed.  CDI has conceded that PacifiCare did not 

have actual knowledge that it was applying the wrong exclusionary period (CDI Br. 132 [noting that 

Mr. Cignarale “credited PacifiCare for making a good faith attempt to comply with the law”]), and 

instead argues that PacifiCare “should have known” about the error – even though CDI itself “fail[ed] 

to detect the error.” (CDI Br. 132).  But as PacifiCare has already explained, constructive knowledge 

is not sufficient to establish an unfair claims settlement practice.  (See Section VI.B.2, ante.)   

CDI alleges that PacifiCare “is chargeable with knowledge that the law permitted only a 6-

month pre-existing exclusionary period of these policies.”  (CDI Br. 130:26-27.)  However, even if 

constructive knowledge was appropriate, constructive knowledge of the law does not mean that 

PacifiCare had constructive knowledge that it was engaged in an unfair claims settlement practice, 

which is what section 790.03(h) requires be “[k]knowingly commit[ted].”  Further, CDI cannot 

establish constructive knowledge unless PacifiCare had “actual notice of circumstances sufficient to 

put a prudent man upon inquiry” as to the alleged violations.  (Civ. Code, § 19; see also Ralph 

Andrews Prods., Inc. v. Paramount Pictures (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 676, 682; Black’s Law Dict. (9th 

ed. 2009), p. 950 [constructive knowledge is “[k]nowledge that one using reasonable care or 

diligence should have, and therefore that is attributed by law to a given person”].  Given CDI’s 

approval of the policy, PacifiCare was not on notice of circumstances that it had adopted 

unreasonable standards or failing to attempt to settle a claim in good faith.  Similarly, CDI cannot 

establish “implied knowledge” unless “a reasonable man under the same or similar circumstances [as 

PacifiCare] would” have that knowledge.  (New v. Consolidated Rock Products Co. (1985) 171 

Cal.App.3d 681, 690.)  But PacifiCare was diligently applying policy language approved by CDI and 

had processes in place to prepare insurance documents that complied with the law.  CDI has not 

demonstrated that PacifiCare should have had knowledge that a policy approved by CDI was 

unlawful in the exercise of reasonable care where an experienced employee had filed the policy. 



 

247 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

(2) General business practice. 

CDI alleges that “the 3,862 acts in violation being charged are of sufficient frequency to 

indicate a general business practice.”  (CDI Br. 131:6-7.)  CDI reasons “that frequency must be 

sufficient to indicate a general business practice, because they are the result of PacifiCare’s admitted 

general business practice of incorrectly denying claims based on an illegal 12-month pre-existing 

condition exclusionary period.”  (Ibid.) 

This argument is circular, namely, that 3,862 acts must be sufficient to indicate a general 

business practice because they are the result of an “admitted general business practice of incorrectly 

denying claims . . . .”  But PacifiCare never admitted that its denials constituted a general business 

practice within the meaning of section 790.03(h). 

In any event, CDI has challenged denials for only 3,862 claims out of a total of 1,368,950 

adjudicated claims during the 2007 MCE period.  (CDI Br. 130–131.)  The 3,862 denied claims only 

constitute .0028 of the denied claims, or 0.28% of the claims.  This surely does not constitute a 

“general business practice” in connection with PacifiCare’s adoption of reasonable standards 

(§ 790.03(h)(3)) or its good faith attempts to equitably and promptly settle claims (§ 790.03(h)(5)). 

While section 790.03(h) does not define the term “general business practice,” other courts 

have defined it as conduct that an insurer performs “typical[ly], (Gray v. North Carolina 

Underwriting Ins. Assn., supra, 510 S.E. 2d 396, 400), and “as a general matter,” Lenh v. Canadian 

Life Assur. Co., (C.D. Cal. May 13, 2005), 2005 WL 6211334, *9.  (See Section VI.B.4, ante.)  

Certainly, the improperly denied claims, based on a single inadvertent filing approved by CDI, were 

not typical of PacifiCare’s practice, and it would be nonsensical to say that PacifiCare engages in a 

general business practice when it did so only 0.28% of the time during the relevant period.   

Strikingly, PacifiCare’s 0.28% error rate falls well below the 7% benchmark rate used by the 

NAIC to establish a general business practice for purposes of a State’s unfair claims practice.  CDI is 
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legally obligated to observe this benchmark rate when conducting an examination of an insurer’s 

claim handling performance.  (See Section I.C.)   

5. Any Penalty Would Violate Due Process. 

CDI’s penalty assessment violates PacifiCare’s due process rights because PacifiCare did not 

have fair notice that penalties could be assessed for violations of section 10708, subdivision (a) or 

10198.7, subdivision (a) which sections mandate a maximum six-month exclusionary period for some 

health plans, but they do not contain a penalty provision.  Therefore, if CDI wanted to punish 

PacifiCare for applying the wrong exclusionary period, it should have followed the procedures laid 

out in subsection 790.06, which involves seeking an injunction and then imposing penalties for 

violation of that injunction.  (See Section VI.A.3, ante.)  Instead, CDI chose to treat a violation of 

those non-penal statutes as a section 790.03(h) violation and impose immediate penalties.   

As mentioned repeatedly, due process dictates that a person receive fair notice not only of the 

conduct that will subject him to punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a State may 

impose.  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 574.)  Here, CDI has failed to give PacifiCare fair notice that a 

violation of these non-penal statutes, based on a certificate of insurance approved by CDI, could 

possibly subject it to penalties.  Any penalty would be a clear violation of due process. 

6. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires That Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

Under the circumstances here, even if CDI had carried its burden to show a violation of 

section 790.03(h), any penalty would have to be minimal. 

a) CDI Concedes That It Is Not Treating PacifiCare’s Actions 
As Willful. 

CDI concedes that it “is not charging these violations as willful acts in violation.”  (CDI Br. 

131.)  Given CDI’s broad interpretation of “willful,”53 CDI’s decision to not charge these violations 

                                                 

 53 CDI Br. 87 (“[Willful] means simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act…[and] does 
not require any intent to violate the law, or to injure another, or to acquire any advantage.”) 
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as willful is significant, and serves as an implicit concession that PacifiCare had no intention to 

commit any of the acts that resulted in any violations. 

b) Any Alleged Violations Were Inadvertent. 

Under section 790.035, subdivision (a), “when the issuance, amendment, or servicing of a 

policy or endorsement is inadvertent, all of those acts shall be a single act for the purpose of this 

section.” 

Clearly, PacifiCare’s acts in erroneously denying claims based on an erroneous exclusionary 

period authorized by CDI was inadvertent; thus, all of the denials should be treated as a single act for 

purposes of assessing any penalty.  In this case, since CDI is not alleging a willful violation, the 

maximum penalty can be only $5,000. 

As explained earlier, “inadvertence is defined as lack of heedfulness or attentiveness, 

inattention, fault from negligence.”  (Kooper v. King, supra, 195 Cal. App. 2d 621, 626.)  Here, 

PacifiCare’s filing of a certificate of insurance with an improper exclusionary period was the result of 

an accidental oversight.  As CDI concedes in its brief, “PacifiCare’s product filer made ‘a mistake’ in 

copying the certificate from ‘an already-drafted template’ and ‘conforming it to the product that was 

being filed by the company.’” (CDI Br. 123, quoting Tr. 8906:16-20, 9222:107 [Monk].)  CDI 

approved and “authorized the certificate,” and despite multiple amendments to the certificate, which 

it also approved, it failed to “‘catch the mistake’” on multiple occasions.  (CDI Br. 123; Tr. 8908:14-

8909:22 [Monk].) 

In light of the foregoing, it is bewildering how CDI can assert, with no further explanation, 

that “[t]here is no evidence that PacifiCare inadvertently sent those claim denials.”  (CDI Br. 131.)   

The record, based on CDI’s own recitation of the facts (see id. at p. 123), rebuts that conclusory 

assertion.  Any erroneous denial of a claim, based on an exclusionary period approved by DI, was 

inadvertent. 
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In sum, because PacifiCare’s denials of claims based on an erroneous exclusionary period in a 

policy approved by CDI, based on a single error by PacifiCare, were inadvertent, CDI must treat all 

of the 3,862 improperly denied claims as a single act for purposes of any penalty. 

c) Much Of The Alleged Harm Is Speculative. 

Once the error regarding the exclusionary period was discovered, PacifiCare determined that 

it owed additional payments for 3,019 of the 3,862 denied claims and paid them; no amount was 

owed on the remaining 843 claims because the full amount owed was applicable to the member’s 

deductible. 

However, CDI asserts that “these violations . . . present a risk of bodily injury or degradation 

of health” because patients “may be denied medical care by providers who are frustrated with the 

insurer’s denial [citation], or delay or forgo needed care out of fear of being required to pay for the 

treatment.”  (CDI Br. 129:8-12; accord, id. at 132:20-25.)  This is utter speculation.  CDI has 

presented no evidence that any member affected by the erroneous twelve-month exclusionary period 

was “dissuaded” from seeking medical care.  (Tr. 10231:13-10233:1 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 612.)  Likewise, 

CDI has not identified even one person whose medical condition suffered as a result of applying an 

incorrect pre-existing exclusionary period.  Nor did it undertake an investigation to determine 

whether such persons existed.  (Tr. 23490:2-23494:21 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 613.) 

Speculation over potential harm is not sufficient to satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, 

subdivisions (a)(10) and (a)(12), or due process.  Likewise, Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(10) 

refers to “the degree of harm occasioned by the noncompliance.”  By its very terms, “degree of harm” 

requires more than speculation, but actual harm.  Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(12) refers to 

the “severity of the detriment to the public caused by the violation.”  “[S]everity” also requires an 

assessment of degree and “detriment” requires an impact on the public.  Any penalty against 

PacifiCare cannot be increased as a result of speculative harm.  (Cf. People v. Superior Court (1973) 

9 Cal.3d 283, 287 [“[I]n the absence of statutory command such vague and speculative injury is not 
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sufficient to justify the imposition of the equivalent of a civil penalty”]; Argonaut Ins. Co. v. 

Workmen’s Comp. Appeals Bd. (1971) 15 Cal.App.3d 436, 440 [“The board . . . is prohibited from 

entering an award based on assumption or speculation”)]; Goebel v. Lauderdale (1989) 214 

Cal.App.3d 1502, 1507 [“‘the mere possibility or even probability that damages will result from 

wrongful conduct does not render it actionable’”].) 

CDI also declares that “[p]atients facing liability for thousands of dollars in medical care 

suffer tremendous anxiety.”  (CDI Br. 129.)  While CDI does at least provide a citation for this point, 

the cited record only includes speculative and inadmissible hearsay evidence, including testimony 

from a CDI employee trying to recall written complaints that CDI received from patients.  (Ibid., 

citing Tr. 352:11-353:1 [Masters]; Tr. 1024:13-17, 1041:6-20 [Mrs. W.].) 

CDI also asserts that while no amounts were paid for 843 claims (because the amounts were 

applied to the member’s deductible), PacifiCare’s denials “may have resulted in members having to 

pay out-of-pocket subsequent claims that should have been paid by PacifiCare.”  (CDI Br. 125, italics 

added.)  This, too, is utter speculation for which no evidence is presented. 

Nonetheless, CDI concludes that “the harm occasioned by [PacifiCare’s] violations was 

greater than that usually associated with pre-existing condition denials because of the unknown 

number of violations where the amount of the improperly denied claim was applied to the member’s 

deductible.”  (CDI Br. 132, citation omitted, italics added).)  First, it is improper for CDI to enhance 

penalties based on speculation over “unknown” violations.  Second, CDI’s accusation is factually 

inaccurate:  When reprocessing claims, PacifiCare applies the amount of the deductible remaining, if 

any, for that year, at the time of reprocessing – not at the time the claim was originally adjudicated.  

(Exh. 15; P.P.F. 608.)  In sum, there is no evidence of harm, apart from the amount of the reworked 

claims. 
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d) CDI Concedes That The Remedial Measures Mitigate The 
Penalty. 

Another factor that the Court is permitted to consider when determining the proper penalty is 

“whether the licensee has taken remedial measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. 

Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).)  This regulation reflects CDI’s policy that insurers that 

respond to regulatory concerns and take meaningful remedial measures should be given credit for 

such actions.  (Exh. 5707, pp. 10-11.) 

Here, after PacifiCare self-reported its error, PacifiCare immediately began a series of 

corrective actions, including (i) modifying the policy to properly reflect the correct exclusionary 

period, (ii) sending letters to notify its members and brokers of the error, and (iii) reworking claims.  

(Tr. 8910:4-15 [Monk], Tr. 265:17-267:4 [Smith]; Tr. 7575:4-7576:2, 10224:17-10225:19 [Berkel]; 

Exhs. 5018, 5260, 740; P.P.F. 602, 603.)  By April 4, 2007, prior to receiving notice of the 2007 

MCE, PacifiCare had promptly completed reworking the claims at issue.  (Exh. 601; Tr. 248:18-

249:1 [Smith], Tr. 23102:8-19 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 604.)  As CDI concedes, these significant remedial 

measures warrant mitigation of any penalty.  (CDI Br. 132:15-19.)  

But CDI argues that PacifiCare should have done more.  Based on alleged violations which 

were dismissed by this Court, CDI argues that “[i]n July 2008, PacifiCare had to rework an additional 

3,030 claims that it had denied on the basis of pre-existing conditions between October 2006 and 

March 2008” and therefore “CDI made a request in the first half of 2008 that the company cease 

applying the pre-existing condition exclusionary period for certain members,” which PacifiCare 

declined.  (CDI Br. 127:7-16; accord, id. at 132:16-19.)  First, these alleged violations were dismissed 

from this case because PacifiCare did not have an opportunity to defend against them.  Second, CDI’s 

request was made in the context of settlement discussions:  CDI asked PacifiCare to altogether waive 

the pre-existing exclusion provision for any remaining PacifiCare members – even though the 

relevant statutes specifically permit application of pre-existing exclusionary provisions.  (Tr. 

10241:6-10242:6 [Berkel]; Tr. 23096:14-23101:15 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 614.)  Because a wholesale 
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waiver of the pre-exclusion “would put [PacifiCare] at a competitive disadvantage with respect to all 

of the other California carriers that have that same provision,” PacifiCare executives “offered to Ms. 

Rosen [a ‘compromisse position’] as a middle ground,” but she “rejected it,” and the discussion 

ended.  (TR. 10241:6-10245:2 Berkel; exh. 741.)  Significantly, CDI had never previously asked an 

insurance company to waive a pre-existing exclusionary provision.  (Tr. 23101:12-15 [Cignarale]; 

P.P.F. 615.)   

Finally, CDI complains that “[w]hile the company trained claim examiners on pre-ex in late 

2006, that training consisted solely of differentiating between a 6-month and a 12-month 

exclusionary period.”  CDI argues that the “company conducted no further training on a ‘complicated 

process’ that ‘requires above level understanding’ . . . until it revised its remark codes in late 2007, 

following the market conduct exam, when it trained processors on the use of new remark codes,” and 

that “training provided to MedPlans in both instances was inadequate.”  (CDI Br. 134:20-27.)  This 

argument simply highlights how arbitrarily CDI has applied this remedial factor.  It acknowledges 

that PacifiCare did train claims examiners in late 2006 on the issue at hand – the proper exclusionary 

period – that it reworked the relevant claims at that time, and that it further trained processors on the 

use of new remark codes in late 2007 following the 2007 MCE.  The fact that PacifiCare’s prompt 

remediation in 2006 focused on the alleged violations at issue is no shortcoming.  Finally, CDI 

cannot link MedPlans to PacifiCare’s submission of a certificate of insurance with the erroneous 12-

month exclusionary period, which is the basis for CDI’s claim.  Nothing in CDI’s brief alters the fact 

that PacifiCare is entitled to favorable consideration for its remediation efforts. 

e) CDI Credits PacifiCare with Good Faith. 

Another reason the Court should decrease any penalty against PacifiCare is that “under the 

totality of circumstances, [PacifiCare] made a good faith attempt to comply with the [law].”  (Cal. 

Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).)  PacifiCare entrusted the filing of the erroneous 

certificate of insurance to a long-time employee with extensive regulatory experience.  (Tr. 8909:5-

Dennis
Text Box
742
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22, 9219:8-9221:20 [Monk]; P.P.F. 595.)  CDI failed to detect the error and approved the policy.  

(CDI Br. 132, 133).  Finally, PacifiCare self-reported the error.  (Id. at p. 124.) 

Accordingly, PacifiCare’s good faith cannot be questioned here, and even CDI concedes that 

PacifiCare’s “good faith attempt to comply with the law” is a mitigating factor.  (CDI Br. 132). 

f) There Are No Considerations In Aggravation. 

CDI claims that there are a number of considerations in aggravation, which should enhance 

the penalty.  In fact, there are no grounds for aggravation. 

First, CDI alleges that “[t]he large number of affected members and severity of the detriment 

to the public was, in Mr. Cignarale’s view, an aggravating factor.”  (CDI Br. 132:28-133:2, citation 

omitted.)  But 3,862 claims out of a total of 1,126,107 denied claims (or a rate of 0.28%) is hardly a 

high frequency of erroneous denials.  Further, as noted earlier, there is no evidence that this single, 

mistaken certificate of insurance harmed the public.  Indeed, CDI inconsistently acknowledges that 

“Mr. Cignarale saw insufficient evidence to conclude whether the relative frequency of the violations 

[citation] was mitigating or aggravating.”  (Id. at p. 132:13-15, citation omitted.) 

CDI next argues that “Mr. Cignarale viewed the company’s failure to detect the error in the 

form policy for two years (Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(13)), as evidence in aggravation, in light of the 

company’s obligation to train its claim examiners on the appropriate exclusionary period” albeit 

“only slightly aggravating” in light of CDI’s approval of the policy.  (CDI Br. 133:3-7.)  However, 

Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(13) addresses “whether the licensee’s management was aware of 

facts that apprised or should have apprised the licensee of the act(s) and the licensee failed to take 

any remedial measures.”  Clearly, the management was not aware of facts that should have apprised 

it that CDI had erroneously approved a policy with an incorrect exclusionary period, which had been 

submitted by an experienced employee.  Indeed, CDI does not identify any such facts.  And the fact 

that the law does allow a 12-month exclusionary period (§ 10198.7(b)) makes it less likely that the 
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error could have been easily discovered.  CDI cannot invoke Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(13) 

as an aggravating factor. 

g) Cignarale’s Assessment Of The Per-Unit Penalty Is Also 
Arbitrary And Contrary To Due Process. 

CDI’s assessment of the per-unit penalty is also arbitrary and violates due process.  

Mr. Cignarale claims that the starting point should be $3,250 for each non-willful violation based on 

an arbitrary starting point of 65%.  (CDI Br. 131-132.) 

But for all the reasons set forth in Section IV.D, ante, Mr. Cignarale’s approach, divorced 

from any comparison of prior penalties or from any methodology, is arbitrary.  This arbitrary 

approach is then exacerbated by his misapplication of the regulatory factors, based on speculation 

over harm, an unduly narrow reading of the good faith factor, a refusal to fully credit PacifiCare’s 

remedial measures, an unwillingness to credit PacifiCare for bringing the error to CDI’s attention, 

and an utter disregard for the fact that the error here was inadvertent under section 790.035 (thereby 

warranting a total penalty of no more than $5,000).   

This misapplication is then exacerbated by CDI’s decision to make “a departure from Mr. 

Cignarale’s recommended penalty for the charged violations” because he “did not consider . . . 

uncharged violations in his analysis,” that is, the allegations that were dismissed by the Court.  

(CDI Br. 133:16-18.)  Accordingly, CDI’s ultimate penalty recommendation is based on its 

impeachment of its own “expert’s recommendation,” its continued use of an arbitrary approach for 

assessing penalties divorced from any principled methodology, and its refusal to fairly apply the 

relevant regulatory factors for assessing penalties.  Such an arbitrary approach deprives a party of 

property without due process of law. 

G. The Denial of Claims Due To Failure To Maintain COCCs.  (CDI Br. pp. 
105-122.)  

Approximately 0.2% (1,799 acts) of the claimed 908,654 violations are attributable to 

PacifiCare’s erroneous denial of claims based on its alleged failure to monitor its receipt of 

certificates of creditable coverage (“COCC”). 
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There is a wholesale failure of proof with respect to these claims.  Notwithstanding CDI’s 

allegation that its “investigation revealed a general and widespread practice of continuing to request 

COCCs after they had already been received” (CDI Br. 108:6-7), only 9 of the 130 CDI closure 

letters regarding complaints from March 2006 to January 2009 involved the alleged mishandling of 

COCCs.  And these closure letters constitute administrative hearsay, which cannot form the basis for 

a factual finding without other competent evidence.  Second, CDI cites to exhibit 5016 in support of 

its assertion that 1,799 claims were impacted by the alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (CDI Br. 109.)  

But that exhibit relates to the reprocessing of claims that applied the incorrect 12-month exclusionary 

period.  Thus, CDI has no evidence to support its allegation that 1,799 claims involved requests for 

COCCs that had already been received.  And even if CDI had been able to identify more than 8 

COCC-based claims, it lacks evidence to support any unfair claims settlement practices in violation 

of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), or (h)(5).  

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare incorrectly denied 1,799 insurance claims based on the member’s 

failure to provide PacifiCare with a COCC form, even after the member had submitted the COCC 

form to PacifiCare.  (OSC, ¶¶ 119-122.)  CDI argues that each of these denials constitutes an act in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), and (h)(5), section 10123.13, subdivision (a), section 

10123.147, subdivision (a), and Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2695.7, subdivision (d).  (Id. at 

¶ 122.) 

Both section 10123.13, subdivision (a) and section 10123.147, subdivision (a) imposes a 30 

working-day deadline for paying claims. 

Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d) provides:  “Every insurer shall conduct and diligently 

pursue a thorough, fair and objective investigation and shall not persist in seeking information not 

reasonably required for or material to the resolution of a claim dispute.” 
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2. The Facts.  

All insurers include a provision in their policies that excludes coverage for a pre-existing 

condition, unless the member can present evidence of prior coverage.  (Tr. 59:3-61:1 [Smith]; P.P.F. 

619.)  Accordingly, new members desiring coverage for pre-existing conditions must present 

PacifiCare with a COCC from their prior health plan evidencing prior coverage in order to avoid the 

application of the pre-existing conditions exclusion.  (See http://www.insurance.ca.gov/0100-

consumers/0070-health-issues/health-insurance-terms.cfm; Tr. 59:3-61:4 [Smith]; P.P.F. 620.)   

The thrust of CDI’s “story” regarding this claim is that PacifiCare’s denial of claims by 

reason of the lack of a COCC, where a copy had already been sent, were “document handling 

problems” that were “traceable to . . . business practices associated with the transition to Lason,” 

including the “[i]mplementation of DocDNA” and “insufficient quality control and reconciliation 

measures.”  (CDI Br. 113:12-17.) 

a) The Manual, Pre-Merger Process For COCCs. 

Prior to the merger with United, PacifiCare used a manual process to sort, route, and record 

COCCs in its claims system upon receipt.  (Tr. 8088:5-8089:25, 8094:14-25 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 622.)  

The manual handling and routing of COCCs resulted in some errors, such as PacifiCare not being 

able to locate a COCC even though the member had already transmitted it, or PacifiCare not properly 

matching a COCC with a member’s file.  (Tr. 3362:13-3363:7 [Sing]; Tr. 11250:15-18 [Berkel]; 

P.P.F. 623.) 

Consequently, PacifiCare began planning to transition to automated mail distribution systems 

even prior to its merger with United.  (Tr. 3164:20-3166:13 [Murray]; Tr. 13886:3-25 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 

626.)   

b) The Post-Merger Automated System. 

After the merger, PacifiCare increased its efforts and expended significant resources to 

develop an automated system (DocDNA) in order to image, route, and track incoming mail, including 
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COCCs.  (Tr. 13682:3-13683:13; 13712:14-13714:20 [Murray]; P.P.F. 624.)  The process was 

redesigned specifically to address the problems that had been experienced pre-merger.  (Tr. 7456:24-

7458:12 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 625.)  PacifiCare relied upon a team of legacy-PacifiCare, subject-matter 

experts and process engineers to work with a proven document-routing vendor to design and test the 

new system.  (Tr. 13679:25-13680:12, 13682:3-13683:13 [Murray]; Tr. 19829:8-17 [McNabb]; 

P.P.F. 624, 119.)  And while PacifiCare experienced certain challenges with the new DocDNA 

design, it also implemented over time a series of improvements to address those issues.  (Tr. 3200:4-

3201:21, 3204:3-3208:8, 13726:4-13727:8 [Murray]; Tr. 19831:14-13832:2 [McNabb]; P.P.F. 627.) 

Overall, the design represented a substantial simplification and improvement over the manual 

routing system in place prior to the merger.  (Tr. 7456:24-7458:12 [Berkel]; Tr. 3165:2-3166:13, 

3200:4-3201:21 [Murray]; Tr. 13885:19-13886:25 [Vavra]; Exh. 5468; P.P.F. 121.)  Significantly, 

PacifiCare developed these improved processes for handling correspondence prior to any issues 

being raised by CDI with regard to COCCs.  (Tr. 3165:13-3166:13 [Murray]; Tr. 17739:1-4; Tr. 

13884:22-13885:2 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 70.) 

c) CDI’s Exaggeration Of The Number Of Complaints. 

CDI’s brief alleges that “[a]round October 2006, consumers began complaining to CDI that 

they had submitted COCCs to PacifiCare multiple times” and that “CDI’s investigation of these 

complaints revealed a general and widespread practice of continuing to request COCCs after they had 

already been received.”  (CDI Br. 107:24-25, 108:6-7; P.P.F. 638, 639.)   

In fact, CDI reviewed “a few complaints” involving COCC issues, and “vastly overstated” the 

financial impact of those issues.  (Tr. 13055:15-21 [Laucher]; Exhs. 5009, 5019; P.P.F. 638.)  Out of 

130 CDI complaint closure letters entered into evidence and involving complaints from March 2006 

to January 2009, only 9 involved alleged mishandling of COCCs!  (Exhs. 22, 29, 40, 41, 76, 79, 166, 

182, 209; P.P.F. 639.)  
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Indeed, it was not until January 11, 2007, that CDI staff first communicated their concerns in 

writing regarding an alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (Exh. 5004; Tr. 188:9-14 [Smith]; P.P.F. 194.)  

In direct response to CDI’s January 11, 2007 letter, PacifiCare immediately took a series of actions.  

However, prior to receiving the letter, PacifiCare already had a corrective action team in place to 

address issues regarding pre-existing (“pre-ex”) conditions (see Exh. 5004, p. CDI0017578), and by 

February 2007, it had assembled a task force to identify all claims potentially impacted from errors 

surrounding the pre-existing condition (“pre-ex”) issues.  (Exh. 5019; see also Exh. 5005, Tr. 190:2-

191:6 [Smith].) 

On March 1, 2007, PacifiCare convened its first inter-departmental working group meeting on 

pre-ex issues.  (Exhs. 687, p. 2813; Tr. 188:9-193:18 [Smith].)  As a result of these efforts, PacifiCare 

created a number of process improvements in connection with remediating the issues surrounding the 

handling of COCCs.  (Tr. 3362:13-3364:14 [Sing]; Tr. 6361:25-6362:14, 6964:8-6965:19 

[Vonderhaar]; Tr. 7562:25-7563:18 [Berkel]; Exhs. 348; P.P.F. 629.) 

d) CDI Has No Evidence That 1,799 Claims Were Improperly 
Processed Based On Missing COCCs. 

Although CDI cites to exhibit 5016 in support of its assertion that 1,799 claims were impacted 

by the alleged mishandling of COCCs (CDI Br. 109), the file, although labeled “Updated Listing of 

COCC claims,” relates instead to the reprocessing of claims from 2006 that applied the incorrect 12-

month (rather than 6-month) pre-ex exclusionary period.  (Exh. 5016; Tr. 7562:25-7563:18 [Berkel]; 

P.P.F. 640.)  The exhibit does not provide any evidence that the claims were denied due to the 

absence of a COCC.  As explained by PacifiCare employee Laura Henggeler, the 1,799 reworked 

claims listed on exhibit 5016 are simply a subset of the pre-ex denials that PacifiCare reworked when 

it misapplied pre-ex period as a 12-month, rather than 6-month, period.  Thus, these are claims that 

should not have been denied, regardless of any COCC.  (Exhs. 5348, 5016.)    

Accordingly, while PacifiCare spent $765,157 reprocessing 3,019 claims from 2006, which 

had been erroneously subjected to the 12-month exclusionary period, these reworks did not involve 
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claims in which the COCCs were mishandled.  (Exh. 5314; P.P.F. 641.)  Indeed, CDI has not 

presented evidence that any of the 1,799 denials involved the mishandling of COCCs.  (Exh. 5016; 

Tr. 7563:6-18 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 640, 641.)  In short, there is an utter failure of proof regarding this 

claim, other than the 9 denials arising out of complaints to CDI, and these 9 cases are insufficient in 

number to rise to the level of an unfair claims settlement practice. 

e) CDI’s Flawed Factual Contentions. 

CDI claims that PacifiCare’s purported problems tracking COCC’s “are traceable to . . . 

business practices associated with the transition to Lason,” to which PacifiCare outsourced document 

routing and storage functions.  (CDI Br. 113).   

However, CDI fails to estimate the number of COCC-related problems resulted from 

outsourcing to Lason.  (Tr. 22889:6-22892:22 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 636.)  For example, CDI asserts 

that “Lason was not consistently indexing documents by member ID number prior to storage in 

FileNet, so many COCCs continued to be irretrievable after receipt.”  (CDI Br. 113 [citing Exh. 574; 

Exh. 342, p. 8514; Exh. 355, p. 8503; Exh. 365, p. 6872; Tr. 6353:7-14 [Vonderhaar]].)  But the cited 

evidence relates only to a narrow issue of “secondary documents,” not incoming correspondence 

containing COCCs.  In sum, CDI has failed to establish that this issue had any impact on any of the 

claims arising from COCCs at issue here or to quantify that impact.  (See Exhs. 574, 342, 355, 365.)   

CDI argues that “PacifiCare also admitted that its DocDNA queues and inventory, where 

documents like COCCs were stored before being processed, were ‘poorly managed.’”  (CDI Br. 112, 

italics added.)  However, the cited evidence does not refer to COCCs or the process for handling 

them.   

Similarly, CDI asserts that “[i]t sometimes took weeks for a document to reach its destination, 

with thousands of documents languishing inexplicably in DocDNA queues for over a month.  

(CDI Br. 112.)  But CDI again has failed to establish that this affected COCC handling or any of the 

COCC-claims at issue in this case.  (See Exh. 361 [POS unrelated to PPO, per Tr. 3495:10-12, 
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Norket]; Exh. 526 [discusses PHS generally; multiple references to POS, DMHC]; Exh. 666, pp. 

1103, 1104, 1106-08 [multiple references to HMO].)   

While CDI cites to testimony from Ms. Berkel that there was no way to search for COCCs 

while they were in the DocDNA queues (CDI Br. 112), Ms. Berkel’s criticism was limited to the 

inability to search by member ID, a functionality added thereafter.  Moreover, there were several 

other ways by which a COCC could be searched, such as by claim number or member name; thus, the 

inability to search by member ID was not decisive.  (Tr. 8087:18-21 [Berkel], Tr. 3619:24-3620:9 

[Murray]; P.P.F. 634.) 

CDI also asserts that “[t]he cost of making documents searchable within DocDNA was only 

$40,000, but this improvement was initially rejected because ‘it isn’t in the budget.’”  (CDI Br. 

112:8-10, citation omitted.)  In fact, PacifiCare’s management approved the request for additional 

search functionality (e.g., searching by member ID) as well as every other operational improvement 

requested by Ms. Berkel that potentially impacted compliance.  (Tr. 8086:10-19, 8290:8-14, 

11306:16-19 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 632.) 

CDI further complains that “when PacifiCare’s Cypress staff were laid off, many facsimile 

machines were left unattended” and that “PacifiCare did not, and still does not, employ a consistent 

method for handling incoming faxes.”  (CDI Br. 110.)  However, the cited evidence relates to 

operational issues in Cypress, which at the time, did not include claims processing or customer 

service for PPO.  (Tr. 7942:10-23, 8552:2-5 [Berkel]; Tr. 6956:5-12 [Vonderhaar]; Tr. 2293:4-25 

[Norket]; Exh 411.)  Thus, the evidence cited by CDI regarding PacifiCare’s handling of documents 

that arrived by fax does not concern the impact, if any, on COCCs and the PPO claims payment 

processing. 

Finally, CDI complains that “documents submitted through customer service fax lines 

continued to be lost into 2008.”  (CDI Br. 115:9-10, citing Exhs. 351, 352.)  But as exhibits 351 and 

352 make clear, these particular claims, which were faxed to PacifiCare and briefly mishandled, were 
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submitted six months after the relevant period (in 2008) and were outside the keyable mailed claim 

reception process at issue in this litigation.  (Exh. 352, pp. 1385-1386.)  Further, although these 

claims are irrelevant, it is worth noting that they were quickly tracked down and adjudicated with the 

personal assistance of Martin Sing, the site director responsible for PacifiCare’s customer service 

throughout the western United States.  (Id. at p. 1386; Tr. 2476:2-17 [Sing].) 

f) Absence Of Harm. 

Significantly, CDI has failed to present evidence of the extent of any material harm associated 

with the mishandling of COCCs, or even regarding the number of claims impacted as a result of any 

alleged mishandling.  (Tr. 21173:15-21174:8, 21179:12-21180:12 [Kessler]; Tr. 23493:4-23494:21 

[Cignarale]; P.P.F. 637.) 

Moreover, CDI cannot identify even one person whose medical condition suffered as a result 

of the alleged mishandling of COCCs.  (Tr. 23490:2-23494:21 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 613.)  Nor did it 

undertake an investigation to determine whether any such persons existed.  (Tr. 23490:2-11 

[Cignarale]; P.P.F. 613.) 

In any event, by 2008, PacifiCare had remediated all of the affected pre-ex claims, including 

the 1,799 mischaracterized as COCC reworks (Tr. 23102:8-15 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 641(e), 642), and 

CDI never expressed concern about the remediation over pre-ex claims.  (Tr. 23103:9-13 [Cignarale]; 

P.P.F. 642.)  Moreover, for each of the reprocessed pre-ex claims, PacifiCare sent the affected 

member a letter explaining the issue and inviting the member or provider to contact the company or 

CDI if the member or provider believed the claim had been incorrectly processed.  (Exh. 5017.)  No 

record exists of even one complaint of that nature being made, and CDI has not shown that even one 

claim in this specific category was reprocessed incorrectly.  (Tr. 251:12-22, 258:18-260:7 [Smith]; 

P.P.F. 609.) 
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3. The Erroneous Denial Of Claims Was Not An Unfair Claims 
Settlement Practice. 

Even assuming arguendo that PacifiCare violated section 10123.13, subdivision (a) and 

Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d) by incorrectly denying claims, CDI cannot establish that 

PacifiCare committed an unfair claims settlement practice. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(1): CDI Has Failed To Prove That 
PacifiCare Misrepresented A Fact Or A Policy Provision. 

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the “unfair claims settlement practice” of “[m]isrepresenting to 

claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”   

CDI argues that each denial of a claim based on a pre-existing condition exclusion after a 

COCC has been submitted violates section 790.03(h)(1) “because it falsely represents: (1) that the 

member has not yet submitted and the insurer had not yet received evidence of prior coverage; and 

(2) that the insurer is not obligated to cover treatments for a pre-existing condition when it is in fact 

legally required to do so.”  (CDI Br. 105.)   

However, CDI has failed to carry its burden of proof that PacifiCare misrepresented the facts 

or insurance policy provisions under section 790.03(h)(1). 

First, since no evidence supports CDI’s contention that any of the 1,799 claims were denied 

based on missing COCCs, there can be no evidence of a misrepresentation regarding those claims.   

Second, nowhere does CDI’s brief specify the language in a claim denial that constitutes a 

misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision.  Moreover, a review of a typical EOB demonstrates 

that no misrepresentation could have been made.  Where PacifiCare has no evidence of receipt of a 

COCC, its EOB typically states, “This claim is being denied due to lack of required information.  

Please forward the Certificate of Creditable Coverage from your prior carrier.  If unavailable, please 

submit names and addresses of doctors who have treated you in the past year.  Refer to your 

Certificate, ‘Exclusionary period for pre-existing conditions.’”  (E.g., Exh. 30.)   
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Even if PacifiCare had received a COCC, but nonetheless issued such an EOB, there are no 

misrepresentations of fact or of policy provisions here.  The EOB states, “This claim is being denied 

due to lack of required information.”  That is the true reason for the denial.  PacifiCare does not 

represent why it lacks the required information, merely that it lacks it, which is true.  Next, the EOB 

states, “Please forward the Certificate of Creditable Coverage from your prior carrier.”  That is a 

request, not a representation.  This does not misrepresent a fact or a policy provision. 

In sum, CDI’s effort to call an error in recordkeeping (if there was one) a misrepresentation 

under section 790.03(h)(1), when there is no misrepresentation of fact or of a policy provision, is just 

another example of CDI seeking to conjure up an unfair claims settlement practice where there is 

none. 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3): CDI Has Not Shown A Failure To 
Adopt Reasonable Standards for Processing Claims. 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the “unfair claims settlement practice[]” of “[f]ailing to adopt 

and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising 

under insurance policies.”   

CDI claims that the denial of a claim for failure to submit a COCC “are also violations of 

section 790.03, subdivision (h)(3) because they reflect failures to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under insurance policies.”  (CDI 

Br. 106:1-3.)  But CDI never points to what part of PacifiCare’s standards for investigating and 

processing claims was unreasonable.  Instead, its proposed conclusion of law merely asserts that 

“[e]ach of the 1,799 claims improperly denied for lack of a COCC represents an additional failure to 

adopt and implement reasonable standards for managing COCCs.”  (CDI’s Proposed Conclusion of 

Law no. 36.)  Once again, CDI has failed to carry its burden of proof. 

First, as explained above, CDI has not presented evidence of any erroneous claim denials 

based on missing COCCs for any of the 1,799 claims.  (Tr. 7562:25-7563:18 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 640.)   
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Second, to the extent any COCC’s were mishandled, it was the result of a run-of-the-mill 

processing error, namely, misplacing the COCCs during a transition period from manual processing 

to the automated DocDNA system.  This does not evidence a lack of reasonable standards.  The gap 

in CDI’s proof is that (1) it never presents PacifiCare’s standards for investigating and processing 

claims, and (2) it never shows what standards were missing or unreasonable. 

Third, the evidence demonstrates that PacifiCare did design and develop improved processes 

for handling correspondence prior to any issues being raised by CDI with regard to COCCs.  (See Tr. 

3165:2-3166:13, 3200:4-3201:12 [Murray]; Tr. 17739:1-4 [Watson]; Tr. 13884:22-13885:2, 13886:3-

13886:25 [Vavra]; P.P.F. 70.)   

Accordingly, CDI has failed to show any failure to adopt reasonable standards for processing 

claims under section 790.03(h)(3). 

c) Section 790.03(h)(5): Any Erroneous Denial Of Claims Does 
Not Constitute A Failure To “Attempt[] In Good Faith To 
Effectuate” Prompt And Equitable Settlements. 

Section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits the “unfair claims settlement practice[]” of “[n]ot attempting in 

good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has 

become reasonably clear.”   

CDI claims that the COCC-related claims denials “further violate section 790.03, subdivision 

(h)(5) because they are instances in which the company is not attempting in good faith to effectuate 

prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has become reasonably clear.  A 

violation of this section occurs when the insurer nonetheless denies the claim because it has not made 

a good faith effort to maintain that COCC, or the information it contains, in a retrievable location.”  

(CDI Br. 106:4-10.) 

But CDI has presented no evidence that PacifiCare lacked good faith in “attempting” to 

effectuate a prompt, fair, and equitable settlement of any COCC-related claim.  There is absolutely no 
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evidence of bad faith in any case where PacifiCare has denied a claim because it cannot locate the 

COCC. 

To the contrary, PacifiCare did attempt in good faith to process COCCs, as evidenced by the 

fact that the company expended significant time and resources developing DocDNA to handle 

incoming mail, including COCCs.  Further demonstrating PacifiCare’s “good faith” “attempt” to 

“effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims” is its notable effort to improve its 

processes for handling COCCs.   

CDI argues that “[e]ach improper denial and request that the claimant submit a COCC form 

also represents an unnecessary and unreasonable demand for information that the company already 

possessed . . . in violation of Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d).”  (CDI Br. 117:12-15.)  This 

regulation does not assist CDI in manufacturing an unfair claims settlement practice. 

Regulation 2695.7 sets forth standards for “Prompt, Fair and Equitable Settlements.”  

However, Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d) is not applicable here.  It merely provides in relevant 

part, “Every insurer . . . shall not persist in seeking information not reasonably required for or 

material to the resolution of a claim dispute.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.7, subdivision (d).)  

But a COCC is “reasonably required for” and “material to the resolution of a claim dispute” 

involving a pre-existing condition.  CDI’s complaint is that PacifiCare already had the COCC, not 

that it is not reasonably required.   

In any event, there is no proof that any of the 1,799 claims at issue here involved a request for 

a COCC that had actually been received. 

Accordingly, CDI has failed to establish any violation of section 790.03(h)(5) for any COCC-

based denial. 
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d) The Erroneous Denial Of Claims Was Not Knowingly 
Committed Or Performed As A General Business Practice. 

Finally, even if CDI could establish an unfair claims settlement practice, it must also establish 

that the practice was “[k]nowingly commit[ted] or perform[ed] with such frequency as to indicate a 

general business practice” in order to establish a violation of section 790.03(h).  This CDI cannot do. 

As explained in Section VI, the language, legislative history, and case law supports the 

interpretation that the unfair claims settlement practice must be both “[k]nowingly commit[ed]” and 

“a general business practice.”  (§ 790.03(h).)  But tellingly, CDI did not conclude that the 

mishandling of 1,799 claims was done with sufficient frequency to constitute a general business 

practice of the company.  (Cignarale Tr. 22841:5-12; P.P.F. 643.)  And CDI makes no such 

contention in its brief.  Indeed, it cannot because CDI has no evidence of the number of claims 

improperly denied because of the lack of a COCC.  (Tr. 7562:25-7563:18 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 640.) 

Furthermore, even under CDI’s flawed reading of section 790.03(h), whereby it need show 

only a knowingly committed practice or a general business practice, PacifiCare did not knowingly 

commit any practice of denying claims, based on the failure to provide a COCC when a COCC had 

been submitted.  As explained earlier, “knowingly” requires that the insurer act deliberately, which 

requires awareness of its conduct and the consequences.  “Constructive knowledge” is not sufficient 

to establish an unfair claims settlement practice.   

CDI argues that the alleged COCC violations were “knowingly” committed because 

PacifiCare (a) knew or should have known that the claim denials were incorrect; (b) is chargeable 

with constructive knowledge of documents that it received from claimants; and (c) knowingly failed 

to adopt sufficient processes to ensure that documents such as COCCs would be adequately handled.   

(CDI Br. 117-118.) 

However, even assuming that constructive knowledge is sufficient, section 790.03(h) requires 

that the insurer “[k]nowingly commit[]” the prohibited practice, not that it had constructive 

knowledge of the conditions that created a risk of a future violation. 
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CDI has not presented evidence that any of the 1,799 claims were denied based on missing 

COCCs.  Therefore, CDI cannot even establish the existence of facts from which there was 

constructive knowledge of missing COCCs for the 1,799 claims, let alone a “general business 

practice.”  Accordingly, CDI cannot establish a “knowing” unfair claims settlement practice here. 

4. Even If There Were A Violation, Application Of Due Process, 
Statutory, And Regulatory Principles Severely Limits Any Penalty. 

a) The Inadvertent Mistakes In Processing COCCs Could Not 
Be Willful.  

As discussed earlier, “willful” conduct for purposes of section 790.035’s two-tiered penalty 

structure requires more than a mere willingness or purpose to commit the conduct that happens to be 

unlawful.  “Willful” requires that the conduct be performed with the actual knowledge that the 

conduct violates the law and with the specific intent to commit a violation.  (See Section VI.C.6(b), 

ante.) 

CDI cannot show that PacifiCare’s denial of any claims due to the mishandling of COCCs 

was willful under this definition because any denials were based on the belief that there was no 

COCC on file.  CDI has presented no evidence of any specific intent to violate the law or any 

knowledge on the part of PacifiCare that it had the COCC. 

Relying on a regulation that ignores the statutory text and legislative history, CDI argues that 

willful only requires “‘a purpose or willingness to commit the act, or make the omission.’”  (CDI Br. 

118.)  CDI argues that PacifiCare’s COCC-based denials were committed willfully because (1) “these 

wrongfully denied claims are the result of PacifiCare’s purposeful or willing failure to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims” (CDI Br. 

119:1-3); (2) “PacifiCare designed a process that . . . was ‘so complicated it was difficult to manage’ 

and the company then failed to adequately monitor the work outsourced to Lason” (id. at 119:15-17, 

citation omitted); and (3) it “exhibited a willingness to misrepresent pertinent facts to providers and 
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members” by denying a claim as a pre-existing condition despite being aware of problems with 

processing COCCs.  (CDI Br. 120:1-6.)  

In fact, CDI has presented no evidence of a “purposeful or willing failure to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims” and CDI has 

not pointed to a standard that was unreasonable, but rather, simply to alleged snafus in transitioning 

to an automated system, which is common in the context of mergers.  But there is nothing wrongful 

about that.  It is reasonable to expect challenges in such transitions, and the obvious benefits of 

automation and reduced risk outweighed any temporary issues that may have arisen. 

CDI itself realized this in 2007 when it conducted a feasibility study of transitioning to a 

“paperless workflow.” (“Paperless Workflow Feasibility Study Report - December 2007, 

http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf).  In that report, CDI admitted that 

“[t]he majority of CDI users perform manual methods to manage their documents and files….  [T]his 

leads to delays, duplication, [and] lost files,” and these manual processes were leading to delays in 

time-sensitive matters requiring a response within “a fixed number of days.”  (Id., p. 33.) 

Accordingly, the report recommended that CDI utilize a vendor to create an automated 

document intake, routing, and storage system, but observed that there would be many risks during the 

implementation process.  For example, the report noted that “lack of coordination and communication 

between the project team and users,” “lack of commitment from users . . . and resistance to change,” 

as well as “staff turnover and retirements [leading] to loss of critical knowledge and resources,” were 

potential risks that CDI would confront as it implemented this new system.  (Id., pp. 107-114.)   

Additionally, CDI has not presented any evidence of a “purpose” or “willingness” to fail “to 

adequately monitor the work outsourced to Lason” (CDI Br. 120) – which CDI has not even shown 

was responsible for the lost COCCs at issue here. 

Finally, CDI never presented any evidence that suggested that PacifiCare “exhibited a 

willingness to misrepresent pertinent facts to providers and members.”  (CDI Br. 120.)  As shown 

http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=1
http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=34
http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=111
http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=114
http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=114
http://www.insurance.ca.gov/paperless/upload/PWP_BL_11.pdf#page=1
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earlier, there were no misrepresentations in the EOBs, and no evidence that PacifiCare denied any of 

the 1,799 claims based on the absence of a COCC (Tr. 7562:25-7563:18 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 640.).  

Indeed, CDI’s only citation for its contention regarding misrepresentations is testimony by Mr. 

McMahon.  (CDI Br. 120.)  But Mr. McMahon testified that he was not aware of problems with 

COCCs prior to July 2007.  (Tr. 17604:6-17605:6 [McMahon].) 

Accordingly, because PacifiCare’s denial of claims, based on the absence of a COCC, was not 

“willful,” either under the correct definition (a specific intent to commit the violation) or CDI’s 

definition (a purpose or willingness to commit the prohibited practice), the maximum potential 

penalty is $5,000 per violation. 

b) CDI Has Failed To Prove Harm. 

Although PacifiCare spent $765,157 reprocessing claims which had applied the incorrect 12-

month exclusionary period for pre-ex conditions, CDI has not presented any evidence that these were 

denied because of the mishandling of COCCs.  (Exhs. 5314, 601; P.P.F. 637, 640, 641.) 

Instead, CDI merely speculates that “[p]atients may be denied medical care by providers who 

are frustrated with the insurer’s denial” or “may delay or forgo needed care because of fears of being 

required to pay for the treatment” where a claim has been wrongly denied based on the absence of a 

COCC.  (CDI Br. 115-116.) 

However, CDI has failed to present evidence of any harm associated with the mishandling of 

COCCs.  (Tr. 23493:4-23534:21 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 637.)  Nor can CDI identify one person whose 

medical condition suffered as a result of alleged mishandling of COCCs.  Indeed, CDI did not even 

investigate whether such persons existed.  (Tr. 23490:2-11, 23492:15-23493:12 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 

613, 635.)  Speculation about harm does not satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, subdivisions (a)(10) 

and (a)(12), or due process.  (See People v. Superior Court, supra, 9 Cal. 3d at p. 287.) 

The lack of harm here militates in favor of a minimal penalty for the alleged violation of 

section 790.03.  (See Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(10).) 
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c) There Was No Reprehensibility. 

In light of the lack of harm, the due process and excessive fines clauses limit any penalty 

based on the mishandling of COCC’s because PacifiCare’s conduct was not reprehensible. As 

discussed earlier, both the U.S. and California Supreme Courts have ruled that under both the 

excessive fines and due process clauses, penalties must be proportionate to the reprehensibility of the 

conduct.  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 575.) 

Here, any incorrect denial of claims, where a COCC had been transmitted but lost, was the 

result of the inadvertent servicing of a policy, e.g., failing to adequately keep track of the COCCs that 

PacifiCare received.  PacifiCare’s conduct is certainly not reprehensible under the factors articulated 

by the U.S. Supreme Court in State Farm:  There was no evidence of physical harm, no conscious 

disregard for safety, and no intentional malice, trickery, or deceit.  (See State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. 

at p. 419.) 

d) PacifiCare’s Remedial Measures Also Argue For 
Mitigation. 

Another factor in mitigation is “whether the licensee has taken remedial measures with 

respect to the noncomplying acts.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).) 

PacifiCare assembled a task force to identify all potentially impacted claims (exh. 5019; Tr. 

190:2-191:6 [Smith]), convened an inter-departmental working group on March 1, 2007 to address 

pre-ex issues more broadly (Exhs. 687, p. 2813; Tr. 188:9-193:18 [Smith]), and remediated all of the 

pre-existing condition claims by 2008, including the 1,799 claims that are purportedly COCC-related. 

CDI acknowledges that “PacifiCare took remedial measures,” but claims “the company still 

had not established a consistent practice for handling faxes.”  (CDI Br. 121:9-11.)  However, the 

issue here is whether any erroneous denials have been remedied and whether processes are in place to 

track COCCs.  They have.  Whether there must be a “consistent practice” for handling faxes is a 

business judgment that goes well beyond CDI’s jurisdiction. 
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e) PacifiCare Acted In Good Faith. 

Another consideration for mitigating any penalty is “whether, under the totality of the 

circumstances, the licensee made a good faith attempt to comply with the provisions of this 

subchapter.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).) 

CDI alleges that “Cignarale found the absence of good faith . . . because ‘PacifiCare neglected 

to assure that basic functions essential to the operation of any insurance company . . . were 

maintained during the integration’ and because the company ‘resisted implementing cost-effective 

solutions because they weren’t ‘in the budget.’”  (CDI Br. 121:16-20.) 

However, as noted, PacifiCare did approve every operational improvement that potentially 

impacted compliance that was requested by Ms. Berkel.  (Tr. 8086:10-19, 8290:8-14, 11306:16-19 

[Berkel]; P.P.F. 632.)  Moreover, the manual system was transitioned to an automated system in 

order to improve the routing and tracking of incoming mail, including COCCs.  This was a good-faith 

effort to achieve compliance, notwithstanding any glitches in the transition.  In short, attempting to 

improve compliance cannot be anything but good faith. 

f) Conclusion. 

CDI has not presented any evidence of any erroneous claim denials based on missing COCCs 

with respect to the 1,799 claims at issue; thus, there is no evidence of a sufficient number of such 

claims to constitute a “practice.” 

Secondly, there is no evidence to support any specific unfair claims settlement practice:  

There are no statements that constituted misrepresentations of fact or of policy provisions, no 

evidence of any failure to adopt reasonable standards governing COCCs, and no evidence of a failure 

to exercise good faith in attempting to settle claims.   

Even if CDI could prove an unfair claims settlement practice, CDI’s regulations define an 

“act” for purposes of assessing a penalty as “any commission or omission which in and of itself 

constitutes a violation of California Insurance Code Section 790.03 . . . .”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 
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§ 2695.2, subd. (v).)  The violation here is the purported unfair claims settlement practice, premised 

on an unknown number of claim denials; thus, only one penalty for this purported unfair practice is 

authorized. 

Finally, PacifiCare’s remediation of the pre-ex denials (including any caused by missing 

COCCs), its good faith in seeking to address all pre-ex issues and improve routing and tracking of 

incoming mail, the lack of willfulness and the lack of evidence of any harm argue for only a nominal 

penalty. 

H. The Failure To Correctly Pay Claims.  (CDI Br., pp. 200–216.) 

CDI attempts to penalize PacifiCare for 3,700 claims that allegedly had to be reworked due to 

PacifiCare’s delay in loading contracts with providers, purportedly as a result of PacifiCare’s 

implementation of the EPDE process.  (CDI Br. 203:8-11, 212:24-28.)   

However, as shown below, there is evidence of only 2,662 (not 3,700) reworked claims, and 

nothing links those reworked claims to implementation of the EPDE process.  To the contrary, the 

reworked claims resulted from the massive re-contracting effort around the CTN termination – a one-

time event – when new contracts had not yet been finalized or had not yet been loaded into the 

system.   

In any event, there is no basis for treating 2,662 claims (which PacifiCare voluntarily 

reworked) as an unfair claims settlement practice.  First, the 2,662 reworked claims were 0.15% of 

the processed claims and cannot constitute a general business practice, or even a practice, for 

purposes of section 790.03(h).  Secondly, a purported error in payment is not a “misrepresentation” 

of a fact or of a policy provision under section 790.03(h)(1).  CDI also argues that the need to rework 

these claims “reflects” the possibility that PacifiCare did not “adopt and implement reasonable 

standards” for processing claims under section 790.03(h)(3), but the evidence shows nothing of the 

kind.  To the contrary, the record demonstrates that the CTN termination was a one-time event, that it 

is standard to have some amount of rework during periods of contract negotiation, and that providers 
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often contributed to the late execution and loading of provider contracts.  (Tr. 7398:11-7399:9 

[Berkel]; Tr. 10672:8-18, 10673:5-10674:12, 10675:22-10677:15, 12952:24-12953:16 [McFann].)  

Significantly, because providers were often at fault for the late-loaded contracts, these claims were 

not necessarily incorrectly paid, as they were based on the current information in the RIMS system.  

(Tr. 7397:20-7399:9 [Berkel].)   PacifiCare, however, agreed to rework the claims in these cases 

where contracts were thereafter finalized and loaded.  (Ibid.)  Finally, CDI fails to show that any of 

the reworked claims evidenced a failure on the part of PacifiCare to act in good faith in attempting to 

effectuate the prompt and equitable settlements of claims under section 790.03(h)(5). 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that 3,700 claims were incorrectly paid (and subsequently reworked) based on 

“PacifiCare’s contract loading delays” with providers, which resulted in claims processed “according 

to an outdated contract or, if the provider had no previous contract with PacifiCare, . . . [from claims] 

paid at non-contracted rates.”  (CDI Br. 203:8-10.)  CDI contends that the “root of many of 

PacifiCare’s incorrect claims payments” was “PacifiCare’s implementation of the EPDE feed in 

2006,” which “resulted in manifold contract loading errors and massive corruption of provider data 

records.”  (CDI Br. 203:14-16.) 

CDI argues that each incorrectly paid claim constitutes an act in violation of section 

790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), and (h)(5), as well as Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (g).  (CDI Br. 200-201; 

OSC, ¶¶ 166-167.) 

2. The Facts. 

In 2007, PacifiCare reported to CDI that as a result of re-contracting efforts that were 

undertaken following the CTN termination, PacifiCare reworked 3,700 claims.  PacifiCare’s 

unrebutted testimony established that claims were correctly processed as out-of-network because the 

providers did not have a new contract in the system.  At trial, after deducting duplicate claims, 

PacifiCare reported that only 2,662, not 3,900, claims were impacted.   
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In fact, when re-contracting with providers, insurers routinely must rework some claims 

arising from contracts loaded after their effective date.  (Tr. 7398:11-7399:9, 9727:2-9 [Berkel]; Tr. 

10672:4-7; 12958:5-20 [McFann]; P.P.F. 652.)  This is because there are often delays in reaching 

agreement and in loading new provider contracts into the system.  During the time that a contract is 

being negotiated and loaded, some payments are made under the existing contract or are made at non-

participating rates where no current contract is in place.  (Tr. 7397:20-7399:9 [Berkel].)  When this 

happens, the insurer often reworks the claim so that it conforms to the new contract and issues a new 

check to the provider.  (Tr. 10672:4-18; 12958:5-20 [McFann].) 

There are numerous reasons why a payment would be based on a prior contract or non-

contract rates due to no fault of PacifiCare:  Providers are often to blame for delays in the loading of 

their contracts.  Providers can (1) delay negotiations, (2) turn in contracts with incomplete 

information that have to be returned, (3) execute contracts after their effective date, and (4) fail to 

honor commitments to hold claims until PacifiCare has had a reasonable time to load the contract.  

(Tr. 10672:8-18; 10673:5-10674:12, 10675:22-10677:15 [McFann]; P.P.F. 653.)   

Moreover, the impact of the allegedly incorrect payments here was relatively minimal:  Only 

2,662 claims out of 1,735,029 total claims processed are alleged to have been erroneously processed 

based on late-loaded contracts, and they involved only $89,191 out of hundreds of millions of claim 

dollars paid.  (Exhs. 549, 5217; Exh. 5252, p. 6929.)   

CDI’s allegation that there were 3,700 incorrect payments was not established at trial.  

PacifiCare executives provided the 3,700 figure as an estimate of the retroactively reworked claims 

associated with termination of access to CTN’s network.  (CDI Prop. FOF, ¶ 501, citing Tr. 2212:12-

15 [McFann].)  But at trial, PacifiCare updated this estimate to eliminate any duplication and 

concluded that the total impact from the CTN termination was 2,662 claims.  (Exh. 5252, p. 6929.)54  

                                                 

 54 PacifiCare also made clear that the claims were not incorrectly processed based on the 
information in the system at the time.  (Tr. 7397:20-7399:9 [Berkel]). 
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CDI persists in using the original 3,700 figure, but cites no evidence showing that PacifiCare actually 

incorrectly paid 3,700 claims, and there is none. 

CDI also asserts, without citing any proof, that every reworked claim was the result of 

PacifiCare’s supposedly insufficient contract-loading processes, EPDE errors, or incorrect fee 

schedules.  (CDI Br. 212:24-25.)  But there is no evidence regarding the percentage of claims 

attributable to each, or any, of these issues.  Indeed, there is no evidence to conclude that the need to 

rework each of the 2,662 claims was the result of PacifiCare’s actions or any flaw in PacifiCare’s 

contract-loading process.  In many situations, PacifiCare’s reliance on an outdated contract or its  

payment at a non-contract rate was attributable to the provider. 

One of the most egregious misrepresentations in CDI’s brief is its insistence that EPDE is to 

blame for the 2,662 reworked claims.  (CDI Br. 203.)  In fact, the allegations regarding the EPDE are 

not relevant to this category of alleged violations because none of the 2,662 reworked claims were 

reworked as a result of EPDE data.  (Tr. 16126:2-13, 17324:13-19 [Lippincott].)55  And these are the 

claims to which CDI is limited by its pleadings. 

CDI is also incorrect that PacifiCare bases its entire defense to these alleged violations on the 

termination of the CTN network.  (CDI Br. 209:7-9.)  To be sure, CTN’s termination of access to its 

network was an unprecedented event which would have raised issues for any claims-processing 

system.  (Tr. 7398:11-7399:9 [Berkel]; Tr. 12952:24-12953:16 [McFann]; P.P.F. 648.)  But 

PacifiCare (and United) dedicated substantial resources to timely address the issues created by the 

CTN termination, including reallocating hundreds of employees to assist in (1) re-contracting, (2) 

streamlining the process to generate a negotiated contract, and (3) designing and implementing new 

                                                 

 55 CDI’s erroneous insistence that EPDE is to blame for these alleged violations is perhaps the 
result of CDI’s misunderstanding of what the EPDE data bridge actually did.  CDI falsely asserts 
that the data bridge transmitted provider “contract data” (CDI Br. 44:8; 203:15), but in fact contract 
data was not transmitted using the EPDE, which updates only demographic information (Tr. 
16126:2-13 [Lippincott]; P.P.F. 159.). 
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fee schedule templates to expedite the contract loading process.  (Tr. 10663:6-10664:3, 10693:19-

10696:1 [McFann]; Exh. 5341; P.P.F. 649.) 

Finally, CDI’s brief continues to press numerous claims (CDI Br. 206, 208-209, 213), which 

the ALJ has already dismissed from this case and which cannot support penalties against PacifiCare, 

either as formal violations or as aggravating factors.  Specifically, this Court granted PacifiCare’s 

request to dismiss 78,320 claims from this proceeding (which CDI continues to allege as a basis for 

increased penalties here (CDI Br. 206:22-25, 213:1-7)), and subsequently dismissed the remaining 

allegations regarding UCSF and UCLA (which CDI continues to allege (CDI Br. 206-207, 208:23-

28, 209:1-6)), making clear that they were “not going to be in my decision.”  (Tr. 25713:13-25722:12 

[March 21, 2012 Hearing]; Tr. 26249:22-26250:21, 26263:1-3 [August 9, 2012 Hearing].) 

3. Regulation 2695.7(g) Is Irrelevant And Does Not Give Rise To An 
Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

CDI cites Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (g) as a legal basis for the claimed violations here 

(CDI Br. 201), but nowhere does CDI explain why an allegedly incorrect payment (albeit based on 

the current information in the RIMS system) necessarily constitutes an “unreasonably low” 

“settlement offer.”   

Regulations 2695.7, subdivision (g) provides that “[n]o insurer shall attempt to settle a claim 

by making a settlement offer that is unreasonably low.”   

To show a violation of this regulation, CDI would have to show that (1) the allegedly 

incorrect payment was a “settlement offer,” which it has not done, and that (2) the payment was 

“unreasonably low,” meaning that there was some substantial difference between what PacifiCare 

offered to pay and how much it should have offered.  CDI has not presented any such analysis in its 

brief and thus cannot establish a violation of Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (g). 

In any event, regardless of Regulation 2695.7, CDI has the burden of proving that 

PacifiCare’s purportedly incorrect payments constituted a violation of section 790.03(h)(1), (h)(3), or 

(h)(5), which, as set forth below, CDI has not done. 
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4. Allegedly Incorrect Payments, Particularly Where The Alleged 
Mistake Was Voluntarily Corrected, Do Not Constitute An Unfair 
Claims Settlement Practice. 

a) Inadvertent Errors In 2,662 Instances Do Not Amount To A 
“General Business Practice.” 

CDI seeks to treat the 2,662 instances of reworked claims as an unfair claims settlement 

practice.  However, those 2,662 claims constitute a mere 0.15% of the total claims processed.  (Exhs. 

549, 5217, 5252, p. 6929; P.P.F. 647.) 

Accordingly, the errors, if any, which led to the reworked claims did not occur with sufficient 

frequency “as to indicate a general business practice” under section 790.03(h).  As discussed earlier, 

a “general business practice” must be frequent, systematic and pervasive.  A payment error in 0.15% 

of processed claims does not fit this definition.   

These allegedly incorrect payments were also not “knowingly” committed as required under 

section 790.03(h).  CDI does not even argue that PacifiCare knew it was systematically paying claims 

incorrectly.  It merely asserts that “[i]nsurers are charged with knowledge of the amounts they are 

supposed to pay and of the amounts they in fact do pay to claimants.”  (CDI Br. 213.)  But there is no 

basis for CDI’s assertion for two reasons.  First, as discussed earlier in Section VI, under the case law 

and the plain meaning of “knowingly,” the insurer must act deliberately, which requires awareness of 

the conduct and its consequences.  CDI has presented no evidence that PacifiCare was aware that it 

was paying any of the claims incorrectly. 

Second, even accepting CDI’s contention that insurers are charged with knowledge of the 

amounts they are supposed to pay, CDI has failed to establish the reason for the allegedly incorrect 

payment for any particular claim, and specifically whether the provider was at fault because he or she 

executed a contract after its effective date, turned in a contact with incomplete information, or failed 

to honor a commitment to hold claims until PacifiCare had a reasonable time to load the contract.  

(Tr. 10672:8-18; 10673:5-10674:12, 10675:22-10677:15 [McFann]; P.P.F. 653.)  In those cases, 
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PacifiCare could not be charged with knowing the correct rates, because the provider’s error resulted 

in PacifiCare’s use of an allegedly incorrect rate.  (Tr. 7397:20-7399:9 [Berkel].). 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare is “chargeable” with knowledge that “the implementation of the 

EPDE process[] would present an obvious risk of incorrect payment of claims.”  (CDI Br. 213.)  But, 

as noted, none of the 2,662 reworked claims at issue were reworked as a result of EPDE data.  (Tr. 

17324:13-19 [Lippincott]; Tr. 19200:21-19201:10 [Boeving]; P.P.F. 170, 646.)  Thus, this contention 

fails.   

In sum, the 2,662 payments at issue do not constitute a general business practice, and they 

were not committed knowingly.  Moreover, if CDI could show that committing errors in the amount 

of payments in 0.15% of the claims was a knowingly committed general business practice, CDI 

cannot make out any of the unfair claims settlement practices which it has alleged. 

b) Section 790.03(h)(1). 

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[m]isrepresenting to 

claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.” 

CDI claims that “inaccurate payments misrepresent the amount the insurer has agreed to pay 

for services under a given policy, and the amount for which the patient is responsible.”  (CDI Br. 

200.)  This is utter nonsense.  An inadvertent error in payment cannot be a misrepresentation of a 

fact or of a policy provision under section 790.03(h)(1).  A payment is not a representation of any 

fact or of any policy provision.  It is merely a determination of the amount that the insurer has 

calculated that it owes under the policy.   

What CDI is attempting to do is treat a determination of a payment as an “implied 

representation” of the terms of the policy.   If the payment is incorrect, CDI argues that the insurer 

has implicitly misrepresented some policy provision.   

But courts have rejected efforts to imply representations, including from the simple act of 

making a payment, as the basis for a misrepresentation.  (See Williams v. United States, supra, 458 
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U.S. 279, 284 [reversing conviction because depositing a bad check does not constitute the making of 

a false statement—“a check is not a factual assertion at all”]; Yanase v. Auto. Club of So. Cal., supra, 

212 Cal.App.3d 468, 473 [auto club tour book’s endorsement of motel’s accommodations contained 

no “positive assertion concerning neighborhood safety”].)  Instead, the courts look to the precise 

words communicated by the defendant and determine whether those words constitute an actual 

misrepresentation.  (See Shamsian v. Atlantic Richfield Co., supra, 107 Cal.App.4th 967, 983–994.)  

Therefore, both common sense and case law support PacifiCare’s position that an erroneously-

calculated payment is not a misrepresentation of an insurance policy provision.  

c) Section 790.03(h)(3).   

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”   

CDI seeks to squeeze the allegedly incorrect payment of claims into this unfair practice on the 

ground that such payments “reflect failures to adopt and implement reasonable standards for prompt 

investigation and processing of claims ….”  (CDI Br. 200–201, italics added.)   

But inadvertent errors in the amount of payments do not mean that PacifiCare failed to “adopt 

and implement reasonable standards” for processing claims under section 790.03(h)(3). 

First, CDI has not carried its burden to show the reason that any of the specific 2,662 claims 

had to be reworked; therefore it cannot show that any reworks resulted from the failure to adopt or 

implement reasonable standards. 

Second, as previously noted, none of the 2,662 reworked claims were the result of EPDE data.  

But even if they were, that would not establish the failure to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards.  CDI alleges that “PacifiCare’s implementation of the EPDE feed in 2006 resulted in 

manifest contracting loading errors and massive corruption of provider data records” and that “[t]he 

company’s EPDE failures are traceable to the slapdash manner in which United chose to implement 
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the EPDE process.”  (CDI Br. 203:14-18.)  But improper implementation of the EPDE process is not 

a failure to adopt and implement reasonable standards for promptly processing claims.  The EPDE 

data bridge is a common tool amongst health insurers, and it was used by PacifiCare to maintain and 

update its provider demographic data.  (Exh. 5615, p.9; Tr. 19813:20-19814:25 [McNabb]; Tr. 

19703:13-25 [Boeving]; P.P.F. 159.)  The act of updating provider data is not the same thing as 

adopting a reasonable standard for promptly processing claims. 

Finally, section 790.03(h)(3) is not a guaranty that insurers’ standards will always be perfect; 

it is only a requirement that insurers adopt and implement “reasonable standards,” which PacifiCare 

unquestionably did in this case.  Significantly, CDI wholly fails to incorporate into its analysis the 

fact that PacifiCare voluntarily reworked the claims.  Yet, that fact is very relevant to the reasonable 

nature of PacifiCare’s standards for the investigation and processing of claims.   

d) Section 790.03(h)(5).   

Section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[n]ot attempting in 

good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has 

become reasonably clear.”   

CDI has not established any of the required elements of section 790.03(h)(5).  To establish 

liability, there must be: (1) a failure to “attempt” (2) “in good faith” (3) “to effectuate prompt, fair, 

and equitable settlements of claims” (4) in those cases where “liability has become reasonably clear.” 

Inadvertent errors do not suggest that PacifiCare did not “attempt[] in good faith to effectuate 

prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims.”  Indeed, it is undisputed that PacifiCare voluntarily 

reworked the claims and made full payment to providers.  (Tr. 7398:11-7399:9 [Berkel].)  This 

evidences good faith.  CDI never establishes that PacifiCare failed to “attempt” in “good faith” to 

effectuate the prompt, fair, and equitable settlement of claims.  
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5. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires That Any Penalty To Be Minimal. 

a) CDI’s Purported Evidence Of Harm Is Speculative. 

There is no evidence whatsoever that the payments at issue caused any harm, because 

PacifiCare remediated every payment, along with 10% statutory interest, which more than 

compensated providers for delay in receiving the complete payment.  CDI calls this statutory interest 

“paltry” (CDI Br. 211:14-16), but there is no question that 10% is far greater than the market interest 

rates during the relevant period.   

CDI claims that some providers had to expend considerable effort to obtain corrected 

payments.  (CDI Br. 211:8-16.)  This claim is completely anecdotal, based on a few examples, and in 

no way supports CDI’s assertion that there was any significant harm resulting from the incorrect 

payments. 

More importantly, none of the anecdotal evidence to which CDI refers has any connection to 

the 2,662 claims actually alleged here.  For example, neither Dr. Griffin nor Dr. Mazer was one of the 

providers associated with the 2,662 reworked payments, which related solely to providers whose 

contracts were loaded after their effective date.  (Tr. 2212:12-18 [McFann]; exhs. 597, ¶ 55, 5252, p 

3.)  Instead, Drs. Griffin and Mazer’s complaints concerned PacifiCare’s alleged use of the wrong fee 

schedule in their contracts—matters over which CDI has no jurisdiction pursuant to section 12921.4, 

subdivision (a), and claims for which neither witness presented any competent or proper written 

evidence when they testified.  (Exh. 5651.)   

Also, CDI’s allegation that many incorrectly paid claims were not remedied for six months or 

more (CDI Br. 211:9-10) refers to six letters, each addressed to a different provider, but with no 

apparent connection to the 2,662 reworked payments.  (See exh. 262.)  Nowhere does CDI cite one 

piece of evidence that any harm resulted to any of the providers who received one of the 2,662 

reworked payments.   
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CDI relies on Mr. Cignarale’s testimony that “as a general matter, incorrect payment of 

claims … adversely affect providers.”  (CDI Br. 214, italics added.)  But Cignarale speculated about 

what “can” or “may” happen, and he did not rely upon evidence of what actually did happen here.  

This is insufficient to support aggravated penalties, because due process requires that punitive 

damages or penalties be keyed to “the specific harm suffered by the plaintiff.”  (State Farm, supra, 

538 U.S. at p. 422.)   

Even disregarding the fact that every claim at issue was reworked and paid in full (including 

interest), CDI’s recommendation of a $10,000-per-violation penalty (for a total penalty of $37 

million) is absurd for voluntarily reworked claims and is grossly disproportionate to any potential 

harm.  After all, the additional dollars paid in connection with the reworked claims amounted to a 

total of approximately $90,000, an average of a little less than $34 per claim.  (Exh. 5252.)  In other 

words, CDI seeks to impose a $10,000 penalty for each average payment that was off by $34, even 

though (1) PacifiCare had already remedied the error, (2) and repaid the claimant in full, (3) along 

with 10% interest.  The proposed penalty is not only absurd, but is clearly unconstitutional.  (See 

Section V.) 

b) CDI Concedes That PacifiCare’s Remedial Measures Are A 
Mitigating Measure. 

PacifiCare remediated any harm that was initially caused by the allegedly incorrect payments 

by voluntarily correcting them.  A consideration in setting any penalty is “whether the licensee has 

taken remedial measures with respect to the noncomplying act(s).”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).)  Because PacifiCare responded to regulatory concerns and took meaningful 

remedial measures, it should be given full credit for such actions.  (Exh. 5707, p. 10-11 [Stead 

Report].) 

CDI notes that Cignarale “regarded PacifiCare’s remedial measures (Reg. 2695.12, subd. 

(a)(8)), as evidence warranting slight mitigation, despite the ineffectiveness and incompleteness of 

those measures.”  (CDI Br. 215, citing Exh. 1184, p. 96:10-21.)  But the cited testimony simply 
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makes conclusory assertions that PacifiCare’s remedial efforts regarding MedPlans and EPDE were 

not adequate.  (Exh. 1184, p. 96:10-21.)  This conclusory opinion, which lacks foundation and any 

detail, is inadmissible, particularly since the 2,662 reworked claims were not the result of EPDE data 

or MedPlans. 

c) CDI’s Claim Of Bad Faith Lacks Evidentiary Support. 

CDI asserts, without any evidence or explanation, that the payments at issue were the result of 

“PacifiCare’s dishonesty and lack of good faith.”  (CDI Br. 216.)  But none of the evidence cited 

regarding EPDE and its implementation had any connection to the 2,662 claims at issue.  There is no 

evidence that the actual claims being asserted against PacifiCare involved payments that were made 

in bad faith.   

d) The Alleged Violations Were Not Willful.   

There is absolutely no evidence that the allegedly incorrectly paid claims, which were 

reworked and fully paid with interest, constituted a willful act, that is, an act with the specific intent 

to violate the law.  Again, under section 790.035, subdivision (a), it is the practice that must be 

willful to qualify for a higher penalty. 

CDI argues that “[t]he reliance on MedPlans, along with PacifiCare’s implementation of 

EPDE without adequate testing, training, or quality controls, reflect a willing failure to adopt 

reasonable standards for processing claims.”  (CDI Br. 213:26-28.)  But as noted, none of the 2,662 

claims at issue were affected by EPDE or any of these integration issues.  Further, it is absurd for 

CDI to allege willfulness when it has not even established who was at fault for the erroneous 

payments (PacifiCare or the provider) with respect to the 2,662 claims at issue.  (See Section 

VI.C.6(b), ante.)  

e) Conclusion. 

CDI has failed to carry its burden of proof that the payment and rework of the 2,662 claims at 

issue (0.15% of the processed claims) constituted an unfair claims settlement practice.  But even if it 
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did, any penalty should be small, and certainly should not exceed the value of the reworked claims, 

because of (1) the lack of any harm, given providers were fully paid with 10% interest, (2) 

PacifiCare’s good faith and remediation, as reflected by its voluntary rework of the claims, and (3) 

the lack of willfulness. 

I. The Untimely Overpayment Demands To Providers.  (CDI Br. 255-272.) 

Approximately 0.2% (1,934 acts) of the claimed 908,654 violations is attributable to 

PacifiCare’s issuance of untimely collection notices for reimbursement of overpaid claims in 

violation of the one-year limitations period in Section 10133.66, subdivision (b). 

This claim fails for several reasons.  First, CDI cannot premise an unfair claims settlement 

practice on a violation of section 10133.66, subdivision (b), which is a statute of limitations for 

seeking reimbursement from a provider.  Section 10133.66 simply bars an insurer from collecting on 

an untimely demand for reimbursement.  Nothing in the text of the statute suggests that its violation 

constitutes an unfair claims settlement practice or subjects the insurer to Plaintiffs.  Second, no unfair 

claims settlement practice can be based on a breach of this limitations period.  PacifiCare did not 

“[m]isrepresent[] to claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions” in violation of section 

790.03(h)(1), because its collection notices did not misrepresent anything.  Indeed, the collection 

notices correctly represented that there had been an overpayment.  Likewise, the untimely sending of 

collection notices is not a “[f]ail[ure] to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt 

investigation and processing of claims,” in violation of section 790.03(h)(3).  PacifiCare had in place 

proper written policies and procedures for collecting overpayments, and the mistaken transmittal of 

untimely overpayment demands does not, in and of themselves, translate into a “fail[ure] to adopt [a] 

standard.”  

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim.   

CDI alleges that PacifiCare sent 1,934 untimely demand letters seeking reimbursement from 

providers for overpaid claims.  (CDI Br. 269; OSC, ¶¶ 141-48.)  CDI argues that each untimely letter 
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constitutes a violation of section 790.03(h)(1) and (h)(3) and section 10133.66, subdivision (b).  (CDI 

Br. 255-256; OSC, ¶ 148.)56   

2. The Facts.  

CDI contends that PacifiCare sent 1,934 first-request letters to providers requesting 

repayment of overpayments more than 365 days after the date the claim had been paid, contrary to 

section 10133.66, subdivision (b).  (CDI Br. 269.)  Section 10133.66, subdivision (b) became 

effective January 1, 2006, and contains no language indicating that it is to be given retroactive effect.) 

Section 10133.66, subdivision (b) provides in pertinent part that “[r]eimbursement requests 

for the overpayment of a claim shall not be made . . . unless a written request for reimbursement is 

sent to the provider within 365 days of the date of the payment of the overpaid claim.”  (§ 10133.66, 

subd. (b).) 

PacifiCare had in place written policies and procedures for collecting overpayments, 

including limiting to 365 days the “# of days PHS has to identify the overpayment from payment 

date.”  (Exh. 381, p. 3357; P.P.F. 663.)  These policies and procedures demonstrate that PacifiCare’s 

general practice was to issue timely first-request letters and to enter information about the date that 

the first-request letter was sent into its Overpayment Database.  (Exh. 381, pp. 3357, 3365-3366; Tr. 

6642:16-6643:23, 11901:14-11902:1 [Bugiel]; P.P.F. 664.) 

In early 2008, PacifiCare instructed Johnson & Rountree Premium (“J&R”), a vendor 

providing overpayment recovery services, to issue second-request letters to payees listed in 

PacifiCare’s Overpayment Database where amounts were still owed.  (Tr. 2957:13-18; 2972:2-9 

[Cassady]; Tr. 6649:19-24, 6667:7-22 [Bugiel]; P.P.F. 665.)  At the time that PacifiCare instructed 

J&R to issue letters, PacifiCare understood that timely first-request” letters had already been sent.  

                                                 

 56 CDI’s OSC also alleged a violation of Regulation 2695.11, subdivision (a), but this claim has 
not been made in its opening brief and is thus waived. 
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(Tr. 3752:25-3753:15, 3763:19-3764:9, 3767:4-9, 6719:23-6720:3, 6722:19-24 [Bugiel]; Exh. 381; 

P.P.F. 666.)   

After receiving complaints from CMA on behalf of a few providers, CDI asked PacifiCare to 

provide information about the overpayment collection efforts.  (Exhs. 592, 739, p. 3646; Tr. 

10217:23-10219:18 [Berkel]; Tr. 6715:2-5 [Bugiel]; P.P.F. 667.)  PacifiCare responded by 

suspending J&R’s collection efforts and ultimately waived recovery of approximately $1.4 million in 

connection with 2,912 of the overpayment recovery requests.  (Exh. 589; Tr. 6708:24-6709:18, 

11889:25-11891:13 [Bugiel]; Tr. 10723:9-10724:06 [McFann]; P.P.F. 668.) 

During this hearing, CDI increased the number of alleged violations from 2,912 to 4,831, 

allegedly based on data produced in connection with this hearing.  (Exh. 597, ¶¶ 59-62; P.P.F. 

670(a).)  However, PacifiCare presented evidence that in at least 2,693 of the 4,831 instances, either a 

timely first-request letter was subsequently located, the provider had voluntarily refunded the 

overpayment, or no effort had been made to collect the overpayment, i.e., no letter had been sent.  

(Tr. 11893:18-11894:14 [Bugiel]; Exh. 5392; P.P.F. 670(a).)  Thus, in hindsight, PacifiCare 

abandoned collection efforts on a number of valid overpayment recoveries, for which PacifiCare 

located a timely first-request letter, resulting in a significant monetary loss for the company, and a 

windfall for the providers who retained those overpayments.  (P.P.F. 669.) 

Of the remaining 2,138 letters, PacifiCare presented evidence that 204 letters related to 

PacifiCare Life and Assurance Company (PLAC), resulting in at most, 1,934 alleged violations.  

(Exh. 5392; P.P.F. 670(c).)  Of the 1,934 alleged violations, 223 letters relate to recoveries sought in 

connection with Medicare claims, for which PacifiCare is allowed two years to initiate recovery 

efforts.  (Tr. 12728:22-12729:24 [Bugiel]; P.P.F. 671.) 

With regard to the remaining, alleged violations at issue, the testimony of PacifiCare 

witnesses and its policies and procedures demonstrated that, it was PacifiCare’s general business 

practice to send timely overpayment recovery letters.  (Exh. 381, pp. 3357, 3365-3366; Tr. 6642:16-
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6643:23, 11901:14-11902:1 [Bugiel]; P.P.F. 664.)  It is thus not reasonable to infer that simply 

because a first-request letter was not found (despite evidence of such a letter in the Overpayment 

Database) that no first request letter was sent. 

3. No Unfair Claims Settlement Practice Can Be Premised On Section 
10133.66, Subdivision (b). 

CDI cannot premise an unfair claims settlement practice on a violation of section 10133.66, 

subdivision (b).  As relevant here, section 10133.66, subdivision (b) is, in effect, a statute of 

limitations for seeking reimbursement from a provider.  As such, an insurer who makes an untimely 

demand for reimbursement of an overpayment is barred from collecting reimbursement.  Nothing in 

the text of section 10133.66, subdivision (b) suggests that the failure to abide by this statute results in 

an unfair claims settlement practice.  

4. Untimely Overpayment Demands Of Bona Fide Debts Cannot 
Constitute Unfair Claims Settlement Practices. 

Even assuming, arguendo, that PacifiCare ran afoul of section 10133.66, subdivision (b) by 

issuing untimely overpayment demands, CDI cannot premise an unfair claims settlement practice on 

such violations.  Instead, CDI has the burden of proving that PacifiCare’s issuance of untimely 

overpayment demands constituted a violation pursuant to the elements of section 790.03, 

subdivisions (h)(1) or (h)(3).  As set forth below, CDI has failed to prove an unfair claims settlement 

practice under section 790.03. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(1):  Requesting Repayment Of A Bona 
Fide Overpayment Is Not A Misrepresentation Of Fact Or 
Of A Policy Provision. 

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[m]isrepresenting to 

claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”  

CDI argues that by sending untimely demands for reimbursement, PacifiCare “incorrectly 

misrepresent[ed] to the claimant that it had the right to collect those additional amounts” in violation 

of section 790.03(h)(1).  (CDI Br. 256.) 
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First, PacifiCare did not represent any facts.  The collection notices correctly represented the 

fact that there had been an overpayment. (See, e.g., Exh. 331.) 

Nor does an untimely overpayment demand constitute a misrepresentation of insurance policy 

provisions.  To the contrary, the limitations period for sending overpayment demands comes from a 

statute, not a policy provision relating to coverage.  The right to reimbursement of an overpayment is 

a legal issue governed by the statute of limitations, not a misrepresentation of a policy provision 

under section 790.03(h)(1). 

Finally, Section 790.03(h)(1) only prohibits misrepresentations to “claimants.”  As explained 

earlier in the context of EOPs, a provider is not a claimant.  To the contrary, CDI’s own regulations 

define “claimant” as a “first or third-party claimant,” which the regulations defined as an insured or 

beneficiary under the terms of the policy or a “person asserting a claim against any person…under an 

insurance policy.”  (Cal. Code Regs., § 2695.2, subds. (c), (f), (x).) 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3):  Making Untimely Demands To 
Recover Overpayments Does Not Constitute A Failure To 
Adopt Prompt Processing Standards. 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

CDI asserts in conclusory fashion, relying exclusively on the view of Mr. Cignarale, that 

“[s]ending untimely reimbursement demand letters further reflects a failure to implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims, in violation of section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(3).”  (CDI Br. 256.)  This argument fails for three reasons: 

First, PacifiCare had in place written policies and procedures for collecting overpayments, 

including limiting to 365 days the “# of days PHS has to identify the overpayment from payment 

date.”  (Exh. 381, p. 3357; P.P.F. 663.)   It provided for entry of the date of the first-request letter in 

the Overpayment Database. 
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Second, the mistaken transmittal of untimely overpayment demands does not, in and of itself, 

translate into a “fail[ure] to adopt [a] standard” or the failure to implement it.  Indeed, CDI wholly 

fails to meet its burden of proof to show that PacifiCare’s “standards” for the prompt investigation 

and processing of claims were not reasonable or were not implemented. 

Indeed, since the overpayment database showed that a first-request letter was timely sent, the 

standard had been implemented.  Some missing copies does not suggest the standard was not 

implemented. 

Third, the issuance of a demand for recovery of overpayments shows that the claim was 

previously and promptly processed.  CDI argues that “[i]f that demand is untimely, and the insurer 

does not in fact have the right to seek reimbursement, then the insurer has not promptly investigated 

the claim and wrongfully delays the complete processing of the claim.”  (CDI Br. 256.)  But, putting 

aside the fact that this does not address which of PacifiCare’s standards were unreasonable, CDI’s 

argument fails because the claim was promptly processed – to the provider’s benefit.  The request for 

reimbursement could be the result of a miscalculation or a myriad of other reasons, but it does not 

suggest that the standards for prompt processing of claims are unreasonable. 

Fourth, there were not enough missing letters to show a general business practice or that 

untimely overpayment demands were done knowingly. 

5. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires That Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

Mr. Cignarale recommended a $4,200 per-unit penalty for each violation, for an aggregate 

penalty of $8,122,800 for the 1,934 untimely payment demands.  (CDI Br. 272.)  This harsh penalty 

for the alleged conduct does not comport with due process and runs afoul of statutory and regulatory 

principles relevant to determining the appropriate penalty amount. 
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a) The Untimely Demand Letters Only Constitute A Single 
Act.   

Even if sending untimely overpayment collection notices constituted an unfair claims 

settlement practice in violation of section 790.03(h), the alleged violations must be considered a 

single act, warranting only a single penalty.   

CDI has defined “act” for purposes of section 790.03, subdivision (h), as “any commission or 

omission which in and of itself constitutes a violation of California Insurance Code Section 790.03.”  

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (v).)  The violation of section 790.03 here – if proven – 

would be the unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h) and therefore would 

encompass all of 1,934 acts allegedly constituting that purported practice.  This would make the 

maximum penalty for all allegedly untimely overpayment demands $5,000, or if willful, $10,000. 

b) PacifiCare Acted In Good Faith In Seeking Reimbursement.   

CDI contends that PacifiCare acted in bad faith in making untimely reimbursement requests, 

and that this bad faith represents an aggravating factor in the penalty determination.  (CDI Br. 271; 

Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).)  But CDI has no evidence of bad faith.  In fact, the evidence shows that 

PacifiCare acted in good faith in seeking reimbursement.  At the time PacifiCare instructed J&R to 

issue reimbursement request letters, PacifiCare understood that timely first-request letters had already 

been sent.  (Tr. 3752:25-3753:15, 3763:19-3764:9, 3767:4-9, 6719:23-6720:3, 6722:19-24 [Bugiel]; 

Exh. 381; P.P.F. 666.)  Accordingly, there is no basis to claim bad faith as an aggravating factor in 

any penalty imposed here.  (See Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(11).) 

c) The Alleged Harm Was Speculative.   

Although CDI asserts that PacifiCare’s issuance of untimely overpayment demands created 

significant administrative burdens on claimant, this and all other allegations of harm are wholly 

speculative.  CDI asserts, once again relying on testimony from Mr. Cignarale, that sending untimely 

reimbursement requests “can create significant administrative burdens on providers,” “may force 
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providers to collect additional sums from patients years after treatment,” and “may even cause 

patients to be denied medical care.” (CDI Br. 267.)   

As explained earlier, penalties based on speculative harm do not comport with due process.  

Moreover, the only evidence of actual (but insignificant) harm came from a one provider who 

complained about the administrative burden of receiving a single purportedly untimely collection 

notice.  (CDI Br. 267, citing Tr. 3051:12-23 [Mazer].)  Yet, there, PacifiCare ultimately withdrew its 

request for reimbursement from Dr. Mazer.  (Exh. 592.)  

CDI also attempts to show that untimely overpayment demands resulted in psychological 

harm to patients by relying on a Rawlings record that purports to recount (in three lines of text) a 

conversation with a single patient.  First, this record is administrative hearsay that cannot form the 

basis for a factual finding, absent competent, corroborating evidence.  (Gov. Code § 11513, subd. 

(d).)  Second, the alleged “harm” was not even written by the patient, but by someone at Rawlings 

who did not testify at this hearing and who apparently talked with the patient.  (Exh. 1101, p. 3797.)  

Furthermore, while the complaining patient purportedly told the Rawlings employee that “phs has 

treated her like a criminal,” there is no detail as to how this patient was treated as such.  The use of 

exaggerated, “treated [me] like a criminal” language, without more, simply undermines this patient’s 

credibility. 

In sum, there is no evidence of any appreciable harm from seeking to recover overpayments 

to providers.  To the contrary, PacifiCare was harmed by its relinquishment of its right to recovery of 

$1.4 million in overpayments. 

d) PacifiCare Remediated And Relinquished Its Right To 
Reimbursement Of Timely Demanded Overpayments. 

PacifiCare also took steps to remediate the issuance of untimely overpayment demands, 

representing a mitigating factor in the penalty determination.  (See Cal. Code Regs, tit. 10 § 2695.12, 

subd. (a)(8).)  For example, after CDI asked PacifiCare to provide information about overpayment 

collection efforts, PacifiCare, to use CDI’s words, “quickly responded.”  (CDI Br. 271).  PacifiCare 
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instructed J&R to suspend collection efforts and ultimately waived recovery of approximately $1.4 

million in connection with 2,912 overpayment recovery requests.  (Exh. 589; Tr. 6708:24-6709:18, 

11890:1-11891:13 [Bugiel], Tr. 10723:9-10724:06 [McFann]; P.P.F. 668.)  This represented a 

windfall to providers.  

e) The Acts Were Not Willful.  (CDI Br. 270.) 

Nor was the issuance of untimely overpayment demands willful for purposes of section 

790.035.   

CDI asserts that PacifiCare “willfully outsourced overpayments recoveries to J&R without 

adopting or implementing proper controls to ensure each overpayment demand was timely, which 

resulted in these overpayment letters being sent untimely.”  (CDI Br. 270.)  To the contrary, 

PacifiCare issued second-request letters where its Overpayment Database showed timely first 

requests had been made. 

As discussed earlier, “willful” requires more than a mere willingness or purpose to commit 

the conduct that happens to be unlawful.  Instead, “[w]illful” conduct is conduct that is performed 

with knowledge that such an omission violates the law and with the specific intent to violate the law.  

(See ante, Section VI.C.6(b).)  CDI cannot show that PacifiCare’s issuance of untimely collection 

notices was “willful” conduct under this definition.  Consequently, PacifiCare did not believe that its 

reimbursement requests were untimely when it sent them.  Thus, there was no intent to violate the 

law, and the alleged violations may not be charged as willful. 

CDI also argues that PacifiCare’s failure to confirm or require J&R to verify that timely first-

request letters had been sent before sending second requests “reflects a willful refusal to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  (CDI Br. 

270.)  To the contrary, as demonstrated above, PacifiCare had in place written policies and 

procedures for collecting overpayments.  Its database showed when timely first-request letters were 
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sent.  There is simply no evidence that PacifiCare’s standards were not reasonable, or that in a 

paperless age, verification of the database that a timely first-request was issued was unreasonable.   

Accordingly, PacifiCare’s untimely issuance of overpayment demands was not willful and 

thus the maximum potential penalty is $5,000 per act. 

f) Cignarale’s $4,200 Per-Unit Penalty Recommendation Is 
Absurd. 

Mr. Cignarale recommended a per-unit penalty of $4,200, for an aggregate penalty of 

$8,122,800 for these 1,934 acts in violation. (CDI Br. 270-272.)  The magnitude of this penalty is 

absurd for the reasons set forth below.  

First, CDI’s penalty assessment violates PacifiCare’s due process rights because PacifiCare 

did not have fair notice that penalties could be assessed in connection with a violation of section 

10133.66, subdivision (b).  As noted earlier, section 10133.66, subdivision (b) is a statute of 

limitations, and a breach of its terms merely results in a bar in seeking reimbursement, and   

Second, the proposed penalty violates due process because it is premised in part on a purely 

speculative harm. 

Third, for all the reasons set forth at Section IV, Mr. Cignarale’s approach, divorced from any 

comparison or prior penalties or any methodology, is arbitrary.  It is then exacerbated by the 

misapplication of the regulatory factors, given the absence of harm, PacifiCare’s remediation and 

good faith, and the lack of willfulness.   

Accordingly, any penalty imposed here should be minimal, and in no case more than $5,000. 

J. 58 Alleged Violations For Closing Or Denying Claims When Requesting 
Additional Information.  (CDI Br. 250-255.) 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare illegally closed or denied claims when requesting additional 

information.  However, two of the Code sections, upon which CDI relies, expressly permit an insurer 

to deny claims under these circumstances.  Moreover, for the vast majority of these allegations, CDI 

does not cite sufficient competent evidence that would allow the Court to make any finding in CDI’s 
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favor.  Finally, CDI is unable to support a claim that closing or denying a claim, pending the receipt 

of more information, constitutes a misrepresentation under section 790.03(h)(1) or a failure to 

establish reasonable standards under section 790.03(h)(3). 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claims. 

CDI alleges that in 57 instances PacifiCare closed or denied a claim when requesting 

additional information.  (CDI Br. 253:18-26.)  CDI argues that each of the 57 instances constitutes a 

separate act in violation of section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(1) and (h)(3).  (Ibid.) 

CDI also argues that each instance constitutes a violation of section 10123.13, subdivision (a), 

which requires that when an insurer “contest[s]” a claim, “the claimant shall be notified, in writing, 

that the claim is contested or denied,” and section 10123.147, subdivision (a), which similarly states 

that “an insurer may contest or deny a claim . . . by notifying the claimant, in writing, that the claim is 

contested or denied.” 

CDI also argues that each instance here constitutes a separate act in violation of Regulation 

2695.7, subdivision (d).  (CDI Br. 253:18-26.)  Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d) provides:  “Every 

insurer shall conduct and diligently pursue a thorough, fair and objective investigation and shall not 

persist in seeking information not reasonably required for or material to the resolution of a claim 

dispute.”   

Finally, in addition to these 57 instances for which CDI charges violations, CDI contends that 

PacifiCare’s practice, by itself, constitutes a single violation that it adds to the 57 charged instances to 

reach a total of 58 alleged violations.  (CDI Br. 254:3-6.)  

2. The Facts. 

On occasion, a member submits a claim without submitting other information within the 

member’s knowledge or possession (such as proof of secondary insurance or prior insurance 

coverage), which is necessary to process the claim.  In such a case, it was PacifiCare’s policy to close 

or deny the claim.  (See Tr. 8090:18-8091: 11 [Berkel]; Tr. 2385:8-14, 2362:18-25 [Norket]; P.P.F. 



 

296 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

675.)  PacifiCare would mail the member an EOB, provide a remark code with the reason for the 

decision, and request that the member submit the necessary information.  (Ibid.)  Upon receipt of the 

requested information, PacifiCare then processed the claim.  (Tr. 8092:12-17 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 675.) 

PacifiCare’s policy was not illegal, and a vast majority of these allegations should be 

dismissed because CDI has either (1) cited conduct that is expressly permitted by law, or (2) failed to 

present competent evidence in support of its purported facts.  

First, CDI cites conduct that is expressly permitted by law.  CDI contends, citing section 

10123.13, subdivision (a), that PacifiCare should not have closed or denied claims when it requested 

additional information, but rather, that PacifiCare should have “contested” the claims.  (CDI Br. 250.)  

But section 10123.13, subdivision (a) provides that when an insurer “contest[s]” a claim, “the 

claimant shall be notified, in writing, that the claim is contested or denied.”  (§ 10123.13, subd. (a), 

italics added; see also § 10123.147, subd. (a) [“an insurer may contest or deny a claim…by notifying 

the claimant, in writing, that the claim is contested or denied”].)  Therefore, the Insurance Code 

expressly permits the insurer to send an EOB that denies the claim, indicates the reasons for the 

denial pursuant to a remark code, and requests the additional information. 

Second, CDI fails to provide sufficient competent evidence for 45 of the 58 allegations: 

For 43 of the alleged violations, CDI improperly relies exclusively on Exhibit 127, a CDI-

generated list of randomly sampled claims files, which this Court has already held may not be 

admitted “for the proof of any matter.”  (Tr. 2833:3-7 [Astle, J.]; P.P.F. 680.)  When CDI sought to 

submit this list, CDI’s counsel represented that “[w]e're not asking [Your Honor] to make any 

findings based on it.”  (Tr. 2833:3-7 [Strumwasser]; P.P.F. 680.)  CDI’s list cannot form the basis for 

a factual finding by the Court, and therefore may not be relied on as evidence in support of an alleged 

violation. 

For 2 of the alleged violations, CDI’s sole proof of a violation consists of two closure letters 

issued by CDI to PacifiCare.  (CDI Br. 252:3-12, citing exhs. 40 and 41.)  These closure letters were 
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drafted by CDI’s own compliance officers and sent to PacifiCare when investigating an inquiry made 

by a member or provider.  The letters contain conclusory statements that PacifiCare committed one or 

more violations, but do not attach any documentary evidence of the underlying allegations.  (See 

Exhs. 40, 41.)  The closure letters also inform PacifiCare that “[n]o response to this letter is 

required.”  (Ibid.)  Thus, PacifiCare had no opportunity then – just as it has no opportunity now – to 

contest CDI’s findings.  (Ibid.) 

In any event, these closure letters are administrative hearsay that cannot form the basis for a 

factual finding without other competent evidence, which CDI failed to submit.  (See Gov. Code 

§ 11513, subd. (d).)  Accordingly, CDI has presented insufficient evidence to support these two 

allegations. 

3. Closing Or Denying Claims Subject To Receipt Of Further 
Information Is Not An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(1). 

CDI argues that every time PacifiCare closed or denied a claim when requesting additional 

information, PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h)(1) “because informing a claimant that a claim has 

been closed or denied, when it is in fact being contested, is a misrepresentation of a pertinent fact 

relating to coverage.”  (CDI Br. 250:21-24.) 

The fatal flaw in CDI’s argument is that PacifiCare did close or deny these claims.  (See Tr. 

8090:18-8091:11 [Berkel]; Tr. 2385:8-14, 2362:18-25 [Norket]; P.P.F. 675.)  Accordingly, 

PacifiCare did not misrepresent anything when PacifiCare informed the claimant that the claim was 

closed or denied.  (See Rest.2d Torts (1977), § 525, com. b [defining misrepresentation as an 

“assertion not in accordance with the truth”], italics added.)  Even CDI concedes that this was in fact 

PacifiCare’s practice.  (CDI Br. 254:3-4 [arguing that PacifiCare had a “practice of closing or 

denying claims”].) 

Instead, CDI apparently takes issue with PacifiCare’s underlying decision to close or deny 

these claims, and argues that PacifiCare should have instead “contested” these claims.  (CDI Br. 
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254:13-14.)  But CDI does not assert any basis for a violation of section 790.03(h)(1) based on the 

decision to close or deny, rather than contes, the claims.  Nor does CDI present any testimony or 

identify any regulations to support its assertion that PacifiCare should have contested these claims. 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”  CDI argues that PacifiCare’s policy of closing or denying claims when 

requesting additional information violates section 790(h)(3) because “[b]y closing or denying a claim 

that needs further investigation, PacifiCare unreasonably delayed the investigation and processing of 

the claim.”  (CDI Br. 250:28-251:2.)   

But, CDI does not cite any evidence to support this claim or otherwise explain why 

PacifiCare’s practice leads to an unreasonable delay.  If a claim cannot be processed because 

additional information is needed, it is hard to see why “closing” or “denying” the claim would lead to 

more delay than “contesting” the claim.  There is nothing PacifiCare can do in the interim until the 

claimant submits the necessary information.  And once the claimant submits the information, 

PacifiCare then reopens and processes the claim.  (Tr. 8092:12-17 [Berkel].)  Thus, no improper 

delay occurs merely due to the practice of temporarily closing or denying the claim.   

4. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory 
Constraints Requires That Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

Even if CDI had carried its burden to show a violation of section 790.03(h), any penalty 

would have to be minimal under the circumstances here.   

CDI did not present any evidence that PacifiCare’s practice of closing or denying claims 

when requesting additional information resulted in any actual harm.  Rather, CDI simply speculates 

that some members could have been harmed.  CDI argues that PacifiCare’s practice “may…cause 

claimants to be confused about the status of their claim.”  (CDI Br. 252:23-24, italics added.)  CDI 

alleges that the practice “may have resulted in claimants not submitting the requested information 
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because they believed that their claim had been denied.”  (Id. at 253:5-6, italics added.)  CDI 

concludes that “[t]his potential for confusion by claimants…represents serious harm.” (Id. at 252:27-

28, italics added.) 

But “potential” harm is not the same as actual harm.  And speculation over potential harm is 

not sufficient to satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, subdivisions (a)(10) and (a)(12) or due process.  

(See ante, Section IV.B.)  

Moreover, CDI’s postulation of claimant confusion is belied by the record.  Although CDI 

suggests that EOBs using the “px” and “iq” remark codes are potentially confusing (CDI Br. 253:1-

16), Mrs. W – the only claimant to testify on the issue – indicated no such confusion when asked 

what the remark codes meant, and responded that PacifiCare was “requesting to find out if we had 

secondary insurance or other secondary insurance in force at the time.”  (Tr. 1017:5-12 [Mrs. W]; 

Exh. 128, p. 5098; P.P.F. 686(b).) 

K. The Failure To Maintain Complete Claims Files.  (CDI Br. 272-277.) 

Approximately 0.00165% (15 acts) of the claimed 908,654 violations are attributable to 

PacifiCare’s alleged failure to maintain complete claims files. 

These claims fail for several reasons.  First, CDI did not assert 14 of the 15 acts until after the 

close of evidence, depriving PacifiCare of the opportunity to present evidence that it had properly 

maintained these files.  Second, CDI does not support several of its claims with sufficient, competent 

evidence, and instead relies on inadmissible closure letters that its own investigators drafted.  Finally, 

CDI argues that PacifiCare’s failure to maintain a complete claim file violates section 790.03(h)(2) 

only “if” it prevented PacifiCare “from acknowledging and acting reasonably promptly upon 

communications,” and violates section 790.03(h)(3) only “if” that failure affected the prompt 

investigation and processing of claims.  Thus, the alleged unfair practice under section 790(h)(3) are 

premised on hypotheticals which CDI has never proven.   
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1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to maintain complete claim files on 15 occasions.  (CDI Br. 

275; OSC, ¶¶ 18, 36, 57, 65, 149-154, 173.)  CDI argues that each failure constitutes an act in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(2) and (h)(3), and Regulation 2695.3, subdivisions (a) and (b).  (OSC, 

¶ 154.) 

Regulation 2695.3, subdivision (a) provides:  

“Every licensee’s claim files shall be subject to examination by the Commissioner 
or by his or her duly appointed designees. These files shall contain all documents, 
notes and work papers (including copies of all correspondence) which reasonably 
pertain to each claim in such detail that pertinent events and the dates of the events 
can be reconstructed and the licensee's actions pertaining to the claim can be 
determined.” 

Regulation 2695.3, subdivision (b) provides three additional requirements: 

“(b)  To assist in such examination all insurers shall: 

(1) maintain claim data that are accessible, legible and retrievable for examination 
so that an insurer shall be able to provide the claim number, line of coverage, date 
of loss and date of payment of the claim, date of acceptance, denial or date closed 
without payment. This data must be available for all open and closed files for the 
current year and the four preceding years. 

(2) record in the file the date the licensee received, date(s) the licensee processed 
and date the licensee transmitted or mailed every material and relevant document in 
the file; and 

(3) maintain hard copy files or maintain claim files that are accessible, legible and 
capable of duplication to hard copy; files shall be maintained for the current year 
and the preceding four years.” 

2. The Facts. 

a) These Allegations Were Not Made Until The Close Of 
Evidence And Thus Violate Due Process. 

With one exception,57 CDI did not even assert these allegations until it filed its Fourth 

Supplemental Accusation on October 25, 2011—after the close of evidence, and nearly four years 

after CDI filed the Order to Show Cause. 

                                                 

 57 The allegation with respect to Mrs. W’s claim file regarding the failure to maintain a copy of 
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Had CDI brought these claims before the close of evidence, PacifiCare would have had an 

opportunity to present evidence that it had properly maintained these files or explained how any such 

failures could not possibly constitute an unlawful practice, or offered further mitigating 

circumstances based on the facts.  Thus, consideration of these allegations denies PacifiCare fair 

notice and an opportunity to defend in violation of its due process rights. 

b) There Is A Failure Of Proof. 

What little evidence CDI does offer in support of these new allegations is insufficient to 

establish any violations for failure to maintain complete claim files.   

In support of six of the alleged violations, CDI relies solely on closure letters that its 

compliance officers sent to PacifiCare when closing an inquiry made by a member or provider.  (CDI 

Br. 273, citing Exhs. 180, 141, 38, 57, 79, 85; P.P.F. 690.)  These closure letters contain conclusory 

statements from CDI officials that PacifiCare committed one or more violations; they do not attach 

any documentary evidence to support the underlying allegations, nor do they provide the necessary 

details by which a reasonable trier of fact could assess the charged violation.  Further, while CDI 

notes that PacifiCare “did not respond to those letters to contest the violations,” CDI dissuaded 

PacifiCare from contesting its findings:  It asserted in each letter “[n]o response to this letter is 

required.”  (See, e.g., exhs. 38, 141, 180).  In any event, the closure letters are administrative hearsay 

that cannot form the basis for a factual finding without other competent evidence, which CDI failed 

to submit.  (Gov. Code § 11513, subd. (d); P.P.F. 691.)  Accordingly, there is an utter failure of proof 

with respect to these six alleged violations.  (P.P.F. 690, 691.)   

CDI relies on findings from the 2007 MCE Examination Report to argue that “PacifiCare 

admitted” in five instances that it failed to maintain all documents and in three instances that it failed 

to maintain claims files “that are accessible, legible, and capable of duplication to hard copy for five 

                                                                                                                                                             

the COCC was raised in the Second Supplemental Accusation.  (Second Suppl. Accusation, ¶¶ 12-
14.) 



 

302 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

years.”  (CDI Br. 273:24-28, citing exh. 1, p. 3537-3578; P.P.F. 692.)    But there is a lack of proof 

with respect to these claims:  Neither the report nor PacifiCare’s cited response provides sufficient 

information from which the Court may make a finding regarding the nature or extent of the missing 

documents or the nature as to PacifiCare’s practice in maintaining its claims files.  (P.P.F. 692, 693.)   

Finally, the evidence regarding the one remaining instance is weak and alone cannot 

constitute any type of an unfair claims settlement practice.  (P.P.F. 780, 781.)  It relates to 

PacifiCare’s denial of a claim on the ground that it had not received a certificate of creditable 

coverage (“COCC”), even though the claimant, Mrs. W, testified that the COCC had previously been 

submitted.  (P.P.F. 779.)  Accordingly, there is not enough evidence to constitute a practice under 

section 790.03(h). 

3. The Inadvertent Failure To Maintain Some Documents In A File 
Does Not Constitute A Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(2) Or (h)(3). 

Even if CDI had admissible evidence that PacifiCare failed to maintain complete claim files 

in 15 instances, CDI may not premise an unfair claims settlement practice on such a failure. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(2):  The Failure To Maintain A Complete 
File Does Not Constitute A Violation Of Section 
790.03(h)(2). 

As noted previously, section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of 

“[f]ailing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims 

arising under insurance policies.” 

But a failure to maintain a document in a claim file is not a failure to “acknowledge” or “act 

reasonably promptly upon communications” regarding claims within the meaning of section 

790.03(h)(2).   

CDI attempts to get around this fatal flaw by arguing that a failure to maintain a complete 

claim file violates section 790.03(h)(2) “if [it] prevent[s] the insurer from acknowledging and acting 

reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims.”  (CDI Br. 273, citing exh. 1184, 

p. 153:20-22, italics added.)  But CDI has offered no competent evidence that any failure to maintain 
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a complete claim file in the 15 cited instances resulted in any failure “to acknowledge and act 

reasonably promptly upon communications” regarding claims.  Accordingly, CDI has failed to prove 

a violation of section 790.03(h)(2) here.   

b) Section 790.03(h)(3):  Some Missing Documents Or Even A 
File Does Not Suggest A Failure To Adopt And Implement 
Reasonable Processing Standards. 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

CDI argues that a failure to maintain a complete claim file “violates section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(3), if that failure affects the prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  (CDI Br. 

273, citing exh. 1184, p. 153:17-20, italics added.)  Again, this is a big “if” and totally speculative in 

connection with the 15 cited instances.  CDI never proves the “if.” 

In any event, the omission of some materials from a claims file does not necessarily impact 

the investigation and processing of claims.  A fortiori, the omission of some materials from a claims 

file does not mean that there was a failure to adopt and implement reasonable standards for promptly 

investigating and processing claims.   

It also bears emphasis that Regulation 2695.3, subdivisions (a) and (b), upon which CDI 

relies, pertain to maintenance of data for purposes of CDI’s examination, not for purposes of the 

prompt processing of claims. 

c) The 15 Instances Do Not Constitute A General Business 
Practice Or Knowingly Committed Acts. 

Even if CDI could prove that missing documents from files in the 15 cited instances qualified 

as an unfair claims settlement practice, as explained earlier in Section VI, the statutory language, 

legislative history, and case law support the interpretation that an unfair claims settlement practice 

must be “[k]nowingly commit[ed]” and “a general business practice” in order to qualify as a violation 
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of section 790.03(h).  As shown below, CDI is unable to demonstrate both, or either, of these 

elements. 

(1) There were too few misplaced documents to 
constitute a general business practice. 

In view of the large number of PacifiCare claim files reviewed by CDI during the 2007 MCE, 

the small percentage of instances in which CDI charges PacifiCare with a failure to maintain 

complete claim files does not suggest that PacifiCare had a practice of failing to maintain complete 

claim files, let alone a “general business practice.”  (P.P.F. 693.)   

(2) The acts were not knowing. 

Additionally, even assuming arguendo that PacifiCare committed an unfair claims settlement 

practice by failing to maintain complete claims files, CDI cannot establish that PacifiCare knowingly 

omitted data from its claims files.   

As explained earlier, “knowingly” requires that the insurer act deliberately, which requires 

awareness of the conduct and its consequences.  “Constructive knowledge” is not sufficient to 

establish an unfair claims settlement practice. 

CDI argues that PacifiCare is “charged with knowledge of the documents it maintains in its 

own claim files” (CDI Br. 275, citing exh. 1184, p. 155) and that “[t]here is no evidence that 

PacifiCare had a reasonable basis to be unaware of the contents of its files.”  (Ibid.)  However, CDI 

has failed to meet its burden of showing that PacifiCare knowingly committed the purported practice 

of omitting documents from files.  Instead, it improperly seeks to shift the burden to PacifiCare by 

alleging that “[t]here is no evidence that PacifiCare had a reasonable basis to be unaware of the 

contents of its files.”  (CDI Br. 275.) 

In any event, PacifiCare could not have constructive knowledge of what was omitted.  There 

is no evidence to suggest that PacifiCare knowingly maintained incomplete files for a limited number 

of files. 
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4. The Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory 
Principles Requires Any Penalty To Be Minimal. 

a) The Acts Were Not Willful. 

CDI concedes that it is not treating the acts as willful.  (CDI Br. 275.) 

b) The Low Frequency Is Mitigating.   

CDI also concedes that the low frequency with which any alleged violations occurred is 

mitigating.  (CDI Br. 277.) 

c) PacifiCare Took Remedial Measures. 

CDI concedes that “[a]s to remedial measures taken, PacifiCare contended during the MCE, 

that it ‘conducted additional training in October 2007 to address the specific requirements for 

properly documenting a claim adjudication decision.’”  (CDI Br. 276, quoting exh. 1, p. 3538.)   

CDI also states that it will credit PacifiCare with having taken remedial actions (Reg. 

2695.12, subd. (a)(7)), and with having done so promptly after the company became aware of these 

acts (Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(13)).”  (CDI Br. 276:20-22.) 

Moreover, with respect to CDI's uncharged allegations regarding PacifiCare's failure to 

properly maintain demands for reimbursement for overpayments to providers, PacifiCare voluntarily 

relinquished its right to reimbursement for many overpayments, notwithstanding that it subsequently 

located timely demand letters, which entitled it to reimbursement.  This remediation resulted in a 

windfall to providers. 

d) Any Harm Is Minimal. 

Any harm that allegedly stems from PacifiCare’s failure to maintain complete claim files is 

sheer speculation.  CDI alleges that failing to maintain a complete file “may cause a claim to be 

incorrectly processed or to be paid untimely,” “may result in increased administrative burdens on 

claimants,” and “may also increase the burdens imposed on the regulator.”  (CDI Br. 276, italics 

added.)  There is no proof that any such harm occurred with respect to the 15 charged instances. 
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Further, with respect to CDI's uncharged allegations regarding PacifiCare’s maintenance of 

first-request letters to providers demanding reimbursements for overpayments made to them, 

PacifiCare was the primary party harmed because it voluntarily relinquished those amounts based on 

its initial failure to locate those timely demand letters for reimbursement. 

e) Mr. Cignarale’s Per-Unit Penalty Is Arbitrary And Violates 
Due Process. 

CDI’s assessment of a per-unit penalty is arbitrary and thus violates due process.  Mr. 

Cignarale claims that the starting point should be $500 for each non-willful violation based on an 

arbitrary starting point of 10%.  (CDI Br. 276.)  For all the reasons set forth in Section V, 

Mr. Cignarale’s approach, devoid of any consideration of, or comparison to, prior penalties or any 

methodology, is arbitrary.   

Mr. Cignarale’s approach is then exacerbated by his misapplication of the regulatory factors, 

given the lack of harm and PacifiCare’s remediation.   

CDI then reveals how arbitrary the approach is by reducing Mr. Cignarale’s arbitrary $500 by 

an arbitrary 15%, thereby recommending a per-unit penalty of $425, which in fact disavows Mr. 

Cignarale’s recommendation without explaining any principled basis for either the recommended or 

revised amount.  (CDI Br. 277.) 

In sum, even if an unfair claims settlement practice could be established, any penalty based on 

the failure to maintain a complete claim file in 15 instances must be minimal in light of the lack of 

harm, the low frequency, the remediation, and the lack of willfulness. 

L. The Alleged Failures To Pursue A Thorough Investigation.  (CDI Br. 300-
303.) 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to conduct and diligently pursue investigations of claims in 

52 instances.  (CDI Br. 303:4-5.)  CDI argues that each of the 52 instances constitutes a separate act 

in violation of section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(1), (h)(3), (h)(4) and (h)(5).  (CDI Br. 300-303.) 
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Significantly, CDI did not cite any of the 52 allegations in the 2007 MCE reports or its initial 

OSC.  (Tr. 23026:19-23028:18; Exh. 1, 116, 123; P.P.F. 699) 

CDI also argues that each instance constitutes a separate act in violation of Regulation 2695.7, 

subdivision (d).  (CDI Br. 300-303.)  Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d) provides:  “Every insurer 

shall conduct and diligently pursue a thorough, fair and objective investigation and shall not persist in 

seeking information not reasonably required for or material to the resolution of a claim dispute.” 

For a majority of these alleged violations, CDI offers no sufficient, competent evidence to 

support a finding, relying only on hearsay statements of its own investigators.   

Second, CDI cannot fit PacifiCare’s alleged failure to pursue a thorough investigation into 

any of the unfair claims settlement practices under section 790.03(h).  For instance, the alleged 

failure to conduct an investigation is certainly not a “[m]isrepresention…[of] pertinent facts or 

insurance policy provisions” under section 790.03(h)(1)):  The simple failure to investigate is not a 

“representation” – let alone a misrepresentation – of any fact.  And a mere 52 instances of allegedly 

failing to pursue a proper investigation does not mean that PacifiCare failed to adopt and implement 

reasonable standards for investigation and processing, as required by section 790.03(h)(3).  Finally, 

the failure to pursue a thorough investigation does not necessarily prove – without additional 

evidence (which CDI did not produce) – that PacifiCare failed to affirm or deny claims within a 

reasonable time, in violation of section 790.03(h)(4).  

2. CDI’s Allegations Lack An Evidentiary Basis. 

a) The Majority Of Allegations Rest On Incompetent 
Evidence. 

For 37 of the 52 alleged violations – the majority of the allegations – CDI does not introduce 

sufficient evidence for the Court to make any finding.  Specifically, CDI did not introduce testimony 

or underlying documents (such as the claimant’s communications or PacifiCare’s responses) to create 

a record as to the adequacy of PacifiCare’s investigation.  Rather, CDI relies solely on “closure 
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letters,” which its own compliance officers drafted and sent to the PacifiCare when investigating an 

inquiry made by a member or provider.  (CDI Br. 300:20-301:21.) 

Moreover, these closure letters merely contain conclusory statements that PacifiCare 

committed one or more violations, but do not attach any documentary evidence of the underlying 

allegations.  (See, e.g., exhs. 29, 65.)  The closure letters also inform PacifiCare that “[n]o response to 

this letter is required”; thus, PacifiCare had no reason to contemporaneously collect evidence or 

prepare a response, and has now been left years later without an effective opportunity to contest 

CDI’s findings.  (Ibid.)  PacifiCare formally objects to this evidence. 

The Court should find that the closure letters are administrative hearsay that cannot form the 

basis for a factual finding without other competent evidence, which CDI has failed to submit.  (See 

Gov. Code § 11513, subd. (d); Steen v. Bd. of Civil Service Com., supra, 26 Cal.2d 716, 726-27.  

Accordingly, CDI is left with insufficient evidence to support these 37 allegations.) 

b) CDI’s Remaining Allegations Arise From Two Claimants, 
Based On An Inadequate Evidentiary Foundation. 

For the remaining 15 alleged violations, CDI’s evidence consists entirely of testimony from 

two claimants, Mr. R and Mrs. W.  Two of these fifteen alleged violations arose from PacifiCare’s 

requests that Mr. R. submit claims which he alleges he had already submitted.  (CDI Br. 302:14-19; 

P.P.F. 791.)  But Mr. R did not provide any documentary evidence that he actually had submitted the 

claims multiple times, and admitted that when he subsequently sent the claims to PacifiCare, he was 

paid within the statutory time frame.  (Tr. 1762:9-1765:17 [Mr. R.]; P.P.F. 791(a).)  

Thirteen of the remaining violations are based on the testimony of Mrs. W.  But six of these 

violations concern PacifiCare’s practice of closing or denying claims when it was requesting 

additional information, and CDI has already sought penalties for these violations in the section of its 

brief addressing the practice of closing or denying claims.  (CDI Br. 301:23-26.)  Accordingly, the 

Court should exclude these six alleged violations here to avoid double counting.   



 

309 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

SN
R

 D
EN

TO
N

 U
S 

LL
P 

60
1 

SO
U

TH
  F

IG
U

ER
O

A
 S

TR
EE

T,
 S

U
IT

E 
25

00
 

LO
S 

A
N

G
EL

ES
, C

A
LI

FO
R

N
IA

 9
00

17
-5

70
4 

(2
13

) 6
23

-9
30

0 

That leaves seven alleged violations, all arising from Mrs. W’s assertion that PacifiCare 

requested medical information that she had previously submitted.  (CDI Br. 301:26-302:13.)  But 

CDI mischaracterizes the timeline and neglects to point out that Mrs. W contributed to the 

complications regarding her claim by her own delay and by unnecessarily submitting multiple copies 

of documents. 

For instance, on December 15, 2005, PacifiCare sent Mrs. W a letter requesting information 

concerning any other insurance coverage that her family had at the time.  (Exh. 128, p. 5094; P.P.F. 

682(c).)  But Mrs. W did not verbally respond to PacifiCare’s inquiry until January 3, 2006, and did 

not fax in written confirmation of secondary insurance until January 15, 2006.  (Tr. 1019:11-1020:6 

[Mrs. W.]; P.P.F. 682(c).)  One day later, on January 4, PacifiCare made another request for the 

information.  Given Mrs. W’s delay in responding to PacifiCare’s request three weeks earlier, there is 

nothing inappropriate about PacifiCare’s January 4 request indicating that the information was still 

outstanding. 

On January 12, 2006, PacifiCare requested that Mrs. W. submit a certificate of creditable 

coverage (“COCC”), which Mrs. W testified she faxed to PacifiCare on January 13, 2006.  (Tr. 

1020:1-6 [Mrs. W.]; P.P.F. 682(e).)  There is nothing inappropriate about PacifiCare’s January 12 

request for a COCC, as Mrs. W’s family were new PacifiCare members as of November 2005, and 

Mrs. W did not testify to having provided PacifiCare with such information upon enrollment.  On 

January 13, 2006, PacifiCare told Mrs. W that it would take 15 to 30 days to process her COCC into 

the system.  (Tr. 1026:17-19 [Mrs. W]; P.P.F. 682(e)).  Nevertheless, Mrs. W continued to fax 

PacifiCare copies of her COCC on January 20, 24, and 25, 2006, and admits the COCC issue was 

resolved by the end of January, as PacifiCare had initially represented to her.  (Tr. 1026:3-1027:20; 

[Mrs. W.]; P.P.F. 682(g).) 
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3. CDI’s Evidence Fails To Establish An Unfair Claims Settlement 
Practice. 

a) The Failure To Thoroughly Investigate A Claim Is Not A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(1). 

CDI states, without any explanation, that every time PacifiCare failed to thoroughly 

investigate a claim it violated section 790.03(h)(1).  (CDI Br. 300:16-17, 302:10-19.)  

Section 790.03(h)(1) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[m]isrepresenting to 

claimants pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”  Thus, 

there can be no violation without a misrepresentation of the “pertinent facts or insurance policy 

provisions.”   

However, the failure to thoroughly investigate a claim is not a misrepresentation of fact or of 

a policy provision by any stretch of section 790.03(h)’s text.  As discussed earlier in Section VI, by 

definition, a “misrepresentation” requires an assertion – some affirmative misstatement.  (See 1 

Witkin, Summary of California Law (2007) Contracts, § 287; Rest.2d Torts (1977) § 525, com. b.)   

Since CDI has not given PacifiCare fair notice why section 790.03(h)(1) applies to these 

allegations, PacifiCare is left to speculate that CDI will wait until its reply to argue that a request for 

a document that a claimant has already submitted constitutes a misrepresentation, because the request 

for the document “implies” that PacifiCare did not receive a copy (as opposed to its not having a 

record of the document).   

But as discussed at Section VI.C.1, a “misrepresentation by implication” does not constitute a 

misrepresentation.  Indeed, simply making a request for a document is not a representation of fact at 

all.  California courts have repeatedly rejected efforts to imply representations.  (See Yanase v. Auto. 

Club of So. Cal., supra, 212 Cal.App.3d 468, 473; Williams v. United States, supra, 458 U.S. 279, 

284.)  Instead, the courts look to the precise words communicated by the defendant and determine 

whether those words constitute an actual misrepresentation.  (See Shamsian v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 

supra, 107 Cal.App.4th 967, 983-994.)   
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Accordingly, even giving CDI’s argument its most generous reading, CDI has not established 

that the failure to thoroughly investigate a claim is a misrepresentation at all. 

b) The Failure To Thoroughly Investigate A Claim Is Not A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(3). 

CDI also claims, without explanation, that each time PacifiCare failed to thoroughly 

investigate a claim it violated section 790.03(h)(3).  (CDI Br. 300:8, 302:10-19.) 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”  Thus, section 790.03(h)(3) imposes an obligation to adopt and implement 

reasonable standards for investigation and processing.  By the statute’s plain language, if the insurer 

has adopted and implemented such standards, then there can be no violation of section 790.03(h)(3), 

even if CDI can point to specific claims that were not promptly investigated and processed.   

Here, CDI makes no attempt to argue that PacifiCare did not adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for investigation and processing.  Even crediting the insufficiently premised allegations, the 

mere fact that nine of the 15 allegations concern requests for documentation does not even evidence 

the failure to adopt reasonable standards for investigating and processing claims. 

In sum, CDI’s wholesale failure to argue or show that PacifiCare failed to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards requires dismissal of its section 790.03(h)(3) claim. 

c) The Failure To Thoroughly Investigate A Claim Is Not A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(4). 

Section 790.03(h)(4) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to affirm or 

deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after proof of loss requirements have been 

completed and submitted by the insured.”   

CDI argues that when an insurer fails to conduct a thorough investigation of a claim, it “may 

fail to affirm or deny claims within a reasonable time in violation of section 790.03, subdivision 
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(h)(4).”  (CDI Br. 300:17-18, italics added.)  Of course, by definition, CDI’s argument is hypothetical 

and divorced from any facts. 

CDI never argues – and certainly does not provide any evidentiary support for an argument – 

that PacifiCare actually failed to affirm or deny any of the claims at issue here within a reasonable 

time.  Thus, CDI cannot prove that PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h)(4) here. 

d) The Failure To Thoroughly Investigate A Claim Is Not A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(5).  

CDI also claims that every time PacifiCare failed to conduct a thorough investigation it 

violated section 790.03(h)(5).  (CDI Br. 300:4-9, 302:10-19.) 

Section 790.03(h)(5) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[n]ot attempting in 

good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has 

become reasonably clear.” 

It is clear that “good faith” is ultimately “[a] state of mind.”  (Black’s Law Dict. (Ninth ed. 

2009) p. 762.)  And CDI has the burden of proving that PacifiCare lacked that state of mind in order 

to prove a violation of section 790.03(h)(5).   

Yet, CDI offers no evidence or argument that PacifiCare did not act in good faith.  In fact, the 

record shows that PacifiCare acted in good faith in the two cases cited by CDI.  Once Mr. R. sent the 

claims to PacifiCare at its request, PacifiCare paid him within the statutory time frame.  (Tr. 1762:9-

1765:17 [Mr. R.]; P.P.F. 791(a).)  And on January 13, 2006, PacifiCare told Mrs. W that it would 

take 15 to 30 days to process her COCC into the system, or at the earliest, January 28, 2006.  (Tr. 

1026:17-19.)  Mrs. W admitted that the COCC issue was resolved by the end of January, as 

PacifiCare had initially represented to her.  (Tr. 1026:3-1027:20 [Mrs. W]; P.P.F. 682(g).) 

Accordingly, this claim, too, fails for lack of proof. 
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e) CDI May Not Impose Penalties For A Violation Of 
Regulation 2695.7(d). 

CDI suggests that a failure to thoroughly investigate a claim is a violation of Regulation 

2695.7, subdivision (d).  (CDI Br. 302:12-19.)   

Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d), which is one of the regulatory standards for “[p]rompt, 

[f]air, and [e]quitable [s]ettlements,” provides:  “Every insurer shall conduct and diligently pursue a 

thorough, fair and objective investigation and shall not persist in seeking information not reasonably 

required for or material to the resolution of a claim dispute.” 

Significantly, CDI may not seek penalties for violations of this regulation.  First, although this 

regulation sets standards for the settlement of claims, section 790.03(h)(5) requires additional 

findings in order to constitute an unfair claims settlement practice, namely, a failure to “attempt” in 

“good faith” to effectuate a prompt and fair settlement.  As noted in the previous section, CDI has 

failed to prove a failure to exercise good faith in attempting to settle claims. 

Second, the overall statutory scheme under Section 790 et seq. makes clear that if the conduct 

at issue is not specifically “defined in” section 790.03, CDI cannot seek monetary penalties in this 

proceeding, but must instead initiate a separate proceeding under section 790.06 to obtain an order 

declaring that the conduct at issue constitutes an unfair or deceptive act or practice.   (See, ante, 

Section VI.A.3.)  Leapfrogging this step, as CDI apparently attempts to do here, violates due process 

because it fails to give PacifiCare proper notice that a failure to conduct a thorough investigation, 

even if it has made a good faith attempt to settle the claim under section 790.03(h)(5), would subject 

it to penalties. 

Third, even if CDI’s allegations had proper evidentiary support – which they do not – CDI has 

not shown how PacifiCare failed to conduct a “thorough, fair and objective investigation” within the 

meaning of Regulation 2695.7, subdivision (d), simply because it requested a copy of a document 

that it might have already received.   
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Fourth, the regulation only prohibits an insurer only from “persist[ing] in seeking information 

not reasonably required for or material to the resolution of a claim dispute.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, 

§ 2695.7, subd. (d).)  PacifiCare’s request for information that is material to the resolution of the 

dispute does not violate that regulation simply because PacifiCare purportedly received but cannot 

locate that information.  CDI’s effort to twist the ordinary meaning of that regulation to also prohibit 

requests for relevant information, where that information cannot be found, fails to give fair notice of 

the conduct to be penalized and thus would violate due process. 

f) Even If CDI Could Establish An Unfair Claims Settlement 
Practice, It Cannot Establish That It Was Knowingly 
Committed Or A General Business Practice. 

Even if PacifiCare failed on a handful of occasions to conduct a thorough investigation of a 

claim, the practice must be “[k]nowingly commit[ed] or perform[ed] with such frequency as to 

indicate a general business practice” in order to constitute a violation of section 790.03(h).   

Here, CDI does not, and cannot, allege that these violations constitute a general business 

practice or even a practice, such that it is a claims settlement practice as required by section 

790.03(h).  During the period encompassed by these allegations (January 2006 to December 2007), 

PacifiCare processed approximately 2,689,832 claims.  (Exh. 549.)  CDI identifies only 52 instances 

where PacifiCare allegedly failed to conduct a thorough investigation, and 37 of them are based on 

inadmissible administrative hearsay, with the remaining 15 only involving Mr. R and Mrs. W.  CDI 

cannot possibly contend that 13 instances involving two claimants constitute a general business 

practice. 

4. Any Penalty Must Be Nominal. 

a) CDI Does Not Claim PacifiCare’s Acts Were Willful. 

CDI is not charging these violations as willful acts.  (CDI Br. 303:13-14.)  Thus, the 

maximum penalty per act is $5,000.   
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b) CDI Fails To Prove Harm. 

CDI claims that “the evidence in the record demonstrates that PacifiCare’s failures to conduct 

thorough investigations in this case resulted in serious harm to consumers, in particular, Mr. R and 

Mrs. W.”  (CDI Br. 303:28-304:2.) 

But CDI cites no evidence for this bold statement.  PacifiCare’s allegedly unnecessary 

requests to Mr. R were, made after medical care had been provided to him.  (P.P.F. 791(b).)  There is 

likewise no evidence that Mrs. W was denied any treatment because of PacifiCare’s requests for 

information.  Exhs. 5086, 5091; Tr. 1456:18-1457:14[Brunelle.] Tr. 1682:20-1684:25 [Mace-

Meador];  (P.P.F. 774.)  And to the extent that frustration with having to submit the same document 

multiple times constitutes harm, the degree of harm is very low. 

CDI cites Mr. Cignarale’s testimony for the proposition that these violations are “very 

serious.”  (CDI Br. 303.)  But Mr. Cignarale only hypothesized that in some cases, “failures to 

conduct and diligently pursue such investigations result in members and providers being denied 

payment altogether, which can also lead patients to be denied medical treatment, because they do not 

contest the insurers’ incorrect adjudications of the claims, or because they give up appealing the 

insurers' determinations on the claims.”  (Exh. 1184, 170:19-171:5.)  Indeed, CDI’s counsel admits 

that having Mr. Cignarale muse about the potential impact on members is entirely speculative and 

inappropriate.  (Tr. 23340:22-23341:13 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 308.) 

Further, CDI fails to tether this concern to any evidence regarding this claim.  This utter 

speculation over harm is not sufficient to satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, subdivision (a)(10), or 

due process.  Any penalty against PacifiCare would be minimal given the absence of harm and the 

fact that this claim only involves Mr. R and Mrs. W.   

M. The Failure To Transact Business In PacifiCare’s Name.  (CDI Br. 289-
293.) 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare mailed correspondence in 29 instances that did not bear 

PacifiCare’s full legal name in violation of section 790.03(h)(1).   
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This claim fails as a matter of evidence and a matter of law.  First, CDI does not introduce the 

underlying correspondence at issue into the record.  Instead, CDI’s evidence for these purported 

violations consists exclusively of a handful of noncompliance letters, which were drafted by CDI.  

Without introduction of the allegedly deficient correspondence, PacifiCare cannot properly respond 

to these allegations, and there is certainly no way the Court can form a factual finding to support 

CDI’s claim.   

In any event, correspondence lacking PacifiCare’s full legal name does not constitute 

misrepresentations in violation of section 790.03(h) because any purported misstatement of 

PacifiCare’s name is not a misrepresentation of “pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions 

relating to any coverages at issue.” 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claims. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare sent correspondence to a member in 29 instances without 

referring to itself as “PacifiCare Life and Health Insurance Company.”  (CDI Br. 289-291.)  CDI 

argues that each instance constitutes a violation of Insurance Code section 880, which provides 

“[e]xcept as provided in this article, every insurer shall conduct its business in this State in its own 

name,” and section 790.03, subdivision (h)(1).”  (Id. at p. 289.) 

2. CDI Offers No Competent Evidence That PacifiCare Failed To 
Conduct Business In Its Own Name, Requiring Dismissal. 

CDI does not introduce any sufficient, competent evidence that would permit the Court to 

make a finding as to these alleged violations.  Instead of introducing the actual correspondence 

alleged to be non-compliant, CDI relies solely on “closure letters,” which its own compliance officers 

drafted and sent to PacifiCare when investigating member or provider inquiries.  (CDI Br. 290-91.)  

These closure letters contain conclusory statements that PacifiCare committed one or more violations, 

but do not attach any documentary evidence to support the underlying allegations.  (See, e.g., exhs. 

38, 41, 133.)  Thus, these closure letters are inadmissible administrative hearsay that cannot form the 
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basis for any factual finding without other competent evidence (see Gov. Code, § 11513, subdivision 

(d)), which CDI has failed to submit.   Accordingly, CDI has no evidence to support its allegations.  

In fact, CDI’s allegations are contradicted by the evidence that is in the record.  As to three of 

the alleged violations, CDI asserted that PacifiCare’s EOBs failed to identify the correct licensee 

name.  (CDI Br. 290:17-24.)  However, all of the EOBs that CDI admitted into evidence in this 

proceeding list “PacifiCare® Life and Health Insurance Company” in two places on the first page, 

and CDI has not presented any EOB that states otherwise.  (See, e.g., exhs. 25, 26.) 

3. The Failure To Conduct Business In PacifiCare’s Name is Not A 
Violation of Section 790.03. 

a) The Alleged Violations Of Section 880 Cannot Form The 
Basis For Penalties Under Section 790.03(h)(1). 

CDI seeks penalties for PacifiCare’s alleged violation of section 880, which requires that 

“every insurer shall conduct its business…in its own name.”   

As demonstrated earlier at Section VI.A.3, a non-penal statute cannot serve as the basis for 

penalties under section 790.03(h). 

First, section 880 does not purport to define the meaning of any of the subdivisions of section 

790.03(h) (and CDI makes no argument that it does). 

Second, the imposition of penalties for the violation of a non-penal statute would violate the 

due process clause’s requirement that “a person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will 

subject him to punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty . . . .”  (Gore, supra, 517 U.S. at p. 

574.) 

Third, in the final MCE reports, CDI did not report these instances as a violation of Section 

790.03 (see exh. 1, at Exhibits 1 and 2], despite having a legal obligation to report any violations of 

section 790.03 in the final MCE report.  (Tr. 22837:3-10; 23008:1-10, 23016:1-23018:19; 24415:25-

24417:8 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 708.)  In addition, the original OSC did not plead the alleged violations 
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as violations of section 790.03.  (Exhs. 1123; see also Tr. 23026:19-23028:18 [Cignarale]; P.P.F. 

710.)  Thus, CDI did not even consider this purported failure to be a violation of Section 790.03(h). 

However, even if section 880 could serve as a basis for penalties under section 790.03(h), it is 

doubtful whether any of the instances cited by CDI violate section 880.  That section merely requires 

an insurance company to conduct business “in its own name” and does not specify how precise a 

company must be in describing its name.  For example, it does not explicitly require the company to 

use its full “legal name” in every written communication.  Many of the alleged violations here result 

from the defendant using the name “PacifiCare.”  (See exhs. 175, 198 [alleging violation because 

“the letters showed only ‘PacifiCare’ near the top of the page”].)  But CDI does not even advance an 

argument that “PacifiCare” is not the defendant’s “own name.” 

In analyzing an alleged violation of a similar statute, which requires contractors to do business 

“in the name of the licensee as set forth in the license,” the court of appeal held that use of the name 

“Handyman Connection,” and not “Handyman Connection of Sacramento, Inc.,” was a “mere 

technicality” and reversed the agency’s imposition of a $50 penalty.  (Handyman Connection of 

Sacramento, Inc. v. Sands (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 867, 887-888.)  The court explained that the 

shortened name 

was not a departure from but was rather an abbreviation of the contractor's full legal 
name.  It was as if a contract had said “Sears” rather than “Sears Roebuck and 
Company, Inc.”  A customer checking on Handyman’s legal status and qualifications 
would not have been misled by this information.  And there is no evidence that 
Handyman’s performance would have differed if its full business name had been 
printed on the [contract].   

(Id. at p. 888.)  Section 880 is even less specific than the statute at issue in that case, as section 880 

does not require use of the name “as set forth in the license.”  Accordingly, PacifiCare’s failure to 

reference its full name is not even a “mere technical[]” violation of section 880. 

Dennis
Text Box
Exhs. 1 & 123
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b) PacifiCare’s Failure To Use Its Full Legal Name Is Not A 
Misrepresentation Of A Fact Or Insurance Policy Provision 
Under Section 790.03(h)(1). 

CDI argues that every time PacifiCare mailed a correspondence that failed to state its full 

legal name, it violated section 790.03(h)(1), because “failing to properly identify the insurer’s legal 

name constitutes a misrepresentation of a pertinent fact.”  (CDI Br. 289:26-27.)   

The fatal flaw in CDI’s legal argument is that PacifiCare’s failure to state its full legal name is 

not a misrepresentation of “pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at 

issue,” as prohibited by section 790.03(h)(1).  PacifiCare’s use of an abbreviated name has absolutely 

no bearing on any member’s “coverages at issue.”  

Moreover, even if section 790.03(h) prohibited any kind of misrepresentation, CDI’s 

allegations fail.  In at least four of the 29 instances cited by CDI, PacifiCare allegedly “sent letters 

that showed only ‘PacifiCare’ as the underwriting carrier.”  (CDI Br. 290:4-7, 28, citing exhs. 175, 

198).  But a “misrepresentation” requires some affirmative false statement.  (See Rest.2d Torts (1977) 

§ 525, com. b.)  PacifiCare’s use of its shortened name does not constitute a misrepresentation, just as 

Sears Roebuck and Company, Inc.’s use of the name “Sears” is not a misrepresentation, because 

there is nothing “false” about these assertions. 

In at least three more of the 29 instances, CDI alleges that PacifiCare simply failed to inform 

claimants that PacifiCare Life and Health Insurance Company was the underwriting carrier.  (CDI Br. 

290:13-19).  But once again this does not constitute a false assertion “relating to any coverages at 

issue.”  Further, CDI cannot prove a misstatement simply by alleging that PacifiCare omitted to 

inform members of the full legal name of the underwriting carrier.  California law “require[s] positive 

assertions . . . and we see no reason to depart from these statutory requirements that something more 

than an omission is required to give rise to recovery on that theory, even against a fiduciary.”  

(Bryum v. Brand, supra, 219 Cal.App.3d 926, 941, italics added.) 
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CDI alleges that in two instances PacifiCare represented that the underwriting carrier was 

“PacifiCare Life Assurance Company” instead of PacifiCare Life and Health Insurance Company.”  

(CDI Br. 290:20-24.)  Even if sufficient evidence supported this allegation – which it does not – the 

error still does not concern “pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at 

issue.”   

Finally, CDI’s brief provides insufficient evidence on 21 of the 29 alleged violations, and 

simply cites its closure letters, which assert in conclusory fashion that in those instances PacifiCare 

violated section 880 “by not providing its full legal name.”  (CDI Br. 290:25-26.)  But without 

providing any specific admissible evidence concerning those 21 instances, it is impossible for 

PacifiCare or the Court to discern whether that correspondence could have possibly constituted a 

misrepresentation. 

c) CDI Has Also Not Proven A Knowingly Committed Practice 
Or General Business Practice. 

Even if PacifiCare’s failure to use it full legal name constitutes a misrepresentation of the 

coverages at issue, the “claims settlement practice” must be “[k]nowingly commit[ed] or perform[ed] 

with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice” in order to constitute a violation of 

section 790.03(h).  (§ 790.03(h).)  None of these elements has been proven here. 

First, CDI does not argue that these 29 instances constitute a “general business practice,” nor 

can it.  With hundreds of thousands of pieces of correspondence sent each year, to 119,648 PPO 

members in California (Exh. 5590; P.P.F. 2), 29 pieces of correspondence cannot constitute a general 

business practice, let alone even a practice.  Indeed, since there is no competent evidence to support 

all or most of these instances, no kind of practice has been established. 

Second, any “practice” was not knowingly committed.  “Knowingly committed” means that 

the litigant must “demonstrate that the insurer acted deliberately.”  (Royal Globe, supra, 23 Cal.3d at 

p. 891, italics added; see also, supra, at VI.B.2.)  CDI does not argue that PacifiCare knowingly 
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misrepresented any “pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue,” 

as prohibited by section 790.03(h)(1). 

4. Alternatively, No Penalty Can Be Imposed As A Matter Of Due 
Process. 

As noted earlier, due process requires that a person receive fair notice of the severity of the 

penalties resulting from the prohibited conduct.  CDI’s penalty assessment violates PacifiCare’s due 

process rights because PacifiCare did not have fair notice that penalties could be assessed for 

violations of section 880.  That section contains no penalty provision.  And section 790.03(h)(1)’s 

prohibition against misrepresentation gives no notice that a violation of section 880 is an unfair 

claims settlement practice.   

Accordingly, the imposition of any penalty based on PacifiCare’s purported failure to conduct 

business in its own name would violate PacifiCare’s due process right.  

5. Due Process And Statutory And Regulatory Principles Require 
Any Penalty To Be Minimal. 

Even if CDI could establish a violation of section 790.03(h)(1), any penalty would have to be 

nominal because of the lack of evidence regarding the requisite acts and the utter absence of evidence 

of harm.  CDI has presented no evidence that any member or provider was affected by PacifiCare’s 

purported failure to use its full legal name.  (P.P.F. 711.)  Instead, CDI alleges that “this type of 

violation may also result in member and provider confusion and may prevent a claimant from filing 

an appeal with the insurer or with the appropriate regulatory agency.”  (CDI Br. 291:11-14, italics 

added.)   

But such speculative harm is not sufficient to satisfy either Regulation 2695.12, subdivision 

(a)(10) or due process.  Any penalty, other than a nominal one, would violate due process because 

there was no harm, and even CDI is not claiming the acts were willful.  (CDI Br. 292).  (Cf. People v. 

Superior Court, supra, 9 Cal.3d 283, 287; Argonaut Ins. Co. v. Workmen’s Comp. Appeals Bd., 

supra, 15 Cal. App. 3d 436, 440; Goebel v. Lauderdale, supra, 214 Cal.App.3d 1502, 1507.) 
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N. The Alleged Failures To Train Claims Agents Regarding Fair Claims 
Settlement Practices.  (CDI Br. 282-286.) 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges 23 failures to train claims agents concerning the fair claims settlement 

regulations, in purported violation of section 790.03(h)(2) and Regulation 2695.6, subdivision (b).  

(CDI Br. 282-285; OSC, ¶¶ 123-125.)   

CDI’s Regulation 2695.6, subdivision (b) requires all licensees to “provide thorough and 

adequate training regarding the [Fair Claims Settlement Practice] regulations to all their claims 

agents.” 

According to CDI, an insurer’s failure to provide such training constitutes an act in violation 

of section 790.03(h)(2), which it claims “requires that insurers adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  (CDI Br. 282:22-23.)  In fact, 

although CDI repeatedly refers to section 790.03(h)(2), it must mean section 790.03(h)(3), which 

refers to standards for investigating and processing claims. 

However, CDI has failed to prove how many of the 23 agents were acting as PacifiCare 

“claims agents,” if any, and has failed to prove whether any of those individual agents failed to 

receive training.  In any event, a failure to train employees regarding unfair claims practice 

regulations does not mean the insurer has failed to adopt and implement reasonable standards for 

promptly investigating and processing claims, under section 790.03(h)(3).  Finally, even if a violation 

of section 790.03(h)(3) could be established, any penalty would have to be minimal in light of the 

fact that the violation was not willful, caused no actual harm, and was remediated. 

2. The Facts. 

The 23 alleged violations fall into two broad categories.  The first 14 purported violations 

relate to 14 employees in PacifiCare’s Appeals & Grievances Department.  As of May 2007, this 

department consisted of 11 Appeals Coordinators and three Appeals Nurses.  (CDI Br. 283.)  Before 

May 2007, these 14 individuals did not receive “department-wide” training on the regulations.  
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However, in response to CDI’s inquiry and request, in May 2007 PacifiCare provided such 

department-wide training to its appeals staff.  (Tr. 1545:17-1546:5 [Mace-Meador]; P.P.F. 714.) 

The second set of alleged violations involves nine overpayment recovery processors 

employed by third party J&R, to whom PacifiCare outsourced overpayment recovery functions.  

(CDI Br. 283.)  A J&R business manager testified in these proceedings that overpayment recovery 

processors may, at times, effectively function as an appeals unit of the insurer.  (Id. at 284, citing Tr. 

2924 [Cassady].)  Although that manager testified that the company is required to “follow all state 

and federal guidelines,” he was not personally familiar with California’s Fair Claims Settlement 

Practices Regulations and was unaware whether copies of the regulations themselves were available 

at J&R’s offices.  (Tr. 2926:17-2927:20 [Cassady].)  Mr. Bugiel (PacifiCare’s witness most 

knowledgeable about J&R) testified that while he did not know whether J&R’s employees received 

training on the regulations, PacifiCare’s regulatory and legal teams advised the compliance team on 

legal requirements, and in the event that training is required, “our vendors are trained just as the 

internal staff is.”  (Tr. 3732:23-3733:6 [Bugiel].) 

 

3. CDI Has Failed To Meet Its Burden Of Proof Regarding The 
Number Of Claims Agents And Regarding The Lack Of Training. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to train each of the nine J&R overpayment recovery 

processors and each of the 14 employees in PacifiCare’s Appeals and Grievances Department 

regarding the regulations.  (CDI Br. 284.) 

However, CDI cannot establish violations of Regulation 2395.6, subdivision (b) unless it 

proves that the 23 individuals at issue were “claims agents.”   

A “claims agent” is a “person employed or authorized by an insurer, to conduct an 

investigation of a claim on behalf of an insurer or a person who is licensed by the Commissioner to 

conduct investigations on behalf of an insurer.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (d).)  A 
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“claims agent” does not include “persons hired by an insurer solely to provide valuation as to the 

subject matter of a claim.”  (Ibid.) 

CDI has failed to present sufficient evidence about the functions and duties of each of the 14 

PacifiCare appeals processors or the 19 J&R agents in its appeals department.  To the contrary, CDI 

relies on little more than the bald assertion that each of these individuals “process[es] appeals” for 

members and therefore “qualifies as a claims agent under the Regulations.”  (CDI Br. 283.)  But there 

is no evidence that (1) processing appeals is necessarily the equivalent of “conduct[ing] an 

investigation of a claim” under Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (d), or that (2) each appeal 

coordinator or each J&R agent is a “claims agent.” 

“[I]nvestigation” is defined by the regulations to mean “all activities of an insurer or its claims 

agent related to the determination of coverage, liabilities, or nature and extent of loss or damage for 

which benefits are afforded by an insurance policy.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.2, subd. (k), 

italics added.)   

But, CDI has not shown that each of the 14 employees in PacifiCare’s Appeals and 

Grievances Department determine coverage or liability, as opposed to merely coordinating appeals 

and processing information.  Likewise, as for the J&R employees, the mere fact that there were 9 

claims agents in J&R’s appeals unit does not mean that they all determined coverage or liability or 

even performed appeals for PacifiCare.  In fact, J&R performed work for other insurance companies.  

(Tr. 2865:24-2866:2 [Cassady].)  There is no evidence that all nine worked on PacifiCare appeals. 

In short, CDI has failed to meet its burden to prove that the 23 individuals at issue (or some 

lower number) fall within the regulatory definition of “claims agent.” 

4. The Failure To Train About Regulations Does Not Establish A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Even if CDI could establish a violation of Regulation 2695.6, subdivision (b), based on 

PacifiCare’s alleged failure to provide formal training for 14 employees and 9 independent 

contractors, this would not constitute an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h)(3). 
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Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

PacifiCare’s purported failure to provide training regarding the unfair claims settlement 

regulations does not mean that PacifiCare has failed to adopt and implement reasonable standards for 

processing claims.  Indeed, CDI has not presented evidence concerning the content of the standards 

adopted by PacifiCare or whether they are unreasonable or even whether they fail to incorporate 

standards relevant to avoiding unfair claims settlement practices. 

And, certainly the fact that the 14 PacifiCare employees did not receive “department-wide” 

training on the regulations does not mean they were not trained at all. 

Moreover, the applicable regulation explicitly distinguishes between the duty to communicate 

“written standards for prompt investigation and processing of claims” (Regulation 2695.6, 

subdivision (a)) – which is relevant to implementation of the standards – and an insurer’s obligation 

to “provide thorough and adequate training regarding the regulations.”  (Regulation 2695.6, 

subdivision (b).)  In short, the plain language of the regulations distinguishes between the 

communication of processing standards (which may be relevant to their implementation) and training 

regarding the unfair claims settlement regulations themselves.  (Cf. Trevino, supra, 26 Cal. 4th at p. 

242 [“When the Legislature uses materially different language in statutory provisions addressing the 

same subject or related subjects, the normal inference is that the Legislature intended a difference in 

meaning.”].) 

Finally, the fact that the 14 PacifiCare employees did not receive department-wide training on 

the regulations does not mean that they did not receive training.  Accordingly, CDI cannot establish a 

violation of section 790.03(h)(3) here. 
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5. Any Penalty Would Also Violate Due Process Because PacifiCare 
Lacked Fair Notice That Failure To Train Claims Agents Would 
Subject It to Penalties Under Section 790.03(h). 

On its face, section 790.03(h)(3) does not impose a duty on insurers to train claims agents 

about the CDI’s regulations, but at most to train them regarding the insurer’s standards for 

investigating and processing claims. 

Thus, any penalty would violate due process because PacifiCare lacked fair notice that the 

failure to train a few claims agents about CDI’s regulations could possibly subject it to penalties 

under section 790.03(h)(3), let alone, the $75,900 in penalties sought by CDI.  (See State Farm, 

supra, 538 U.S. at p. 417.) 

6. Any Penalty Would Have To Be Minimal. 

a) PacifiCare’s Acts Are Not Charged As Willful. 

CDI concedes that it “is charging these acts as non-willful.”  (CDI Br. 285:5-6.) 

b) PacifiCare Took Remedial Measures. 

As noted, PacifiCare provided training to its appeals staff in May 2007.  (Tr. 1545:17-1546:5 

[Mace-Meador]; P.P.F. 714.)  Such “remedial measures” must be taken into account in assessing any 

penalty.  (Regulation 2695.12, subd. (a)(8).) 

c) There Is No Evidence Of Harm. 

CDI did not present any testimony as to any alleged impact, harm, or denial of medical care 

resulting from PacifiCare’s purported failure to train these 23 individuals about the Regulations.  CDI 

has also failed to demonstrate that PacifiCare’s appeals processors or J&R’s agents were ignorant of 

any specific regulation (or all of them), or that such ignorance had any adverse impact on the 

performance of their duties.  Indeed, CDI acknowledges the absence of any evidence “that the 

detriment to the public was severe.”  (CDI Br. 286:12.)  Under Regulation 2695.12, subdivision 

(a)(10), the lack of harm weighs in favor of minimal penalties for the supposed violations of section 

790.03. 
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Ironically, CDI asserts that “the harm caused by these violations was greater than that of a 

typical case,” and it seeks to increase the penalty on that basis.  (CDI Br. 285, italics added.)  But the 

only “harm” to which CDI refers is the possibility that a failure to train “may lead to errors in 

processing claims, which [may] result in additional violations of law and harm to members.”  (Exh. 

1184, p. 162:12-13, italics added.)  This is pure speculation. 

Again, CDI can point to no actual instances of claims-processing errors due to this alleged 

failure to train.  Accordingly, CDI cannot, consistent with due process or Regulation 2695.12, impose 

any penalties based on the solely speculative harm alleged here. (See State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at 

p. 422; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.12, subd. (a)(12.)) 

CDI also acknowledges that failing to train an appeals department—as opposed to those who 

process claims in the first instance—affects fewer claims and would “lead to fewer opportunities for 

errors” because “fewer claims get appealed.”  (CDI Br. 286.)  Yet, CDI considers this an aggravating 

factor.  However, the fewer the opportunities for errors, the less serious the consequences should be 

for a failure to train (even assuming some connection between training about regulations and claims-

processing accuracy, which is tenuous at best). 

In sum, CDI has failed to show how many of the 23 employees are claims agents for 

PacifiCare, failed to show any harm, does not claim willfulness, and cannot dispute remediation.  

Any penalty must be nominal. 

O. The Failure To Timely Respond to Provider Disputes.  (CDI Br. 240-250.) 

Approximately 0.17% (1,510 acts) of CDI’s 908,654 violations is attributable to CDI’s claim 

that PacifiCare violated sections 790.03(h)(2) and (h)(3) by failing to respond within 45 days to 

provider claims disputes.  These claims fail because, inter alia, section 10123.137 does not subject an 

insurer to any penalties for failing to respond to a provider dispute within 45 days.  Furthermore, an 

insurer does not fail to have reasonable standards for the prompt processing of claims under section 

790.03(h)(3) because a small percentage of provider disputes take more than 45 days to resolve. 
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1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to timely respond to 1,510 of the 16,563 provider disputes 

received during the MCE review period, including 14 of the 96 claims which CDI reviewed during 

the period.  (CDI Br. 246.)  With respect to these 1,510 claims, CDI claims that written 

determinations were issued more than 45 working days after their receipt by PacifiCare in violation 

of section 10123.137, which requires insurers to “resolve each provider dispute” and “issue a written 

determination within 45 days after the date of receipt of the provider dispute.”  Arguing that the 45-

day period established in section 10123.137 defines “promptness” as used in section 790.03, CDI 

alleges violations of subdivisions (h)(2) and (h)(3) of section 790.03.  (Id. at pp. 240-242.) 

2. The Facts. 

During the 2007 MCE period, PacifiCare responded to 15,143 of the 16,653 provider disputes 

it received (i.e., ~91%) in 45 days or less.  (Exh. 5046, p. 22.; P.P.F. 718.)  Although PacifiCare 

contends that 45 days is not the appropriate time period for determining timeliness under sections 

790.03(h)(2) and (h)(3), even if it were, PacifiCare’s response record establishes that PacifiCare had a 

general business practice of timely responding to provider dispute resolution (“PDR”) requests.  

Moreover, PacifiCare implemented and maintained an effective PDR process in compliance with 

section 10123.137.  (Exhs. 24, p. 4, 5046, pp. 20-23.)  According to CDI’s internal guidelines, 

providers must demonstrate that they have properly proceeded through an insurer’s formal PDR 

process before seeking CDI review.  (Exh. 5085; P.P.F. 721.)  During the MCE review period, 

PacifiCare received 16,653 PDR requests.  However, only 158 provider complaints – representing 

less than 1% of the PDR requests that PacifiCare received during the MCE period – ultimately 

reached CDI between May 2006 and December 2007 (a stretch of time exceeding the MCE period by 

six months).  (Exh. 5720; P.P.F. 723.)  Furthermore, CDI found only 28 of the 158 provider 

complaints it received – that is, less than one-fifth – to be meritorious.  (Exh. 5622, p. 39; P.P.F. 724.)  
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The evidence, therefore, overwhelmingly establishes that PacifiCare properly and effectively dealt 

with over 99% of the PDR requests that it received during the relevant time period. 

Finally, to the extent that there was any deficiency in PacifiCare’s PDR process, it 

implemented corrective action and improvements both before and after the 2007 MCE, including 

improved training of staff, improved correspondence routing procedures to ensure more timely 

delivery of PDR-related materials, and focused audits of PDR handling.  (Exh. 376; Tr. 7774:7-21, 

10235:11-17 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 726.) 

3. Section 10123.137 Is Irrelevant And Does Not Give Rise To An 
Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

Section 10123.137, subdivision (c) provides that “[t]he insurer shall resolve each provider 

dispute consistent with applicable law and issue a written determination within 45 working days after 

the date of receipt of the provider dispute.” 

CDI argues that this time period defines “reasonably promptly” in section 790.03(h)(2) with 

respect to acknowledging communications regarding claims and also defines “prompt[ness]” in 

section 790.03(h)(3) with respect to “adopt[ing] and implement[ing] reasonable standards for the 

prompt investigation and processing claims.”  (CDI Br. 240.) 

However, section 10123.137 does not purport to define “reasonably promptly” under section 

790.03(h)(2) or “prompt[ness]” under section 790.03(h)(3).  And, as explained earlier in Section VI, 

it is not appropriate as a matter of statutory construction for CDI to attempt to incorporate non-penal 

statutes, which are found in other chapters of the Insurance Code, into the unfair practices article.  

(See Wells Fargo Bank, supra, 53 Cal.3d at pp. 1086-1097.)  If the Legislature had intended to make 

a failure to meet the 45-working-day period subject to penalties, it would have directly authorized 

them in section 10123.137.  It did not.   

CDI must instead prove that PacifiCare violated section 790.03, subdivisions (h)(2) and 

(h)(3).  CDI has failed to do so, as set forth below. 
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4. The Failure To Respond Within 45 Working Days To A Relatively 
Small Percentage Of Provider Dispute Claims Cannot Constitute 
An Unfair Claims Settlement Practice. 

a) Section 790.03(h)(2). 

Section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to 

acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

Because the 45-working-day period under section 10123.137 does not even purport to define 

what is reasonably prompt under section 790.03(h)(2), the courts must determine whether the failure 

to respond to a particular percentage of provider disputes within 45 working days, as opposed to 47 

or 50 working days, was “reasonably prompt” under the circumstances. 

However, CDI has failed to introduce evidence as to the average time in responding to the 

1,510 provider disputes at issue.  It only reviewed 96 of them and determined that “PacifiCare had 

failed to issue a written determination within the statutory period in 14 instances.”  (CDI Br. 242.)  

Nor has it presented evidence as to the nature of the majority of those disputes such that it has shown 

that PacifiCare failed to respond to them “reasonably promptly.”   

Under CDI’s interpretation, even if PacifiCare has responded within 45 working days in 91% 

of the provider disputes (as it has) and within 46 working days in the other 9%, it would be liable for 

an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h)(2).  That cannot possibly be the law. 

Further, CDI is demanding a “written determination” of the provider dispute within 45 

working days of receipt of the provider dispute under section 790.03(h)(2).  (CDI Br. 242.)  Yet, 

section 790.03(h)(2) only requires that an insurer “act reasonably promptly upon communications 

with respect to claims.”  It does not require a final or written determination.  Thus, the entire premise 

of CDI’s claim does not suit the more limited requirements of section 790.03(h)(2). 

In addition, CDI has also failed to establish that the alleged prohibited conduct, if any, 

occurred with enough frequency to constitute a general business practice.  Assuming arguendo that 
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each of the 1,510 instances that CDI cites should be considered an untimely acknowledgement of 

communications regarding claims, PacifiCare acted reasonably promptly approximately 91% of the 

time. 

Finally, even CDI acknowledged that the failure to respond within 45 working days was not 

an unfair claims settlement practice in its final 2007 MCE reports, which found that the allegedly 

untimely PDR responses were something other than a violation of section 790.03.  (Exh. 116; Tr. 

22837:3-10; 23016:1-23019:9 [Cignarale]; Tr. 24416:9-24417:8 [Stead]; P.P.F. 728.) 

Accordingly, for all of these reasons, CDI has failed to carry its burden of proving a violation 

of section 790.02(h)(2). 

b) Section 790.03(h)(3). 

Section 790.03(h)(3) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

However, the failure to make a written determination of provider disputes within precisely 45 

working days in 9% of the instances does not mean that there was a failure to adopt or implement 

reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims. 

Indeed, the problems that CDI claims are the “root causes” of the alleged violations do not 

address standards at all.  CDI contends that “the company’s failure to timely process these provider 

disputes was primarily due to PacifiCare’s sloppy implementation and lax oversight of the document 

routing and storage functions outsourced to Lason.”  (CDI Br. 242.)  But CDI never bothers to 

identify PacifiCare’s standards for processing claims or how those standards are unreasonable.  The 

selection of a vendor that CDI does not like (Lason) and PacifiCare’s decision to work with Lason, 

do not evidence that PacifiCare had unreasonable claims processing standards. 

In any event, PacifiCare could not have knowingly failed to adopt and implement “reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims” because PacifiCare did, in fact, have 
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an effective PDR process in which provider disputes were investigated and properly processed over 

99% of the time.  (Exh. 5720; P.P.F. 723.)  Evidence of the failure to process a relatively small 

percentage of provider disputes within precisely 45 working days at a time of transition is irrelevant 

to show that PacifiCare did not adopt and implement “reasonable standards” for processing claims, 

particularly where there is no evidence of the extent of the delay in responding to that small 

percentage of provider disputes. 

Accordingly, CDI has failed to establish a violation of section 790.03(h) here. 

5. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires Any Penalty Be Minimal. 

The $6,644,000 penalty that Mr. Cignarale recommended is grossly disproportionate to the 

speculative and vague harm that CDI alleges.  It is also based on an impermissible interpretation of 

“willfulness” and fails to properly consider mitigating factors.  Any penalty must therefore be 

minimal. 

a) CDI’s Allegations Of Harm Are Speculative And Vague. 

CDI claims that “providers were forced to spend an inordinate amount of time pursuing 

review of wrongly denied or improperly adjudicated PLHIC claims, creating significant and 

unnecessary frustration.”  (CDI Br. 246.)  However, frustration over delay is a very minimal harm, if 

any. 

CDI also claims that “[m]any providers likely abandoned efforts to remedy claims violations 

rather than persist in seeking responses from PacifiCare.”  (CDI Br. 245.)  But this is entirely 

speculative, too. 

CDI also argues that “PacifiCare’s noncompliance improperly burdened CDI, thereby 

inflicting significant harm to the regulatory process.”  (CDI Br. 246.)  No evidence is cited for this 

assertion.  Since CDI is in the best position to present evidence of how it was “improperly burdened,” 

its failure to cite to any evidence demonstrates a lack of harm. 
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In fact, the providers did not suffer actual harm from the allegedly untimely PDR responses.  

In instances where PacifiCare’s initial claims decision was upheld, the providers were unaffected.  

Where PacifiCare’s initial decision was overturned, providers received interest on their claims dating 

back to the initial receipt of the claim.  (P.P.F. 725.)  As for the alleged burden on CDI, CDI received 

only 158 provider complaints, and only 28 justified complaints, between May 2006 and December 

2007, representing a tiny fraction of the over 16,000 PDR requests that PacifiCare received during the 

MCE period.  This incredibly small number of complaints directly controverts CDI’s claim that its 

resources were unduly burdened. 

The minimal harm entitles CDI to only a minimal penalty as a matter of due process. 

b) The Alleged Violations Were Not Willful. 

CDI argues that “the design and implementation of the document-routing system, the lack of 

oversight from PacifiCare management, and the serious delay in establishing quality control 

mechanisms . . . reflect a willful failure to adopt reasonable standards.”  (CDI Br. 248.) 

To the contrary, these purported problems are not standards, and it is the prohibited practice 

that must be willful.  The allegation that there were document routing problems shows that any 

violation could not have been willful.  As discussed earlier, the two-tiered statutory framework of 

section 790.035, subdivision (a), requires that a willful act be done with a specific intent to violate the 

law.  Finally, CDI’s own integration expert admitted that the integration issues could not be linked to 

any specific violations. 

CDI has not met its burden to show willfulness; thus, only a minimal penalty, if any, can be 

imposed.   

c) Mr. Cignarale Gave Excessive Weight To Supposed 
Aggravating Factors While Not According Weight To The 
Mitigating Factors. 

Mr. Cignarale recommended increasing the unit-penalty by 10% from $4,000 to $4,400 based 

on aggravating circumstances allegedly outweighing mitigating circumstances.  (CDI Br. 250.)   
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To begin with, the $4,000 penalty is erroneously based on willful conduct.  Compounding this 

error, Mr. Cignarale placed excessive weight on supposedly aggravating circumstances.  For 

example, he placed significant weight on the “large number” and “high frequency” of alleged non-

complying acts.  However, PacifiCare timely responded to provider disputes at least 91% of the time.  

Further, PacifiCare effectively dealt with 99% of the PDR requests.  Any non-compliance with the 

reasonableness standards under section 790.03(h) cannot objectively be considered a “high 

frequency.”  Cignarale also considered provider frustration and the purported increased burden on 

CDI to be aggravating, but this was entirely speculative and on the lowest end of the spectrum of 

harm. 

On the other hand, Cignarale placed little weight on such factors as the complexity of the 

claims, and failed to fully consider the remedial measures that PacifiCare did take, focusing instead 

on his determination that PacifiCare did not implement every single remedial measure recommended.  

(CDI Br. 249.)   

CDI’s effort to multiply the arbitrary figure of $4,400 by 1,510 is itself arbitrary, and the 

resulting penalty of $6,644,000 is grossly disproportionate based upon the lack of any harm, the lack 

of willfulness and the remedial measures. 

P. The Failure To Timely Respond to CDI Inquiries.  (CDI Br. pp. 277-282.)     

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to respond fully and promptly to 29 inquiries that it sent for 

the purpose of investigating member or provider complaints from 2007 to 2009.  (CDI Br. 278–279, 

281.)  With respect to these 29 inquiries, CDI claims that PacifiCare did not provide a complete 

written response within the 21-calendar-day period following their receipt in violation of section 

790.03(h)(2).  Section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of failing to 

“acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims.”   
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CDI also contends that Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a) should be used to define the term 

“reasonably promptly” in section 790.03(h)(2) as within 21 calendar days of receipt of an inquiry 

from CDI.  Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a) provides, in relevant part, that an insurer must, upon 

receipt of any written or oral inquiry from CDI “immediately, but in no event more than twenty-one 

(21) calendar days of receipt of that inquiry” provide a “complete written response based on the facts 

as then known by the licensee.” 

CDI cites seven specific instances in which PacifiCare either did not respond within the 21-

day period or did not respond in a matter it deemed to be complete.  The 22 remaining allegedly 

untimely responses are merely referenced without detail.  (CDI Br. 278–79.) 

Accordingly, CDI fails to support its allegations with proper evidence.  First, CDI only 

presented evidence of when inquiries to PacifiCare were sent – not when they were received by 

PacifiCare, and without evidence of the date of receipt CDI cannot establish that any of the 29 

responses were untimely under its 21-day rule.  Second, CDI only offers hearsay statements from its 

own investigators to support its claim that PacifiCare’s responses to inquiries were incomplete.  

Without the support of competent evidence, CDI’s allegations cannot stand.   

2. The Facts. 

During the relevant time period from 2007 to 2009, PacifiCare received 845 inquiries from 

CDI.  (Exh. 5720.)  PacifiCare provided a reasonably prompt, complete written response to at least 

816 of these inquiries.  That is, at least 96% of the time, PacifiCare was fully in compliance with its 

statutory requirements to timely respond to CDI inquiries.  It was PacifiCare’s general business 

practice to respond completely and promptly to CDI inquiries.   

Although PacifiCare contests CDI’s argument that 21 days is the appropriate measure of 

promptness under section 790.03(h)(2), if it is the correct standard, the 21 days must be measured 

from the date the CDI inquiry was received.  Given that CDI has only presented evidence of when its 

inquiries were sent – not when they were received – CDI has no basis for accurately calculating 
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PacifiCare’s actual response time.  Without evidence of the date of receipt, CDI cannot establish that 

any of the 29 responses were untimely under its 21-day rule.  In fact, PacifiCare presented 

uncontroverted evidence that it never received two of the inquiries CDI cites.  (Exhs. 133, 190; P.P.F. 

734.) 

CDI also has not provided sufficient evidence that PacifiCare’s responses to its inquiries were 

incomplete.  CDI has offered only its inquiry closure letters, which make conclusory statements 

regarding alleged violations.  There is no documentary evidence of the underlying allegations that a 

trier of fact could use to assess the validity of CDI’s claim that PacifiCare’s responses were 

incomplete.  (See, e.g., exhs. 38, 41, 133; P.P.F. 690.) 

The closure letters, by themselves, are administrative hearsay, which may not be used as 

conclusive proof that a violation occurred.  (Gov. Code, § 11513, subd. (d) [“Hearsay evidence may 

be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining other evidence but over timely objection shall 

not be sufficient in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil 

actions.”]; Steen v. Bd. of Civil Service Com., supra, 26 Cal.2d 716, 726–727 [“The general rule is 

that in the absence of a special statute an administrative agency cannot over objection make findings 

of fact supported solely by hearsay evidence”].) 

3. CDI Has Failed To Carry Its Burden Of Proof That PacifiCare 
Violated Section 790.03(h)(2). 

Section 790.03(h)(2) prohibits the unfair claims settlement practice of “[f]ailing to 

acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with respect to claims arising under 

insurance policies.” 

Even if the 21-day period under Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a), defines “reasonably 

promptly” under section 790.03(h)(2), CDI has failed to establish that PacifiCare failed to provide a 

complete written response within 21 calendar days of receipt of CDI’s inquiry on enough of the 29 

occasions to constitute a practice, let alone, a general business practice. 
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a) CDI Cannot Establish That PacifiCare Failed To Respond 
Within 21 Days Of Receipt Of An Inquiry. 

First, CDI has not provided evidence of the date upon which PacifiCare received each of the 

29 inquiries.  Without this information, it is not possible to determine whether PacifiCare responded 

within 21 days.  CDI cannot use the date that its inquiry was sent as the basis for calculating the 

response time, given that the regulation provides that the period begins to run from date of receipt of 

the inquiry.   

Similarly, CDI cannot rely on conclusory statements in its closure letters to prove that 

PacifiCare’s responses were incomplete because those letters are inadmissible administrative hearsay.  

CDI must provide corroborating evidence that a trier of fact can use to determine completeness, but 

CDI has failed to do so. 

b) The Alleged Conduct Did Not Occur With The Requisite 
Frequency To Constitute A Practice, Let Along A General 
Business Practice. 

Because CDI cannot prove that PacifiCare failed to respond within 21 days as to all of the 29 

instances, it cannot show the number of instances in which PacifiCare failed to respond within 21 

days of receipt of the inquiry.  Thus, even though section 790.03(h)(2) only prohibits the “practice” 

of failing to act reasonably promptly upon communications, CDI cannot show that there were 

sufficient instances to constitute a “practice.” 

And even if CDI could establish 29 instances, those are not enough to constitute a general 

business practice of failing to acknowledge CDI’s inquiries in a prompt manner.  During the relevant 

time period, PacifiCare responded promptly to 96% of CDI’s inquiries, i.e., 816 out of 845 inquiries.  

If the 29 responses CDI cites were untimely, such a small percentage of untimely responses cannot be 

used to infer a general business practice (or a practice). 
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4. Application Of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires A Penalty, If Any, To Be Extremely Minimal. 

Mr. Cignarale recommended a penalty of $450 per violation, which CDI argues should be 

applied to each of the 29 alleged instances of prohibited conduct, for a total penalty of $13,050.  CDI 

has not charged PacifiCare with willfully violating section 790.03(h)(2), and Mr. Cignarale 

recommended lowering the maximum unit-penalty by 10% due to mitigating factors.   

Nevertheless, CDI has not presented evidence justifying the imposition of any penalty against 

PacifiCare.  First, CDI has not alleged any specific harm.  Mr. Cignarale merely speculates that 

members and providers might have been harmed by delays in regulatory review related to 

PacifiCare’s alleged untimely responses.  (CDI Br. 282.)  And although CDI cites “burdens” on the 

Department, Mr. Cignarale even admitted that there was no evidence of severe detriment to the public 

and further credited PacifiCare for having a corrective action plan.  (CDI Br. 282.)  Moreover, if there 

was any burden on CDI, it would be in the best position to present evidence of that burden, and it has 

not.  The absence of any harm from the 29 instances militates against any penalty. 

Second, Mr. Cignarale gave undue weight to the alleged “high frequency” of PacifiCare’s 

untimely responses.  (CDI Br. 282.)  Although CDI has failed to establish that any of the 29 cited 

responses were untimely, even if they were, it is a blatant mischaracterization to find a 4% untimely 

response rate to be “high frequency.”   

In fact, other insurers had greater rates of non-compliance without facing such harsh criticism.  

For example, when Blue Shield was charged with a failure to timely respond in 175 instances out of 

286 files reviewed, no monetary penalty was imposed.  (Exh. 5418, pp. 11-15; Tr. 25794:8-24; 

25837:12-16 [Stead]; P.P.F. 740.) 

Third, given CDI’s position that PacifiCare’s purported failures “were caused by a sharp 

increase in regulatory complaints . . . as well as PacifiCare’s failure to appropriately staff its 

operations” (CDI Br. 279), the failures were clearly inadvertent.  As noted before, under section 
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790.035, subdivision (a), the inadvertent failure to act in servicing a policy requires that all such acts 

be treated as a single act for purposes of assessing a penalty. 

In light of the admitted lack of willfulness, PacifiCare’s inadvertence in purportedly failing to 

respond in 21 days to 29 inquiries, the lack of any harm associated with them, the remedial measures 

taken, and the low frequency of only 4% in untimely responses (if they were untimely), any penalty 

should not exceed $100. 

Q. The Failure To Timely Respond To Claimants.  (CDI Br., pp. 293-296.) 

CDI contends that PacifiCare violated section 790.03(h)(2) by failing to respond to seven 

claimant communications within 15 calendar days of their receipt and by failing to provide 

“complete” responses to two formal member appeals.  CDI has not furnished sufficient evidence 

showing that in each cited instance, PacifiCare failed to respond reasonably promptly or in an 

incomplete manner.  Nor does the failure to respond to seven claimants constitute a practice such that 

it could be covered under section 790.03(h). 

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI alleges that PacifiCare failed to timely and/or completely respond to seven 

communications from claimants regarding their claims and to two formal member appeals in 

violation of section 790.03(h)(2).  (CDI Br. 293–294.)  The allegations of seven untimely responses 

to claimant communications arose from the MCE review, while one of the two allegations of 

incomplete responses to a formal member appeal arises from a December 2008 audit.  (Id. at p. 294.) 

CDI argues that the definition of “reasonably promptly,” as used in section 790.03(h)(2), can 

be found in Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b).  (CDI Br. 293.)  Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) 

requires an insurer to reply to “communication[s] from a claimant” “within fifteen (15) calendar days 

after receipt of that communication” and to “furnish the claimant with a complete response based on 

the facts as then known” by the insurer. 
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CDI contends that failing to respond promptly to claimant communications delays claim 

processing and payment, resulting in significant frustration, as well as “pain and suffering.”  (CDI Br. 

294–295.) 

2. The Facts. 

PacifiCare had a general business practice of responding reasonably promptly to 

communications from claimants. (P.P.F. 748.)  Given the large number of claim files that CDI 

reviewed during the 2007 MCE, the very small number of instances (nine) that CDI claims to have 

found where PacifiCare did not promptly respond is illustrative of PacifiCare’s general business 

practice.  And with respect to these nine instances, CDI has failed to offer sufficient evidence that 

PacifiCare’s responses were, in fact, untimely.   

First, CDI has not provided the dates on which PacifiCare received the cited claimant 

communications or member appeals.  Without evidence as to when the communications and appeals 

were received, it is not possible to determine whether PacifiCare’s responses were timely.  The date 

placed on the communication by the claimant can, at best, establish only when the communication 

was written, not when it was received, save perhaps in the case of email and facsimile 

communications.   

Second, CDI relies solely on closure letters sent by its compliance officers, without any 

supporting documentary evidence, as the basis for claiming that PacifiCare did not respond promptly.  

Such closure letters contain only conclusory statements with respect to alleged violations, omitting 

details necessary for a trier of fact to determine whether a response was in fact untimely or 

incomplete.  The letters also do not provide a mechanism for PacifiCare to dispute their contents, as 

they state that PacifiCare need not respond.  (See, e.g., Exhs. 40, 41; P.P.F. 684.)  Regardless, the 

closure letters are administrative hearsay and cannot form the basis for a factual finding absent 

competent, corroborating evidence.  (Gov. Code, § 11513, subd. (d); P.P.F. 688.) 
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Moreover, an examination of CDI’s closure letters reveals that all seven of the allegedly 

untimely responses to claimant communications were not, in fact, claimant communications at all.  

They were inquiries from providers, who are not “claimants” under CDI’s own internal guidelines or 

the Regulations.  (Reg. 2695.5; Exh. 1197; Tr. 26131:16–23132:3, 25313:12–25314:17, 25315:19–

25316:25 [Stead]; P.P.F. 744.)  Thus, these seven instances cannot give rise to an allegation of an 

untimely response to a claimant. 

With respect to the two formal member appeals, the evidence shows that both appeals arose in 

December 2008 and thus fall outside of the 2007 MCE period.  (Exh. 235; P.P.F. 745(a).)  The 

evidence on which CDI relies consists of a vague, one-page email dated December 19, 2008 and a 

short excerpt of testimony from a PacifiCare witness, who merely agreed that the email contained the 

information written therein without providing any further detail regarding the appeal.  (Exh. 235; Tr. 

1653:5–12 [Mace-Meador]; P.P.F. 745(a).)  CDI thus cannot predicate any violations of section 

790.03(h)(2) on these two member appeals.  

Finally, CDI has not shown that a formal member appeal is a “communication” from a 

claimant to which the 15-day response period in Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) could apply.  In 

fact, PacifiCare has always maintained a policy of responding to formal member appeals within 30 

days.  This policy is prominently stated on PacifiCare’s EOBs, and CDI has never before suggested 

that this practice is problematic.  (Tr. 1555:17–1556:4 [Mace-Meador]; Exh. 140, p. 9740; P.P.F. 

746.) 

3. Regulation 2695.5(b) Is Irrelevant. 

Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b), provides, in relevant part, that when an insurer receives a 

communication from a claimant regarding a claim that “reasonably suggests a response is expected,” 

the insurer shall “immediately, but in no event more than fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of 

that communication, furnish the claimant with a complete response based on the facts as then known” 

by the insurer.  CDI argues that in any case where PacifiCare either fails to respond within 15 
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calendar days or fails to provide a complete response to a claimant communication, PacifiCare has 

violated section 790.03(h)(2). 

But as set forth above, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) does not apply to provider claims.  

Because the seven instances cited by CDI in which PacifiCare allegedly did not timely respond to 

claimant communications actually involved provider inquiries, Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (b) is 

inapplicable.  There is also no reason to believe that the regulation applies to formal member appeals.  

As such, PacifiCare was under no obligation to completely respond to any of the nine cited 

communications within the 15-day period.   

4. CDI Cannot Establish A Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(2). 

a) CDI Has Not Presented Sufficient Evidence To Establish 
That PacifiCare Failed To Respond Reasonably Promptly. 

Even assuming (i) that PacifiCare was required to respond to claimant communications within 

15 calendar days under section 790.03(h)(2) and (ii) that providers are claimants, with the exception 

of one facsimile, CDI does not provide the dates on which the communications at issue were 

received, if ever, by PacifiCare.  Without this information, it cannot be determined whether 

PacifiCare’s response was timely.   

Moreover, as noted earlier, CDI relies solely on closure letters sent by compliance officers, 

without any documentary evidence to support the claim that PacifiCare failed to timely respond.  

Such closure letters are inadmissible administrative hearsay and cannot form the basis for a finding, 

absent competent corroborating evidence.  (Gov. Code, § 11513, subd. (d); P.P.F. 410.) 

Further, with respect to three of the communications cited, CDI provides absolutely no detail, 

not even the nature of the communications.  (CDI Br. 294.) 

With respect to the two member appeals, CDI alleges that PacifiCare’s responses were 

incomplete, not that they were untimely.  CDI cites testimony from an Appeals & Grievances 

Department manager that PacifiCare’s responses were “way off in addressing all the issues.”  (CDI 

Br. 294.)  CDI, however, does not provide PacifiCare’s actual responses or the appeals.  It is not 
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possible, and would be improper, to assess the completeness of a response without examining the 

contents of both documents.  CDI’s conclusory assertions cannot be accepted at face value, and 

CDI’s claims with respect to the two member appeals thus fail. 

b) The Alleged Conduct Was Not Frequent Enough To Be A 
Practice Or a General Business Practice. 

PacifiCare had a general business practice of responding in a timely manner to claimant 

communications.  In fact, during the MCE period, out of the great mass of files that CDI reviewed, 

CDI was able to identify only seven instances where PacifiCare allegedly did not respond reasonably 

promptly or completely to claimant communications.  The other two instances which CDI cited fell 

outside of the MCE period.  And as stated above, seven of the communications were in fact received 

from providers, not claimants, as CDI itself defines them.   

Clearly, the purported failure to respond to two claimants within 15 days cannot constitute a 

practice or a general business practice.  Since section 790.03(h) only prohibits an “unfair claims 

settlement practice” and only where knowingly committed or performed with such frequency to 

constitute a general business practice, CDI cannot establish a prohibited practice. 

c) PacifiCare’s Alleged Violation Of Section 790.03(h)(2) Was 
Not Knowing. 

CDI has also failed to establish that any failure to timely respond to two (or even nine) 

claimants was knowing. 

CDI claims that PacifiCare acted knowingly because it had at least constructive knowledge of 

the date each communication was received and the date it sent a complete response.  (CDI Br. 295.)  

However, as explained above at Section VI.B.2, “knowingly committed” means that the insurer must 

act deliberately.  Constructive knowledge is not sufficient.  Further, knowledge of a response time, or 

knowledge of untimely responses on a few occasions, is not equivalent to knowingly committing a 

prohibited practice of failing to act reasonably promptly upon communications.  
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5. Application of Due Process, Statutory, And Regulatory Principles 
Requires A Penalty, If Any, To Be Minimal. 

Mr. Cignarale recommended a $1,000 per-unit penalty for failing to respond to claimants, 

even though he concedes the purported violations were not willful and found this category of 

violation to be less serious than the average violation.  (CDI Br. 295.)  CDI proposes multiplying the 

$1,000 penalty by each of the nine alleged instances of prohibited conduct, for an “aggregate” penalty 

of $9,000.  (CDI Br. 296.)  Such a harsh penalty for the conduct alleged does not square with due 

process. 

Even if CDI had established a “practice” of failing to respond promptly to nine claimants, 

CDI has not shown sufficient harm to justify this excessive penalty under the circumstances.  CDI 

contends that delays in responding to claimants harm members and providers, causing frustration.  

(CDI Br. 294.)  CDI, however, advances the testimony of one clearly atypical claimant, who had 

supposedly experienced an irregular heartbeat, in support of its contention that delays by insurers 

cause pain and suffering.  (Id. at pp. 294–295.)  Barring the extreme sensitivity of this one individual, 

CDI has not demonstrated harm, and no member or claimant was denied medical care as a result of 

responses that purportedly took more than 15 days. 

Finally, CDI’s own Regulation 2695.2, subdivision (v), provides that a single act for purposes 

of determining the penalty is the violation itself, which is the prohibited practice here.  Since the 

practice is the punishable event, and not each individual act, only a single penalty based on a single 

practice is warranted. 

R. The Alleged Failure To Implement A Policy Regarding Recording The 
Date Of Receipt Of Claims.  (CDI Br., pp. 296–99.)  

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI asserts two violations based on PacifiCare’s alleged failure to implement a policy 

regarding recording the date of receipt of claims.  (CDI Br. 296-300.)  CDI relies on Regulation 

2695.3, subdivision (b), which requires insurers to “record in the file the date the licensee received 
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. . . every material and relevant document in the file,” and Regulation 2695.3, subdivision (a), which 

requires insurers to maintain in claims files “all documents, notes and work papers . . . which 

reasonably pertain to each claim in such detail that pertinent events and the dates of the events can be 

reconstructed.”  (Italics added.) 

According to CDI, “each instance in which an examiner fails to record the proper date of 

receipt of a claim” also violates section 790.03(h)(3), which prohibits “[f]ailing to adopt and 

implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims arising under 

insurance policies.”  (CDI Br. 296.) 

However, PacifiCare proffered overwhelming evidence of its policy to record the “received” 

date of all claims.  Even assuming arguendo that CDI had demonstrated PacifiCare’s failure to record 

the “received” date on two claims in a single appeal, this would not amount to an unfair claims 

settlement practice under section 790.03(h)(3).  One cannot seriously contend that two instances is 

enough frequency as to constitute a general business practice. 

2. The Facts. 

At all times relevant to this proceeding, PacifiCare had (and continues to have) a general 

business practice of accurately recording the receipt date of claims.  Specifically, PacifiCare employs 

processes and procedures to date-stamp all paper and electronically submitted claims in order “to 

define the appropriate received date to be used in Qiclink in order to ensure compliance with 

regulatory requirements such as turnaround time (TAT), interest payments and penalties.”  (Exh. 117, 

p. 3 [Att. 29, “QicLink Interest Payment Guidelines”, “Policy No. CL-02-0027.03”]; Murray Tr. 

3600:10-20, 3601:25-3602:8, 13776:8-13777:14 [Murray]; Tr. 7407:11-7407:13, 7689:25-7690:9 

[Berkel]; Tr. 2366:2-17 [Norket]; Tr. 7193:21-7195:1 [Sing]; Exhs. 896, 5136, pp. 9899-9900, 5244; 

P.P.F. 750.) 

For example, Exhibit 5244 is an example of a printout of the “Claim Header Inquiry Screen” 

in RIMS, which includes “1.  Date claim was received.”   
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Mr. Sing testified that “the date the claim was received by the company or got into the 

computer system” is “part of the training that [PacifiCare’s] customer care professionals receive.”  

(Tr. 7193:21-7195:1 [Sing].)  Similarly, Ms. Norket testified that “[w]hen a new claim comes into the 

company, the received -- the original received date that’s on that claim of when we received it, that’s 

what’s used in the system.”  (Tr. 2366:2-17 [Norket], italics added; see also Tr. 7689:20-7690:9 

[Berkel]; Tr. 3600:10-20; 3601:25-3602:8; 13776:8-13777:14 [Murray]; P.P.F. 750-752.) 

Finally, for the four-year period after the Merger, PacifiCare made quarterly and annual 

reports concerning its performance pursuant to Undertaking 19.  CDI admits that PacifiCare met the 

standards for timeliness set forth in Undertaking 19, and never contested the accuracy of PacifiCare’s 

reports – including the manner in which PacifiCare recorded the received date of the claims covered 

in those reports.  (Tr. 22787:14-18, 23428:22-23429:1 [Cignarale]; Tr. 8767:5-12, 18067:6-10 

[Monk]; P.P.F. 752.) 

3. CDI Has Failed To Prove A Single Violation Of Regulation 2695.3. 

Despite the overwhelming evidence of PacifiCare’s policy to record the “received” date of all 

claims, CDI focuses on a single member appeal involving two claims, and the testimony of Ms. 

Mace-Meador, a Director of PacifiCare’s Appeals and Grievance Department, about that appeal.  

(CDI Br. 296-97; see exh. 224.)   

Specifically, CDI refers to the appeals department’s internal confusion about which received 

date to use for this member’s appeal – i.e., whether to use the initial “received date” as marked by 

Customer Service, or the date that the appeals department received the appeal.  (CDI Br. 297; see 

exh. 224.)  Ms. Mace-Meador testified that at the time of this appeal, her department “did not have as 

part of our appeals research process specific instructions on how to determine the original receipt date 

of the claim.”  (Tr. 1589:2-11 [Mace-Meador].) 

Ms. Mace-Meador’s testimony does not support a finding that PacifiCare failed to record the 

received date in the member’s file, in violation of Regulation 2695.3.  Indeed, Exhibit 244 
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demonstrates just the opposite.  It states:  “Customer Service notes indicate that we received both of 

these claims on 11/27/06” – and thus 11/27/06 “was the date that we need to use as the date rcvd.”  

(Exh. 244, p. 362387.)   

Accordingly, CDI has failed to establish even a single regulatory violation. 

4. There Is No Unfair Claims Settlement Practices Under Section 
790.03(h)(3). 

Even assuming arguendo that CDI had demonstrated PacifiCare’s failure to record the 

“received” date on two claims in a single appeal, in violation of Regulation 2695.3, this would not 

amount to an unfair claims settlement practice under section 790.03(h)(3). 

As detailed above, PacifiCare indisputably adopted and implemented reasonable standards to 

record the “received” date of all claims (both paper and electronic).  CDI’s evidence relates only to 

the member appeals department, which did not have its own independent procedure for determining 

which date to use as the “received” date.  However, there was a “received” date already available in 

PacifiCare’s claims systems.  The regulations are only directed to recording the “received” date.  

CDI’s reliance on Ms. Mace-Meador’s testimony does not contradict the extensive evidence that 

PacifiCare presented about its policies, processes, and training around recording and using the correct 

receipt date of claims.   

Accordingly, CDI cannot prove that PacifiCare “[f]ail[ed] to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation and processing of claims.”  (§ 790.03(h)(3), italics added.)   

5. Any Penalty Would Have To Be Minimal. 

To the extent the Court imposes penalties based on these two alleged failures to record the 

dates of receiving claims, such penalties should be minimal because two violations out of 1,368,950 

total claims adjudicated is an infinitesimal percentage.  (See Reg. 2695.12, subd. (a)(7) [amount of 

penalties must take into account “the relative number of claims where the noncomplying act(s) are 

found to exist, the total number of claims handled by the licensee and the total number of claims 

reviewed by the Department during the relevant time period.”].) 

Dennis
Text Box
Exh. 224
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CDI argues that these two alleged violations are “very serious” because “[r]ecording the 

correct received date of a claim is a fundamental requirement underlying all provisions of the 

Insurance Code and Regulation that seek to ensure the prompt payment of claims.”  (CDI Br. 298.)  

But this ignores the indisputable fact that PacifiCare did have such a policy in place at all times 

relevant to this proceeding – all that CDI has shown (if anything) is the lack of an independent 

procedure within the appeals department to calculate the receipt date, beyond the information already 

available in the claims system.   

CDI also has failed to show any harm from these two alleged violations.  Indeed, CDI does 

not discuss any specific harm with respect to even the member who brought the appeal at issue.  

Instead, CDI points to “the potential to cause many claims payment errors.”  (CDI Br. 298.)  But as 

discussed above, and as a matter of due process, any penalties must be tied to “the specific harm 

suffered by the plaintiff” (State Farm, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 422), not speculative harm for which 

there is no evidence.  Despite CDI’s speculative concerns for “claims payment errors” (Id. at p. 298) 

stemming from the alleged failure to have independent procedures in place for the appeals 

department to calculate dates of receipt of claims, CDI has no evidence of actual harm from any 

claims payment errors supposedly resulting from these asserted violations.  Any penalty must be 

nominal. 

S. The Misrepresentation Of Pertinent Facts To Claimants.  (CDI Br., pp. 
304–309.)  

1. The Nature Of CDI’s Claim. 

CDI claims that in 85 instances PacifiCare misrepresented pertinent facts to claimants.  The 

alleged misrepresentations include, for example, issuance of EOBs with incorrect remark codes, 

patient responsibility amounts, provider contract status, and other details.  (CDI Br. 305.)  In a 

number of instances, CDI claims that PacifiCare’s statements in EOBs and denial letters were 

allegedly contradicted by the claim file.  (Ibid.)  CDI also alleges that PacifiCare misrepresented 
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coverage details and facts to Mr. R, which resulted in claims being denied based on services not 

being covered.  (Id. at pp. 306–307.) 

CDI claims that these alleged misrepresentations constitute violations of section 790.03, 

subdivision (h)(1), which prohibits insurers from “[m]isrepresenting to claimants pertinent facts or 

insurance policy provisions relating to any coverages at issue.”  CDI also relies on Regulation 

2695.4, subdivision (a), which provides 

Every insurer shall disclose to a first party claimant or beneficiary, all benefits, 
coverage, time limits or other provisions of any insurance policy issued by that 
insurer that may apply to the claim presented by the claimant. When additional 
benefits might reasonably be payable under an insured's policy upon receipt of 
additional proofs of claim, the insurer shall immediately communicate this fact 
to the insured and cooperate with and assist the insured in determining the 
extent of the insurer's additional liability.   

2. The Facts. 

a) 80 Of The Alleged Violations Are Based On “Closure 
Letters,” Which Are Inadmissible And Do Not Satisfy CDI’s 
Burden Of Proof. 

For 80 of the 85 alleged violations, CDI relies solely on closure letters that its compliance 

officers sent to PacifiCare when closing an inquiry made by a member or provider.  (See, e.g., Exhs. 

38, 41, 133; P.P.F. 690.)  These closure letters contain conclusory statements that PacifiCare 

committed one or more violations and do not attach any documentary evidence of the underlying 

allegations.  Accordingly, the closure letters do not provide the necessary details by which a 

reasonable trier of fact could assess the charged violation, and dissuaded PacifiCare from contesting 

its findings:  They in fact stated that “[n]o response to this letter is required.”  (See, e.g., Exhs. 38, 41, 

133; P.P.F. 690.). 

Indeed, the letters themselves are administrative hearsay and cannot form the basis for a 

factual finding without other competent evidence.  (Gov. Code, § 11513, subd. (d).)  And CDI 

presented no competent testimony establishing that any of PacifiCare statements were 

misrepresentations, and therefore can point to no evidence in support of its claim that the 
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misstatements alleged on the closure letters constitute violations of section 790.3(h)(1) or Regulation 

2695.4, subdivision (a).  (P.P.F. 757.) 

Even on their face, the closure letters show that as to 60 of the alleged misstatements, the 

communications were made with providers, not claimants.  (Exh. 1197, Tr. 26131:16-23132:3, 

25313:12-25314:17, 25315:19-25316:25 [Stead]; P.P.F. 758.)  Section 790.3(h)(1) and Regulation 

2695.4, subdivision (a) refer only to misstatements made to “claimants” and therefore cannot support 

a penalty for misrepresenting policy provisions to providers.   

b) CDI Mischaracterizes The Evidence With Respect To The 
Remaining Five Alleged Misstatements. 

Regarding the remaining five alleged violations, three of the alleged misrepresentations 

involved PacifiCare’s communications with a claimant, Mr. R, who alleged that PacifiCare made 

incorrect statements to him concerning receipt of his claims, and whether they were eligible for 

reimbursement.  CDI has not met its burden in establishing any of these three alleged 

misrepresentations. 

First, CDI asserts that PacifiCare told Mr. R that it did not receive a claim for date of service 

on August 7, 2006, until January 5, 2007, and that this statement was allegedly false.  (CDI Br. 306.)  

However, Mr. R did not produce any documentary evidence that he actually sent the claim to 

PacifiCare.  He simply asserted that his wife, who did not testify, sent the claim and that PacifiCare 

received it.  (Tr. 1762:12-1764:25; P.P.F. 789(a) [Mr. R].) 

Second, Mr. R asserts that PacifiCare informed him that a claim that he submitted for 

reimbursement was ineligible.  However, PacifiCare did so because Mr. R failed to provide proof that 

he had paid the provider on his own.  After Mr. R filed a formal appeal with PacifiCare and included 

such proof, PacifiCare re-processed and paid the claim.  (Exh. 138, p. 9749.)  Third, PacifiCare 

admitted that it incorrectly denied Mr. R’s second claim due to “examiner error,” and re-processed 

and paid that claim.  (Id. at p. 9750.)  
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None of the three instances described present misrepresentations of fact.  The evidence 

demonstrates that in two instances, PacifiCare acted appropriately based on the facts known to it, and 

in a third instance, made an error.   

3. The Alleged Misrepresentations Were Not Knowing Or A General 
Business Practice. 

CDI does not actually claim that any of the alleged misrepresentations were made 

“knowingly.”  CDI claims that “PacifiCare is chargeable with knowledge of” the facts at issue, but 

that does not establish a claim under section 790.03.  (See Section VI.B.2.)  And even if constructive 

knowledge was appropriate, constructive knowledge of the facts at issue does not mean that 

PacifiCare had constructive knowledge that it was engaged in an unfair claims settlement practice, 

which is what section 790.03(h) requires be “[k]knowingly commit[ted].” 

The 85 violations alleged also do not amount to a “business practice” that warrants penalties 

under section 790.03.  Particularly when the 80 alleged violations that have insufficient evidentiary 

support are removed, the remaining five alleged misrepresentations are isolated incidents.  They 

cannot be used as a basis for section 790.03 penalties, which requires that the acts at issue be 

performed “with such frequency as to indicate a general business practice.” 

T. The Alleged Misrepresentations To CDI.  (CDI Br., pp. 286–289.)  

1. The Basis For CDI’s Claim. 

CDI contends that PacifiCare made nine misrepresentations of material fact during the 2007 

MCE, in violation of Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a).  (CDI Br. 286-289.)  Regulation 2695.5, 

subdivision (a), imposes certain “Duties upon Receipt of Communications,” including:  “Upon 

receiving any written or oral inquiry” from CDI “concerning a claim,” insurers must, within 21 

calendar days, furnish CDI “with a complete written response based on the facts as then known by 

the [insurer].”   
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According to CDI, each alleged misrepresentation in violation of Regulation 2695.5, 

subdivision (a), also constitutes an unfair and deceptive act in violation of section 790.03(e), which 

prohibits:   

Making any false entry in a book, report, or statement of any insurer with intent to 
deceive any agent or examiner lawfully appointed to examine into its condition or 
into its affairs . . . or, with like intent, willfully omitting to make a true entry of 
any material fact pertaining to the business of the insurance in any book, report, or 
statement of the insurer. 

CDI does not seek penalties for these alleged violations of section 790.03(e), but asks the 

Court to consider them “as aggravating factors in other violation categories.”  (CDI Br. 289.) 

Any such aggravation would be unwarranted, because the alleged “misstatements” at issue 

were, at worst, instances of confusion and good-faith mistakes about issues that were later remedied.  

Similarly, for all these allegedly false statements, CDI has cited no evidence of PacifiCare’s “intent to 

deceive” CDI, and there is none.    

2. The Facts. 

Although CDI charges PacifiCare with “nine acts” in violation of section 790.03, subdivision 

(e) and Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a), CDI’s proposed findings of fact contain no discussion of 

these allegations, and CDI’s brief identifies only six separate alleged misrepresentations (P.P.F. 763):  

five statements relating to acknowledgement letters, and one about employee turnover (CDI Br. 286-

89; P.P.F. 764). 

a) Alleged Misrepresentations Concerning Acknowledgement 
Letters. 

With respect to the acknowledgement letters, CDI alleges the following:   

• PacifiCare’s September 20, 2007 response to a CDI inquiry falsely stated that 
the dates of sending acknowledgement letters were “not available for 
reporting at this time” because the dates were “not tracked in RIMS, and have 
to be queried manually,” and thus “can only be provided on an individual 
claim basis,” when in fact the reason the dates were unavailable was because 
PacifiCare was not sending such letter at that time (CDI Br. 287, see exh. 110, 
p. 4828);  

• PacifiCare’s two December 7, 2007 letters responding to examination reports 
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represented that the company was not in compliance for July 2006 through 
December 2006, when in fact the company was non-compliant for a longer 
period, from January 2006 until March 2007 for providers, and from July 
2006 to March 2007 for members (CDI Br. 287, see exhs. 117, p. 3410, 118, 
p. 3427);  

• PacifiCare stated in October 2007 that it would be submitting a request to its 
vendor to have a weekly report generated to ensure that acknowledgement 
letters would be sent timely, when in fact PacifiCare never submitted this 
request and a witness testified that she never informed CDI about the failure 
to make this request (CDI Br. 288, see exh. 113, p. 9893); and  

• PacifiCare’s October 17, 2007 response failed to provide copies of actual 
acknowledgement letters that had been sent, but merely attached a sample 
letter created using a template, which CDI claims was “intended to conceal 
the fact that the acknowledgement letters were still not being sent” (CDI Br. 
288, see exhs. 114, 115). 

As explained in more detail in the section of the brief addressing acknowledgement letters 

(Section VII(C)), PacifiCare’s witnesses provided extensive testimony concerning the history of the 

company’s policies and procedures with respect to claim acknowledgement letters, including the 

different dates when it sent such letters to members and providers, as well as the reasons why the 

company responded as it did to CDI’s inquiries on this subject during the 2007 MCE.  (See, e.g., exh. 

5252, pp. 20-25; Tr. 7671:16-7672:8, 7681:3-7694:20, 7696:24-7697:2, 7706:7- 7707:13, 11279:20-

24 [Berkel]; Tr. 8985:4-8988:24, 8974:24-8976:3, 8993:11-8996:7, 9313:8-9316:9, 12425:3- 

12426:9, 12429:3- 2430:13 [Monk]; Tr. 2436:17-23 [Norket], Tr. 24472:10-24474:9, 25118:2-16, 

25198:4-13 [Stead]; P.P.F. 767 et seq., 768.) 

For example, with respect to the two December 7, 2007 letters alleged here to be 

misrepresentations, Ms. Monk described a March 2008 meeting with CDI – only three months later – 

in which PacifiCare updated the statements in those letters:  “We made a written and oral 

presentation to the Department that specifically differentiated our actions and performance with 

respect to member acknowledgment letters versus provider acknowledgment letters.”  (Tr. 8993:11-

8996:7 [Monk]; see also Tr. 8985:4-8988:24, 8974:24-8976:3; 9313:8-9316:9; 12425:3-12426:9; 

12429:3-12430:13 [Monk].) 
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Ms. Berkel also testified that at the time of preparing the December 7, 2007 letters, she was 

mistaken about PacifiCare’s history of sending member and provider acknowledgment letters, and 

that she, like other PacifiCare staff, simply accepted CDI’s position as correct that written 

acknowledgment letters were required under section 10133.66, subdivision (c).  She explained that in 

the limited time given to PacifiCare to respond to the draft reports, she was “just trying to move us 

forward, answer what the Department was asking us to do.  And get to closure on these issues.”  (Tr. 

7671:16-7672:8 [Berkel]; see also Tr. 7681:3-7694:20; 7696:24-7697:2; 7706:7-7707:13; 11279:20-

24 [Berkel]; P.P.F. 767(b).) 

PacifiCare’s expert, Ms. Stead, also testified that there initially was confusion on the 

company’s part about the acknowledgement letters, and there “was similarly confusion on the 

Department’s part about what was really required by that statute ….”  (Tr. 24472:10-23 [Stead]; see 

also Tr. 24473:18-24474:9; 25118:2-16; 25119:23-25120:17, 25198:4-13 [Stead]; P.P.F. 524.) 

In short, there was a great deal of confusion on both PacifiCare’s and CDI’s side surrounding 

the interpretation and application of the acknowledgement statute, not any intent to deceive or any 

effort to misrepresent, as CDI attempts to suggest here.  

b) Alleged Misrepresentations Concerning Employee 
Turnover. 

CDI also claims that PacifiCare engaged in a misrepresentation with respect to employee 

turnover.  Specifically, CDI alleges that PacifiCare responded to a CDI question about attrition by 

“purposely” deciding not to disclose that its “biggest reason” for turnover was “[d]issatisfaction with 

benefits and overtime.”  (CDI Br. 288, see exh. 363; P.P.F. 765.) 

But PacifiCare witnesses questioned about Exhibit 363 testified that the omitted statement 

about employee dissatisfaction was not responsive to the referral.  The author of the referral response, 

Ms. Norket, testified that she “wasn’t really sure if [employee dissatisfaction] was relevant to what 

we were really talking about.”  (Tr. 3512:1-3 [Norket]; see also Tr. 3513:21-3514:10 [Norket] 
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[“Dissatisfaction may not be as quantitative.  It was his discretion on whether he had wanted to 

include that in the questionnaire or not.”]; P.P.F. 765(a).) 

PacifiCare’s expert, Ms. Stead, did not see “where the Department has asked for reasons that 

people have left or the reasons staffing may have changed.”  (Tr. 25112:18-25113:9 [Stead].)  Indeed, 

the Court observed that it did not “see anything [in Exhibit 363] asking for all the reasons why.  They 

were asking more general questions.”  (Tr. 25109:14-25113:22 [Stead]; P.P.F. 765(a).) 

In short, Ms. Norket’s statement that employee dissatisfaction was a major reason for turnover 

was not made in response to a question from CDI, and thus there is no basis for CDI’s claim that 

PacifiCare made any misrepresentation regarding employee turnover.  In addition, CDI does not have 

jurisdiction over PacifiCare’s employee benefits and overtime policies; as a result, even if Ms. 

Norket’s statement were a misrepresentation, it would be irrelevant to this proceeding and could not 

warrant increasing the penalty against PacifiCare. 

3. The Alleged Misrepresentations Should Not Be A Factor In 
Assessing Any Penalties Because CDI Admittedly Cannot Prove A 
Violation Of Section 790.03(e) Or Regulation 2695.5(a). 

CDI admits that it is not seeking penalties for violations of section 790.03(e) or Regulation 

2695.5, subdivision (a), but is merely asking the Court to consider PacifiCare’s alleged 

misrepresentations “as aggravating factors.”  (CDI Br. 289.)   

Any such aggravation would be unwarranted, because the alleged misstatements about 

acknowledgement letters and employee attrition were, at worst, instances of confusion and good-faith 

mistakes about issues that were later remedied.   

These statements were not misrepresentations.  For instance, as for the October 2007 

statement that the company would be submitting a request to its vendor to have a weekly report 

generated to ensure that acknowledgement letters are sent timely (CDI Br. 288, see exh. 113, p. 

9893), CDI has submitted no evidence that the statement of intent was not genuine when made – even 

if PacifiCare did not ultimately submit such a request.  Accordingly, CDI does not and cannot 
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establish that the October 2007 statement was not “a complete written response based on the facts 

then known by the licensee.”  (Reg. 2695.5, subd. (a), italics added.)  Nor can CDI show a “false 

entry” in a book, report, or statement under section 790.03(e)—because there is no evidence that the 

statement was false at the time it was made.   

Similarly, for all these allegedly false statements, CDI has cited no evidence of PacifiCare’s 

“intent to deceive” CDI, and there is none.  (§ 790.03(h).)   

In addition, with respect to alleged omissions – such as the supposed failure to state that 

“[d]issatisfaction with benefits and overtime” was the most significant reason for turnover – these 

omitted facts were not “material” under section 790.03(e).  Indeed, PacifiCare employees did not 

believe that dissatisfaction with benefits and overtime were even responsive to CDI’s request.   (Tr. 

3512:1-3 [Norket stating that she “wasn’t really sure if [employee dissatisfaction] was relevant to 

what we were really talking about”]; accord, Tr. 3513:21-3514:10 [Norket]; Tr. 25109:14-25113:22 

[Stead]; P.P.F. 765(a).) 

In sum, CDI does not – and admittedly cannot – establish violations of section 790.03(e) or 

Regulation 2695.5, subdivision (a), based on the six alleged misrepresentations to CDI.  These 

statements therefore should not be a factor in calculating any penalties assessed in this action. 

VII I. CONCLUSION 

For all of the reasons set forth herein, CDI’s enforcement action and its recommended penalty 

should be soundly rejected.  The action is a misguided and meritless departure from fundamental 

constitutional and legal principles as well as CDI’s own historic practices. 

Dated:  August 31, 2012 SNR DENTON US LLP 
 

By __________________________________  
RONALD D. KENT 

Attorneys for Respondent 
PACIFICARE LIFE AND HEALTH 
INSURANCE COMPANY 

30393526 
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